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Welcome to the Curse of Cthulhu. Within the pages of this
book is detailed a globe-spanning conspiracy to tax and
imperil even the best of investigators. It includes the entire
“Fungi From Yuggoth” campaign, plus two introductory
adventures and a separate concluding tale. The two intro-
ductory scenarios, “The Case” and “Wail of the Witch,”
have been designed as precursors to “The Fungi From Yug-
goth,” with leads and hints that foreshadow the greater hor-
ror to come. If the keeper wishes, he can use the two new
adventures as introductions to “Fungi,” providing the in-
vestigators with tantalizing clues that blossom with disturb-
ing force as play progresses. Of course, any of these
adventures can be played separately if the keeper so de-
sires.

“The Case” — The investigators are re-united with a past
friend suffering from an unfortunate breakdown. When
they visit him in the asylum, they come to discover that he
has indeed changed, and may not be their friend at all. The
first clue to the far-reaching influence of the mysterious
Baron H. is found here.

Patterned after H.P. Lovecraft’s “The Case of Charles Dex-
ter Ward,” this adventure is relatively straight-forward, and
would make a good introductory scenario for beginning
investigators, training them to deal with the greater evils to
come. Most of the action takes place in Woonsocket, Rhode
Island.

Introduction

Wherein the keeper learns the true scope of the horrors that awaits his or her
players, and can begin connivance.

“Wail of the Witch” — A mysterious death in Salem alerts
the investigators to the machinations of a once-dead witch.
Her trail leads them to pre-historic antarctica and the unbe-
lievable city of the Elder Things. Once there, they must
discover how to thwart the witch’s plans to return to Salem.

“The Fungi From Yuggoth” — The investigators partici-
pate in an eight-part campaign of desperate struggle against
the evil Brotherhood. The action leads the investigators
around the globe, from Boston to a crumbling castle in
Romania, through ancient Egypt, to the moon, and back to
scenic San Francisco. The introduction details each part.
and discusses two optional scenes. Together, “The Case,”
“Wail of the Witch,” and “The Fungi From Yuggoth™ can
take many hours to play. Methodically explored, they could
encompass an entire season of roleplaying.

“The Haunted House™ — The concluding tale is inde-
pendent from the foregoing campaign. In it the investiga-
tors examine a house for the origin of its haunting. They
find themselves side-tracked by numerous red herrings un-
til they finally encounter the unusual source of the frighten-
ing phenomena. “The Haunted House™ requires dogged in-
vestigation and an ability to avoid premature conclusions.
At points the investigators may feel the story solved, only
to encounter the same haunting phenomena even after the
exorcism, or the spirit is banished, or whatever other false
cure they effect.



This adventure closely follows the plot-line of “The Case
of Charles Dexter Ward” by H.P. Lovecraft. In it the inves-
tigators visit a friend committed to an asylum, only to learn
that he may not be the friend they remember at all.

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

Onc of the player characters receives either a letter or a
phone call from the distraught mother of an old friend,
Brian Timmons. whom the investigator has not seen for
several years. The woman tells the investigator, “Brian has
gone insane. I've had to have him committed.™ The Keeper
should supply a connection between Brian Timmons and
the investigator. He could be a college or high school chum,
a relative, a former work associate, a fellow at the men’s
club, or anything else appropriate.

Explaining further. Mrs. Timmons says that Brian has
grown increasingly moody and withdrawn since the friend
last saw him. He eventually moved out of the family home
in Providence and into an old farm house near Woonsocket,
Rhode Island.

She asks the investigator if he or she would please
come to visit Brian at the hospital. She hopes that seeing
old friends will help bring her only son to his right mind.

KEEPER’S INFORMATION

Nearly two years ago Brian Timmons began to research the
history of the family name in America. In an obscure his-
tory book, Timmons discovered an ancestor, Douglas Tim-
mons. who had gamered quite a notorious reputation in the
New England of the early 17th century. Delving farther into
the story of Douglas Timmons, Brian discovered an old
farm house in Woonsocket that was once the home of the
supposed warlock. Much to his parents’ dismay, Brian
managed to purchase the property and within a month had
moved from Providence to the dilapidated backwoods
house in the north of Rhode Island. Here. beneath the floor-
boards of the house. he discovered letters and an old diary
written by Douglas Timmons. Through these, Brian located
the secret grave of his ancestor and, on a dark, rainy night,
brought this man back from the dead.

Brian had hoped that by resurrecting his long-dead an-
cestor, the warlock would be grateful and teach him further

The Case

Wherein a worried mother asks the investigators to visit her son in the asylum.

magicks that he might learn to use. Unfortunately Douglas
Timmons was of a different frame of mind and shortly
thereafter murdered the young man and hid his body in the
farmhouse. Douglas Timmons sports an amazing likeness
to his unfortunate descendant and has since that time posed
as Brian.

HISTORY
Where and when Douglas Timmons was born is not known;
he is first mentioned as living in the area of Salem, Massa-
chusetts around 1640. Accused of witchcraft and of deal-
ings with the Devil, Timmons fled Massachusetts and
established himself in Rhode Island, a state known at the
time to be more liberal than its neighbor to the north in
allowing religious dissent

Timmons lived quietly on a farm near Woonsocket for
many years before some of the townsfolk began to notice
that the strange, reclusive man did not seem to age. Finally
in 1723, when people who had known of Douglas Timmons
since childhood began to die of old age, suspicions were
raised, and a mob led by Jason Greeley descended one
night upon the farm house. Rather than stand and face his
accusers, Timmons and his half-breed servant escaped out
the back door of the house. Here they found two of the

Changing History

If the players are too familiar with the original story of Charles
Dexter Ward, the keeper may want to alter some details to keep
them off the track. Among the possibilities are:

® Douglas Timmons escapes the asylum before the investiga-
tors arrive for the final confrontation. The investigators must
hunt him down, or possibly he even escapes to join Baron
Hauptman in Transylvania and is not met again for some
time. (See 'The Fungi From Yuggoth” later in this book for
more information on the Baron.)

® Brian Timmons revives multiple wizards, not just one.

® Both Brian and Douglas Timmons are alive. Brian came to
regret the revival of his ancestor and decided to destroy
him. Before he could, he was committed for his twin's ac-
tions and now Brian is in the asylum while Douglas remains
free to continue his abominable pursuits.

On the other hand, many players would enjoy the opportunity
to play through a Lovecraft story they have read.

The Case - 7



townsmen waiting for them. As the fugitives fled across the
nearby field, the two townsmen opened fire. One of the
men was certain that he had hit Timmons, but the two fugi-
tives managed to escape to the woods and were never seen
again.

The suspicions of the townspeople were at least par-
tially confirmed when the men searched the grounds and
found the remains of several old coffins among Timmons’
firewood. Details of the discovery were sketchy but one
report mentioned that the coffins did not appear to be of
American origin. In truth, these coffins had been shipped
from eastern Europe by a mysterious Baron H., who had
been advising Timmons in his unwholesome experiments.

Timmons used the remains found in the old coffins to
produce the essential salts required to perform resurrec-
tions. These unfortunate people. some dead for many cen-
turies, were tortured, questioned, and experimented upon
by the twisted Douglas Timmons within his secret crypt
along the riverbank.

Since his own return from the dead. Timmons has
nursed a single thought; revenge upon the man responsible
for his death, Jason Greeley. It took considerable time and
research, but Timmons finally located the grave of Greeley
in Our Grace Cemetery in Woonsocket. He killed Brian
Timmons and assumed his personality only a few months
after his return, then he set about his revenge.

To recover this body, Timmons enlisted the aid of Wal-
ter Haley, a local indigent of questionable reputation. Tim-
mons had caught Haley snooping around the riverbank
entrance to the crypts one day and used terrible threats
against the man to gain his silence and cooperation. Haley
worked for Timmons for some time before growing fearful
for his life, and in desperation, tipped the police to the
doings of Brian Timmons. Haley of course did not impli-
cate himself and did not tell the police of the existence of
the secret crypt. Without this information police were un-
able to pruduce any evidence against Timmons and he was
released after questioning. Timmons was plotting a particu-
larly horrible death for the traitorous Haley when he was
served with the commitment papers signed by Mrs. Tim-
mons.

SCENES
The Timmons Family Home

This luxurious and impressive mansion is located in one of
the finer sections of Providence. The investigators are met
at the door by the butler, Jarvis, who escorts them to the
living room and offers them seats. He then informs Mrs.
Timmons that her guests have arrived.

Mrs. Timmons will appear a few moments later to
warmly welcome her guests and offer them tea. After a
brief period of formalities she turns the discussion to her
son and explains to the investigators all that she knows
about the case. She relates how he became interested in

8 - The Case

Thaumaturgical Prodigies of the New England
Canaan
by the Reverend Wurd Phillips

This is a slim black valume with no title on the binding. Near the
center of this book is an old woodcut portrait of a man named
D. Timmons, who bears an amazing resemblance to Brian
Timmons.

If the book is successfully read (a Read English roll) the
investigator not only gains +2% Cthulhu Mythos and loses 1D3
SAN, but also discovers a very small section of the book de-
voted to Douglas Timmons. This couple of paragraphs expiains
that Douglas Timmons was accused of witchcraft in Boston in
1642. Before he could be brought to trial, however, he managed
to escape to Rhode Island, a more tolerant place. The book
discusses Timmons no further. There are no spells contained in
this book.

tracing the family tree, spending many hours searching li-
braries and old public records tor clues to the more obscure
branches of the family. He became more and more obsessed
with this research until finally a year ago he purchased the
old farmhouse in Woonsocket and. despite the protests of
his mother and father, moved in.

Mrs. Timmons

Mrs. Timmons is in her mid-fifties and still attractive. Since the
death of her husband several months ago, she feels all she has left
in the world is her son, Brian. She will do everything possible to aid
the investigators but hesitates to reveal the true reasons that Brian
was first contacted by the police. The idea that her son might be a
grave-robber is so difficult for her to understand that she has
obscured it in her own mind. If the players use Oratory or the
investigators present her with facts pertaining to the arrest, she will
remember and tell the investigators all she knows about that.
Anytime that the investigators talk with her and make a successful
Psychology roll, they become aware that she is hiding or covering
something.

STR8 CON 10 SIZ9 INT 13
DEX S APP 12 EDU 12 SAN 45
SKILLS: Batany 55%, French 65%, Sing 45%.

The family began seeing less and less of Brian. It was ai
this time that he began his brief association with the myste-
rious Mr. Baines (Douglas Timmons in disguise). Tim-
mons’ parents met the man once. but his black clothing and
dark glasses left an impression that could not be forgotten.
Mr. Baines apparently lived with Brian for a short time
before suddenly leaving for Europe. It was about this time
that Brian Timmons started to show signs of a personality
change and his parents began to seriously question his san-
ity.

The parents heard nothing from their son over the win-
ter. In May Mr. Timmons, driven by Jarvis, went to Woon-
socket to visit his son and attempt to get him to return
home. Jarvis and Mr. Timmons returned that night and
though questioned by his wife, the elder Timmons declined
to discuss the meeting with his son. It was hardly three
weeks later that the aging Timmons Sr.. a semi-invalid, fell
to his death from the second-story balcony of the home.

POW 10
HP 10



Brian Timmons did not attend the funeral and later in
June he experienced some trouble with the police. in con-
nection with what, Mrs, Timmons does not know. Shortly
after that she had him served with papers to have him le-
gally committed to a hospital. When the police arrived at
the tarm house in Woonsocket, Timmons exploded in a
violent outburst and had to be restrained. He is presently in
Holmes Sanatorium in Providence. While usually coherent.
he is prone to sudden violent outbursts and his doctors say
that he is not responding to treatment. For some reason they
do not want to treat him anymore and have suggested that
he be placed in a more permanent home where he can be
cared for professionally. Mrs. Timmons has not given up
hope tor her son. She practically pleads with the investiga-
tors to go visit him.

In acwality, Mrs. Timmons knows full well about her
son's earlier dealings with the police. It was exactly this
that prompted her to have him commutted. They were ap-
parently unable to prove anything at the time, but he was
the number one suspect in a grave robbery that had recently
taken place in the area. Mrs. Timmons does not really mean
to hide anything from the investigators, but she finds it very
difficult to admit his heinous crime even to herself. The
players need to make a successtul Oratory roll to get her to
release this information, and then only after pointedly pry-
ing for more details on this topic.

If the investigators think to ask, Mrs. Timmons will
show them her son’s old bedroom. A successful Spot Hid-
den or close examination of the bookshelf reveals a slim
black volume with no title on the binding. Opening the
book reveals the book to be a copy of Thaumaturgical
Prodigies in the New England Canaan by the Reverend
Ward Phillips. If shown the woodcut of D. Timmons, Mrs.
Timmons will be genuinely surprised at the likeness of the
woodcut to her son.

If one of the investigators can get Jarvis alone and the
player succeeds in an Oratory or Debate roll, he will learn
that Jarvis was the first one to reach the body of Mr. Tim-
mons on the night of the accident. He confides to the inves-
tigator that when he looked up he saw an inhuman form
loping across the dark yard toward the nearby woods. He
has never told the police about this incident.

Jarvis

Jarvis has been with the Timmons family for over twenty years and
helped to raise the boy, Brian. He is extremely loyal to Mrs.
Timmons and would risk anything to help protect her. He is of the
old school, stately and reserved. He will not discuss any family
business with the investigators unless they can make a successful
Oratory roll, or Mrs. Timmons convinces him that it is all right.

STR 14 CON 15 SIZz 15 INT 15 POW 14
DEX 11 APP 8 EDU 13 SAN 70 HP 15

SKILLS: Accounting 50%, Bargain 65%, Credit Rating 65%, De-
bate 50%, Drive Automobile 60%, Electrical Repair 35%, English
80%. History 35%. Mechanical Repair 45%, Psychology 55%,
Treat Disease 45%.

Jarvis also tells the investigator that on Mr. Timmons’
last visit to the farm house in Woonsocket the elder man
never entered the house. While Jarvis waited in the car,
Timmons approached the house. On the porch, about to
knock, he hesitated and then leaned his head to the door. He
listened for a moment, then suddenly left the front porch
and quickly returned to the car. Mr. Timmons never re-
vealed to Jarvis what he had overheard at that door, but
when he sat down in the back seat of the car his face was an
ashen gray.

Mrs. Timmons can make arrangements for the group to
visit Brian in the hospital. She can also provide a full set of
keys for the farm house in Woonsocket.

Providence Coroner

The coroner has a report on the death of Brian Timmons’
father. If the investigators ask about the death and the play-
ers can make a successful Law or Oratory roll they will be
allowed to see it. The report states that death was acciden-
tal, caused by a fall from a second story porch at the family
home. Attached to the form is a statement from the butler,
Jarvis. Jarvis says that he was the first to reach the body and
that the man appeared to have died instantly. He makes no
mention of any other occurrences.

The Libraries
If the Library Use rolls are made while checking the Provi-
dence newspaper files, the investigators will find an article
regarding the death of the elder Timmons, along with his
obituary. Neither of these pieces shed any light on the case.
If the Woonsocket newspapers are successfully re-
searched (Library Use roll), the investigators will find a
story about a recent grave-robbing (see The Case Papers 1).

The Case Papers 1
Article in the Woonsocker Herald

WOONSOCKET—The police report few leads con-
cerning the mysterious grave robbing at Our
Grace Cemetery last night. The desecrated grave
was located in one cof the oldest parts of the
cemetery; the pre-revolutionary headstone was
so worn that identification of the grave has
been deemed impossible. Due to the fact that
very few burial records from that time remain,
the police have been unable to identify the
missing body.

Woonsocket Police Station

At the Woonsocket police station the investigators will be
allowed to talk with the officer handling the grave-robbing
case if a successful Law or Oratory roll is made. The inves-
tigating officer’s name is Daniel Malloy. He can tell them
that Timmons was and still is the prime suspect in the case.
Malloy has no evidence but is going on the strength of a tip

The Case - 9



NEW SPELL
Mind Cloud

This spell costs 4 points of magic to cast and can be directed
at any individual within direct sight or hearing. If the victim fails
to win a POW vs. POW struggle, the caster partially impairs the
victim's thinking processes for 2010 minutes. This could divert
a victim's line of questioning to a more comfortable area, or it
may be used to cause an argument among several victims.

Mind Cloud may also be used to blur or daze a victim's
mind. This victim may accidentally walk into trafiic or oft the end
of a pier if not closely watched.

and his own feelings about the case. He is of the mind that
as long as Timmons is locked away, the case is more or less
closed. He will not identify Haley as his informant unless a
player can make a second successful Oratory roll.

Holmes Sanatorium

This is an expensive private hospital located just north of
the city of Providence. The investigators will not be able to
gain admittance to see Brian Timmons without verification
from Mrs. Timmons. Once inside, the player characters are
led down the long white halls to the room where Brian
Timmons is kept. Unlocking the door, the attendant enters
the padded cell first to make sure the patient is secure be-
fore admitting any visitors. Only then are the investigators
allowed to enter the room.

The room itself is windowless, and except for a small
cot attached to the wall, barren of any fumishings. Tim-
mons is seated on the cot, back to the wall with legs pulled
up in front of him. He is completely bound by a sturdy
canvas strait-jacket. He watches silently as the visitors en-
ter the room.

Timmons tries to talk the group into believing that he is
sane and that he needs their help to get out of the hospital.
If it becomes apparent that they do not believe him, he
curses them and spits at them but never admits 1o any ac-
cusations that they may make. Timmons realizes that he is
in a desperate situation and will bide his time until he can

escape safely. Neither will he attempt to use any of his
magical powers at a time that may compromise him.

If one of the players can make a successful Oratory roll
while talking to one of the doctors. the doctor reveals that
the hospital no longer wants Timmons there. He is very
disruptive and violent. Many of the attendants have com-
plained of the strange feeling that he gives them and some
have even threatened to quit rather than attend the patient.
The doctor feels that Timmons is hopelessly insane and
could best be cared for in a more secure facility.

A successful Psychology roll reveals that the doctor is
actually afraid of Timmons.

Douglas Timmons

Timmons will probably spend most or all of this adventure locked
away in a padded cell at the sanatorium. He is anxious to gain his
freedom, but will wait until he judges the time to be right. He would
prefer to be released legally but if this proves itself unlikely he may
attempt a more violent means of escape. Once free, he plans to
pay a visit on Walter Haley.

He may try to convince the investigators that he is sane, but a
Psychology rolt by one of the investigators reveals this to be
untrue.

Timmons has used the Mind Cloud spell against the doctors
and other members of the staff to make them feel insignificant and
uncomfortable in his presence. He will use it against the
investigators to iry to free himself.

STR 12 CON 14 SIZ 13 INT 18 POW 22
DEX 15 APP 13 EDU 25 SANO HP 14
SKILLS: Anthropology 55%. Astronomy 10%, Chemistry 75%,
Cthulhu Mythos 35%, Debate 80%, Fast Talk 45%, German 80%,
Hide 80%, History 90%, Lalin 75%, Library Use 95%, Listen 65%,
Occult 65%, Oratory 65%, Psychology 80%, Sneak 75%.
SPELLS:. Call/Dismiss Yog-Sothoth, Mind Cloud, Resurrection,
Shrivelling.

The Farm in Woonsocket
This late 17th century farmhouse is in disrepair, but Brian
did fix it up enough to make it liveable. The player charac-
ters find that the front door is locked. A Spot Hidden while
on the porch reveals that the front window to the dining
room has been forced open and then closed again.

Once inside, the investigators find the twa-story house
to be of simple construction and sparsely furnished.

The Case Papers 2

My Dear Son Brian,

senses and return home now, the police need never know.

Your Forgiving Father

10 - The Case

My heart aches when I recollect the damning conversation I overheard while on your front porch. Please. you must
put aside these abominable practices and end your association with that disreputable Haley fellow.

You have broken your mother's heart and I fear that she may never stop weeping or smile ever again. For her sake,
if not for your own, please leave the old farm and return home to your mother and father. lf vou will come to vour

Scrawled across the bottom of the letter, in an archaic script, is the statement:
“Right ve be, olde foole!"
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The Dining Room: The furnishings in this room consist of
only a small table set with two chairs. A small buffet on the
east wall contains a couple of plates, a few pieces of silver-
ware, and an old linen tablecloth.

The Kitchen: The investigators can find only a few cook-
ing utensils in the drawers and a very moldy half loaf of
bread on the counter.

The Study: This room contains a large roll-top desk and
chair positioned near a crowded bookshelf on the west wall.
A huge fireplace dominates the wood-paneled north wall. A
faint odor of decay hangs in the room.

If an investigator checks out the desk, he discovers that
someone has pried up the roll-top, forcing the lock. They
also discover a cigar butt, cold and dry, on the floor next to
the desk. It managed to burn a substantial hole in the rug
before going out. In a top drawer of the desk the player
characters find a letter addressed to Brian Timmons and
dated May 7. See The Case Papers 2.

On a side shelf is a large antique key. No clue is given
to its purpose. Finally, in a bottom drawer containing a few
pre-revolutionary documents is a letter written in German.
A German roll is required to read the letter (see The Case
Papers 3). The meaning of this letter should puzzle the
investigators. It will not come clear until they encounter the
Brotherhood in The Fungi From Yuggoth.

If a player makes a successful Spot Hidden roll while
his character is looking around the north end of the room,
he discovers a corner of the oak paneling is loose and pried
out a bit from the wall. If the investigator tugs on the loose
corner, the panel will suddenly pull loose from the wall and
the investigator will find himself engulfed in a rush of
warm, fetid air as a badly decomposed body, several
months old, tumbles from a small alcove behind the panel
to fall across the investigator’s feet. Anyone witnessing this
loses 0/1D3 SAN. Additionally, any investigator close to
the terrible stench is overcome by a fit of temporary nausea
unless his player can make a CON x3 roll. If the body is
examined the investigators find a school ring on the finger
of the corpse. Removing it and wiping it free of corruption

The Case Papers 3

Herr Timmons,

I trust this last shipment has been suitable. I am
pleased to have been of some service to you, and hope
that it will help you decide whether to accept my offer
of induction into the organization. I expect your re-
sponse to my offer within the month.

Heil Yog-Sothoth
Baron H.
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The Case Papers 4
Brian Timmons' Journal

This slim, untitied volume contains details of Brian Timmons’
investigations into his family’s past. In it are names, birth dates,
a few scribbled comments, and several half-completed geneal-
ogy charts. The most important pieces of information to be
gleaned from it are:

® Brian is very interested in his ancestor, Douglas Timmons,
who was run out of Salem in colonial times for "loathsome
and un-Christian practices.”

® The location of the secret grave of Douglas Timmons is
about a half mile east of the farmhouse.

® The location of an old tower near the river is about a half
mile to the south, 200 yards from the riverbank. Brian's
interest in the tower is not explained.

reveals this inscription on the inside: “B. Timmons, class of
'16.”

A check of the bookshelf in the room reveals it to be
filled with historical volumes dealing with pre-revolution-
ary New England. A slim, unmarked book will be found to
be a journal kept by Brian Timmons. It requires three hours
to read. Show the players The Case Papers 4.

Timmons’ Bedroom: Also sparsely furnished, this room
contains a small bed and a wooden wardrobe standing
against the wall. Inside the wardrobe, the investigators find
a few articles of clothing, among them a heavy. black coat
and hat, and on the shelf above, a pair of dark glasses.
(These are the items worn by the mysterious Mr. Baines.)
An Extra Bedroom: This room is totally vacant.

The Secret Gravesite of Douglas Timmons
This general area can be located from the clue found in
Brian Timmons’ journal, but once here a player will have to
make a Spot Hidden roll to find the actual grave. This is
nothing but a low spot in the ground with some evidence of
digging from the previous year. No other clues are to be
found.

The Tower

Following the clues found in Brian’s journal, the investiga-
tors are led to a spot about 200 yards from the riverbank
where they find the remains of the tower. Nothing is left but
the foundation, a ring of stones some fifteen feet in diame-
ter. In the center of this ring. under three feet of earth and
rock, the investigators can find a trap door that leads to the
crypts below.

The Crypts

These dark pits are located beneath the ruins of the tower.
They can also be entered from a second. secret door located
about 200) yards away and concealed by a thicket of bram-
bles. If a player directs a Spot Hidden toward this area or if
his character investigates it directly. he discovers a tunnel.
cut through the branches and leading in toward the river-
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bank. If an investigator examines this further. he finds a
cave dug out of the earth of the reverbank. the roof sup-
ported by old. heavy timbers. There is evidence of recent
repair on some of these and a number of shoe prints can be
seen in the mud. This tunnel runs for about ten yards and
then ends in a pair of heavy oaken doors fixed with a large
antique lock. This lock has a strength of 14, in case the
investigators have not yet found the key in the desk.

Once the doors are opened. the investigators can see
into a circular stone room some eighty feet in diameter. In
the floor are ten round iron grates, each three feet across.
On the other side of the chamber. the investigators can see
another set of wooden doors and near them, laying on the
floor, a long wooden ladder of rude construction.

If a player makes a Listen roll before entering the room.
he notices shuffling sounds and soft. breathing noises issu-
ing from the dark holes in the floor.

Contained in these pits are the resurrected slaves of
Douglas Timmons. Human in their first lives, Timmons has
experimented with removing different portions of the salts
required for resurrection and has managed to develop a
breed of near-mindiess. half-human monsters. These things
have been waiting a long time for Timmons to return to
feed them. At the sound of the opening door they become
very quiet in anticipation of the Master. If any player
should fail to make a Sneak roll while his investigator trav-
erses the chamber, the things in the pits realize that this is
not Timmons and begin to shriek and scream in their inhu-
man voices. The cacophony is so terrible that it costs 0/1D3
point to listen. If an investigator should decide to shine a
flashlight down into one of the dark pits, he will see a
near-human thing, naked and insane, with well-chewed
portions of its own limbs demonstrating its insatiable hun-
ger. An investigator seeing this thing loses (0/1D6 SAN
points.

Losing five or more points of SAN while looking down
at one of these creatures will startfe the investigator and
cause him to drop his light into the pit. It the investigators
should be plunged into darkness as a result, remember that
the grating is wide cnough for a foot or whole leg to pass
through, and the creatures below are ravenous with hunger.
The keeper should require a DEX roll from those investiga-
tors who must traverse the pits in the dark. and then assess
0/1D3 points of damage per round from the feasting crea-
ture until the investigator can free himself with another
DEX roll. A SAN loss of 0/1D3 is appropriate for those
injured this way.

The Room Beyond

Opening the double doors. the investigators find a small
square chamber. This room contains a table. a set of shelves
on the wall filled with sealed opaque bottles, and an ornate,
wooden chair with red velvet upholstery. Held into this
chair by stout leather straps is something that once must
have been human. Its head lolls to one side, eyes closed in
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The Black Book

Journal of Douglas Timmons

Contained in this book is the full story of Douglas Timmons'
activities in the past and the present along with his researches
into the Resurrection spell. Studying the journal for two weeks
and succeeding in an INTx1 roll are required to learn the spell
Resurrection. The investigators will note that the earlier entries
are dated through the 16th and early 17th century. There is then
a gap in the entries, the next dated this year. The SAN loss for
reading the book is 1D3. A successful reading adds 3% to the
investigator's Cthulhu Mythos knowledge.

a faint, and drool runs from the comer of its mouth. The
torn rags that hang from its body are to little to cover the
awful physical deformities it bears. One leg is terribly
shriveled, the foot set at an odd angle and resembling that
of a small child. The thing’s left arm is crossed awkwardly
over its chest, flesh joined to flesh and immovable. Wit-
nessing the horrible thing in the chair costs 2/1D8 points of
Sanity.

After SAN rolls are made, a closer examination of the
unfortunate man reveals other grotesque deformities. Play-
ers who succeed in a History roll realize that the rags that
cover him are of a style of clothing over 200 years old. A
successful First Aid will help the man to regain conscious-
ness, but it will be found that he is completely insane and
incoherent. He screams and babbles about “you awful man,
Douglas Timmons,” and then lapses again into sobs and
screams. If a investigator can perform a successful Psycho-
analysis of the victim, he will partially regain his sanity,
enough to tell them what he knows of the activities of Dou-
glas Timmons in Woonsocket in colonial times. He tells the
investigators that he was Jason Greeley, and what horrible
tortures Timmons has inflicted upon him since he awoke.
He knows very little of Timmons’ activities in the present.

On the table the investigators find a large black book
written by Douglas Timmons in an archaic English script. {t
requires 5 hours and a successful English roll to read this
book.

The shelves contain two dozen opaque glass bottles
sealed with lead seals marked with indecipherable symbols.
Each contains a fine, colored powder the essential salts
required to resurrect people from the dead. Who or what is
contained in the bottles is unknown.

Investigators looking at the back of the room notice a
low dark tunnel. If followed, it will be found to lead to a
stone shaft some thirty feet high and set with iron rungs.
This ladder leads upwards to the trap door buried in the
ruins of the tower. Due to the accumulated debris above, the
trap door is unopenable from this side.

Walter Haley’s Shack
This is a filthy one-room shack located on the other side of
the river from the Timmons farm, about a half mile up-
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stream. The cabin is extremely ill-kept. A rusty truck is
parked nearby. The inside of the-shack is dirtier than the
outside and smells of unwashed bodies and old cigars.

It is likely that Walter Haley will be home when the
investigators come to visit. They should find him un-
friendly and unwilling to talk with strangers. He answers
the door, opening it a crack to speak, but will not admit his
visitors under any circumstances. It is impossible for the
investigators to gain any information from this man unless
a successful Fast Talk is used. Fast talking him causes
Haley to slip and reveal some piece of information that may
aid the investigators. The keeper can use this opportunity to
introduce some important clue if the investigators have
missed one. If asked about his truck he claims that it has not
run for over a year.

Only one investigator can talk with Haley through the
partially opened door. If this investigator should make a
Spot Hidden roll while standing here he sees what appears
to be a gold coin peeking out from under Haley's bed. If the
investigators should somehow gain admittance to the shack
they will find 12 more gold coins stashed under the bed.
These coins are pre-Revolutionary, dated 1708. Haley stole
them from the desk at the farm house. If taken to a coin
shop, the investigators find that these are worth $25 apiece.
Along with these coins the investigators also find a soiled,
folded piece of paper. On it is a hand-drawn map showing
how to get to Our Grace Cemetery in Woonsocket. Across
the bottom of the map is written “Row 4, Plot 18-].
Greeley.”

On the table is a worn newspaper clipping describing
the grave robbery that took place at Our Grace Cemetery
(the same clipping as The Case Papers 1).

Walter Haley

This uneducated backwoodsman, shunned and disliked by the
townspeople, was guilty of no more than petty theft before he met
Douglas Timmons. Haley used to watch Timmons entering and
exiting the secret crypt in the riverbank and thought that Timmons
must have a great treasure in there. Little did he know that
Timmons was aware of his presence and one day, while crouched
waiting in the bushes, Haley was grabbed from behind by the evil
man and thrown o the ground. Haley doesn't say what threats
Timmons used against him, but from that time until Timmons was
committed, Haley was in the man's employ. Among other things,
Haley was responsible for the grave-robbing at Our Grace
Cemetery and it was his truck that was heard that night.

Although he feels safe from Timmons, Haley still fears that he
may be arrested for his part in the grave-robbing and is now also
guilty of breaking into Brian Timmons’ house and stealing money
from the desk. He is uncommunicative and uncooperative with the
investigators.

It is possible that the investigators may not tie Haley into the
plot. In which case he might be seen lurking nearby when the
investigators are investigating the Timmons farm. Haley keeps an
eye on anyone he sees snooping around the Timmons property.

STR 13 CON 16 Siz1 INT 6 POW 9
DEX 13 APP 5 EDU 4 SAN 32 HP 14

SKILLS: Climb 60%,Dodge 55%, Jump 65%, Drive Automobile
40%, Hide 80%, Listen 65%, Pick Pocket 45%, Sneak 75%, Spot
Hidden 65%, Track 45%.

WEAPONS:12 gauge double-barrel shotgun 55%.



CONCLUSION

The most straight-forward solution to this case is the same
as the story. An investigator learns the spell Resurrection
and then. while on the pretext of visiting Brian Timmons in
the hospital, casts the reverse form of the spell. causing
Timmons to be reduced to a fine powder. However. unlike
the story, Timmons has a few additional spells at his dis-
posal and will not hesitate to use them against the investi-
gators if he senses that they wish to harm him. He is in a
straight-jacket, but the investigators may have to restrain
him to keep him trom physically attacking the investigator

casting the spell. Don’t forget, the hospital will have to
report the disappearance to the police, and the investigators
may find themselves the prime suspects in Brian Timmons’
escape.

Depending on how well the investigators understand
the situation, the keeper may award them as much as 1D10
points of SAN for destroying Douglas Timmons. Addition-
ally, the investigators may be awarded an extra 1D6 points
if they take pity on the thing found in the chair and put it to
rest.

This mystery involves the investigators in a curious death
at the old Fairfax Cemetery in Salem, Massachusetts. It will
require some studied thinking from the investigators to
avoid a perilous conflict with a powerful witch.

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

A recent article in the Boston Globe contains a report about
the body of a young woman discovered inside the grounds
of Fairfax Cemetery in Salem, Massachusetts. The grisly
discovery was made at approximately 4:45 A.M. by a pass-
ing milkman who said his attention was attracted by a mov-
ing blue light in the cemetery grounds. The dead woman
has been identified as Amy Hanover, a freelance writer
presently residing in Boston. No marks of violence were
found on the body and the cause of death was listed as heart
failure by the county coroner, Dr. Samowski. No other per-
tinent facts are given.

KEEPER’S INFORMATION

In Salem, Massachusetts, in 1692, numerous people were
condemned and hung as witches. Most of these people were
innocent, victims of a mass hysteria that swept England and
Westemn Europe as well. The ironic twist to the Salem trials
was that those who confessed to witchcraft (usually under

Wail of the Witch

Wherein the investigators confront a witch out of time, and perhaps travel back
to the ancient City of the Elder Things.

torture) were pardoned of their crimes while those who
maintained their innocence were usually executed. One ex-
ception to this pattemn was the trial of Mercy Booth and the
members of her coven. Though all confessed under torture,
the crimes they were charged with were considered so hei-
nous by their judges that they were condemned to immedi-
ate execution and burial on unconsecrated ground. All
records of the trial were suppressed or burned. Years later
when the jurors of the trials published a public apology for
their errors, the first draft was said to have contained an
exception in the case of Mercy Booth.

In truth, Mercy Booth and her coven worshiped Nyar-
lathotep in a secret room located beneath the basement of
her home. Here they kept their secret rites and offered
young children as sacrifices to Nyogtha. In an adjoining
room, unknown to the members of the coven, Nyarlathotep
showed Mercy how to construct a Gate that would carry her
through space and time to the City of the Elder Things in
Antarctica, 100 million years in the past.

With the growing fervor of the witch trials around her,
Mercy realized that her existence was in danger and made
arrangements to circumvent her possible death. Entering
into a contract with the ghouls who dwelt beneath Fairfax
Cemetery, she made arrangements to have the tunneling
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creatures remove her coffin soon after burial and convey it
to a secret subterranean room a half mile north of the cem-
etery. Her spirit was freed from her body by the elder things
who waited here to escort her through the Gate. In ancient
Antarctica her body assumed its normal shape and she has
continued to dwell there for over two centuries.

Mercy still visits this world, but here her body assumes
a spirit form that can neither communicate nor affect physi-
cal objects. To accomplish these tasks, her spirit must tem-
porarily inhabit her mummified corpse. From this body she
can speak, move about, and cast spells.

In 1892 the block of houses containing Mercy’s old
home was demolished to make way for the construction of
a group of apartment buildings. When the workmen broke
through the ceiling of Mercy’s secret room, work was tem-
porarily halted in the area. Professor Michael Hagerty of
Boston University was called in the site to investigate the
discovery. Hagerty was a recognized expert on American
colonial history and was requested by the Salem town
council to make a determination of the historical value of
the find. While investigating the room, Hagerty was con-
tacted by Mercy, who promised to tell him great secrets if
he could somehow manage to keep her room and her exist-
ence a secret.

Hagerty soon announced that the room was of no sig-
nificant historical value and work was continued. Mean-
while, Hagerty had secretly bribed the construction
company with $2000 to carefully cover the room and build
over it. Using the ghoul tunnels as access to Mercy’s room,
Hagerty attended a series of meetings with Mercy over the
next few months. Mercy finally convinced Hagerty to bring
his wife with him on his next visit when she secretly
planned to attempt to inhabit his wife’s body. Unfortunately
Hagerty’s wife took ill before the next visit and was unable
to accompany him to Salem. When Hagerty arrived at the
secret room without his wife, Mercy flew into a rage and
had Hagerty murdered by the ghouls, who then dumped his
body outside the cemetery.

The Witch Papers 1

From an article written by Amy Hanover and published in
Occult Review magazine.

This article begins as a standard work about witchcraft,
but then touches briefly on the subject of a mysterious
coven of Salem witches.

“The thirteen witches were reputed to be so evil that all tran-
scripts of the trial are thought to have been destroyed. The
leader of the coven was named Mercy Booth, who was said by
more than one witness to have been visited by the devil in the
guise of a tall black man. Other information indicates that she
may have been related to Ludvig Prinn, executed by the Roman
Inquisition in the 16th century for heresy and devil worship. The
next article will have more information on this interesting
coven.”
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Mercy’s next opportunity came just recently when she
discovered Amy Hanover exploring the old tombstones in
Fairfax Cemetery. Using her telepathy she duped the poor
girl into showing up at the cemetery later that night where
Mercy forcibly attempted to inhabit her body. Amy’s heart
was weak though and the experience literally frightened the
young woman to death, forcing Mercy to abandon the now
useless body. Mercy is now waiting below for the next
possible victim,

SCENES
Amy Hanover’s Apartment

The apartment in Boston can be located simply by looking
in the phone book. Upon arniving, the investigators find the
apartment occupied by Amy’s distraught rcommate Rita
Carson, a model. Rita is too upset to speak with the investi-
gators at length, but will tell them that Amy was a very
serious writer with a deep interest in occult subjects.

If an Qratory roll is made while talking with Rita, she
will show them an old notebook of Amy’s which she ne-
glected to give to the police. Among the scribbled papers is
one titled “Salem.” Beneath this is written the name
“Mercy Booth” followed by “1412 L .” The only other item
of interest is a folded letter slipped between the pages of the
notebook. It is a form letter from Occult Review magazine
of New York, saying that they are publishing an article of
hers. The letter is dated five months ago. A phone call to the
publisher in New York informs the investigators that Amy
had sold an article to the magazine on the subject of witch-
craft. The back issues are sold out but a successful Library
Use roll at the Boston library should turn one up (See the
Witch Papers 1).

County Coroner in Salem

Dr. Samowski, the Salem county coroner, is an avid tatker.
He confides to the investigators that if it wasn’t a matter of
professional ethics, he would have said the woman died of
fright. The doctor grew up in Salem, so he can tell them that
Fairfax has always had a reputation for ghosts and goblins.

Fairfax Cemetery

This is one of the oldest cemeteries in the area. Its ancient
gnarled trees and eroded headstones bear quiet witness to
this fact. Because many local old families have ancestors
buried here, the condition of the cemetery is good, despite
the decaying neighborhood. The cemetery is surrounded by
a seven-foot-tall iron fence but the gate is never locked. On
the western edge of the cemetery, just beyond the fence, is
a small unkempt burial plot. It can be seen from any high
ground within the cemetery.

At night, ghouls occasionally leave their tunnels to
wander the grounds. The investigators have a 20% chance
of spotting one on any given night. If no ghoul is seen, there



is a 10% chance of seeing the glowing blue spirit of Mercy
Booth.

Anyone making a Spot Hidden roll while investigating
the Crawford mausoleum discovers a muddy hole near the
foundation that leads to the ghoul burrows below. If the
small burial plot outside the grounds is checked, it will be
found to contain thirteen graves crowded together, each
marked with a plain flat headstone, The stones are too
weathered to read but one has a small bronze plate attached
to it. Although green with age the following inscription can
be made out:

GRAVE OF MERCY BOOTH
Daughters of Salem Hist. Soc.
1901
Their number and address are in the telephone book.

Daughters of Salem Historical Society

The Historical Society is in a litile two-story storefront in
an older section of town, Over the door a weathered sign
prociaims it to be “The Daughters of Salem Hist. Soc.”
while a sign on the door reads, “Museum Hours 10-4,
Mon.-Sat. Admission 10 cents.” The museum’s proprietors
are two spinster sisters in their mid-sixties, Henrietta and
Olivia Thatcher. They live above the museum on the second
floor.

Upon entering the museum, the investigators see a
counter on the right manned by the sisters. Behind this
souvenir counter is a stairway leading to the second floor.
The museum collection consists of books pertaining to
Salem and witchcraft, witch items such as cauldrons and
brooms, and a number of old prints and paintings on the
walls, all covered with a thick coating of dust. Boxes filled
with old magazines and newspapers are stashed in conven-
ient comers. These contain articles the sisters wished to
save but never got around to clipping and filing. A locked
door at the back of the museum opens to the basement
stairs.

If asked about Mercy Booth, Olivia will tell them that
when she was a little girl her mother pointed out an old
house on Lyle Street and told her that was the house where
Mercy Booth was supposed to have lived. She also tells
them that that area was torn down some 30 years ago and
new buildings erected on the location. She does not remem-
ber any more details pertaining to its specific location. If
asked about any personal occult experiences, Henrietta will
tell them that she once saw a ghost in Fairfax Cemetery. On
the day that she and Olivia went to supervise the workers
installing the plaque on Mercy’s grave, she glanced up sud-
denly and saw a blue shimmering form hovering near the
Crawford mausoleum. Olivia pooh-poohs the story because
for one thing ghosts don’t appear in the daylight, and Olivia
thinks Henrietta has an over-active imagination anyway.

A Spot Hidden roll allows an investigator to notice one
of the prints on the wall. The title is “The Exec. of M.

The Witch Papers 2
Article from the Salem Globe. dated July 1892

SALEM-The Da Chille Construction Co. has an-
nounced that demolition will continue tomorrow
on the old homes on Lyle Street. Work had been
delayed on the site while Professor Hagerty of
Boston University examined an underground room
discovered beneath the block of homes. Accord-
ing to construction workers the room was
decorated with a mosaic tile that contained
what appeared to be strange writing.

After spending several days at the site
Professor Hagerty has pronounced it of no
significant historical value, allowing demoli-
tion to proceeded. With construction now un-
derway again, the block of modern new apartment

buildings should be completed by late summer

of next year.

Booth” and depicts a horrible old hag being led to the gal-
lows. This is an accurate reproduction of the event and may
allow investigators to identify Mercy if they should meet
her. This fact will also be discovered if an investigator
states specifically that he is examining all the pictures. A
successful Library Use roll while examining the boxes of
newspapers tums up a story dated July, 1892, concerning
the demolition of a block of houses on Lyle Street. (See The
Witch Papers 2.)

If access to the basement can somehow be gained, the
investigators will discover a small locked room. Inside this
room are many occult items, including a magic circle
drawn on the floor in chalk. A successful Occult roll shows
these items to be somewhat childish copies of the real
thing. The sisters are simply playing at being witches, but
the investigators may not realize it.

Henrietta and Olivia Thatcher. These two old spinsters
are the founders and sole members of “The Daughters of
Salem Historical Society.” Founded in 1899, the society is
dedicated to the preservation of lore and artifacts pertaining
to the Salem witch ftrials of the late 1600’s. Henrietta, the
younger of the two, is quite talkative and subject to flights
of fancy. By contrast, her older sister, Olivia, is a stern,
schoolmarm type and often reprimands Henrietta for her
garrulous behavior. The sisters first became interested in
the occult as young girls when their mother told them that
they were descended from some of the families accused in
the Salem witch trials. For years the women have experi-
mented with spells and potions in a locked basement room
but have yet to produce any positive results, This behavior
has all been quite innocent, but someone discovering the
paraphemalia in the basement may be led to think other-
wise.
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The Witch Papers 3

Professor Hagerty s notes.

These are loose papers covered by the uniform handwriting of
the professor. They reveal the following facts:

® Mercy's coven was accused of over a dozen ritual murders
even though the bodies were never found.

e Mercy was also accused of having meetings with the Devil.
Many witnesses testified to seeing her in the company of a
tall black man.

® One old man of questionable sanity claimed he saw her
walking one night with “a terrible familiar, shaped like a bar-
rel with ridges, and a starfish where its head ought to be.”

Da Chille Construction Company

If access to the company’s records can be gained, a success-
ful Accounting roll will show that in July, 1892, a sum of
$2000 was paid to the company by M. Hagerty for “special
construction work.” Hagerty’s address in Boston is given.

Professor Hagerty’s Home

If the investigators are able to locate Professor Hagerty's
home, they may not yet have discovered that he died in
1893. Mrs. Hagerty tells them that he was murdered in
Salem, his body discovered just outside of Fairfax Ceme-
tery. Police surmised that the body had been bothered by
wild dogs as it had a number of bite marks on it. She tells
them that her husband had been traveling to Salem on
weekends for some time, researching a book that he was
writing. She adds that she was supposed to accompany her
husband on that last trip, but at the last moment came down
with a cold and was unable to go with him.

If a successful Debate or Oratory is made, the widow
will give the investigators her husband’s notes (see The
Witch Papers 3) and a strange metal statue. The statue is
made of an odd shiny metal and is broken off on the base. A
Cthulhu Mythos roll tells the investigators that it is a statuc
of an Elder Thing. Studying the notes requires several
hours of reading.

Lyle Street

The old homes that once stood here were replaced in the
early 1890’s by two blocks of three-story apartment build-
ings. Originally intended to be occupied by the growing
middle class, they have become rundown in recent years
and are now tenanted by occupants of a less than savory
character. When the street is first visited by the investiga-
tors, there are about a dozen people on the sidewalks plus a
fruit vendor, a milk wagon drawn by a black horse, and a
truck with a large pump mounted on the back operated by
two men.

If the pump truck is looked at more closely, a black hose
will be seen running from the pump to a basement window
in the building addressed 1412 Lyle St. If questioned about
this the men tell them that they come out here every couple
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of months or so to pump out the sewer drain in this build-
ing. Apparently the pipe is cracked somewhere under the
flooring and every so often the smell builds up and the
tenants start to complain. The workman thinks that the
landlord should have the thing fixed but is probably too
cheap to spend the money.

If the basement is investigated, the players will cer-
tainly notice the smell of raw sewage, but mixed with this
odor is the taint of something else, something worse. The
area of floor around the drainpipe is wet and cracked and
can be easily broken away by a determined person with a
sledge hammer. After this portion of floor is cleared it can
be seen that the pipe is indeed cracked and drains into a
damp, subterranean room (the mosaic room on the map).

The Ghoul Tunnels

Damp and slimy, a charnel stench hangs in the air and a
litter of cracked bones and filth covers the floors of the
passages. Ancient tree roots reach down from the ceiling,
dripping brackish water which forms puddles where
bloated, faintly luminous fungus glows. Beneath the ceme-
tery, shattered coffins jut out from the sides of the tunnels.
It is in these places that the bones are most numerous.

The tunnel system is terribly complex. stretching south
all the way to Boston. Investigators wishing to make a map
must state their intention before journeying into the tun-
nels. Only when they wish to return. following their map,
should the actual Map Making roll be made. At this point
the investigators will discover whether their map is accu-
rate or if they are lost in the tunnels. Anytime the investiga-
tors become lost they must make a luck roll to blunder upon
an exit in 1-6 hours. This exit can be the point where they
entered or, at the keeper’s option, almost any point in Salem
or Boston. The investigators may find themselves in the
basement of a posh women’s health spa or in some other
embarrassing situation.

Three possible points of entry to the tunnels may be
discovered. The most likely spot is the slimy hole that can
be discovered behind the Crawford mausoleum. Failing to
find this, the investigators may break directly into Mercy’s
secret room from the basement of the apartment building
and discover an entrance to the system here. Really desper-
ate investigators may try to dig up Mercy's grave, which
will collapse into the ghoul tunnels lying directly beneath .

Assuming that the investigators enter at the Crawford
mausoleum, they will be faced with a bewildering choice of
passages that twist off in all directions. From this point
Mercy's basement is one quarter of a mile almost due north.
The witch’s burial ground lies 200 yards west. Investigators
stating that they are attempting to travel north have an 80%
chance of discovering the door to the secret basement in 1-3
hours, Those attempting to travel east or west stand a 45%
chance of wandering by the door in 1-4 hours. Those going
south have a 10% chance of blundering into it in 1-6 hours.



Professor Hagerty’s Secret Notes.

These notes are found in the ghoul tunnels near the mauso-
leum. The rotting pages reveal the following facts:

® The mosaic scripture found on the walls of the secret room
is medieval Arabic and is some sort of prayer to a god called
Nyogtha.

¢ Hagerty tells of a presence in the room and a voice speak-
ing in his head. The voice identifies itself as Mercy Booth.

® Hagerty writes of paying the Da Chille Construction Co.
$2000 to carefully reseal the room and to continue construc-
tion around it. The journal tells of several meetings in the
room after it was resealed and the pending revelation of the
secret.

® The last entry talks of making plans 10 bring his wife to the
next meeting.

For every hour spent exploring the tunnels there is a 35%
chance of encountering 1-3 ghouls. These figures can be
adjusted to use for investigators entering at the other sites.

The above information is intended as a guideline only.
The keeper should be sensitive to the dramatic elements of
the game and handle encounters accordingly. Possibly the
spirit of Mercy Booth would be seen lurking in the shad-
ows, or the investigators may discover the body of a person
recently reported missing. Be sure to keep the tunnels full
of shadows and scurrying noises.

The ghouls who inhabit the tunnels fear Mercy Booth be-
cause she is so powerful. Investigators meeting ghouls may
use a Contact Ghoul spell to attempt to establish a rudimen-
tary communication. Although unlikely to help against
Mercy herself, clever investigators may be able to at least
coerce a ghoul into leading them to where they want to go.
Normal ghoul statistics are available in the Call of Cthulhu
rule book.

Clues to be discovered in the tunnels are as follows:

A successful Spot Hidden in the area below the mausoleum
reveals a small book wedged among the tree roots near the
entrance. The pages are loose and it is covered with mold
and mildew but on the inside cover the investigators can
read the name “Michael Hagerty,” followed by a Boston
address.

The area beneath the witch’s burial ground is reached
by a short, fairly straight tunnel leading off from the main
network. A Spot Hidden roll in this area reveals the fact that
while there are twelve broken coffins to be found in this
area, the thirteenth is missing. It appears as though it had
been carefully removed from below sometime in the past.

A quarter mile.north of the mausoleum, built directly
into the side of a tunnel, is a heavy oak door that opens into
Mercy’s basement. It is locked and has a Strength of 14.

The Small Black Book
Journal of Mercy Booth

This book contains the near-illiterate scrawis of Mercy Booth.
An investigator succeeding in an English roll can determine that
the first section describes in disgusting detail the ritual worship
of Nyogtha by Mercy's coven, including the sacrifice of children
to the Great Old One. As the journal progresses it becomes less
and less coherent, until it is for the most part a useless, random
gibberish mentioning in places her attempts to arrange the aid
of the Elder Things for some indiscernible task.

The book explains the casting of two spells, Contact Elder
Thing and Create Gate. An investigator must make an Intelli-
gence x3 roll for each spell he wishes to learn. It takes two
hours to read the book, at a cost of 1D6 San and a gain of +2
to Cthulhu Mythos skill.

Mercy Booth’s Basement

The Hidden Room: This is Mercy Booth’s private cham-
ber, unknown even to the members of the coven. It is con-
structed of plain stone and sparsely furnished. Near the
door to the ghoul tunnels lies an open, empty coffin of
cheap construction. At a large wooden table a human figure
cloaked in rough brown robes sits facing a wall covered
with strange lines and arcane symbols, its back is to the
doors.

The door opening to the ghoul tunnels is locked and has
a Strength of 14, The door in the west wall opens easily and
is concealed only to those in the neighboring mosaic room.
A close look at the coffin lid shows the name “M. Booth-
1692" branded into the wood.

If the investigators walk around to the front of the table
to view what is there they will see the mummified, parch-
ment-like body of an old hag propped up in the chair. Her
face is hideously distorted, with her dried tongue protrud-

Mercy Booth’s Basement
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Mercy Booth

Mercy appears in this adventure in three different forms, each
form differing in abilities. Mercy only assumes human form
when dwelling in the world on the other side of the Gate. If seen
there, she will appear as a bent old hag with long, crooked
hands, tipped with dirty fingernails. Her voice is harsh and
cracked and she walks with the aid of a short cane. Mercy is
unskilled at physical combat and usually carries no weapon.
Her specifications follow.

STR8 CON 12 Siz9
DEX 12 APP 3 SAN O
ARMOR: none

SKILLS: Astronomy 85%, Botany 85%, Cthulhu Mythos 45%,
History 40%, Listen 50%, Occult 0%, Read/Write English
65%, Spot Hidden 60%, Zoology 80%.

SPELLS: Summon/Bind Byakhee, Summon/Bind Hunting
Horror, Contact Ghoul, Contact Elder Thing, *Call Nyogtha,
Contact Nyarlathotep, Shrivelling, Voorish Sign, Elder Sign,
Create Gate, *Telepathy, *“Mind Transfer.

Spells marked by asterisks are new or work differently than
previously described. See the accompanying box for greater
explanation.

When passing through the Gate into this world, Mercy’s spirit
assumes the form of 2 mass of slimy, slightly iridescent, blue
bubbles. When in this form, Mercy cannot communicate, cast
spells, or affect physical objects, She can only move about and
listen. She can slip through small cracks or under doors but can
not pass through solid matter. Viewing Mercy in this form re-
quires a successful Sanity roll or a loss of 1D6 points of Sanity

The third form of Mercy Booth is the most terrible. If she has a
need to speak to someone directly or cast spells she can in-
habit her ancient corpse. From here Mercy can move about
and affect the physical world. Her characteristics in this form
follow.

STR 8 CON 20 Siz9 INT 16 POW 25
DEX 6 APP 0 SAN 0 EDU 28 HP 15
ARMOR: The dried husk of a body has a natural 4 points of
armor and all impaling weapons do minimum damage due o
the fact that there are no internal organs or blood supply to
damage. The body is quite flammable however and will burn
completely away in 2 rounds, forcing Mercy'’s spirit to flee.
SPELLS: same as in her human form.

SANITY: Viewing the inhabitation of the withered corpse by the
disembodied spirit is a terrible thing to watch and those failing
their Sanity rolls will lose 1D8 points of Sanity. Those with
successful rolis tose onty 1 point of Sanity.

Mercy has dwelt for a long time in the City of the Eider Things
and wishes to return to this world again. To accomplish this she
has been looking for a suitable body to inhabit. She wants a
young, healthy female with low Power. She wants one with low
Power because she knows that after casting the Mind Transfer
spell her own magic points will be low and if she loses the
struggle her spirit will be lost forever. Consequently she has
been moving very slowly and carefully, waiting for the right
opportunity.

INT 16 POW 25
EDU 28 HP 11

ing from her mouth, and her head hanging to the side at a
grotesque angle due to a broken neck. Her outstretched
skeletal hand rests atop a small black book on the table.
Next to the book is a roll of animal skin with writing on
it. A successful Zoology roll while examining this skin re-
veals it to be of human origin. If a successful English roll is
made, it will be apparent that the scroll is a contract be-
tween Mercy Booth and the ghouls, dated in 1692. It calls
for the ghouls to deliver her body immediately after burial
to “the hidden room beneath the house.” In retum, Mercy
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NEW AND ALTERED SPELLS .

Call Nyogtha

Mercy has a long established contact with Nyogtha, To call
Nyogtha she need expend only 1 magic point and chant for one
minute for a 100% chance of successfully calling Nyogtha.

Mind Transfer

This spell works the same as described in the Call of Cthulhu
rulebook, with these added embellishments. Anyone watching
the struggle between Mercy and a victim will see two masses
of bubbles flowing in and out of the jerking, convulsing body. If
Mercy wins, the victim's spirit flows to the dried corpse and
enters it. The victim is trapped in the undead body of Mercy
Booth, requiring an additional 1D10 Sanity loss on top of the
usual 1D20 loss for being the victim of this spell. Most victims
will be driven hopelessly insane by the horror of the transfer.
Watching this scene requires a successful Sanity roll to avoid
the loss of 1D6 points of Sanity.

Telepathy

(Sometimes referred to as Thought Projection.) To accomplish
this the caster must expend 1 magic point to establish contact
with an individual anywhere within a mile for five minutes’ time.
The spell can be recast to continue the contact. The caster
cannot hear the other person’s thoughts but can only speak to
individuals, leaving cryptic clues, hints, or giving instructions.

promised to help deliver certain individuals whom the
ghouls wished for themslves.

If the body is disturbed in any way (and removing the
book will disturb the body), Mercy will instantly become
aware of it and probably (80% chance) come to investigate,
inhabiting her corpse so she can drive off the intruders with
spells.

Anyone knowing the spell Create Gate recognizes the
back wall as a possible gate to somewhere. Anyone step-
ping through this Gate loses 3 magic points and 2 points of
Sanity as he is transported to the ancient City of the Elder
Things in prehistoric Antarctica. Because this gate was cre-
ated for Mercy Booth by Nyarlathotep himself, those using
the gate do not have to expend the 31 magic points that it
would usually cost to use it. Ordinarily, no mortal would be
able to create or use such a time-spanning portal.

The Mosaic Room: Workmen discovered this room in
1892 while they were demolishing the Lyle Street houses.
The walls and ceiling are covered with a mosaic depicting
strange whirls of fabulous colors, and rusted iron sconces
adom the walls. Incongruously, a six-inch iron pipe juts
through the ceiling to run along the top comer of the west
wall before disappearing out the north wall. From a large
hole in the elbow of this pipe drips a mixture of water and
raw sewage that has collected to a depth of nearly four
inches on the floor. Anyone entering this room must make a
roll of CON x5 or less or be overcome by nausea and un-
able to take any action for 2-20 minutes.

If the mosaic walls are examined, a red band is discov-
ered running all the way around the room. It is written in
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Arabic, and a successful Arabic roll shows the writing to
contain a spell, Summon/Dismiss Nyogtha. It is a very ac-
curate rendering; a roll of INT x5 or less allows the reader
to learn the spell. A successful Spot Hidden roll while look-
ing in the area reveals a concealed door in the east wall. A
successful DEX x5 roll allows the investigator to discover
that pushing on the lower right comner causes the door to
swing in toward the investigator, providing access to the
hidden rcom beyond.

If the scummy water is swept back, the investigators
will discover an iron disk, six feet in diameter, set flush into
the floor, It has a resistance strength of 24 and if pried up
will reveal a jagged vertical cavern leading straight down
through the earth. An odor worse than the sewage drifts up
from this cavern. The cavern continues for nearly half a
mile straight down before branching into numerous slime-
coated cavities. The keeper is encouraged to plot a suitable
demise for any investigator foolish enough to explore the
endless subterranean caverns of Nyogtha.

The rooms in the City of the Elder Things
Gate Room: Investigators stepping through the gate find
themselves standing near the north wall of the Gate Room
on the City of the Elder Things map. This room is formed
of large, smooth fitting stone blocks and decorated with
horizontal bands of carvings. These bands are three feet
wide and consist of one layer of geometric decorations fol-
lowed by a band of carvings, one upon the other from floor
to ceiling. The carvings depict strange, barrel-shaped be-
ings apparently warring with a race of hideous octopoid
things.

Booth’s Rooms in the City of the Elder Things

T 1t I I J 1 Yy 11

e {11

]

1 1 1 {1

LNING ¥
GATE ROOM QUARTERS %;
Z 9]
= BALCONY

” !

22 - Wait of the Witch

Drawn onto the north wall is this end of the Gate con-
necting back to Mercy’s hidden room in Salem. At the other
end of the room an archway 6 feet wide and 12 feet high
opens onto the balcony and a cloudy gray sky. Through the
humid haze dark spires can be seen in the distance. Near the
archway, propped against the wall, is a strange rifle-like
object made of a silvery metal.

A Cthuilhu Mythos roll tells the investigators that the
barrel-shaped creatures in the carvings are the ancient elder
things, while a second successful roll reveals the others to
be the Spawn of Cthulhu. If an investigator can make a roll
of INT x2 or less, he will gain 3% on his Cthulhu Mythos
score and lose 1D3 points of Sanity. The strange metallic
object found near the door is in reality a shoggoth prod used
by the Elder Things to keep the rebellious beasts in line. A
roll of INT x3 or less will allow an investigator to recognize
it as some sort of electrical weapon and also understand its
firing mechanism. Unfortunately this one has sustained
some minor damage and is not functional at the moment. A
complete hour’s work and successful Mechanical and Elec-
trical Repair rolls should have it working again.

Shoggoth Prod

This is a long, slender metalic device. A gauge mounted on the
side indicates that the weapon contains twenty charges. No
technology available in the investigator's world will allow them
to recharge it once these twenty charges have been expended.

Shots/rd Damage Base Chance Range Hit Points
1 4D8 15%

20 yds. 8

Balcony: From here the investigators can see that they are
in the center of a great city built of stone. Gazing down,
they see that the ground below is obscured by the gray
misty atmosphere. As they look over the balcony they can
hear strange whistling noises faintly drifting up from the
unseen streets below. In the far, hazy distance buildings
even taller than the one they stand in are connected by
arching bridges of fantastic proportions. The tops of great
palm trees and ferns can be seen poking their way through
the crowding mists of the hilltops

The balcony is constructed of the same stone as the rest
of the building. A low wall runs along the perimeter of the
balcony. This wall is surmounted by a decorative metal
railing. The railing consists of small metal statues of the
creatures seen in the carvings. Investigators will notice that
one of the statues has been broken off. This is the same
statue that can be found at Professor Hagerty’s home. Far-
ther down the balcony is visible another archway similar to
the first leading back into the building.

At some time while the investigators are making these
discoveries, a huge, leathery pterodactyl-like creature sud-
denly wings its way around a comer of the building. Utter-
ing a piercing wail as it flies by the balcony, it slowly turns



and descends into the mists, carrying a huge stone block
with it. Investigators witnessing this sudden occurrence
need to make their Sanity rolls or lose 1D6 points of Sanity.
A Cthulhu Mythos roll will tell the investigators where they
are, and a successful Zoology or Botany roll should at least
inform them that they are in the distant past. Any noise such
as gunshots or screams will certainly attract the occupants
of the living quarters.

Living Quarters: The second room is Mercy’s living quar-
ters and is similar in appearance to the antechamber with
the additions of a straw sleeping pad in the corner, a stone
table with a small box upon it, and a stairway against the
north wall that leads down. The box contains an Elder Sign
carved into a small stone.

Standing near the table are Mercy Booth in human
form, and three elder things, one of them armed with a
shoggoth prod. They will not hesitate to detain any intruder
with as much force as necessary. Mercy is probably already
aware of who they are and will retreat down the stairs to
alert other elder things. This intrusion by humans could
prompt the elder things to destroy the gate, trapping any
investigators still there in prehistoric Antarctica. Traveling
back through the gate costs the investigators another 3
magic points and | point of Sanity.

The Elder Things.

Through the intervention of Nyarlathotep the elder things
are allied to Mercy Booth, but they have grown tired of her
presence in their city and dislike the open Gate to another
world. They will not turn against Mercy Booth for any
reason, but are likely to destroy the Gate if they suspect a
possible mass intrusion of their world, regardless of the
consequences to Mercy. They do not necessarily hate hu-
mans but will move to destroy any intruder into their world.

CONCLUSION

In playing the character of Mercy Booth her goals must
always be kept in mind. She has enough magic at her com-
mand to destroy several of the investigators if she wishes.
What keeps her actions in check, however, is the fear of
discovery. If her corpse should be destroyed, she will be
unable to cast spells in this world, preventing her from ever
attempting to inhabit another human body. Destroying the
Gate between the two worlds would either trap her forever
in the city of the elder things or leave her stranded in this
world in spirit form. Mercy realizes these possibilities and
will try to keep the secret room secure at all costs.

Her next objective is to locate and inhabit a new body
so she can permanently rejoin this world. She would prefer
a young, healthy female, but if destruction looks imminent
she will attempt to inhabit any body. If she successfully
inhabits the body of someone known to the investigators
(such as one of them), the other investigators should not be
aware of it nor even understand what went on. Mercy, now
in the new body, claims that something tried to possess her
but she managed to drive it off. She then feigns exhaustion
to avoid answering too many questions she can’t answer.
She will possess none of the knowledge of the former in-
habitant and of course will not know how to drive a car, etc.

If Mercy feels all is lost, she may revenge herself by
unleashing Nyogtha on the investigators or even Salem it-
self. She will do this only in extreme cases as it will almost
surely lead to the discovery of her secret room and its prob-
able destruction. If Mercy turns Nyogtha loose on Salem,
the investigators should suffer a 1D10 sanity loss due to
their knowledge of the death and destruction that resulted
from their actions. Sanity points can be awarded in the
amount of 1D10 for the destruction of Mercy Booth or 1D6
for destroying the Gate and trapping her in the other world.
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“

. and it was dreamed again of the priest Nophru-Ka
and of the words he spake at his death, how the son
woufd rise to claim the rtitle, and the son would rule the
world in the name of the father, and the son would
revenge the father’s murder, and the son would call the
Beast that is worshipped, and the sands would drink the
blood of the seed of the Pharaoh, and after this manner
did Nophru-Ka prophesy.”’

from Kitab al-Azif
This is the prophecy of a dying priest in the year 1733
B.C.—a prophecy now on the verge of fulfillment. Can the
investigators halt the machinations of the malignant
Brotherhood or will they fail, leaving a hopless world in
the grip of a madman?

Using leads provided by a well-known east coast spiri-
tualist, the investigators will visit four continents, and pos-
sibly even another planet in an attempt to stimy the vil-
lainous Brotherhood of the Beast, and their catspaw cor-
poration, New World Incorporated.

The Fungi from Yuggoth is a complete Call of Cthulhu
campaign in eight chapters. Individual chapters may, with
a minimum of innovation, be used as complete adventures
in themselves, and thus be adapted to any campaign.

TIME

In most of the chapters (VI and VII are exceptions), there
is no set order of events nor any need for strict time-keep-
ing. Investigators’ actions and dramatic effect will help the
keeper determine what should happen next.

If the keeper wishes, he may start the campaign in mid-
1928, planning to finish it about a year later. This will
allow him to blame the stock market crash of 29 on
either the collapse of the Brotherhood’s world empire, or
as a result of a successful takeover by them.

This campaign is peculiarly modern in content, and
would prove particularly easy to transfer from the usual
1920s format to the 1980s. The Sons of Terror and their
anarchist and nihilist bands can easily become part of the
many terrorist organizations of our own time. World-
spanning corporations, similar to NWI, are even more
common in the 1980s than the 1920s. It would be some-
what more difficult tq transfer it to a campaign set in an
earlier time period, but this could also be done, with some
effort on the part of an inventive keeper.

The Fungi From

Yuggoth

APPENDICES

The plot of The Fungi from Yuggoth is quite lengthy and
very intricate. Additionally, the use of the optional scenes
will depend partly upon the actions of the investigators
and partly upon decisions made by the keeper. A plot
synopsis follows, but a moment should be spent in ex-
plaining the appendices as they provide a detailed history
of the situation that faces the investigators.

Appendix A tells the story of the rise to power and the
death of an Egyptian priest known as Nophru-Ka. Murder-
ed on the orders of the Pharaoh, the priest, with his dying
breaths, uttered the prophecy that later found its way
into the Kitab al-Azif. Appendix B tells of the discovery
of this prophecy by two men who eventually formed the
“Brotherhood of the Beast,” a secret organization that
plots to rule the world through a descendant of the long-
dead Egyptian.

The proper descendant is finally born in the late nine-
teenth century and is named Edward Chandler (appendix
C), son of a successful small business man from Chicago.
The machinations of the Brotherhood (including the ruth-
less murder of Chandler’s parents) eventually bring him to
a position of influence and power as the chairman of the
board of the international corporation New World Incor-
porated (appendix D).

Appendices E and F contain background information
on two organizations developed over the years by the
Brotherhood and NWI as part of their plan for world con-
quest. Appendix G is a time-line of events that will aid the
keeper in ordering past occurrences and answering ques-
tions posed by the investigators.

These appendices should be read and understood by
the keeper before beginning play.

EXPANDING THE ADVENTURE

While The Fungi from Yuggoth is a complete adventure in
itself, keepers may wish to expand the piece, particularly
in the second half of the campaign. Possibilities include
adventures dealing with an individual gang of the Sons of
Terror, or a trip to India to discover the source of the
“wisdom” being disseminated to the Rhon-Paku temples.
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Chapter |

This section offers the opportunity for the investigators to
solve the mysterious disappearance of Paul LeMond, a
famous “spirit medium” living in New York City. The in-
vestigators are hired by Paul’s distraught mother and have
the chance to earn a good sum of money if they success-
fully unravel LeMond’s disappearance. Investigators will
discover nothing about the Brotherhood in this chapter; it
serves to introduce the investigators to Paul LeMond, a
man with mysterious, psychic powers. Paul LeMond is
destined to survive this adventure no matter how badly it
may be bungled by the group and he will serve as a source
of clues and information throughout the campaign.

Chapter ||

By the beginning of this chapter, the investigators should
have become aware of the importance of the bizarre
dreams of Paul LeMond, and when he tells them that a
series of child murders in Boston is somehow connected
with his dreams of the future enslavement of mankind,
they should be willing to follow up.

The investigators may trace the murders to a terrible
child-thing that lives in an old well. Most importantly,
they will find clues to the existence of a centuries-old
organization known as the Brotherhood of the Beast, with
headquarters in Romania.

Chapter 11

The clues found earlier take the investigators to a crum-
bling castle perched on the side of a mountain in Transyl-
vania. Here the head of the Brotherhood dwells and di-
rects his nefarious plans. This man, Baron Hauptman, is
preparing to leave the area as the centuries-old plan begins
to move toward fruition. The investigators may or may
not meet him, but it is likely that they will eventually gain
entrance to the castle and, in addition to the lurking hor-
rors in the crypts and catacombs below, will find informa-
tion that will partially explain the aims and purposes of
the Brotherhood and supply them with maps and other
clues that will lead them to the secret tomb of the long-
buried priest, Nophru-Ka.

Chapter IV
An archaeological team from the Miskatonic University is
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Plot Synopsis

“The Brotherhood of the Beast”

currently searching for the lost tomb of Nophru-Ka. Their
information, however, is faulty and the investigators have
the true clues that will enable the team to reach the
proper site. Reaching the tomb, located almost a hundred
miles west of Cairo, deep in the desert, will necessitate a
long camel ride that will end with an attack upon the
group by a band of Arab bandits and a subsequent trip
through a secret cavern where they may witness the shade
of Nophru-Ka in worship to his dark god.

Once joined with the archaeological team, the investi-
gators will help discover the tomb of the priest and gain
entrance only to find that the tomb has been recently vio-
lated. Clues abound in the lost tomb, but a trusted mem-
ber of the team is part of the Brotherhood and will be
secretly working against the plans of the investigators
from the time of their arrival in Cairo.

Chapter V

There is room for a short intermission at this point as
there are no clues to be discovered in chapter IV to lead
the investigators on. They will be at an apparent dead end
until introduced to chapter V, again by the strange dreams
of Paul LeMond, when they travel to Perv in an attempt
to discover the source of a series of violent earthquakes
that have shaken the area in the last year.

The area in question is located high in the Andes
Mountains but the investigators may discover that they
can make a base camp at the nearby New World Incor-
porated experimental mining facility. Upon exploring the
earthquake-ravaged area near the camp, they will discover
evidence for the direct involvement of the Fungi from
Yuggoth. Later evidence may point to a connection with
the Mi-Go and the NWI mining camp.

Before this chapter is concluded, the investigators
should at least suspect a link between the Brotherhood
and certain employees of NWI. Most assuredly, the investi-
gators will be led to San Francisco.

Chapter VI

This chapter will give the investigators a chance to dis-
cover the actual plans of the Brotherhood and NWI. The
strange mineral Blue John, mined by the Fungi and
shipped from Peru to San Francisco by NWI is eventually
finding its way to a secret laboratory beneath the city
where it is being processed, with the proper enchant-



ments, into an incense that will be burned in the temples
of Rhon-Paku on the Day of the Beast. This special in-
cense is the material component of a spell that will be
used to call down the monstrous Dholes from their far-
flung planets and turn them loose upon some of the great
cities of the world. The members and leaders of the tem-
ple are unaware of their role in the plot of the Brother-
hood and are innocent accomplices.

This operation is being handled by a man known as
Lang-Fu, an ancient Chinese who once led a cult of Deep
Ones on the south China coast. The investigators may wit-
ness him conducting rites of Cthulhu and Hydra on a
deserted beach north of San Francisco.

Chapter VII

Before leaving San Francisco, the investigators will find
themselves suddenly assaulted by a foul creature while
asleep in their hotel rooms. Clues in the next morning’s
papers will lead them to believe that the NWI Electronics
Research Station, located across the bay in Oakland, may
be behind the attacks.

Taking advantage of the public guided touss offered at
the station, the investigators will have the opportunity to
learn of the startling new scientific advances being made
by NWI. While some may take advantage of the tour to
learn something new, an investigator or two may try to
slip away into a restricted area of the lab and find more
clues regarding the planned take-over by NWI and the
Brotherhood.

The head of the lab, Dr. Dieter, is a mad genius and the
perpetrator of the attack upon the investigators. Working
for NWI, he has been implanting small, electronic devices
into the brains of chosen victims and then using them to
infiltrate various terrorist organizations around the world.
These electronic zombies have insinuated themselves into
leadership positions within their respective organizations
and will lead the attacks against the seats of governments
and chosen military installations in an attempt to create
havoc around the globe on the Day of the Beast. Clues
contained in the lab will allow the investigators to notify
their government and possibly others of the imminent
danger. This warning could provide time for the involved
governments to lay plans to thwart the attacks.

Chapter VIiII

This is the climax of the adventure and the investigators
will find themselves once again in Egypt; this time at the
Necropolis of Giza, site of the pyramids and the Great
Sphinx. Here they will most likely meet up again with
Baron Hauptman and Lang-Fu, this time in the company
of Edward Chandler and a number of vicious, Arab body-

guards. The evil trio will attempt to call a horror in the
form of a faceless sphinx known as the Beast. The calling
of the Beast at dawn will signal the beginning of the Day
of the Beast and will coincide with the world-wide attacks
by the Sons of Terror and the chanting down of the
Dholes by the numerous Rhon-Paku temples.

This should prove the most difficult chapter for the in-
vestigators as they will be forced to decide upon the best
method to stop Chandler and the Brotherhood. The most
guaranteed methods are probably equally suicidal. The
two optional scenes offered in this adventure may serve as
a means of aiding the investigators overcome this vexing
situation.

Optional Scene 1

The Great Library of Celaeno is located in a distant star-
system and will prove an arduous trip. The most valuable
item here is the spell Create Barrier of Naach-Tith. This
powerful magic is one of the few sorceries that could
prove successful against the Beast, but it is costly to use
and the trip to Celaeno and back could well cost the life
of the investigator.

It is unlikely that the investigators will be prepared to
make such a journey; it requires powerful spells and magic
items. In chapter III, the investigators will have the oppor-
tunity to discover these and other items used by the
Baron on his many trips to the library.

Optional Scene 2

This scene describes what may happen to Paul LeMond
should he and the group attempt to contact the spirit of
Nophru-Ka. It is hinted to the investigators that the longer
dead the person to be contacted has been, the more inti-
mate an object Paul will require to be in contact with in
order to call forth the spirit of the dead one. Chapter VI
gives an example of Lang-Fu using the mummified liver of
Nophru-Ka in just such a way. This will be witnessed by
the investigators if they watch the terrible ceremonies
taking place at the deserted Pearl Beach. This dried organ
will be abandoned by the Chinese wizard and may be re-
trieved by the investigators. The keeper may wish to lead
them on a bit if they do not immediately realize the
potential of this discovery. Other of Nophru-Ka’s organs
from the tomb may also be used. This scene is designed to
allow the investigators to question the spirit of Nophru-Ka
and possibly obtain necessary information that may have
been missed in earlier chapters.

Additional information regarding the individual chapters
and scenes can be obtained by reading the introductory
and concluding material for each section. a
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New York

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

Paul LeMond. famous New York spiritualist and medium,
has disappeared under mysterious circumstances. If the in-
vestigators are not already aware of this event, it will be
brought to their attention by a newspaper advertisement
appearing two weeks after LeMond’s disappearance. This
ad, run by Irene LeMond, Paul’s distraught mother, offers
a $2,000 reward for information leading to the safe return
of Paul LeMond. A post office box and telephone number
in Buffalo, New York, are listed at the bottom of the ad.

Alternatively, the investigators may be directly con-
tacted by Mrs. LeMond, or they may be acquaintances
of LeMond.

KEEPER'’S INFORMATION

After a series of vivid nightmares, Paul LeMond suffered a
nervous breakdown some weeks ago. His manager, Herb
Whitefield, wanted to have Paul committed for treatment,
but not at the expense of Paul’s reputation or lucrative
career as a medium. In an effort to avoid publicity regard-
ing Paul’s condition. Whitefield arranged to have him kid-
naped and later committed under an assumed name to a
private sanatorium in upstate New York for treatment.

HISTORY

Paul LeMond grew up a seemingly normal child in a rural
area near Buffalo, New York. His father died when he was
very young and Paul was raised by his mother, Irene, on
what little money was left to them by Paul’s father.

At the age of seventeen, Paul suffered a series of night-
mares that left him hospitalized with partial amnesia. Dur-
ing his hospital stay, Paul underwent a personality change
while becoming close friends with a fellow patient named
Clarence Rodgers. After his discharge, Paul, accompanied
by the mysterious Rodgers, began a series of long trips.
After eight years of such journeys, Paul returned home
alone and once again took up residence with his mother.
Soon after, Paul suffered another attack of amnesia that
again left him hospitalized. He quickly recovered, but the
eight years since his first attack was a complete blank in
his memory. Other than this, Paul seemed healthy and his
mother thought him more like his old self. He returned
home again, bothered only by occasional inexplicable
nightmares
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l.

The Dreameyr

The investigators are requested to look into the mysterious disappearance
of famous New York spiritualist Paul LeMond.

During the eight years that Paul spent traveling in the
company of Clarence Rodgers, his body had been inhabit-
ed by a member of the Great Race of Yith. Rodgers is a
member of a very small cult devoted to aiding the Great
Race. Simultaneously, Paul’s mind dwelt in the body of
the Yithian, in prehistoric Australia. At the end of the
eight years, the Yithians blanked Paul’s memories of
them and then sent his mind back to its proper home
while returning their explorer to the past. Paul’s memories
of his sojourn cause his occasional nightmares.

The strains imposed by the time-traveling awakened a
psychic talent By holding a prized possession or photo-
graph of a deceased person, Paul can cause what appears
to be the spirit of the dead person to inhabit his body and
communicate with the living world.

Herb Whitefield, then a small-time New York talent
promoter, contacted the LeMonds and asked for a demon-
stration. Whitefield immediately signed the young man to
a long-term management agreement and took him to New
York. It was not long before Paul became well-known,
and Whitefield’s promotional abilities brought them a long
list of influential people and monied celebrities.

For nearly two years, the two men did quite well, earn-
ing substantial amounts of money, when suddenly trouble
began. Paul began to experience a series of particularly
horrifying dreams of a new subject. Central to these
dreams was the vision of a great, four-footed beast that
ravaged an ancient city. So strikingly real were these
dreams that Paul’s nervous condition left him unable to
work. At this point, Whitefield had Paul kidnaped and
hospitalized.

The sudden occurrence of strange nightmares is yet an-
other side-effect of his time-travel. While in the past, Paul
had learned of an impending disaster in the near future.
Paul’s subconscious is trying to warn him. The Yithians do
not want Paul to interfere. They also fear that more of
Paul’s memories will surface in dreams and have instructed
their agent, Clarence Rodgers, to eliminate Paul and any
others who may know the contents of his dreams.

GENERAL INFORMATION

If the investigators do a little looking around in the recent
newspapers, they will find a number of stories dealing
with Paul’s disappearance. They all tell how Paul suddenly
vanished from the streets of New York while walking a
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half-mile from his girlfriend’s apartment to his own. Police
have found no evidence of foul play and believe that Paul,
who is an odd fellow anyway, ran off or jumped in the
river. The stories name LeMond’s manager, Herb White-
field, and his girlfriend, Velma Peters.

SCENES:
Irene LeMond’s House

This siall, one-story, frame structure is located in a rural
area near Buffalo. While the exterior of the building is un-
impressive in design and size, the interior of the home is
crowded with expensive furniture, knick-knacks, and gad-
gets. Although all the items are of quality, there is a de-
cided lack of refined taste in the combinations chosen.
Mrs. LeMond, overdressed, heavily rouged, and wearing
too much jewelry, will welcome the investigators cordial-
ly, offering them tea and excellent home-made cookies.
She is extremely anxious about Paul and will let her true
feelings be known to the investigators. She will tell them
about Paul’s childhood, his dreams, and his sudden amne-
sia at seventeen. She will also tell them that Paul
*“changed” and began associating with a Mr. Rodgers. To-
gether they undertook a number of long, unexplained
trips, the destinations of which were never revealed to the
curious Mrs. LeMond. After Paul’s second attack, the tall,

5°

swarthy Rodgers dropped out of sight. After that, he was
more himself, but then began to show his strange power
of communion with the spirits that has since carried him
to fame.

Mrs. LeMond will tell the investigators that Paul has
been very busy with his career the last two years and has
managed only three short visits home in that time. The
last visit was several months ago and Paul was then accom-
panied by his girlfriend, Velma Peters. She mistrusts both
Velma and Herb Whitefield, and will indicate to the inves-
tigators that she believes they may be involved in a con-
spiracy to eliminate Paul and collect on his insurance.

IRENE LeMOND
Paul‘s mother is a dutiful woman whose only fault has been to be
overprotective of her son. She misses him deeply and in her loneli-
ness spends much of the money he sends her on expensive items
for her small home. She has always been poor, and has little idea
of what could be done with so much money. Nonetheless, she has
managed to save quite a sum.

STR 6 CON 13 size
DEX 10 APP 15 SAN 48

SKILLS: Bake Great Cookies 95%.

POW9
HP 10

INT 10
EDU 8

Before the investigators leave, Mrs. LeMond will give them
the addresses of Paul’s apartment and Whitefield’s office
in New York City, along with a recent photo. She will also
give the investigators Paul’s diary, written from the time
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he was thirteen up until he was hospitalized with his first
attack of amnesia. Mrs. LeMond will tell the investigators
that she has never read it, considering that to be an inva-
sion of Paul’s privacy. If the investigators should read the
diary, it merely tells the rather dull story of a young boy
growing up in rural New York. The last few entries, how-
ever, are concerned with the strange dreams that preceded
his first attack of amnesia. In these dreams, Paul describes
a gigantic, strange city, set in a tropical jungle. As he
moves about the city he feels as though he is no longer
Paul LeMond, but a thing of alien proportions.

Herbert Whitefield’s Office

Located on the seventh floor of a downtown office build-
ing, the sign on the door reads: ‘“Herbert Whitefield—
Professional Management Services.” Inside is a cramped
office with just enough room for Herb’s desk, his secre-
tary’s desk, and an old couch for clients. In the corner
stands a battered filing cabinet.

Herb spends a lot of his time out of the office these
days, but the investigators will catch him there on their
first visit. Unless proof of their employment by Mrs. Le-
Mond can be shown, Whitefield will become very hostile
as the mention of Paul’s name, ordering the investigators
out of his office. If the investigators were smart enough to
obtain a notarized letter from Mrs. LeMond, Whitefield
will still be reluctant to answer questions, telling them
that all he knows is what the police have told him, and
that he was at a party at the time of Paul’s dissappearance.
“The police have already verified my story,” Herb will
answer. A successful Psychology roll will show Whitefield
to be a very nervous individual, but will not reveal the rea-
sons behind it.

HERBERT WHITEFIELD
Whitefield is a small man with greasy black hair. Always a small-
time promoter, his discovery of Paul LeMond has brought him his
first real success in the business. Although loyal to Paul, Whitefield
has been pressured lately regarding bad debts resulting from gam-
bling losses and this has caused him to act in the manner he has.
Whitefield will go to great lengths to prevent people from discover-
ing the truth about Paul LeMond. He expects that Paul will be
cured soon, and then he can fabricate a story to explain his disap-
pearance, Whitefield realizes that his own future is tied to Paul’s
and is willing to do almost anything that he thinks will protect
Paul’s career,

After first meeting with Whitefield in his office, he will not be
encountered again until someone discovers him in his apartment.

STR9 CON 10 SIZ 8 INT 13 POW 12
DEX 10 APP 14 SAN 55 EDU 12 HP 9

SKILLS: Psychology 45%; Bargain 65%; Credit Rating 50%; Fast
Talk 65%; Oratory 30%.

His secretary, Betty Avery, is not able to speak freely in
the office, but if the investigators contact her later, when
she is alone, a successful Oratory or Debate roll will get
her to reveal all she knows. She will say that Paul was a
sensitive young man who, without the help of Mr. White-
field, could never have become the success that he is to-
day. She fears that Paul may have taken his own life. She
is now concerned about Mr. Whitefield’s welfare as he has
evidently acquired some rather heavy business debts and is
being pressured to pay them. Two men, representing a Mr.
Wexler, have visited the office twice recently looking for
Whitefield. They are well-dressed, but tough-looking, and
claimed to be collecting on a debt owed their boss. A suc-
cessful Knowledge roll will remind an investigator of Bug-
sy Wexler, a local gangster. Today, the office was visited
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by a tall gentleman named Mr. Rodgers. When told that
Whitefield was out, the man left an address and requested
that Whitefield meet him there at 1 pm. She showed the
card to Whitefield when he returned, but not recognizing
the name, he threw it away. The card is now in the waste-
paper basket by her desk.

Clues:

If the investigators search the office “after hours,” they
will find the following:

Secretary’s trashcan: A careful search of the trash will
turn up a card bearing the name Clarence Rodgers. On the
back of the card, hand-written, is the address of his apart-
ment and the words “One o’clock.”

Whitefield’s desk: Locked, inside its drawers, among gen-
eral business items, is a key with a tag that reads: “Paul’s
apart.” along with an unlabeled key (a spare for White-
field’s apartment). Also in the desk is a very explicit,
threatening letter addressed to Whitefield and signed B.
Wexler. The letter is in regards to “services rendered” two
weeks earlier, and orders Whitefield to meet with Wexler
at a certain address. If they cannot figure it out for them-
selves, an Idea roll will tell the investigators that the date
given in the letter is the same as Paul’s disappearance. The
address given is located in a run-down warehouse district.

The filing cabinet: Also locked, and in a state of disarray,
successful Library Use rolls are needed on each drawer to
make any sense out of the contents. The top drawer con-
tains bills and receipts. A successful Accounting roll will
tell the investigators that Whitefield is heavily in debt and
late in all his payments. The second drawer will turn up
Whitefield’s contract with Paul. It runs for ten years and
gives Whitefield a 50% commission on all Paul’s earnings.
The investigators may think this harsh, but a Law roll will
show that the terms are not unusual for the times. The
third drawer contains several life insurance policies on
Paul, all naming Herbert Whitefield as the beneficiary.

Meeting Clarence Rodgers

Soon after the investigators leave Whitefield’s office, they
will be approached by a tall, bearded man with blonde
hair. He will introduce himseif as John Dervin, an {nvesti-
gator for Klein Mutual Life Insurance Co,, which holds &
policy on Paul LeMond. He will explain that the company
routinely investigates cases like this for evidence of fraud
or foul play. He claimsg that Whitefield is named as the
policy’s beneficiary and it is thought that he may have
something to do with Paul’s disappearance.

This is actually Clarence Rodgers in disguise—the Klein
company is fictitious. Rodgers has been staking out White-
field’s office for some time in an attempt to learn of
Paul’s whereabouts, and will take this opportunity to
pump the investigators for information and possibly at-
tempt to enlist their aid. He will try to supply himself
with information while side-tracking the investigators with
false leads.

Rodgers is expertly disguised with a false beard and has
bleached his hair out. If an investigator feels something is
amiss and succeeds in a Spot Hidden roll, he will notice
either a patch of hair that was missed or a portion of the
false beard that has worked loose.

After accosting the group, Rodgers will return to his
apartment five blocks away. Any investigator attempting
to follow the wary Rodgers will have to make two consec-



utive Hide rolls to stay concealed in the New York
crowds. If a Hide roll fails, Rodgers spots the tail and slips
down the first deserted alley to wait in ambush.
CLARENCE RODGERS
This man is tall and dark, and capable of disguising himself. He is a
member of a society dedicated to aiding those of the Great Race
who travel through space and time to this point in Earth’s history.
He is ruthless and has been ordered to kill Paul LeMond. Rodgers
will at all times try to preserve his own life, and if the going gets
too tough, may fail his masters and flee.

All through this adventure, Rodgers should harass the investiga-
tors and make at least one attempt on their lives. He should be
foiled in any attempt he makes against Paul.

STR 13 CON 13 SiZ 14 INT 15 POW 14
DEX 14 APP 13 SAN O EDU 16 HP 14

SKILLS: Anthropology 50%; Archaeology 55%; Astronomy 10%;
Cthulhu Mythos 25%; History 70%; Library Use 80%; Occult 50%;
Listen 60%; Psychology 55%; Hide 65%; Move Quietly 60%; Fast
Talk 70%; 22 Revolver 65%; Disguise 100%.

Clarence Rodgers’ Apartment

Rodgers’ apartment is located in a run-down section of
town and the door is double-bolted. The door has a STR
of 25 and requires two successful lock-picking attempts to
unfock it. During the day, Rodgers is usually out, but will
be home if the investigators come at night. If Rodgers
happens to be out when the investigators arrive, there is a
25% chance that he will suddenly return and catch them
snooping around, usually just as they have discovered
something really good.

CLARENCE RODGERS

For his stats see ‘‘Herbert Whitefield’s Office: Meeting Clarence
Rodgers’’ earlier this chapter.

The apartment itself consists of only two rooms. The
front is used as Rodgers’ living space and contains a bed
and a chest-of-drawers containing his meager wardrobe.
On top of the chest are some theatrical make-up supplies,
among them, pieces of a false beard and a bottle of hair
lightener. The small back room contains a sagging book-
case and a table cluttered with more books and writing
supplies. The table and the bookcase are both located at
one end of the room. The other end is conspicuously bare.

The bookcase contains volumes pertaining to history,
archaeology, and anthropology. The library books heaped
on the table are all on the same topics. Also on the table is
a locked metal box, some pencilled manuscripts, and a
curious metal book, about 15”x20” in size. The thin,
metallic covers of the book protect a hundred or so pages
of a tough cellulose material covered with strange, brush-
drawn figures. This book lays open. A look at the pencil-
led manuscripts will show them to be a translation of the
writings contained in the mysterious book, and a success-
ful Cthulhu Mythos roll will tell the investigator that they
are similar to those found in the Pnakotic Manuscripts.

The iron box holds an odd, somehow electrical-looking
device in two pieces. It will require a Mechanical Repair
roll to properly assemble it, and an Electrical Repair roll
to gain some insight to its function or to simply turn it on.

Once switched on, the device will softly hum for a few
moments, and then a bright shaft of light will spring from
a red jewel located at the apex of the machine and focus
into the bare part of the room. This beam of light will
project a three-dimensional image of a Yithian. This image
is very convincing and the investigators are required to
make a successful SAN roll or lose 1D6 points. In any

Pnakotic Manuscripts

This book is from an ancient hidden library. The Yithians
directed this particular volume to Rodgers who has been
transiating it for some time, and has only recently finished.

SAN LOSS: 1D6.
CTHULHU MYTHOS KNOWLEDGE: +6%.
SPELL MULTIPIER: 2.

SPELLS: Call Cthugha, Create Yithian Communicator (re-
quires assistance of a Yithian, who will become the commu-
nicator’s contactee).

event, investigators witnessing the Yithian (attempting to
communicate by its clicking claws) will lose 1 point. After
SAN rolls are made, an Idea roll will give the investigator a
chance to recognize it as merely an image. This Yithian is
Clarence Rodgers’ contact. The Yithian will soon realize
that something has gone very wrong and break contact
with the jewel, vanishing from sight, though the beam of
light will continue to play.

Underneath the machine, in the bottom of the box, is a
journal that has been kept by Rodgers. A successful Read
English will allow the investigators to peruse this odd
diary and the costs and benefits are: 1D6 SAN loss and
+3% to Cthulhu Mythos Knowledge. Contained in this
book is an explanation of Rodgers’ doings with the Yith-
ians, an explanation of the device he uses to contact them,
and the orders to kill Paul LeMond and any others who
may have been warned by his dreams.

Paul LeMond’s Apartment

This is a three-room apartment with its own bath, located
in a nicer section of town. The apartment has been per-
functorily searched by police. A small notebook is on a
table. In this notebook is a letter that Paul had begun
writing to his mother (see The Fungi Papers 1).

Velma Peters’ Apartment
Velma is playing this situation for all its worth. Although

Yithian Communicator

These devices are sometimes supplied to humans that aid
the Yithians in their travels through time. Made of bronze
and covered with intricate carvings, they stand nearly a foot
tail when assembled and are surmounted by a red jewel.
Each jewel is attuned to a specific Yithian, and will seek
out only that individual when the machine is activated.

When the two pieces, top and bottom, are assembled
and the power switched on, a low, humming noise will be
heard while a soft, white glow begins to emanate from the
power source located in the bottom portion of the device.
This will continue for a few moments while the machine
casts back through time in search of the attuned being.
When contact is established, the Yithian will be made aware
of it at the same time that the machine puts forth a holo-
gram of the contacted Yithian. This being can see-into the
time and space occupied by the machine and will be able to
cmmunicate with those who have contacted it.

At any time, the Yithian can voluntarily break the men-
tal link with the machine-powered jewel. Once this link is
broken, it can only be restored by the Yithian, who must
forge a psychic link with another jewel existing in its own
space and time.
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The Fungi Papers 1

Dear Mom,

Later,

she had broken up with Paul sometime before his disap-
pearance, this is not generally known, and when the press
showed up, Velma, an aspiring, if untalented, young ac-
tress, went for the publicity. She knows nothing of his dis-
appearance other than that it happened on the way home
from her apartment (after he had tried unsuccessfully to
make up with her) and she will feign great concern over
Paul’s welfare. She is not overly fond of Herb Whitefield
and may voice vague suspicions about him.

Herbert Whitefield's Apartment

This is a nicely furnished luxury apartment, or at least it
was. If the investigators arrive any time after their first
day in town, it will be in a shambles, furniture overturned,
and broken objects on the floor. A soft moaning sound
will lead the investigators to a badly beaten Herb White-
field laying on the floor. He is unconscious, but alive, and
a few days in the hospital will bring him out of the coma
and in condition to talk. In the meantime, all he can do is
mumble “Bugsy. . . Bugsy.” Herb has been beaten up over
the debt owed to Bugsy Wexler, wno arranged for the kid-
naping of Paul LeMond.

HERBERT WHITEFIELD

For his stats, see ‘Herbert Whitefield’s Office’’ earlier this chapter.
A quick search of Herb’s desk will reveal a series of bills
from the Woods Estate Rest Home in upstate New York;
charges for the treatment of a patient named Paulie
Meldon. The address is on the bills.

Bugsy Wexler’s Headquarters

This is a warehouse in the waterfront district of New
York. Anyone brave enough to attempt to see Bugsy at
this place will be seized by two thugs with guns upon
knocking at the small side-door. These two will pull the
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Letter from Paul LeMond to his mother, found in Paul’s apartment.

Sorry to have been so long to write, but I've been very busy with all the bookings that
Herb has gotten for me lately. The sessions really take a lot out of me and I haven’t been
sleeping all that well. I'm afraid that I'm beginning to experience those same dreams again;
the ones I suffered just before my attack of amnesia. It seems to be affecting my
personality, I just don’t seem to be able to get along with people like I might, and Velma
and I have been fighting a lot. I know you don’t care much for Velma, Mom, but she really
is a wonderful girl and I know she loves me.

Just returned from Velma’s apartment. I'm afraid we’ve had another fight. She said she
doesn’t want to see me again. I told Herb about it and he wants me to check into a hospital.
He thinks I need a rest. I don’t want to. I must see Velma but I don’t know if I can make it
. . . the huge ferns wave in the wind outside my window. Beyond those are spired buildings,
... I don’t remember the way. I'm afraid I'll get lost. I must see Velma, but the Beast waits
out there. . .

visitors inside where he will be frisked and relieved of any
weapons before being taken to see “da Boss.”

Bugsy is a tough customer, and if he does not take a
liking to the investigator (who needs a Fast Talk or, if fe-
male, a successful APPx4% roll) he will order three of his
boys to give him a beating. If Bugsy does take a liking to
the investigator, he will tell them that Whitefield is (was)
in trouble over some money. If the investigator presses for
more information, Bugsy will say he admires the investiga-
tor’s “noive” and will tell the whole story of how White-
field asked Bugsy to arrange to have Paul LeMond kid-
naped and held for several days. Later, Whitefield picked
up Paul and took him “somewheres.” Bugsy will tell the
investigator that Paul was incoherent the whole time.

BUGSY WEXLER

A netorious gangster Bugsy is responsible for engineering the kid-
naping of Paul LeMond. He is adverse to strangers, except the oc-
casional fast talker or a ‘‘good-lookin’ deme .

STR 15 CON 15 SIZ 15 INT 13 POW 8
DEX 13 APP 8 SAN 40 EDV 6 HP 15
SKILLS: Drive Automobile 50%; Hide 75%; Move Quietly 75%;
Pick Pocket 50%; Oratory 50%; .45 Automatic 85%; Fist 85%;
Head Butt 65%; Kick 85%.

BUGSY'S THUGS
Assume the five thugs are identical.
STR 15 CON 13 SI1Z 16 INT 10 POW S

DEX 13 APP 6 SAN 40 EDUS HP 15

SKILLS: Drive Automobile 40%; Hide 35%; Move Quietly 30%;
Pick Pocket 25%; Pistol 40%; Fist 60%; Head Butt 40%; Kick 50%.

Woods Estate Rest Home

This beautiful sanatorium in upstate New York caters to
the ultra-rich and the celebrated. Security is very tight and
the place has a quiet reputation for being discrete.

Paul LeMond is indeed here, committed by Whitefield
under the false name of Paulie Meldon. The staff of the
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hospital is unaware of his true identity, and will not allow
the investigators to see him. If the investigators can pre-
sent hard evidence along with a successful Debate or Law
roll to the head of the facility, they may be allowed access
to Paul’s room. In any case, the investigators should have
enough information to give to the local police and let
them handle it.

PAUL LeMOND

Paul is a young man of a sensitive, artistic nature. An only child,
raised by his mother, he was plagued by ill-heaith and spent little
time in school He is currently experiencing occasional severe
nightmares; glimpses of the near future rising from his subcon-
sClous

STR 8 CON 8 si1z9 INT 15 POW 17
DEX 12 APP 14 SAN 46 EDU 10 HP 9

SPELLS: Spirit Summoning.

CONCLUSION

When Paul LeMond is found, his mother will take him
home to live with her, where she will hire the best psychi-
atrist in Buffalo to nurse him back to health. She will be
deeply grateful to the investigators for their aid and will
reward them as promised. She will also purchase a wire re-
corder with which she will record Paul’s dreams and send
anything that she thinks will interest the investigators to
them through the mail. These recordings will provide clues
to the investigators throughout the course of this adven-
ture. Some of the leads are given as introductions to chap-
ters; individual keepers may wish to supply others to baf-
fle investigators.

Clarence Rodgers is a character that should be adapted
to the actions of the investigators. He is dedicated to his
purpose, but if the investigators offer too much resistance,
he will back off before losing his life. If he survives his en-
counters with the investigators, he may show up in later
chapter, determined to halt their actions. He is a man of
limited funds, however, and may not be able to do much
traveling. He is a master of disguise; in one playtesting, the
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Paul LeMond’s Spirit Summoning

To accomplish a summoning, Paul must be in physical con-
tact with something that was close to the person in life.
This could be the favorite toy of a child or a memento from
a particularly enjoyable vacation. Sometimes Paul is able to
summon a spirit merely by sitting in a favorite chair or
room. In general, the longer dead the person, the more inti-
mate the object needs to be.

Once in possession of such an object, Paul must expend
15 Magic Points and slides into a deep trance, his head
hanging down upon his chest. If the summoning is success-
ful, he will usually look up within a minute or two, his ex-
pression and attitude that of the deceased person. Once the
summoned spirit is in Paul’s body, it will need a moment or
to to adjust to its new home. It will first attempt to control
the muscles and senses, then gradually remembers how
to speak.

Others present at the summoning may take part in the
seance. As Paul sits to one side, all others in the room must
join hands in a circle (usually seated around a table) and
each expend 1 Magic Point to create a psychic aura condu-
cive to summoning the spirit, If at any time this circle is
broken, the spirit will be free to depart.

In habiting the strange body is uncomfortable for the
spirit, and it will usually ask to be released before long. A
hostile spirit can be coerced into answering questions by
using spells that attack its INT or POW. Physical damage
will not harm the spirit, only Paul. The spirit cannot depart
until the seance circle is broken, or it overcomes the Magic
Points of all those in the circle with its own in an effort
of will.

investigators talked their way into Paul LeMond’s sanato-
rium room only to find Rodgers strangling him. He had
managed to gain entrance to the hospital dressed up as
an orderly. 8]
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Boston

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

Mrs. LeMond sends the investigators a recent recording of
Paul’s latest dream sessions. Although most of the tape is
filled with incoherent mumblings, portions are under-
standable. Aside from the usual dreams about the great
beast, he also says “The children will die . . . the children
will die . . . it’s the trail of the beast . . . Boston.”

The following week, true to Paul’s predictions, three
young children are horribly murdered on the streets of
Boston. All were from the slums and on the streets late at
night when the atrocities occurred. The murders were
committed separately, one every other day over the space
of a week. Police have urged parents to keep their children
in at night as they continue their investigation.

KEEPER’S INFORMATION

The murders are being committed by a horrible child-
thing that lives in a stone-choked well on the grounds of a
crumbling mansion once occupied by the physician, Dr.
Ambrose Cornwallis.

HISTORY

Dr. Cornwallis was a member of the Brotherhood of the
Beast, and it was he who first discovered the birth of Ed-
ward Chandler and alerted Baron Hauptman in Transylva-
nia. Dr. Cornwallis also brought young Edward to live
with him for a short time before delivering him to
Hauptman.

When Hauptman came to America, he brought a gift
for the Doctor; a pair of spectacles fitted with odd, pris-
matic lenses that allowed the wearer to view other dimen-
sions. One night, while Dr. Cornwallis was out, Mrs. Corn-
wallis curiously donned the spectacles. Dr. Cornwallis re-
turned later that evening to find his wife huddled in a cor-
ner, half mad with fright. Later he discovered that she had
been impregnated by a Thing from the other side.

After giving birth to the child eleven months later, Mrs.
Cornwallis went completely insane and was locked away
in an upstairs bedroom while the Doctor and his sister,
Sarah, tried to rear the thing in a tub in the basement.
One night, Mrs. Cornwallis managed to escape her prison
and, before anyone in the house had noticed, slipped to
the basement, carried the child upstairs, threw him down
the unused well, and began hurling large flagstones down
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TheThing in theWell

An unusual dream by Paul LeMond sends the investigators to Boston
to investigate the city’s recent child-murders.

upon him. Dr. Cornwallis, alerted by the noise in the front
yard, discovered his wife as she piled the last of the rocks
in. A chase ensued. Finally cornering her in the kitchen,
Dr. Cornwallis was fatally stabbed with a butcher knife.
Sarah Cornwallis, alerted by the shouts in the house, shot
Mrs. Cornwallis with the Doctor’s pistol and placed it in
the dead man’s hand before calling the police.

Sarah was hospitalized for nerves, and in the two weeks
she was gone, several child-murders took place. When the
somewhat unbalanced Sarah returned home to the empty
mansion, she discovered that Jeremy, the child-thing, was
still alive and residing in the bottom of the well where he
enjoyed the cool damp. Sarah began leaving raw chickens
on the edge of the well at night and has continued this
practice through the years. As long as Jeremy is kept fed,
he presents no problem to anyone.

Sarah has grown increasingly senile as of late and has
missed several feedings. This accounts for Jeremy’s late-
night prowlings.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Newspaper files: A successful Library Use will turn up a
copy of the Boston Globe, dated late September, 1891.
An article contained in this issue tells of a series of grisly
child-murders that took place over a period of fwo weeks.
The police have no leads in the cases, and have warned
parents to keep their children in at night. The article notes
that all the murders took place near the Cornwallis man-
sion, site of a tragic double-murder carlier this month, in-
volving the noted physician Dr. Ambrose Cornwallis and
his wife, Emily Halsted Cornwallis. Police do not believe
the crimes to be connected in any way.

Boston Police Station: The investigators will be able to in-
terview the detective in charge of the investigation, but it
will require a successful Law or Oratory to get him to re-
veal any information not already released to the public. If
persuaded to speak openly about the case, the detective
will reveal that the bodies were found in a terrible condi-
tion that is yet to be explained. The bodies contained evi-
dence of numerous wounds apparently caused by some
sort of sucking action. The bodies were coated with mu-
cus which dried quickly in the morning sunlight.

The detective has made no connection between the
murders and the Cornwallis mansion, but if this is men-
tioned by the investigators, he will show that the murders
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have taken place within a mile of the old estate.

The offices of the Boston Globe: The reporter covering
the story, Larry Holmes, can be approached, but it will re-
quire a successful Fast Talk, Oratory, or Debate roll to get
him to tell what he knows. The only information he has,
aside from what has appeared in his stories, is that the
bodies, when first discovered, were covered with sticky
mucus. He can also tell them that the person who discov-
ered the second victim claimed that this slime led off in a
trail through the streets and alleys to the foot of the high
stone wall surrounding the Cornwallis mansion. Police
chose to disbelieve this testimony.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Once the investigators become aware of the Cornwallis
name, they may discover the following information in the
newpaper files. Each item below requires a separate Li-
brary Use roll.

1. This is an obituary dated July 4, 1891. The deceased is
an infant boy named Jeremy Cornwallis, still-born to Dr.
and Mrs. Ambrose Cornwallis. It states that the body will
be interred in the Cornwallis family crypt in All Heart’s
Cemetery in Boston.

2. This article is a report on the double murder at the
Cornwallis mansion and is dated Sept. 15, 1891. Details
are sketchy, but the story speculates that the still-birth of
their first child some months earlier may have led to the
tragedy. The article says that the couple will be interred in
the family crypt at All Heart’s Cemetary. Dr. Cornwallis is
survived by his sister, Sarah.
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3. An article dated Nov. 16, 1891, states that a grave-
robber was arrested by police at the All Heart’s Cemetery
while attempting to break into a crypt owned by the
Cornwallis family. Police speculate that robbery was the
motive despite the claims of the culprit. He stated that he
believed the recently deceased Dr. Ambrose Cornwallis
to be a warlock, and had intended to turn his body
face-down.

SCENES:
The Cornwallis Mansion

This crumbling estate has been reduced over the decades
to a small yard surrounded by an eight-foot high stone
wall, The only entrance to the grounds is through the old
wooden carriage gates found at the end of a narrow street
that winds uphill through the slums that now comprise
the neighborhood.

As the gates to the mansion are approached, they will
creak slowly open, and a young boy of about 13, with red
hair and freckles, will emerge. If questioned, he will intro-
duce himself as Ted Ryder who works as a delivery boy
for the grocer down the street. If questioned further, he
will grow suspicious and it will require a Fast Talk or Ora-
tory roll to get him to reveal anything else. If the group
does gain his confidence, he will tell them that he makes a
weekly delivery to Miss Cornwallis that consists of bread,
milk, and other staples along with a standard order for
seven stewing chickens. If the matter of the chickens is
pursued, Ted will remember that the last delivery boy told
him that he had made the same weekly delivery for years.
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If asked, he will tell the investigators that Miss Cornwallis
seems a bit daffy, but is real nice and always tips him well.

Once inside the gates, the party will see a decaying
house surrounded by a weed-choked yard. The mansion is
commanded by a third-story tower located at one end of
the structure, and its diamond shaped windows look out
over the city. Traces of the drive that served the home can
be seen to circle the disused well in the center of the yard,
and extends to the old carriage house, long collapsed, at
the far corner of the property.

If the investigators look around the property, they will
find that the well has been plugged with large stones,
probably done years ago to avoid accidents. A successful
Spot Hidden Objects roll while examining the well will
turn up a broken chicken bone lodged beneath one of the
rocks. If the investigators explore the site of the carriage
house, it will be apparent that the building fell down
many years ago. If they move some of the debris, they
will find a wooden trap door concealing a narrow flight of
stone stairs leading down. At the foot of the stairs is a
10°x10’ room filled with glass and ceramic jars on wooden
shelves. The containers are filled with dried plants and un-
recognizable lumps of matter. This room obviously has re-
mained unused for years and may seem quite mysterious
unless an investigator makes a successful Botany roll
which will reveal that the plants in the jars are merely
standard herbs and spices, and this room was probably
a pantry.

Cornwallis Mansion Interior

The investigators will be greeted at the front door by old
Sarah Cornwallis, who will invite them in and clear a spot
for her visitors to sit. She is unused to company and may
appear somewhat nervous as she goes about preparing tea
for her unexpected guests.

As the investigators wait for their hostess to return,
they will see that the entire first floor of the mansion
seems to be dusty and dirty, piles of rags and boxes of old
magazines litter the floor and tables. The only exceptions
are the kitchen and dining room, both of which are heap-
ed with dirty dishes.

When Sarah Cornwallis returns from the kitchen, the
group will find her to be very friendly and willing to dis-
cuss many topics. If asked about her brother, the Doctor,
she will remember him with pride, telling the investigators
that he was quite a respected man in and around Boston.
If the investigators attempt to talk of the murder-suicide,
Sarah will grow quiet and decline comment.

If an investigator should make a Psychology roll while
talking with Sarah, he will become aware of the woman’s
mental imbalance. Sarah has been unstable ever since the
death of her brother, and it will not require much to push
her over the brink. The trigger word for Sarah is “Jer-
emy.” If an investigator should mention the name to her,
her eyes will grow as large as saucers, and as the last ves-
tiges of sanity leave her, she will babble incoherently
about feeding the *“poor little baby.” From this point on,
Sarah will be permanently insane, and require hospitaliza-
tion for her own protection.

SARAH CORNWALLIS
Sarah is the spinster sister of Dr. Ambrose Cornwallis and has lived
in the mansion ever since she came to help her brother care for his

insane wife, She has lived in virtual seclusion ever since her broth-
er’'s death and is nearly insane herself. In her delusions she has al-
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most forgotten what Jeremy really is, and has cared for him all
these years by leaving raw chickens on the lip of the well for him
to feed on. She is rapidly growing senile, and more and more often
forgets to feed the thing that lives in the welf, causing Jeremy, in
his loneliness and hunger, to roam the streets at night.

Sarah is very guarded about the truth of what happened the
night of the murders because she still fears that she will be arrested
for her part in it, and then there would be no one to feed poor lit-
tle Jeremy,

STR & CON 7 Siz6 INT 8 POW 9
DEX 6 APP 12 SAN 3 EDU 12 HP 7

If and when the investigators search the first floor, they
will notice nothing of interest with the exception of an
extremely bad odor that seems to emanate from the kitch-
en. In the kitchen, the investigators will find Sarah’s latest
bag of groceries which she has forgotten to put away, and
underneath the table, last week’s bag of groceries contain-
ing several rotting chicken carcasses. Also in this room is a
small pantry with a narrow door that opens on the base-
ment stairs. The basement is filled with boxes and barrels
of junk of no use to the investigators. At the far end is a
locked door with STR of 18. Behind the door is a small
room containing nothing but a large porcelain tub lined
with brown, crusty deposits. A successful Botany roll will
show these deposits to be dried algae, and that the tub
was probably filled with water at one time.

The second floor of the mansion is as messy as the rest
with the exception of Sarah’s room which is a little bit
neater, and decorated with photographs of movie stars
that Sarah has clipped and pasted to the walls. The room
where Dr. Conwallis kept his mad wife locked away is
conspicuously empty, and if the investigators take a look
around they will find a small metal pan with the very old
remains of dried food. Portions of the wallpaper are torn
down, and if an investigator makes an Idea roll, he will be
able to tell that the wallpaper was literally clawed off the
plaster. It has not been entered since the tragic double
murder.

The master bedroom and the guest room are both fur-
nished nicely, but coated with dust and filled with the
ubiquitous boxes of junk.

At the end of the hallway is a locked door. The key has
been lost for years but the door is fairly light and has a
STR of only 7. If the investigators knack this deor down,
they will see a narrow stairway, coated with dust, leading
up to the tower that served as Cornwallis’s laboratory.
This area was never entered by anyone but the Doctor,
and has been locked since his death.

At the top of the stairs, the investigators will see a
strange laboratory filled with stranger apparatus. The
room is lit by diamond-shaped, stained-glass windows and
a stuffed alligator hangs from the ceiling by wires. A suc-
cessful Occult roll will tell the investigators that they are
standing in an alchemical laboratory.

Upon the desk is a journal, written in Latin, and a
small box containing some letters and a pair of spectacles
with odd, prismatic lenses.

If successful Read Latin rolls are made while studying
the journal, the following clues will be found:

1. Dr. Cornwallis was a member of a secret “Brother-
hood” that dates back to ancient times.

2. This Brotherhood awaits the birth of one referred to
only as “the Child.”

3. This Brotherhood is headed by a Baron Hauptman, who
resides somewhere in Transylvania.



4. Dr. Cornwallis discovered the birth of “the Child” in
1880, and immediately notified Hauptman in Europe.

5. In 1890, “young Master Edward” came to live with
Cornwallis for several months before Hauptman arrived in
America. When he returned to Europe, he took “young
Master Edward” with him, and left a special gift for
Cornwallis.

6. An entry dated Oct. 23, 1890, tells of a mysterious ac-
cident involving his wife and the spectacles.

7. Cornwallis tells of the birth of Jeremy, July 3, 1891,
though it does not describe him, and his attempts to keep
him alive in a tub in the basement.

The two letters are written in German, and if the inves-
tigators are able to read them, they will discover the infor-
mation contained in the Fungi Papers 2. These letters are
slipped into their envelopes — envelopes containing the
postmark of Klausenburg, Romania.

All Heart's Cemetery

Written around the door frame of the Cornwallis family
crypt, in Latin, is the following motto: *“to son, to father,
to son, to father, to son, etc.” Anyone with Read Latin at
{3% or more can read it.

1f the investigators enter the mausoleum, they will find
the walls lined with twenty coffins, each bearing a mem-
ber of the Cornwallis family. If the coffin marked “Dr.

The Fungi Papers 2
A series of letters from Baron Hauptman to Dr. Cornwallis.

Dear Dr. Cornwallis,

Congratulations on your discovery. All you have told me indicates that this child is the
one. Praise Shub-Niggurath! The prophecy will be fulfilled!

I am enclosing copies of the lineage you requested. This should verify beyond a doubt
that the boy is the One. He bears the mark, and the stars are right.

Hail Yog-Sothoth,
Hauptman

Dear Dr. Cornwallis,

Everything is moving according to plan. I should be arriving in America May 27th to take
charge of young Master Edward. I hope you have properly prepared the boy for the journey.
We must not lose our chances this time. The stars do not promise another birth for over a
century and the Brotherhood grows impatient!

I have in contact with the parents and they understand our interest and purpose. I expect
no interference from that quarter. He is the typical, short-sighted “man of business” and his
company is alrcady benefitting from his decision. They will be quite content, I think.

I will bring with me a present; a gift from the Brotherhood for your invaluable services. It
is a pair of spectacles that I have constructed. I will instruct you in their proper use when 1
arrive.

Hail Yog-Sothoth,
Baron Hauptman
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Hauptman'’s Spectacles

These strange glasses were a gift to Dr Cornwallis from the
Baron and the Brotherhood, a reward for locating ‘‘the
Child.”” 1t was these spectacles that Mrs. Cornwallis tried on
out of curiousity.

The lenses are odd prisms. When worn, they reveal a
strange world of shifting forms in dark blues and purples,
containing impossible angles and bizarre perspectives, The
view is so unsettling that an investigator missing his SAN
roll will lose 1D6 points. Additionally, anyone donning the
glasses will add 1% to his Cthulhu Mythos Knowledge.

Ambrose Cornwallis” is pulled out and opened, they will
find the body of the doctor face-down. If Jeremy’s coffin
is opened, it will be found to be filled with rocks.

CONCLUSION

If Sarah Cornwallis is hospitalized during the course of
this adventure, Jeremy will grow hungry and begin roam-
ing the streets, causing more murders. Each new murder
will cost the investigators 1 SAN point because of their di-
rect concern in the case. If the investigators discover Jer-
emy'’s existence, they will find destroying him tricky due
to his reluctance to leave the well if he thinks anyone is
going to hurt him. Despite his constant hunger, Jeremy
can live a long time without food. He will stay at the bot-
tom of the well until he is sure that it is safe to come up.

JEREMY CORNWALLIS

Jeremy is the half-breed offspring of Mrs. Ambrose Cornwallis and
a horror from another dimension. Mrs. Cornwallis discovered the
monster (and it discovered her)} when she donned the spectacles
given to her husband by the grateful Baron Hauptman,

Eleven months later she gave birth to Jeremy Cornwallis, the
sight of which drove her mad. Dr, Cornwallis tried to raise him in a
tub in the basement, but after the doctor’s death, Jeremy lived in
the bottom of a damp, stone-choked well in the front yard.

Jeremy is a white, glistening blob about four feet in diameter,
Moving in amoeba-like fashion, Jeremy constantly hurls out small
pseudopods that end in toothless human mouths, complete with
lips. With these, little Jeremy tires to suck and feed. A child’s head
that cries and whimpers pitifully crowns the mass. Jeremy prefers
dark, moist places and never comes out in the daylight.

Jeremy is not hostile to humans or any others, bul his means
of satiating his hunger can cause great damage in the form of suck-
ing bites. Jeremy will be dismayed by any physical attacks and will
immediately retreat to his well, oozing down between the rocks to
hide on the bottom. Jeremy leaves a glistening trail of mucus that
quickly evaporates in the air.

STR 11 CON 12 SIZ 16 INT 6 POW 10
DEX 8 Move 6 HP 14

Dimensional Being

While viewing the dark landscape revealed through the glass-
es, a sudden burst of rose-colored lightning will illuminate a
ghastly, spidery form scuttling between spiky crystals to-
ward the viewer. This thing is approximately seven-feet tall
and lean to the point of emaciation. Its dark face is mask-
like and it moves with the aid long arms, slipping up and
down with ease,

This being will immediately attack the viewer if the in-
vestigator is incapable of, or not wise enough, to remove
the glasses. The investigator will be unable to physically at-
tack the monster with either hands or weapons. Magic may
work, or the investigator may attempt to Dodge the at-
tacks, but only one Dodge attempt per round will be allow-
ed. If the investigator’s DEX is lower than that of the crea-
ture's, the monster can attack once before the viewer can
snatch off the glasses. Removing the glasses will break con-
tact with this other dimension.

STR18 CON16 SIZ19 INT7 POW10 DEX 16

Move 10 HP 18
Weapons Attack Damage
Claw (2 per round) 65% 1D8+106

SAN LOSS: 1D8 if the SAN roll is missed, 1 point if not
missed.

Those witnessing the attack will see the victim’s clothing
suddenly torn to pieces, great gashes appear in his flesh, and
at the worst, entrails spilling out upon the floor, causing
SAN losses of 1D6 to those that fail their SAN rofl.

This is not the same being that Mrs. Cornwallis encoun-
tered. Every time the glasses are donned hereafter, the
wearer gains 1% Cthulhu Mythos, and has a 40% chance of
encountering some horrible entity—its exact nature being
up to the keeper,

Weapon Attack Damage
Pseudopod suckers (106 per round) 30% 1D4

ARMOR: Jeremy’s blobby texture causes firearms to cause mini-
mum damage. He cannot be impaled.

SANITY LOSS: Jeremy is an awful sight, and if a SAN roll is miss-
ed it will cost the investigator 2D6 SAN points. A successful roll
will mean the investigator still loses 1D3 points.

The most important thing that the investigators should
have discovered in this chapter is the existence of o
strange Brotherhood with headquarters in Romania. If the
investigators missed this clue, the keeper may be forced to
provide it by different means, possibly Paul LeMond.

The keeper should encourage the investigators to go to
Romania and investigate this Hauptman, or at least his
descendants, if any. @]
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Transylvania, Romania

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

The investigators should now be led to Klausenburg,
Romania, in search of a Baron Hauptman, thought to be
the leader of a mystic Brotherhood. Either through re-
search conducted before leaving America, or by simply
asking around in Klausenburg, the investigators will dis-
cover the existence of a Castle Hauptman, located high in
the mountains, near Klausenburg. The crumbling edifice is
perched on the northeast face of Montelui Mare, overlook-
ing a pass some 6000 feet above sea level. Guarding the
tiny village of Drovosna, the castle is still occupied by a
descendant of the original Baron Hauptman who built the
castle in the 13th century.

KEEPER'’S INFORMATION

The above is true in all details except one: the man named
Hauptman now dwelling in the castle is the same man that
constructed it nearly 700 years ago. For centuries he has
lived in the castle, directing the secret activities of the
Brotherhood and maintaining complex genealogical rec-
ords necessary to keep track of the sacred blood line.

Hauptman and the Brotherhood feel that the prophecy
of Nophru-Ka (see the Fungi Papers 4) is soon to be ful-
filled and are now preparing to vacate the castle in prepara-
tion for the final phase of the master plan.

HISTORY

This castle has stood since the middle of the 13th century,
when the area was cleared by the original Hauptman. The
Baron commissioned the castle to be built upon a certain
tract of land that was supposed to be the site of ancient,
unholy rites. The Hauptman family has dwelt in the cas-
tle. ruling the nearby village of Drovosna and surrounding
lands, continually since that time.

Unknown to anyone, this succession of Barons has all
been one and the same man, the original Hauptman who
first came to the area in 1242. He has sustained his long
life by means of a spell that allows him to transfer his
mind and spirit to a new body when the one he is in be-
gins to age. Hauptman is a scholar who, besides grinding
the strange lenses of Dr. Cornwallis, has traveled around
the world and farther in his search for arcane knowledge.
With the aid of a Star Vampire, he has journeyed many
times to the great library on Celaeno. Hauptman rewards

I1l.
CastleDark

A series of cryptic letters written in German leads the investigators
to Romania in search of the mysterious Baron Hauptman.

the monster by allowing it to feed among the viilagers, giv-
ing rise to vampire stories.

Only oncc in the history of the castle has the Baron
been defeated, by a fervent priest who turned to the black
arts himself in an effort to destroy the Baron. Hauptman
fled the castle, but returned decades later, claiming to be
an innocent descendant of the evil Baron.

BEGINNING PLAY

Despite the fact that World War [ and the Russian Revolu-
tion have been fought near this area recently, the castle
and its environs seem untouched by the modern world.
The predominant language of the country is Romanian,
with heavy pockets of Germans in the north and south.
The central plateau area is inhabited by Magyars.

Keeper’s note: The atmosphere and mood of this chap-
ter is meant to resemble an old Bela Lugosi movie. The
present day name of Klausenburg is Clyj.

GENERAL INFORMATION

If the investigators take the time to research the area be-
fore leaving America, they can find the location of Castle
Hauptman along with the following information. These
clues can all be located in the history section of the public
library, and a successful Library Use roll is required for
each one.

1. In 1242, the first Baron Hauptman built the castle after
driving off the Mongols in the area. It was later discovered
that this Hauptman was a descendant of a Hauptman ex-
pelled from the Knights of the Teutonic Order for heresy.
2. In 1348, Louis the Great of Hungary sent a patrol to in-
vestigate irregularities in the Barony. The patrol was lost
and thought to have been the victim of bandits.

3. In 1389, Castle Hauptman was besieged by a Turkish
army. On the fourth morning of the siege, the commander
of the army and his scribe were found mutilated and
drained of blood. The army broke camp, abandoning the
siege, and went on to conquer Wallachia.

4. In 1628, the villagers, led by a local monk, stormed the
castle. The Baron was evidently killed, and the building
stood unoccupied until 1792 when the area was recon-
quered from the Turks by Austria. A “descendant” of the
Baron then returned to claim the family’s lands and title.
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SCENES:
The Village of Drovosna

Located high on the slopes of Montelui Mare, 35 miles
from Klausenburg, this dreary little village stands beneath
the shadow of the decaying Castle Hauptman, perched on
the mountain above. This mountain pass is little used
these days, and the road leading from Klausenburg is rude
and primitive. It is impassable to automobiles, and the in-
vestigators will find that it is necessary to hire a carriage.

Besides the humble dwellings of the local peasants, the
investigators will also find in the village a small inn and
stable along with an old stone church and an ill-kept
churchyard. The villagers are very superstitious and if ask-
ed about the Baron will back away quickly, making the
sign of the cross and glancing fearfully at the castle.

The Village Inn

The innkeep’s name is Drobne, and he will graciously wel-
come visitors. He speaks Romanian at 60%, German at
45%, and English at 20%. His poor English may cause an
occasional problem in communicating, perhaps leading to
misunderstandings or misleading information. Drobne is
willing to speak on any subject but the castle or the
Baron, crossing himself as he declines comment.

Drobne will mention that there is another guest at the
inn this summer; a young Hungarian student, who is
making a historical study of the area. His name is John
Kopeche, and he spends most of the daylight hours roam-
ing the hills, returning to the inn for dinner when the sun
begins to set. Drobne will warn the investigators to keep a
close eye on their belongings; there is a wagon-load of
gypsies camped just outside the village near the woods.

JOHN KOPECHE

This man’s real name is Sergei Rosalavich and he is an agent on a
mission for the Soviet government. While posing as a Hungarian
student researching a paper, he has actually been out in the woods
searching for a secret entrance to the castle, hinted at in a docu-
ment discovered in St. Petersburg after the revolution. He carries
this document, along with papers identifying his mission, on his
person. These papers are all written in Russian. He is trying to
trace the movements of a certain White Russian Army unit that
passed through this area some ten years ago. This unit fled the
country bearing documents embarrassing to the new government
and Sergei has traced them as far as the castle, where they seemed
to disappear.

Rosalavich is a fervent revolutionary, and his attitude and ac-
tions toward western capitalists could vary widely depending upon
what the investigators say and do. He will no disclose his mission
unless doing so would be the only way to achieve success.

STR 14 CON 15 SIZ 12 INT 14 POW 13
DEX 12 APP 15 SAN 65 EDU 12 HP 14
SKILLS: Read/Write English 20%; Speak English 45%; Speak
Romanian 55%; Speak Hungarian 65%; First Aid 50%; History
65%.; Law 40%; Library Use 70%; Camouflage 45%; Hide 65%; De-
bate 40%; Oratory 55%; Throw 70%; .38 Pistol 55%.

Hauptman’s Henchmen

At some point during the conversation, the front door of
the inn will bang open and in will walk three men. They
are all dark and stocky, and the oldest, obviously the lead-
er, sports a gold tooth and earring. Casting suspicious
glances at the party, the trio will seat themselves at a cor-
ner table and call for drinks in Romanian. An investigator
making a successful Anthropology roll will know them to
be Magyars. Drobne will grow reticent when the men ap-
pear, and decline to converse further.
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The men will linger over their mugs for about twenty
minutes before exiting the inn and riding off in a wagon.
If asked about the men after they have left, Drobne will
say that the leader’s name is Lazlo and that they are all
servants for the Baron. They also act as spies for Haupt-
man and the villagers give them a wide berth whenever
they are in the village. Once a week, the three men travel
to Klausenburg for supplies. Here they stay the night and
return on the following day. If an investigator goes to the
window, he will see the horse-drawn wagon, loaded with
goods, slowly climbing the road up to the castle,

Lazlo will of course report immediately to the Baron,
and tell him of the presence of strangers in the village.
LAZLO
Lazlo has been working for the Baron for almost twenty years,
and will be faithful to the death. The Baron's taste for torture and
pain suit Lazlo well, but he is not aware of the darker activities of
Hauptman. He is a short, powerful man with a thin, black mous-
tache; rarely seen without his shotgun at his side. Lazlo is a vicious
killer and only waits for the Baron to point out the next victim,
STR 15 CON 16 sizZn INT 9 POW 8
DEX 12 APP 7 SAN 20 EDU 6 HP 14
SKILLS: Speak English 15%; Occult 25%; Track 50%; Hide 80%;
Move Quietly 70%; Pick Pocket 50%; Knife 60%; Throwing Knife
70%; .38 Pistol 45%; Double-barreled 12-gauge shotgun 60%.

LAZLO'S HELPERS

These two younger men work directly under Lazlo, helping with
the maintenance of the castle and spying on the villagers. These
two are not willing to die for the Baron or Lazlo. They do not
carry guns.

Jerzy

STR 12 CON 13 sizZn INT 8 POW 6
DEX 13 APP 9 SAN 30 EDU 5 HP 12
SKILLS: Speak English 10%; Occult 15%; Track 25%; Hide 40%;
Move Quietly 35%; Pick Pocket 26%; Knife 30%; Throwing
Knife 35%.

Yurek
STR 14 CON 1 Siz9 INT 10 POW 10
DEX 10 APP 8 SAN 50 EDU 6 HP 10

SKILLS: Speak English 5%; Occult 10%; Track 25%; Hide 40%;
Move Quietly 35%; Pick Pocket 25%; Knife 30%: Throwing
Knife 35%.

The Village Church

This is a Romanian Orthodox Church and is over four-
hundred years old. Its stones are weathered-brown, and
behind the structure, nearly lost in the rampant weeds,
the remains of decaying tombstones can be seen. The
front door is closed and bolted.

If the investigators knock on the heavy, wooden door,
they will be greeted by a wizened old man dressed in the
priestly robes. After his first disappointment that they are
not worshippers, he will invite them in as guests and en-
gage them in conversation. The priest is educated and wel-
comes the opportunity to talk with someone from the
outside world. He has tended the flock here for nearly for-
ty years and can tell the investigators many amusing folk
stories and local legends. If asked about the castle or vam-
pires, he will change his mood and begin to speak in a
softer voice. He will tell the group that indeed the area has
been subject to periodic attacks by a vampire over the
years; the victims are always found mangled and drained
of every drop of blood. The worst outbreak took place 32
years ago, when a large number of locals were killed over a
period of weeks.

If asked about the Baron, he will say that many of the
villagers believe Hauptman to be a vampire, but he, the
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priest, does not believe this. He says that although the
Baron is rarely glimpsed by the villagers, sometimes re-
maining unseen for years at a time, he himself has seen the
Baron walking about in full sunlight. He will describe the
Baron as short, dark-haired, and very muscular

If the investigators should ask the old pries't about visi-

tors to the castle
entertains guest

972¢

, he will tell them that the Baron rarely

, the last being a young Englishman that
the Baron hired a

s a secretary last summer, He stayed sev-

eral weeks before leaving suddenly in the middle of the
night. (If the investigators ask around, they will discover
that no one on the village actually saw him leave.) If he is
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asked what the man looked like, the priest will tell them
that he was six feet in height, blonde, and walked with a
slight limp.

The priest will also tell the investigators of another visi-
tor; a young boy who came to live with the Baron around
1890. The boy was always referred to as “young Master
Edward” and stayed with the Baron for several years.
Hauptman explained that the boy was a distant cousin
whose parents had been killed in a tragic boating accident
(this, of course, had not happened yet; just another exam-
ple of the Baron’s perverted sense of humor). When the
boy was seventeen, he and the Baron left on a trip from
which only the Baron returned a year later.

If asked about the gypsies camped nearby, the priest
will describe them as a harmless old fortune-teller and her
demented son. The priest will not believe Drobne’s allega-
tions that they are thieves.

Clues:

Below the church building are damp catacombs where the
records for the parish are kept, dating back several hun-
dred years. The priest will allow the party to peruse the
old books and scrolls if assured of the investigator’s schol-
arly interests, but will insist that they not be removed
from their underground storage. He fears that the sudden

change in temperature and humidity might damage the
old documents.

It will take an investigator with a Read Romanion abil-
ity days to thoroughly go over all the material contained
in the catacombs. There are six clues contained in these
records, and the investigator may attempt his Read
Romanian ability twice per day in an effort to locate
them. (Note to keeper: it should not be difficult to make
an investigator fear that there might be something awful
creeping around in the catacombs, even though there
is not.)

1. In 1545, the local church requested a formal investiga-
tion of the Baron on charges of unjust imprisonment
and torture,

2. In 1546, Baron Hauptman VII is excommunicated by
the Eastern Church.

3. 1546-1552: A report on an outbreak of vampirism that
took place during this period. No conclusions are drawn.
4. 1628: This report claims that the Baron Hauptman ab-
ducted a peasant girl from the village and held her captive
in the castle, Several days later, her mangled body was
thrown from the walls of the castle.

5. This is the manuscript of Jan Savechick, priest of the
village of Drovosna. When the investigator pulls this scroll

The Fungi Papers 3
The Testament of Jan Savechik

regards to the events surrounding the actions taken by
the people of Drovosna against the Baron Hauptman.
This testimony differs from the version given to the
legates of the Church who were sent to investigate the
actions of the villagers, and is the one true version. I am
writing this in private, and when finished will seal the
document with wax bearing a pagan symbol to guard it

to signal another who would stand against these forces.

In the year of our Lord, 1627, a book belonging to
the Baron Hauptman came into my possession. It was a
large volume, written in Greek, Its title shall not be
repeated here. Blasphemous things were hinted at in the
ramblings of a heathen poet who was supposed to have
written the original, and protection against devils and
demons were also offered to the reader.

When, in 1628, a young girl of the village was taken
by the Baron and later killed and her body thrown from
the castle walls, her father, in rage, assailed the door of
the castle with his hands and screamed his hate for the
Baron. It was then, in full sight of the village, the Baron
appeared upon the ramparts above the castle gate and
with his evil gaze alone, killed the poor peasant. His
body lay at the foot of the castle for two days before
anyone dared approach to carry it away.

It was then, though I realized I imperiled my soul, 1
read that accursed volume. What was spoken within
those pages shook me to the very heart of my faith, and
I still feel as though a cold, dark hand grips my heart.
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I, Jan Savechik, humble priest of the village of Drovosna,
in the year of our Lord, 1632, do write this testament in

against those who would use it to their own purposes, or

The book told me of monstrous beings who live in
another place from us and from the notes written in the
margins in the Baron’s hand, I knew that he worshipped
these as gods, in particular, one who dwelt below the
castle in a stinking pit. The book also told how to make
a sign that these gods would not tolerate and would flee
from. Arming the villagers with crucifixes from the
church, I led them against the evil Baron.

We broke down the doors and ran through the castle,
searching for the Baron. A small group of men found
entrance to the catacombs below and bravely entered
the dark tunnels. I foliowed at a distance and heard their
cries ahead. I hurried on bearing the pagan symbol and
the blasphemous book and rounding the comner, saw a
devil, a demon that should not be. I screamed as [
watched it devour the villagers, crucifixes still clenched
in their hands. With gunshots and torches, we forced it
back into its stinking hole, and I hammered the pagan
symbol onto a great stone, which we used to seal the
hole. We did not find the Baron, though his hated
servants were slain, and after pulling down one of the
great towers, we left the castle to its abandonment,

I never spoke of the things that I saw below the castle
and it was supposed that the lost men had somehow
stumbled into the stinking pit found deep below the
castle. None of the men dared approach the abyss. I fear
that I have risked eternal damnation for my actions, but
must write them down to at least cleanse my mind if not
my soul,

Jan Savechik




off the shelf, he will discover that it is sealed with wax
bearing a strange symbol. A successful Cthulhu Mythos
roll, or knowledge of the proper spell will allow the inves-
tigator to recognize the Elder Sign. For details of the man-
uscript, see the Fungi Papers 3.

6. 1886: A report on the mysterious disappearance of
Count Spanglais of Hungary, while on an extended visit to
the Baron, A party made up of friends and relatives of the
Count traveled to Drovosna searching for him, but were
unable to interview the Baron. The Count is described as
short, dark-haired, and very muscular.

The Gypsy Camp

The gypsy camp is located about a quarter-mile from the
village in a clearing near the edge of a great forest. When
the group approaches, they will see a single wagon, paint-
ed bright red and strung with bells and chimes. An old
broken-down horse is tethered nearby, and standing near
the animal are two people; one a small, wrinkled old
woman in a long colorful dress, and the other a middle-
aged maa uader five and a half feet tall and punily built.
This is the old foritune-teller, Sarena, and her mute, near-
idiot son, Vech.

Sarena is nearly 85 years old and has seen and heard
many things in her travels about the countryside, in-
cluding the tales told about the mysterious Baron Haupt-
man. She will say that many think him to be a vampire,
one of the undead, but Sarena will tell them that she per-
sonally has seen three different Barons come and go,
though she cannot remember any specific dates. Usually
the villagers are not even aware that the old Baron has
died until a new Baron shows up to claim the title. Sarena
does not remember a Baroness ever residing in the castle,
the Barons always seeming to prefer bachelorhood, pass-
ing the title on to a cousin or a nephew. On the other
hand, Sarena does believe, whole-heartedly, in the exis-
tence of vampires and werewolves; she has seen many
strange things in her time.

Sarena has some natural divining powers, and if asked
for a reading, will invite the players into her wagon while
sending Vech off into the woods with an axe to chop
wood for the fire. Once inside, Sarena will produce a well-
worn pack of Tarot cards from a wooden cabinet, and be-
gin to lay them face down upon the table in a complex
pattern. With the ringing of Vech’s axe in their ears,
Sarena will attempt a reading. But it is a failure. Black and
sinister cards—Death, Swords, the Devil, and the Tower
continually crop up. Sarena attempts to reshuffle the
cards again and again, but the Grim Reaper persists in ap-
pearing as one of the first three cards drawn. Finally,
aghast, she looks up and says, her voice quivering, that she
can dare no more readings today.

SARENA

This old gypsy woman looks every day of her 85 years. Her hus-
band died fong ago, and since that time has lived only in the com-
pany of her puny son, Vech. Sarena possesses some natural psy-
chic ability that allows her to see dimly into the future with the
aid of Tarot cards, but she does not really understand her ability
nor is she always able to interpret clearly what she sees.

If Vech is killed, Sarena will feel as though she has lost every-
thing and may consent to aid the investigators. The actual use of

her prescient abilities will have to be at the Keeper’s discretion,
but at most should only provide obscure clues or hints,

STR 8 CON 12 SiZ 6 INT 14 POW 16
DEX 11 APP 8 SAN 80 EDU 10 HP 9

SKILLS: Speak Romanian 70%; Speak German 20%; Speak Eng-
lish 15%; First Aid 60%; History (local) 45%; Occult 55%; Listen
65%; Psychology 40%; Spot Hidden Object 35%; Hide 75%; Move
Quietly 60%; Pick Pocket 65%; Bargain 50%; Fast Talk 60%.

VECH
He is Sarena’s middie-aged son. He is deaf, near mute, and not too
bright, but he always minds his mother.

STR 7 CON 8 Siz8 INT 4 POW 5
DEX 7 APP 5 SAN 25 EDU3 HP 8

SKILLS: Axe 85%.

Towards the end of the card reading, the ringing of the
axe will suddenly stop, to be followed by a muffled grunt
and something resembling a choked scream. Hearing this,
Sarena will leap from the table shouting for Vech, and,
pushing her way past the investigators, spring from the
wagon, running into the woods in the direction of the
scream,

When the investigators reach the clearing (assuming
they followed), they will see Vech suspended above the
ground apparently struggling with some unseen foe. As
the investigators hesitate, trying to decide what to do,
they will see Vech inexorably bent backwards until his
spine snaps with a sickening, crunching sound. All witness-
ing this must make a SAN roll or lose 1D3 points.

If the investigators continue to watch, they will see the
outline of a Star Vampire slowly appear as the monster
fills itself with Vech’s blood. Seeing the monster take
form will require another successful SAN roll or lose
1D10 points. It will take approximately three rounds for
the Star Vampire to completely drain Vech of his blood,
and when finished, or if the investigators attack, it will
suddenly rocket skyward and out of sight.

Sarena will not be able to identify the creature, and
will be totally heart-broken over the loss of her son.

Castle Hauptman

An ancient structure of rotting stone, the surrounding
walls are half in ruin as is one of the great towers. The re-
maining tower overlooks the village below, and at night,
lights can often be seen through the small windows. Gar-
goyles leer from every corner and battlement while huge
blocks of stone, half-hidden by tall weeks, lie on the
ground where they fell centuries ago. The huge iron
knocker on the front gate is cast in the shape of an in-
human skull, surmounted by a pair of devil’s horns. Once
within, the investigators will see that the inside court is
completely tiled in stone. Before them lies the residence
of the Baron, to the right, the old stable, and on the left,
the tower, sealed by a heavy, iron door.

Hauptman'’s Residence: Main Floor

Entry Hall: This room, like the rest of the castle, is of
naked stone. An iron chandelier, set with candles, hangs
by a chain from above and provides the only illumination
in this room. Oil lamps set in wrought-iron holders give
off light for one side of the building, while the other side
is kept in darkness.

Parlor: This serves as a waiting area for Hauptman’s infre-
quent guests. If the Baron is aware that he may soon re-
ceive visitors, there will be a fire in the fireplace, adding a
little comfort to the room. The fireplace is flanked by
shelves of books of a historical nature, written in Greek,
Latin, and eastern European languages. While unremark-
able in content, many of the volumes are quite old and
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possibly of value to a collector. The chairs provided are
straight-backed, and visitors usually find it more comfor-
table to stand.

Dining Room: This room contains a long, wooden table
surrounded by chairs of the design found in the parlor.
Rotting tapestries depicting hunting scenes are hung about
the walls,

Kitchen: There are the usual cooking utensils and food
items here.

Vacant Rooms: There are three cold and unused rooms.
Rotting furniture is covered by equally rotting sheets. A
successful Spot Hidden roll while examining the fireplace
in one of the rooms will reveal an unusual seam running
through the masonry that forms the back of the fireplace.
Pulling down on the iron sconce to the left of the fire-
place will cause the back wall of the fireplace to swing in-
ward with the soft grinding of stone on stone, Looking in,
the investigators will see one flight of stairs that leads to
the apartment above, and another flight that goes down
beneath the castle.

Hauptman’s Residence: Second Floor

Guest Rooms: There are four guest rooms and all similarly
contains canopy beds, chests, fireplaces, and shuttered
windows overlooking the courtyard. The only exception is
that one of the rooms has a secret fireplace entrance simi-
lar to the one found in one of the vacant rooms on the
ground floor. It functions in a similar manner. This side of
the castle, like the ground floor, is kept cold and dark.
Storage: This room is filled with boxes and crates; furni-
ture and other items that the Baron never got around to
unpacking when he returned to the castle in 1792.
Hauptman’s Study: There is a huge window made of lat-
ticed crystal panes that overlooks the courtyard and the
wall to the great ravine on that side of the castle. This
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window is fifteen feet long, and runs from floor to ceiling,
a height of over twelve feet. At one end of the room sits a
large, oaken desk, and behind it a bookcase. This book-
case contains nearly 100 volumes of the Baron’s personal
journals spanning nearly 700 years. The older volumes will
disintegrate if removed from the shelves, but the later
books contain much of the personal history of the Baron
and many cryptic references to the Brotherhood. The
final volume is the most interesting, and speaks of a
“young Master Edward,” and of his special destiny. These
journals are written in Latin, and will take two weeks for
an investigator to skim through them. They will cost the
investigator 1D6 SAN poiants, and increase his Cthulhu
Mythos by 5%, The personal history of the Baron shou}d
be ad-libbed by the keeper based on previous information.

On top of the desk is a large book, bound in leather
and closed with a locking hasp. The title is in Latin and
translates to The Brotherhood of the Beast. If the book is
opened, it will be found to contain a small amount of
text, a sketchy map, and the bulk of it filled with a com-
plex set of family trees dating back to ancient Egypt. The
most recent entries are dated in the 19th century and con-
tain hundreds of family names. There is also a sheet of vel-
lum, folded and slipped between two pages.

If an investigator can read Latin, it will only take an
hour or two to read this book. It will cost the investigator
1D3 SAN points, and raise his Cthulhu Mythos score 2%.
By reading it, the investigator will gain background infor-
mation regarding the Brotherhood (to be chosen at the
keeper’s discretion from information contained in Appen-
dix B). He will also find that the map accurately describes
the location of the secret tomb of a long-dead Egyptian
priest named Nophru-Ka. Any investigator making a
Knowledge roll, or any investigator with an Archaeology
skill above 10%, will know that at this very moment, a



much-publicized archaeological team funded by Miskato-
nic University and led by Dr. Ronald Galloway is search-
ing the deserts west of Cairo for the same tomb.

The sheet of vellum is also written in Latin, but will re-
quire a separate roll to read successfully. This is a copy of
the spell Call/Dismiss Beast and can be learned by making
INTx 5%. (Keeper’s note: No information about the spell
is contained in the scroll. The investigator should not
know where or how it is to be used.)

Inside the desk drawer, the investigators will find an
iron ring, with four keys, and an inlaid, wooden box of
oriental design and measuring 10”°x16”x2”. The three
larger keys on the ring are capable of opening any door in
the castle, while the smaller one will unlock the book
found on top of the desk. The wooden box is sort of a
puzzle consisting of sliding panels that must be manipu-
lated in a certain order to gain access to the contents of
the box. It will require a roll of INTx2% to successfully
open it. Each investigator will be allowed only one at-
tempt. If one grows impatient and tries to force open the
box, the fragile contents are ruined. Inside is a sheet of
crumbling parchment. The writing is medieval Arabic. It is
a page from the al-Azif containing the prophecy of
Nophru-Ka (see the Fungi Papers 4).

If the investigators should think to poke around in the
fireplaces of this room, they will find the ashes to contain
scorched fragments of envelopes and letters, indicating
that somebody has been systematically destroying some
kind of evidence *(this is true, Hauptman is preparing
to leave).
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The Fungi Papers 4
Prophecy from the Kitab al-Azif,

. . . and it was dreamed again of the priest
Nophru-Ka and of the words he spoke at his death,
how the son would rise to claim the title, and the
son would rule the world in his father’s name, and
the son would revenge the father’s murder, and the
son would call the Beast that is worshipped, and the
sands would drink the blood of the children of the
Pharaoh, and this Nophru-Ka spoke.”

from the Kitab al-Azif

Hauptman’s Bedroom: This room is dominated by a huge
canopied bed. Decorations include tapestries and crossed
rapiers on the walls. On a small table near the bed rests a
large book, and the bed itself contains some unsettling
lumps, vaguely suggesting a human form beneath the cov-
ers. If someone dares to turn back the covers, they will
find the mutilated body of a woman, several weeks dead.
Anyone seeing this must make a SAN roll or lose 1D6
points. The limbs are crushed and broken. The large book
nearby contains old woodcuts depicting almost every sort
of torture imaginable, while the instruments that Haupt-
man used are under the bed.
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Basement and Catacombs

Hauptman Family Crypt: Fifteen coffins lie on slabs, each
bearing the Hauptman crest and a pair of dates. The oldest
coffins, found near the back of the room, are covered
with mold and so badly disintegrated as to make the dates
impossible to read, but coffins dating from the 14th cen-
tury can be identified. Investigators may notice an inter-
esting gap in the progression beginning in the early 17th
century and extending to the late 18th century. There are
no other family members present; all coffins bear the
name “Baron Hauptman.” If the latest coffin, dated 1886-
1927, is opened, it will be found to contain the body of a
short, dark-haired, very muscular man. He is well-pre-
served and only a few days dead.

Workshop: This is where Hauptman designs and grinds
precision mirrors and lenses. A successful Knowledge roll
while examining the shop will reveal that the work being
carried on here differs radically from conventional optics.
If the heavy workbench is pulled away from the wall, a
small tunnel is revealed that opens at the foot of the cliff
on the southwest side of the castle.

Torture Chamber: Medieval, complete with racks, irons,
smoldering braziers, etc., the walls are lined with small,
barred cells unlocked by the key that hangs on a hook
near the entrance. The cells are all empty, but excrement
of long-gone tenants can be seen.

Lair of Nyogtha: This room was constructed long before
the castle by peoples of an earlier time, and is the reason
Hauptman chose this site. The difference in the stonework
should be obvious to any investigator making an Idea or
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alchemical
laboratory

Geology roll. A dark hole, ten feet in diameter, is sur-
rounded by a tile coping containing phrases written in
Latin. Nauseating vapors drift slowly up from the abyss.

Any investigator making a successful Read Latin roll
will be able to read the spell Call/Dismiss Nyogtha in-
scribed in the tile coping. It will require a half-hour’s time
and a successful INTx 5% roll to learn this spell.

Alchemical Laboratory: Many flasks, scales, and unmark-
ed jars stand on tables and line the shelves. In a rack are
three large test tubes containing a sticky, yellowish sub-
stance. A successful Pharmacy or Chemistry roll will allow
an investigator to identify it as a sleep-inducing drug. On
the table nearby is a piece of paper containing a German
version of the spell Brew Space Mead. To learn this spell
will require study time and a successful INTx4% roll.

Chamber: This is sealed off from the hallway by stone-
work of a different type then the rest of the structure and
is obviously a hasty, amateurish job. This wall could be
knocked down by sledge hammers, but there is another
entrance to this chamber. Sometime last spring, water
seeping into the escape tunnel caused a collapse of the
rear wall, allowing easy access to this room.

Inside, the investigators will discover a platoon of long-
dead soldiers. The skeletons of over two dozen men, dress-
ed in the rotting fragments of their uniforms, will be
found sitting against walls and floating in the pools of
stagnant water left by the spring flooding. Investigators
must make SAN roll or lose 1D8 points. If the skeletal
bodies and their possessions are examined, an Idea roll
will tell the investigators that the bodies are nearly ten



years old, their weapons rusted and useless. A small crate,
half-submerged, contains a dozen hand grenades, one or
two of which may be salvageable. A successful Knowledge
roll at half percentage will identify the men as soldiers of
the White Russian army.

A body in the remains of an officer’s uniform is bear-
ing a leather bag containing several documents and a small
black book. The papers have been destroyed by the water,
but portions of the book are still readable. It is hand-
written in Russian. It is the diary of Rasputin, the mad
monk, and will cost 1D3 SAN points to the investigator,
while increasing his Cthulhu Mythos Knowledge by 2%. In
one part of the book, Rasputin seems to refer to the great
explosion that took place in Siberia in 1907. On the next
page is the spell Call/Dismiss Azathoth, learnable in 2D6
weeks’ time with a successful INTx1% roll.

The platoon came to this place in 1919, fleeing Russia
and the revolution, bearing with them important docu-
ments pertaining to the assassination of the Czar, along
with a small book thought to be the diary of Rasputin.
The unit attempted to escape Russia using the high pass
through Montelui Mare. Here they requested food and
quarters from the Baron, who was more than happy to
obfige. After billeting the men in the downstairs chamber
“where they would be safe,” Hauptman fed them a meal
laced with a drug that rendered the unfortunate soldiers
unconscious. When they awoke, they discovered that the
Baron had sealed the room with masonry, leaving them
imprisoned. By the means of a small opening left in the

g

and has a resistance STR of 40. Inside, the investigators
will find the interior of the tower to be hollow. A stone
stairway, sans railing, spirals up to the dark reaches
above. Set in the floor is an unlocked, wooden trapdoor
which opens to reveal a set of stairs. These stairs lead to
the catacombs below the castle, while the staircase leading
up ends at a locked trapdoor with a STR of 10. On the
other side of the trapdoor is Hauptman’s observatory.
Entrance: This is the trapdoor entrance to the tower.
From here, the investigators can see the various objects
within the room. The room has three shuttered windows
and several sconces on the walls, designed to hold candles.
Observatory Area: This part of the room is dominated by
a large reflector telescope. Chains descending from the
ceiling allows Hauptman to roll back a portion of the
tower roof for a clear view of the heavens. On a nearby
table are a number of astronomy and astrology books,
along with some hand-written notes and charts.

A successful Knowledge roll while checking the tele-
scope will tell an investigator that the combination of mir-
rors and prisms contained within it is unknown to any sci-
ence. A successful Astronomy roll while examining the
charts will show that someone has been observing the
movements of a star called Xoth for centuries. A success-
ful Cthulhu Mythos roll will tell the investigator that Xoth
is supposed to be an earlier home of Great Cthulhu.

Iron Rungs: A set attached to the wall of the tower pro-
vides access to the trapdoor above and the roof of the
tower beyond that.



The Fungi Papers 5
Baron Hauptman's translation from the R lyeh Text

. . . and the Great Hall is guarded by his servants
and man must bear with him the sign of the Elder
ones. A wise man would not look above to these
servants or they may steal a man’s mind. A man
should also not bear with him knowledge when he
leaves, or the Sleeper will awake to take that
knowledge from the man, and the man.

Writings of the Beast are found in the second
gallery right, these galleries unguarded by the
servants, but the wary traveler would do well to
avoid others he might meet.

Translated from the original R’lyeh Text
by Baron Hauptman, 1238 A.D.

The bottles contain Space Mead that Hauptman keeps
prepared in advance. They are sealed with wax bearing a
magical sign that will maintain the potency of the Space
Mead indefinitely. Once these seals are broken, the en-
chantment is lost and the Mead will begin to deteriorate at
a normal rate. The small stone found next to the bottles
bears the Elder Sign. It will take three successful Cthulhu
Mythos rolls to recognize the Space Mead, the seals on the
bottles, and the Elder Sign, if investigators are not already
familiar with these things.

The scroll is written in Chinese and will require a like
roll to read it. The last couple of lines are written in Latin,
however, and it translates to “translated from the original
R’lyeh Text by Baron Hauptman: 1238 A.D.” If the in-
vestigators somehow translate the rest of the scroll, they
will find the information contained in the Fungi Papers 5.

BARON HAUPTMAN

Hauptman is centuries old. He has managed to preserve his exis-
tence through the years by transferring his mind and memories to
another body. When Hauptman’s body begins to age, he seeks out
a suitable young victim and, when the time is right, uses a power-
ful spell to switch bodies with him. He then murders his victim (in
his former body) and buries him as the deceased Baron. Later, he
appears in his new body with all necessary documents, as the new
heir to the title. Due to his isolated location, the Baron has man-
aged to pull this switch many times without raising undue suspi-
cion among the peasants.

Hauptman is presently occupying the body of a young English
secretary, Lionel Newman, who was hired by the Baron last sum-
mer. Newman was chosen because he was an orphan without fami-
ly and would be less likely to be missed. Hauptman will appear in
his mid-twenties; tall, blond, and slightly lame.

Where and when Hauptman was born in unknown, but por-
tions of his journals indicate that he accompanied the Crusades to
the Holy Lands. From there he traveled east into India where he
studied magic with an aged holy man,

It was later, in Damascus, that Hauptman met Lang-Fu, a
strange, batrachian Oriental, and together the two men formed the
Brotherhood of the Beast.

After rescuing the descendants of Nophru-Ka from G'harne,
Hauptman returned to Europe and with the aid of two German
merchants, helped to form the Knights of the Teutonic Order in
1190. Hauptman had planned to use this organization as a front
for the activities of the Brotherhood, but it appears that he was
not secretive enough. He was expelled from the order in 1212 by
Hermann von Salza for unspecified heresies.

Hauptman dropped out of sight for a few years and then resur-

48 - The Fungi from Yuggoth

faced (in a new body) in 1240, leading a small army. While the
Teutonic Knights were being routed by the Mongols at Liegnitz,
Hauptman managed to defeat a contingent of the fierce horsemen
to the south. Hauptman built a castle high on a mountain called
Montelui Mare, laid claim to the area, and continued to defend it
against the raiding Mongols. It was only later discovered that this
Baron claimed to be descended from the Hauptman expelied from
the Knights. The Hauptman ‘‘family” has occupied the castle al-
most continually since that time,

In 1542, Hauptman was instrumental in smuggling out the ori-
ginal edition of deVermiis Mysteriis, by Ludvig Prinn. Prinn was
imprisoned by the Roman Inquisition in 1542 and later executed.

In 1586, Hauptman was visited briefly by Drs. Edward Kelly
and John Dee. Dr. Dee translated the dread Necronomicon from
Hauptman's Greek copy. Dee had reservations and omitted por-
tions he felt were too blasphemous. In 1627 there is an entry in
the journals that indicate that this book was stolen.

Hauptman, while extremely intelligent and crafty, is addicted
to the sight of human suffering. This love of cruelty nearly cost
him his life in 1628 when the peasants mobbed the castle. Haupt-
man recognizes his weakness and has exercised more caution in re-
cent years.

STR 15 CON 15 SiZ 14 INT 18 POW 32
DEX 13 APP 16 SAN O EDV 35 HP 15
SKILLS: Read/Write or Speak nearly all languages 90%+; Anthro-
pology 75%; Archaeology 85%; Astronomy 95%; Botany 65%;
Chemistry 80%; Cthulhu Mythos 99%; First Aid 95%; Geology
85%; History 95%; Law 75%:; Library Use 100%; Linguist 95%; Oc-
cult 95%; Pharmacy 90%; Treat Disease 75%; Treat Poison 65%;
Zoology 70%; Listen 75%; Psychology 85%; Spot Hidden 80%;
Drive Automobile 55%; Hide 85%; Move Quietly 35% (due to bad
leg); Debate 80%; Oratory 50%; Climb 30%; Jump 30%; Ride 90%;
.38 Automatic 85%; Rifles 60%; Rapier 100%/Parry 100%; Knives
65%.

SPELLS: All included in Call of Cthulhu rulebook; Mindblast;
Call/Dismiss Beast; Mind Transfer.

CONCLUSION

It should be remembered that Hauptman is preparing to
flee the castle to await the coming of the Day of the
Beast. While always willing to punish those that would
seek to foil him, he will not risk his life in a stand against

Mind Transfer

This spell was originally learned by Hauptman on a visit to
southern {ndia. By means of this spell, the caster is able to
trade minds with a chosen victim, forcing the victim’s mind
into the body of the caster.

The spell requires 10 Magic Points to cast. The caster
must then involve himself in a Magic Point vs. Magic Point
struggle with the victim, If the caster wins the struggle, he
enters the body of the victim while the victim is forced to
occupy the empty shell of the caster. If the victim success-
fully resists the caster’'s mind, he will retain his rightful
body while the mind of the unfortunate caster, unable to
return to his body, dissipates into space. If the spell is suc-
cessfully completed, it will cost the caster 1D10 SAN
points, and the victim 1D20.

This is a very risky spell, and the wise caster will search
for a victim with very low Magic Points.

Mind Blast

This spell matches the caster’'s Magic Points against the tar-
get's. If the target successfully resists the caster’'s Magic
Points, he will not be affected by the spell. If the caster
overcomes the target’s Magic Points, then the target loses
1D4 SAN points and goes insane as though he had suffered
a terrible shock. This spell costs the caster 1D3 SAN points
and 10 Magic Points. The target will be affected for 20
minus INT hours and then recover,
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the investigators. At the slightest indication that they may
be able to harm him, he will flee the area with the aid of
his Star Vampire. If he has time, he will unleash Nyogtha
on the investigators and the unfortunate village. If this
should occur, the surviving investigators, in anguish over
the deaths of the innocent villagers may suffer a SAN loss.
1D20 will not be unfair, considering that the deaths were
a direct result of the investigators’ actions.

Hauptman will be informed of the investigator’s pres-
ence when Lazlo arrives at the castle and will keep a close
watch on the group, sending his men to openly spy on
their activities. The investigators will become aware that
they are being watched.

If the Baron grows bored waiting for the investigators
to make a move, he will send Lazlo to the village to invite
the investigators to dinner. Should they accept the invita-
tion, they will be asked to wait in the parlor upon their ar-
rival. The Baron will not appear until after sunset, making
the excuse that he prefers to work at night and sleep dur-
ing the day (this is to confuse the players with the
thought that he may be a vampire).

At dinner, the Baron will feed them a sumptuous meal
laced with a narcotic drug that induces a deep sleep. This
drug has a potency of 12 and takes affect in about twenty
minutes. Using the poison rules in the Call of Cthulhu
tulebook, those failing to resist the drug will fall into a

deep sleep lasting 4-5 hours. Investigators resisting suc-
cessfully are still affected and all skills will be at half of
normal for the next few hours.

Hauptman and his henchmen will then attempt to sub-
due any investigators who remain awake, and lock them
all away in the dungeon below. Here he will systematically
torture the investigators one by one, in full view of their
companion, and then toss their bodies down the hole in
the next room. Viewing the slow deaths of their friends
will call for a SAN roll or lose 1D8 points.

Sergei, the Soviet spy, is a wild card character who may
or may not enter into the scenario as the keeper wishes.
He may ally himself with the investigators in an attempt
to get them to unknowningly aid him, or he may try to
throw them off the track with false information. He may
show up in the village after discovering the secret entrance
to the castle, out of his mind and babbling about pits
“and strange things that crawl and slide.” His most impor-
tant function, however, is to wander in and release a
group of investigators who are hopelessly trapped in the
dungeon. In any case, Sergei should not show up until one
or two investigators have met with a terrible fate.

The most important lead in this scenario is the map
showing the location of the secret tomb of Nophru-Ka.
This clue is essential in introducing the next chapter. 0O
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Egypt

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

The investigators, either through discoveries made in the
previous chapter, or (if necessary) from recordings sent to
them by Irene LeMond, will have information leading to
the lost tomb of Nophru-Ka. They should also be aware
that an archaeological team from Miskatonic University
has been searching for the tomb site for the past eighteen
months. This team is headed by the well-known Egyptolo-
gist, Dr. Ronald Galloway, but so far has proven unsuc-
cessful in locating the tomb, causing the University to
consider discontinuing funds for the project.

The investigators should be encouraged to carry the
tomb’s location to Dr. Galloway themselves. If they
should choose to contact Miskatonic beforehand, they
will speak with a Mr. Stafford Evans, a member of the
Board of Regents. Evans is leading the fight to recall the
expedition and will try to discourage the investigators
from contacting Dr. Galloway. Evans is only trying to save
the University money, but the investigators may grow sus-
picious of his motives. They should eventually decide to
carry the information to Egypt themselves.

KEEPER'S INFORMATION

Dr. Galloway’s team is located about 100 miles west of
Cairo and consists of forty diggers, their Arab foreman
and two students from the University. They have been
searching an area known as the Valley of the Winds for
the past year and a half, following scanty clues in an at-
tempt to locate the tomb of Nophru-Ka, forbidden priest
of the chaotic 14th dynasty. The evidence they have is
minimal and they are presently searching about ten miles
too far south.

Unknown to Galloway, his trusted Arab foreman, Abd
Katif, is an agent of Hauptman and uses the trust placed
in him to lead the archaeologist away from his goal. If, by
chance, the tomb should be located, Katif is under orders
to steal or destroy certain items in the tomb.

BEGINNING PLAY

Dr. Galloway is located in an inaccessible spot, so the in-
vestigators should be encouraged to wire ahead, informing
the archaeologist of their intentions. The camp receives
mail and supplies twice a week by airplane drop. Take-offs
and landings in the area are particularly dangerous due to
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IV,
Sands Of Time

The investigators go to Egypt in search of
the lost tomb of Nophru-Ka.

the soft sand, and the pilot will only risk landing if the
camp signals an emergency. Anything leaving the camp
must travel by camel. There is a daily water caravan that
travels every day to an oasis eight miles away,

If contacted, Galloway will make arrangements for two
of his workers to meet the investigators in Cairo and lead
them to the site.

SCENES:
Cairo

Here, the investigators will be met by two young Arabs
who will introduce themselves as employees of Dr. Gallo-
way. The investigators will be allowed to spend a couple
days in Cairo while the guides help outfit them with cloth-
ing and equipment for the trip and teach the investigators
the basics of camel riding. Investigators graduating from
this training will gain a basic riding ability of 20% if they
make an Idea roll, or 10% if they fail. The investigators
may make use of this time to do a bit of exploring around
Cairo if they wish.

Desert Trek

The investigators will begin their four-day journey across
the desert early in the morning. After crossing the Nile by
bridge, they will ride through the suburb of Giza, passing
through the shadow of the pyramids, and near the enigma-
tic Sphinx. This area is dotted with numerous archaeologi-
cal sites operated by different governments and universi-
ties. At one of the larger sites, the investigators will notice
workmen erecting a tall, metal tower. If asked, the guides
will know nothing of this, but upon returning to Cairo in
the near future, the investigators will be able to ask
around and find out that the site is operated by the Chan-
dler Foundation, a name they will recoginize as a charita-
ble organization, similar to the Ford Foundation. The in-
vestigators will have to ask at the site itself to find out
that the slender tower is intended to be a mooring point
for dirigibles.

Once out into the desert itself, the investigators will
have to resign themselves to a hot, boring trip, punctuated
only by occasional mishaps involving the ornery camels.
Every day, each investigator will experience some difficul-
ty with his mount. If the investigator fails his Camel
Riding roll, he will be thrown to the ground and forced to
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retrieve his camel, A failed Luck roll when thrown will
mean that the investigator takes 1D3 points of damage.

The Desert Bandits

Towards the end of the third day of the trip, the party
will spot a group of riders coming towards them over the
dunes. The guides will instantly (perhaps, a little too in-
stantly) identify this group as desert bandits, followers of
Kemal, a bandit leader who roams this area preying upon
caravans. They will immediately dismount and beg the
party to surrender, claiming that if they do, Kemal will
only rob them. If they show resistance, the guides claim,
they will all be slain.

Any investigator making an Idea roll will remember
hearing of the infamous Kemal while in Cairo. Quite a
rogue, Kemal has a reputation for robbing only Arab trav-
elers, apparently fearing that to interfere with Europeans
would bring too much grief down upon him from the gov-
ernment. Attacking the party of investigators goes against
anything the investigators may have heard about Kemal.
In truth, the guides are under orders from Katif to surren-
der to Kemal, who has been bribed by Katif, They have
been told that they will be allowed to live if they obey
orders.

Kemal is accompanied by ten of his best men, and they
are all crack rifle shots either on foot, or from camel back.

If any of the investigators should be foolish enough to at-
tempt to flee or draw a gun, the keeper should feel free to
shoot off his hat or kill the camel. Alternatively, you can
let them find out the hard way. Investigators will find that
shooting from the back of a camel reduces chances to hit
to the investigator’s Ride chance (or his normal chance to
hit, whichever is less).

Kemal will capture the investigators and remove all val-
uables from them. Kemal will keep any weapons or items
of value that he may find, while he is to turn over any
books or papers found on the investigators to Katif. He is
then to bind and blindfold the party and murder the two
guides before marching the investigators out. Kemal will
follow all orders to the letter except those regarding the
young Arab guides; they will be freed to escape back to
the camp of Dr. Galloway.

Once tied up, the investigators will be marched across
the hot sand for an hour or two before they will be forced
to clamber over some broken rocks and crawl, single-file,
through a low opening. Through this opening the air be-
comes noticeably cooler and the echoes of the bandit’s
voices should tell the investigators that they are inside
something.

After a short walk, the bandits will pull the group to a
halt and remove the blindfolds. They will find themselves
standing in a dark cavern, a yawning, circular chasm at
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their feet. One by one, the investigators will be dragged
forward, and while one bandit cuts the rope tying their
hands, two others will push the screaming investigators
headlong into the pit. As each investigator falls into the
darkness, he must make a SAN roll or lose 1D4 points.

KEMAL
This desert bandit teads a group of about twenty men who raid the
caravans that pass through the area. Kemal does not interfere with
foreigners, fearing the wrath of the Egyptian government. Kemal’s
reputation is one of a rogue who rarely kills his victims, preferring
to release them in the hope that they will pass his way again.
Kemal fears Katif, and is not happy that he has been forced in-
to association with him, but for the meantime, cooperates. Katif,
unable to keep from boasting, has spoken, on occasion, with
Kemal of his association with the Baron and others. If someone
can approach Kemal and make a successful Oratory (in Arabic)
roll, they will be able to convince the bandit to turn against Katif.
STR 16 CON 15 Si1Zz12 INT 15 POW 15
DEX 16 APP 17 SAN 75 EDU 11 HP 14
SKILLS: Speak English 256%; Occuit 25%; Listen 80%; Psychology
65%; Spot Hidden 75%; Track 75%; Hide 80%; Move Quietly 80%;
Pick Pocket 45%; Oratory 80%; Climb 80%; Dodge 75%; Jump
80%; Camel Riding 95%; .45 Revolver 50%; Rifle 80%; Knife 80%.

DESERT BANDITS
This gang of thieves is fanatically loyal to Kemal and are willing to
lay down their lives for him. Assume they all have the same stats.

STR 11 CON 10 siZz 11 INT 15 POW 10
DEX 9 APP 8 SAN 75 EDU 7 HP 10

SKILLS: Rifle 85%; Knife 65%; Camel Riding 90%.

The Well of Nophru-Ka

The investigators will fall approximately thirty feet into a
pile of soft sand. Anyone failing a Jump roll will suffer
1D6 points of damage.

The group will be able to see, by the dim light trickling
in from above, a roughly circular cavern, about forty feet
in diameter and shaped like an inverted funnel. A stone
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stairway once circled the walls, allowing people to climb
in and out, but this has long since collapsed, leaving large
stone blocks strewn about the chamber. The walls lean in-
ward, past vertical, as the chamber narrows upwards,
making climbing without equipment impossible. The in-
vestigators will soon realize that the only way out is by
means of the dark passageway that slopes downward as it
exits the chamber. This passageway runs for about two
miles through total darkness until it eventually opens
upon the dimly lit Well of Nophru-Ka, ancient worship-
ing place of the evil priest and his insane followers. When
the investigators see the light ahead in the tunnel, a suc-
cessful Listen roll will reveal the sound of strange, mono-
tonous piping.

If the investigators continue forward, the tunnel will
open into a large, circular chamber lit by torches thrust in-
to small holes in the walls. To the investigators’ immediate
right lies another, similar tunnel that will eventually lead
out of the Well. Across the chamber, nearly one hundred
feet away, a man dressed in the style of ancient Egypt
kneels in supplication before another. The standing figure
is tall and of skin so dark as to be almost black, but the
flickering torchlight hides his features as well as the fea-
tures of the two men that stand behind him, arms folded
across their chests. The monotonous piping seems to come
from a balcony, carved of stone and situated directly
above the mysterious group.

The two figures converge in the form of a chant, voiced
in an odd tongue (a successful Linguistic roll will indicate
that this may be the forgotten language of ancient Egypt,
but will not allow any investigator to understand it). Wit-
nessing this scene for more than a minute will cause an-
cient genetic memories, locked within the cells of the in-
vestigators to awaken, causing a loss of 1D6 SAN points
and an identical increase in the investigator’s Cthulhu
Mythos score. These effects are unavoidable and allow no
SAN roll.

At the climax of this scene, the two figures in shadow,
though not the tall dark figure, will step into the light. In-
vestigators will be required to make a SAN roll or lose
1D6 points at the sight of men with the head of croco-
diles. At this point the torches will suddenly extinguish
themselves as the vision melts away and the chamber is
plunged into darkness.

If the investigators attempt to disrupt this scene, the
torches will go out and the vision ends immediately.

After a few seconds, the investigators® eyes will adjust
to the darkness and they will be able to see quite well, aid-
ed by a phosphorescent blue glow emanating from traces
of crystal found in the walls of the cavern. This glow is
somehow activated by the light from the “immaterial”
torches, and will last about thirty minutes before gradual-
ly fading away.

The investigators cannot discover any trace of the cere-
mony just witnessed, but with a successful Climb roll, an
investigator can scale the rough stone wall up to the bal-
cony. Here is a small chamber containing a black stone
statue of a faceless Sphinx some six feet long. The statue
is carved with Egyptian hieroglyphs.

A successful Cthuhlu Mythos roll will tell the investiga-
tors that this is one of the many forms of Nyarlathotep
and a Read Egyptian will reveal that the heiroglyphs con-
tain the spell Call/Dismiss Beast, learnable with an Idea
roll if the investigator can Read Egyptian. The whole



scene witnessed is due to a psychic residue left by the
many worshipers who came here in honor of their dark
gods.

It was Abd Katif, alerted by Hauptman, who decided
to dispose of the investigators in this manner, believing
that they would be driven mad and eventually starve, un-
able to leave the Well. What Katif did not realize is that af-
ter so many centuries, most Europeans would share at
least a few genes with the long-dead priest and because of
this, experience a cellular awakening similar to, but not
nearly so intense as that suffered by Edward Chandler.
Katif did not plan on a recent sandstorm that has uncover-
ed the long-buried exit from the Well. If the investigators
travel about three hundred yards along the other tunnel,
they will find a narrow, sand-choked opening on the side
of the dune. After exiting the Well, a sudden storm will
blow up, covering the opening in the dune and ensuring
that the investigators are quite lost.

Fortunately for the investigators, the exit is but a few
miles from Galloway’s camp and they may be able to find
it with a little luck. The first day will always be spent in
fruitless search. Beginning on the second day, and every
day after that, the fuckiest investigator in the group
shauld attempt @ POWx1% roll, If successful, they will
discover the camp. If unsuccessful, each investigator must
succeed in rolling CONx 5% or take 1D6 damage. A single
point of damage is taken anyway.

Keeper’s note: If an investigator can show reason to
possess some type of desert survival skills, the keeper may
wish to adjust the situation slightly. If things begin to
look too grim for the group, the keeper can have them res-
cued by one of the search parties that Galloway has al-
most certainly sent out. Lost hit points will be regained at
a rate of 1 point per day of full rest.

Galloway’s Camp

If the investigators come upon the camp on their own,
they will be first aware of something when an odd wailing
sound drifts toward them from the other side of a large
dune, A successful Anthropology roll will tell an investiga-
tor that what he hears is a Moslem prayer, distorted by
the wind. Without this information, investigators will have
to gather their courage and peek over the dune.

Looking down into a narrow valley, the group will see
a crowd of 30-40 Arabs kneeling in prayer to the east. A
short distance away, near a small cluster of tents, a group
of three men in khaki are conversing with a tall, bearded
Arab. This is Dr. Galloway and his students, in discussion
with Katif. The immediate area is studded with a half-
dozen small exploratory digs, but the men have found
nothing. Near the men is a half-track vehicle with “Miska-
tonic University” printed on the side. On the other side of
the valley are the tents, safely upwind from the tethered
camels.

Everyone will be surprised to the investigators, as the
guides had told them that the entire group had been kid-
naped by Kemal. Katif will be the most surprised, and a
successful Psychology roll will note this reaction. The
group will be shown to the tents prepared for them; food
and first aid will be offered.

If the investigators show Dr. Galloway the map or in-
formation they possess, he will be interested, but disagree
with them as to the possible location of the tomb. He has
his own evidence, gathered over the years and teels that he

is presently searching the right area. He is backed up in
this opinion by Abd Katif, a man that Galloway has work-
ed with before and one who has shown to have a deep
knowledge of the Egyptians. The investigators’ evidence
indicates a location ten miles to the north. One investiga-
tor in the group will have to Debate with Dr. Galloway. If
this investigator wins the Debate, he will have convinced
Galloway and the doctor will begin laying plans to move
the entire operation north. Even if the Doctor wins the
Debate, he will charitably admit that the investigators
may be on to something, and suggest that they take one
of the students and a half-dozen diggers to the area they
wish to search.

DR. RONALD GALLOWAY
Dr. Galloway is a world-renowed Egyptologist. He is in his mid-
fifties and strong and well-tanned from his years in the field. He is
a logical sort of person and not likely to be swayed by use of Ora-
tory. Neither will he entertain talk of monsters or secret societies;
at least not until after his experiences in the tomb of Nophru-Ka.
If Dr. Galloway survives this scenario, he may be able to pro-
vide valuable assistance in the future. He has an impeccable reputa-
tion for level-headed honesty and has developed many contacts
with government officials and universities all over the world. Any-
thing the investigators may try to present will be more readily ac-
cepted by these people if use can be made of Dr. Galloway's influ-
ence, At the conclusion of this scenario, Galloway will probably
return to the Miskatonic to study his finds.

STR 12 CON 15 SIZ 11 INT 16 POW 15
DEX 12 APP 15 SAN 75 EDU 26 HP 13

SKILLS: Read/Write Egyptian 90%; Read/Write Arabic 35%;
Read/Write Latin 55%; Speak Arabic 656%; Anthropology 35%; Ar-
chaeology 95%; First Aid 75%; Geology 20%; History 55%; Li-
brary Use 80%; Make Maps 40%; Spot Hidden 55%; Debate 80%;
.38 Revolver (always carried in holster) 45%; Rifles 30%.

Camp Features:

Half-track: This is a gas-powered vehicle capable of trav-
ersing most terrain and can cover ground at twice the
speed of a camel. Unfortunately, it broke down some time
ago and has not yet been made serviceable. A couple of
hours’ time and three successful Mechanical Repair rolls
will get it running. It can seat eight people and there are
adequate gasoline supplies and spare parts in the tent
nearby.

Supply Tent: In addition to gas and parts for the half-
track, it contains food, digging supplies, and a case of dy-
namite with 24 sticks along with blasting caps.

Dr. Galloway’s Tent: Contains, besides his books and
papers, two .30-06 rifles under his cot, along with ammu-
nition. Galloway brought these with him in case of trou-
ble. So far, they have proven unnecessary.

Abd Katif’s Tent: On the other side of the valley, located
near the tents of the diggers, stands the larger tent of Abd
Katif. If the investigators should get the opportupity to
search the tent, they will discover any books or papers sto-
len by Kemal the bandit. They will also discover a letter,
written in Arabic, and bearing the postmark of Klausen-
burg, Romania. If translated, the investigators will receive
the information contained in the Fungi Papers 6. With this
letter are also two scrolls written in Arabic. One of them
contains the spell Call/Dismiss Beast, while the other de-
scribes some kind of warding sign — a magical pass made
with the hand. No explanation is given with either of the
items, and both can be learned with a successful Idea roll.

The camp contains other supply tents, the students’ tent,
etc., all of little interest.
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The Fungi Papers 6
Letter from Hauptman to Katif

Katif,

be discovered.

GALLOWAY'S ASSISTANTS
Both these young men are students at Miskatonic eager for the op-
portunity to work with Dr. Galloway.

Lawrence Daniels
He is an undergraduate in his fourth year at the University.

STR 10 CON9 S1Z 10 INT 15 POW 12
DEX 14 APP 10 SAN 60 EDU 15 HP 10

SKILLS: Read/Write Egyptian 25%; Anthropology 25%; Archaeol-
ogy 45%; Library Use 55%.

Richard McFarland

He is a graduate student and a personal favorite of the doctor’s. He
is a large, burly character and tough in a fight. He keeps a .45 in
his tent, but does not wear it around camp.

STR 16 CON 15 SIZ 16 INT 15 POW 13
DEX 11 APP 10 SAN 65 EDU 17 HP 16

SKILLS: Read/Write Egyptian 40%; Read/Write Arabic 20%;
Speak Arabic 55%; Anthropology 30%; Archaeology 60%; First
Aid 75%; Occult 20%; Pilot Airplane 40%; .45 Revolver 65%; Ri-
fles 60%; Fist 75%; Kick 50%.

ARAB DIGGERS

This crew of men was hired by Katif and while none are truly
aware of Katif's intentions, they know that he is 3 man to be fear-
ed and few will be willing to speak of him to the investigators. If
an investigator should make a successful Oratory roll in Arabic,
the investigators will be told that Katif has been seen having (ate-
night meetings with a strange man {Kemal). Another Oratory, with
a different digger, may reveal the suspected hideout of Kemal,
about five miles west of the oasis used by the camp.

Nophru-Ka’s Tomb Site

This site is located about ten miles north of the present
camp. The ground is fairly uneven, and the journey will
take four hours by camel, or two hours by half-track.

Once camped in the area, the group will have to search
the area for evidence of the location of the tomb. Each
person spending one full day in search will succeed if he
makes both a Spot Hidden and an Archaeology roll (the
diggers are each 25% in both). Once the tomb is located,
the student will immediately leave to notify Dr, Galloway,
taking two of the diggers with him. Upon hearing of the
find, Galloway will leave for the new sight with some dig-
gers and Katif, while leaving the students to oversee the
breaking of camp and the move north.

Attack of the Bat-Horrors
Every night that the small party camps at the site of the
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A matter of urgency. Several foreigners recently appeared in Drovosna, possibly bearing
information regarding our plans. They suspect my involvement. I have reason to believe that
they have come across information that will lead them to the site of the tomb. They should
be dealt with severely if they try to intervene. I will leave the handling of the matter up to
you, but at all costs you must steal or destroy the scrolls found in the tomb should they

Hail Yog-Sothoth
Hauptman

tomb, they will be attacked by 1D6 Byakhee that have
been contacted by Katif. They will attack in a cautious,
hit-and-run fashion, attempting to slay those caught alone
or ripping through the tents at night to maul sleeping vic-
tims; after which they melt into the darkness. These at-
tacks will cease upon the arrival of Galloway and Katif.
The investigators may have some difficulty keeping the
diggers with them in the face of these assaults.

BYAKHEE

Assume all have same stats.

STR 16 CON 7 SiZ 17 INT 12 POW 8
DEX 11 Move 5/9 HP 12
Weapon Attack Damage

Claw 35% 1D6+1D6

Bite 35% 1D6+1D6 plus blood drain

ARMOR: 2-point fur.

SAN LOSS: Upon seeing a Byakhee if the SAN roll is missed the
victim loses 106 points. If the roll is successful, victim still loses
1 point,

Nophru-Ka’s Tomb

Once Galloway hag joined the group, digging wiff com-
mence in earnest, Within 24 hours, steps leading down will
have been cleared and large stone doors will stand seady
to be pulled open. The soil blocking the entrance is weird-
ly loose. (Actually, Hauptman and his comrades laid a dy-
namite charge above the tomb after they left, and the
landslide caused by the explosion now blocks the en-
trance. A Geology roll will indicate something odd to the
investigators.) There will be disappointment expressed by
members of the team when they discover that the clay
seal on the door has been broken; a sure sign of tomb-
robbers.

Once the door is opened, and the stagnant air allowed
to clear a little, the group will step onto a small landing
above another short flight of stone steps leading down.
These stairs are heavily carpeted with dust and there is evi-
dence of recent footprints on the treads. A successful
Tracking roll will see that, while there are four sets of
prints leading down, there are only three coming back
out. The investigator will be able to tell that whoever en-
tered the tomb wore modern boots.

At the bottom of the stairs a short hallway runs ap-
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proximately forty feet before ending in a set of stone
doors. About halfway down this hall are a pair of deep al-
caves, each containing a plain, stone sarcophagus standing
upright. These scem 1o be undisturbed, as they are cover-
ed with a thick layer of dust and sealed with a green, wax-
like substance. The seal on the doors has been broken,
however, and the group will find that they swing inward
easily.

Opening the doors, the investigators will discover the
final resting place of Nophru-Ka, placed here by his fol-
lowers with what little treasure they could rescue. While
many footprints can be seen in the dust, little seems dis-
turbed at first glance. Crumpled on the floor, near the sar-
cophagus of Nophru-Ka, lies the body of a man dressed in
modern Arab clothing.

If the body is examined it will be found that the back
of his head was apparently blown off by a gunshot; dried
tissue still adheres to the wall nearby. Coins found in the
man’s pocket bear dates as recent as 1895. The body
is partially mummified by the dry conditions within
the tomb.

The walls are covered in hastily chiseled hieroglyphs. A
successful Read Egyptian will allow someone to discover
that these writings contain the story of Nophru-Ka (Ap-
pendix A). It will require two weeks to successfully trans-
late all that is written on the walls.

A quick examination of the tomb’s contents by mem-
bers of the archaeological team will reveal that little was
disturbed by the tomb-robbers. The only missing item is
the canopied jar containing the liver of the priest, and pos-
sibly some scrolls from a table.

These scrolls contain missing portions of the Book of
Eibon—in particular the spell, Dismiss Dhole. The scroll
containing this spell is the object of Katif’s mission; it is
to be kept out of the hands of the investigators. The miss-
ing canopic jar was taken by Lang-Fu to aid him in sum-
moning the spirit of Nophru-Ka.

The Hybrid Mummies

If the party opens the door to the inner chamber without
first making the special Warding Sign near the guardian
mummies, the undead sentries will be alerted to the pres-
ence of intruders and begin to awaken from the millenial
sleep. The first indication of this will be the echoing crash
of the stone coffin lids shattering against the floor of the
tomb. The mummies will then step out of their sarcopha-
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guses and shamble towards the group through the swirling
dust. The investigators will be able to see the withered hu-
man bodies topped by ungainly heads of crocodiles, affix-
ed with crude stitches at the neck.

CROCODILE MUMMIES

In the vision in the Well, these beings appear as supremely muscled
humans, their necks gradually blending into crocodile heads lined
with razor-sharp teeth,

In mummy form they will be found interred with the body of
Nophru-Ka; placed there to protect the remains of the slain priest.
These mummies are not wrapped, but merely preserved, their flesh
dried to a tough, leathery texture and smelling bitterly of strange
spices and death. The mummies are actually decapitated humans
with the heads of crocodiles sewn crudely onto the neck.

These creatures are magically animated guardians and have
identical stats.

STR 21 CON 16 SiZ 15 INT 8 POW 15
DEX 7 Move 6 HP 16
Wespon Attack Damage

Hand 80% 1D06+1D6

Bite 60% 206+1D6

These creatures may attack once per round, using either hand
or bite.

ARMOR: 2-point skin. Bullets are useless.
SKILLS: Move Quietly 50%.

SANITY LOSS: Any one viewing these monsters will have to roll
their SAN or lose 103 points. A successful SAN roll will still cost
the viewer 1 point.

After the necessary SAN rolls are made and the group be-
gins to engage the monsters, Katif will use the confusion
to try to steal the scroll and hide it in his robes. He will
need a Pick Pocket roll to accomplish this without being
seen. Katif will then attempt to flee the tomb, using the

The Warding Sign

This is a special hand gesture that is to be performed within
the tomb before opening the doors to the inner chamber. If
the signal is made properly, the guardians will not be
awakened from their slumber. If the guardians are alerted
to intruders, they will emerge from their coffins and slay
them. At this time the Sign can still be used to pass the
guardians, but they will not return to their sarcophaguses
until the doors to the inner chamber are shut and the prop-
er sign given to them. At this time they will return them-
selves to their coffins and await the next visitors to the
tomb. Attempting to cast the Warding Sign costs 1 Magic
Point whether successful or not.
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Warding Sign to get by the mummies unharmed. Any in-
vestigator witnessing this complex gesture will have a
chance equal to his INTx1% to successfully duplicate the
Sign if he should attempt to follow Katif out.

Once outside the tomb, Katif will be met by two
henchmen with camels waiting to carry them to Kemal’s
hiding place. If captured by the investigators, Katif will
attempt to destroy the scroll before letting it fall into
their hands.

ABD KATIF

Katif is tall and slender; his black, almost blue, beard lends his face
a menacing look. He has been an agent of Baron Hauptman for
several years, but this is the most important task entrusted to him
yet. Hauptman would have preferred using another for an opera-
tion as delicate as this, but Katif was the only man available. The
Baron's fears are proven by the way that Katif bungles the murder
of the party. Still, he is a dedicated member of the Brotherhood
and if he survives this scenario will turn up with Hauptman in
chapter VII,

Katif claims to be a Copt and does not take part in the Moslem
ceremonies attended by the rest of the diggers. He has been Gallo-
way’s foreman on this dig since its inception and has worked with
the doctor before. Galloway considers Katif an odd fellow, but has
come to respect Katif's knowledge of the past and his sometimes
uncanny ability to locate obscure, archaeological sites. Galloway
trusts Katif completely and will not turn against him unless shown
undeniable evidence. The diggers fear Katif. They do not know
what he is up to.

If Katif is found out, he will flee to Kemal's lair with his two
henchmen and wait for the party to discover the tomb, then at-
tempt to carry out his mission.

STR 14 CON 14 SI1Z 13 INT 10 POW 12
DEX 15 APP 9 SAN O EDUL 7 HP 14
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SKILLS: Speak English 40%; Archaeology 20%; Cthulhu Mythos
40%; Occult 50%; Track 20%; Hide 80%.; Move Quietly 80%; Pick
Pocket 75%; Oratory 65%; Climb 60%; Dodge 75%; Camel Riding
85%; Large Knife 75%; .32 Pistol (hidden in robes) 35%.

SPELLS: Dread Curse of Azathoth: Summon Byakhee, Call/Dis-
miss Beast; Warding Sign (for use against mummies).

KATIF'S HENCHMEN

These two Arab diggers work directly for Katif, although this fact
is unknown to anyone in the camp. They are ruthless kilfers who
will obey Katif right up until they feel their lives are threatened.
At this point they will desert their master and run. They are not
aware of Katif's involvement with the Other Gods,

Selim

STR 14 CON 12 Si1Z10 INT 7 POW 8
DEX 17 APP 8 SAN 40 EDU 6 HP 11

SKILLS: Large Knife 75%; Camel Riding 80%.

Abdul
STR 13 CON 15 SIZ 15 INT9 POW 6
DEX 14 APP 10 SAN 30 EDU 5 HP 15

SKILLS: Large Knife 90%; Camel Riding 85%.

CONCLUSION

This chapter provides many clues to the activities of the
Brotherhood, but leaves the investigators at an apparent
dead-end. If the Well is returned to, its psychic “show”
will activate only at the keeper’s option.

At this point there is room for an intermission that will
give the investigators an opportunity to explore other
adventures, or the group could move directly into the
next chapter.



Peru

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

The investigators will receive another recording of Paul’s
dreams from Irene LeMond. Like the others, it is mostly
incoherent, but between the moans and shouts of the tor-
tured sleeper, investigators will hear Paul mumbling about
earthquakes and Peru. Somehow these quakes foreshadow
the coming of the Beast.

KEEPER’S INFORMATION

The earthquakes in Peru werc caused by a group of Mi-Go.
The earthquakes were caused in an attempt to lift certain
strata above the surface where the Mi-Go could recover
and process a material known as Blue John. This is an in-
gredient used in making the incense required to cast the
spell Summon/Bind Dhole. After processing, the fine
powder is shipped out of the country by the New World
Inc. experimental mining station located in the area.

NWI established the mining operation a couple of years
ago and it was publicly touted as an attempt to economi-
cally mine the trace amounts of gold, silver, platinum, and
other precious metals that are contained in the soil of this
moutainous country. The true purpose of the mine—and
this is known to only a very few—is to provide a cover for
the extraction and shipping of the Blue John. The only
person working at the mine site that is aware of this Jona-
than Harris, Chief Engineer.

NWI has also taken advantage of their situation to sup-
ply local guerillas with rifles as part of the Brotherhood’s
plan to foster political chaos in the world. These guns are
delivered to the rebel leader, an ex-bandit named Goyo,
by Melvin Peale, head of security at the NWI mine. Peale
is unaware of the mine’s connection with the Mi-Go.

Peale has supplied a large number of weapons and am-
munition to the rebels over the past six months. The mine
has been able to justify the large munitions shipments by
suggesting they are being used to help control a large band
of militant, primitive Indians who have harassed the
mining operation since its beginning. Lately, these Indians
have managed to steal several rifles and a small amount of
ammunition from the guerillas. The Peruvian government,
glad for the participation of NWI in the country’s econo-
my, have given the mine security force permission to deal
with the Indian problem as they see fit. The Indians have
been sniping at the mine camp and Peale has led several

V.
Mountains of the Moon

Another dream by Paul LeMond sends the investigators to the mountains
of Peru to investigate the recent unusual earthquakes there.

forays into the mountains in an attcmpt to rout the In-
dians from the area. He has also enlisted Goyo’s aid in
controlling them.

Word has come from Edward Chandler at NWI to Jona-
than Harris that they have received almost all of the Blue
John that will be required, and that Harris is to begin dis-
mantling the operation soon. When this is complete, NWI
will publicly announce a phasing out of its mining opera-
tion in Peru claiming that it has shown to be unprofitable
(true, but they knew this from the beginning).

HISTORY

The Fungi operations in the Andes began thousands of
years ago, and survived until finally driven out by Indians
over 1100 years ago. These Indians, known as the Huari,
pre-date the Incas and were worshippers of Yig, whose aid
was called upon to vanquish the Fungi. Most Huari were
wiped out by unknown invaders about 800 A.D., but a
small tribe has managed to survive isolated high in the
mountains. The coming of the NWI mining facility to the
area has caused these Indians to believe that a tribal
legend is about to be fulfilled. The prophecy goes some-
thing like this: “When the pale men come to the moun.
tain, they will release evil spirits within. The faithful of
Yig must resist these evil spirits but they will not be deliv-
ered until the coming of ‘The Ghost that Walks.” These
events will mark the beginning of the age of the Beast.”
This prophecy may be encountered in this chapter in
many different forms, as it has been circulating in the area
ever since the coming of NWI, but the only complete and
accurate version is known by “The Ghost that Walks.”

GENERAL INFORMATION

If the investigators do a little searching around of the
newspapers and scientific journals, they will discover that
there has indeed been a series of intense, localized tremors
recorded over the past year centered high in the moun-
tains fifty miles northwest of Peru. The area has a high in-
cidence of earthquakes and even considering the odd pat-
tern of the shocks, would not have drawn as much notice
if they had not occurred so close to the American-oper-
ated NWI mining facility. Although the epicenter of the
quakes was very near the station, a spokesman for the
mine said that only minor tremors were felt and that there
were no casualties.
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The investigators will recognize the name of NWI and
be reasonably familiar with the giant corporation on a
Knowledge roll (Appendix D: Public Image). Any investi-
gator possessing Geology score above 50% will have heard
of the experimental mining station and be at least a little
familiar with the purpose of the project; the recovery of
precious metals by a new technique. They may also know
that NWI, in true public-conscious style, has established a
policy of providing food and lodging to visiting dignitaries
and scientists. At times, scientific teams have used the
NWI site as a base while making field studies of the area.

BEGINNING PLAY

The country of Peru is presently run by the presidency of
Augusto Leguia, a former minister of the treasury closely
identified with business groups. Passports are easily ob-
tained, and passage to Lima by ship will take approxi-
mately six days from New York. Once in Lima, the inves-
tigators will have to hire a car or truck to take them the
fifty miles to the small village of Huancucho, located half-
way up the mountains at the end of the road. A fifty-mile
ride on the back of a truck hauling vegetables or livestock
could prove uncomfortable, and clever investigators may
attempt to make arrangements to travel by jeep with the
army patrols that regularly travel the road. From Huancu-
cho, the investigators will have to travel a winding moun-
tain trail high to the site of the mine. Guides can be ob-
tained in Huancucho.

The national language of Peru is Spanish, but the inves-
tigators should have little trouble in a city the size of
Lima; many people here speak at least a little English.
Once outside of Lima, investigators will find that most
people speak only Spanish, and the farther up into the
mountains they travel the more people use Quechua, an
Indian language spoken by the Incas.

This adventure takes place at extremely high altitudes
and any investigator activity involving endurance or vigor-
ous actions should take into account the scarcity of oxy-
gen. The native Indians actually have a different physiol-
ogy that allows them to take advantage of the rarified at-
mosphere. A lowlander will have trouble running even a
short distance and the hike up the side of the mountain
will be all the average investigator can bear.

SCENES:
Huancucho and the Trading Post

Huancucho is a small, sleepy village containing about 250
souls. The population is mostly Indian and very poor.
Most live in glorified huts, but a few more substantial
buildings exist. A few dogs can be seen on the streets.

The largest building by far is the trading post. Original-
ly established to serve the local Indian farmers, it has been
used as a jumping-off point for supplies coming in for the
NWI mine. This, along with the miners who have no other
place to spend money, has caused the business to greatly
expand. Once inside, the investigators will see that the
store carries tools, canned goods, and other items. One
end of the building has been made over into a small bar or
tavern. Seated at one of the tables sits a mustachioed man
in rumpled peasant’s clothing, a holstered .45 strapped to
his leg. When the investigators see him, he will turn slowly
so that he is facing away from them. An Indian woman
with a bored look on her face stands behind the bar, lean-
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ing forward on her elbows.

Just after the investigators enter the building, a gray-
haired man, about 55, will emerge from a back room. He
will be a bit surprised to see the group of strangers, but af-
ter acknowledging the man seated at the table, will wel-
come the group heartily; first in French, and then in Eng-
lish. He will introduce himself as Victor, proprietor of the
trading post and will be genuinely pleased to see someone
from “a civilized part of the world.”

Keeper’s note: It is recommended that as the investiga-
tors introduce themselves, Victor recognize one of them
as someone he knows. Victor will be an old friend of this
investigator’s father and will tell convincing stories of how
he used to bounce this investigator on his knees when he
was a child. The investigator was quite young at the time,
but will certainly remember “Uncle Victor” who visited
the investigator’s home when he was young. The exact cir-
cumstances behind Victor’s relationship with the father is
unknown, but the investigator will remember him as a
warm, good-natured man; even though Mom did not seem
to like him.

Victor will invite the group back to his private room
for a drink of the “good stuff.” Here he will tell a tale of
how he came to this part of the world and how he came
to run the trading post. Victor knows nothing about the
NWI scheme involving the Mi-Go, but does serve as the
link between Peale and the rebels, using the trading post
as a transfer point for the rifles. He will not reveal this in-
formation unless faced with death. If caught by the Peru-
vian government, he will most certainly face a firing
squad. He can tell the investigators a little bit about the
legend of the Ghost, but his version is very inaccurate. He
can recommend Sancho, a local and the brother of his
wife, as a reliable guide to the mine site.

Gunshots

This conversation will be suddenly interrupted by the
sound of gunshots and breaking glass from the other
room. Running to the door, the investigators will see three
Peruvian soldiers gesticulating and speaking in rapid Que-
chua. Another soldier lies on the floor in a pool of blood.
The Indian woman, Victor’s wife, has ducked behind the
bar and the man with a moustache is gone, the broken
window near the table marking his exit. The soldjers will
quickly gather up the fallen soldier and, exiting the trad-
ing post, speed off in the direction of headquarters in
Lima. They will report that they have just seen Goyo.

Victor will be visibly upset by the incident, and a suc-
cessful Psychology roll will reveal that his fear seems to
run deeper than just a mere response to what took place.
Victor will profess to know nothing of the incident, but if
an Oratory roll is made, he will tell them that he believes
the man the soldiers were shooting at to be Goyo, leader
of the rebel guerillas.

Victor will offer the group accomodations for the night
and can sell them, at less than the usual inflated price, any
supplies they may carry.

VICTOR MONTAIN

Of French nationality, Victor has been in South America for near-
ly 18 years, the last ten as the owner of the trading post in Huan-
cucho. Victor was arrested in France in 1909 on charges of coun-
terfeiting and forgery, and sentenced to Devil’s Isiand. The clever
Victor jumped the prison ship and spent several years in Brazil
running a small cargo boat on the Amazon before making his way

to Peru. Finding himself in Huancucho, Victor married and built
the trading post that has supported him since. Up until lately, Vic-
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tor has felt secure that the Peruvian government has no interest in
his criminal record.

Until he began aiding Melvin Peale in supplying the local rebels
with guns. Peale offered him substantial amounts of cash in return
for his aid, but what prompted Victor to cooperate was the veiled
threat of exposure to the Peruvian government. Victor has lately
grown aware that the government may suspect the trading post
as a possible rebel meeting place and he grows more nervous
each day.

Victor can fill the group in on local details and color, but will
not reveal his connection with the rebels. He knows nothing of the
activities of Harris and the Fungi other than an inaccurate version
of the “Ghost" legend, which he does not believe.

If Victor is introduced to the investigators as an old family
friend, he will likely feel a responsibility to them and do his best
to warn them of the dangers of the area without implicating him-
self, 1f the investigators are in serious danger and Victor feels he
can aid them, he may choose to risk it all in the name of friend-
ship. Victor has always chosen to stay away from violence, prefer-
ring to bilk the rich with his charm and personality. In other
words, he is basically a nice guy.

Beside his normal supplies, Victor also trades in shrunken
heads and other artifacts imported from the Amazon region to sell
to bored miners. Tucked away with these items is a ‘‘treasure
map’’ that Victor brought to Huancucho years ago. This map, pur-
chased from a trader on the Amazon, tells of a great treasure
found high in the mountains of Peru; a great idol, carved out of
solid gold and ornamented with gems. Convinced that he was soon
to make his fortune, Victor found the idol, only to discover that it
was made of stone and had no jewels set into it. Disappointed,
Victor settled in Huancucho to live out the remainder of his years

6°

with his wife, This idol is the Alter of Yig and has almost been for-
gotten by Victor, who may or may not mention it to the group
voluntarily.

Victor is in his late fifties, gray and balding, and overweight.
He is usually dressed in a rumpled, slightly soiled, white suit

and hat.
STR 10 CON 14 S1Z 15 INT 15 POW 12
DEX 8 APP 13 SAN 40 EDU 15 HP 15

SKILLS: Read/Write French 100%; Read/Write English 75%;
Speak English 75%; Speak Quechua 60%; Bargain 90%; Credit
Rating 70%; Oratory 50%.

VICTOR'S WIFE

Victor’s wife is a full-blooded Indian, born and raised in Huancu-
cho. She does most of the work around the trading post while Vic-
tor orders her around in Quechua. She speaks no English, but if
the party manages to communicate, she will be able to provide the
most accurate version of the “Ghost’’ legend to be found.

STR 13 CON 14 SiZ8 INT 9 POW 10
DEX 11 APP 9 SAN 50 EDU 4 HP 11
SKILLS: Speak Spanish 20%; Speak French 20%; Occult (local
only) 60%.

PERUVIAN ARMY

Twice a week, a group of soldiers patrol the road to Huancucho.
This group consists of three men and a sergeant in a jeep or small
truck. The government is aware of the Goyo's local activities, and
have lately begun to suspect Victor’s trading post. They are as yet
unaware of NWI's involvement. If the investigators should ap-
proach the government with facts incriminating NWI, the army
wifl move in quickly to investigate. Unfortunately, many of the
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soldiers patrolling this area have been bribed by Peale. If the inves-
tigators approach one of the patrols with their information, there
is an excellent chance (50%) that this group is on the take. If so,
they will immediately report the investigator's activities to Peale
who will take steps to eliminate them.

The Trail to the Mine

Steep and rocky, the trail to the mine site is so vague at
times that traversing without the aid of a guide is almost
impossible. Once the investigators have used the trail, they
will have no trouble finding it again. It is only twelve
miles to the mine, but the steepness of the trail, the scar-
city of oxygen, and the balky llamas the investigators will
need if they bring supplies, will all lead to a late arrival at
the camp.

If the investigators are smart, they will have hired Vic-
tor’s brother-in-law Sancho to guide them. Sancho’s fam-
ily is pure Indian, and this, along with his insatiable curi-
osity, makes him a gold mine of information. See charac-
ter stats for details of this knowledge.

SANCHO

This is the younger brother of Victor’s wife and the most modern-
ized native in the village. His goal is to save up a stake and then
head out for Lima to make his fortune. To this end Sancho will do
practically anything to make money, and is a hard bargainer. He
probably knows more about what is going on in the village and the
surrounding countryside than anyone, and will part with this in-
formation for a price. He will want $10 to hire llamas and guide
the party to the mine. Most tidbits of information go for $5 each,
but he can be Bargained down,

Besides occasionally working for Victor in the trading post or
helping with supplies to the mine, Sancho also acts as Goyo's spy
in the village, reporting back immediately any information that
would interest the rebel leader. Sancho is not politically oriented,
but he fears Goyo. Sancho is aware that the rebel’s guns are com-
ing from NWI, but has told no one. Sancho knows the location of
the rebel hideout.

If the investigators ask Sancho if he would guide them deeper
into the mountains, he will refuse, saying that the primitive In-
dians that live near the peaks despise lowlanders, and capture and
torture intruders. The only place that Sancho is willing to guide
them is the Altar of Yig. He does not know its location, but if the
investigators have Victor's map, he will lead them there. When
Sancho was a boy, Victor would tell the story of his treasure map
and how he discovered a golden idol dripping with jewels high in
the mountains, This story stuck with the young boy. To this day
he believes the treasure exists. He may suggest that the investiga-
tors purchase the map from Victor (he wants $100 for it) and to-
gether they discover the idol and split the treasure found there.
Victor may deny the treasure exists, but Sancho is convinced that
Victor is lying to keep it for himself.

STR 12 CON 12 SiZ9 INT 14 POW 11
DEX 14 APP 15 SAN 55 EDU 8 HP 11

SKILLS: Speak Quechua 85%:; Speak Spanish 56%: Speak French
20%; Speak English 25%; Bargain 55%; Climb 90%; Jump 80%;
Ride 85%.

Anytime the investigators are on this trail, the keeper may
provide encounters as he sees fit. These would include reb-
els, militant Indians, unfriendly wildlife, or a large pit
viper. Sancho will state that such snakes are annoyingly
common in these regions.

The Mine Camp

Surrounded by a high, barbed-wire fence and continually
patrolled by a pair of armed guards, the camp is com-
prised of several wooden buildings perched on a small pla-
teau on the side of the mountain. The guards are able to
see anyone approaching from the trail, and will have the
gates open to allow the party to enter as soon as they ar-
rive. Once inside the compound, a guard will introduce
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himself and then escort the group to the administration
building to meet Mr, Harris, head of the mine. As the in-
vestigators walk across the compound they will see, far-
ther up the mountain, tiny figure§ operating gleaming
machinery at the actual mining site. Binoculars will show
that these men are also guarded by uniformed riflemen.

The administration building, like all the others in the
compound, is an unpainted, wooden structure showing
signs of modular construction. Other buildings include
two large barracks for the miners along with a smaller
building intended for visitors, a kitchen and mess hall, and
several buildings used for the storage of equipment and
supplies. A small shed contains a generator used to supply
electricity to the camp. At night, the compound is bright-
ly lit by floodlights powered by this generator. The group
will be shown into the administration building and will
meet Johnathan Harris in his office.

Assuming the investigators have a good cover story for
their presence, Johnathan Harris will be friendly and will-
ing to accomodate the investigators. The visitor’s barracks
are presently empty. However, Harris expects a group of
executives from NWI to arrive sometime in the near future
and at that time the investigators will have to find other
lodgings elsewhere. (This is untrue. Harris will use this ex-
cuse to evict the investigators if their presence should
prove inconvenient. Short of camping in the mountains,
there is no other place to stay.) Harris is used to visiting
scientific groups and should have no particular reason to
suspect the investigators. He may try to get more informa-
tion on them, but communications are slow, and getting
the message to the states via Lima will take several days.

Harris will caution the group about traveling alone in
the upper slopes of the mountain; the local Indians are ex-
tremely hostile and lately have managed to obtain some ri-
fles. They will shoot a white man on sight. There are also
rebels in the hills, though he does not feel that they pose
as great a threat.

If asked about the actual NWI mining operation, Harris
will offer them a guided tour of the site, located a half-
mile up the mountain. If they accept, Harris will show
them how the experimental equipment, developed by an-
other branch of NWI, carefully temoves the surface sail,
extracts the precious metals found in it, and then replaces
the soil, all in one operation. Harris is well-versed in com-
pany policy and public relations.

JOHNATHAN HARRIS

Harris is a tall, good-looking man in hig late thirties, tanned and
hardened by his years as a mine engineer. Recently hired by NWI
to head up this operation, he is highly qualified but his past affilia-
tion with the Fungi was the major reason for choosing him,

Harris first came in contact with the Fungi several years ago
while on vacation in Vermont. He consented to act as their agent
and operated until contacted by Hauptman and hired by NWi{,
Harris is not a true member of the Brotherhood and is considered
expendable. He has not been told of the Day of the Beast.

Harris is always slightly suspicious of strangers, but he is so
busy, and communication with the rest of the world so difficult,
that he will probably not question the arrival of the investigators
unless they tip their hand.

About twice a week, with the aid of Peale and the guards, Har-
ris slips out of camp at night to travel to sector A-48 and oversees
the operation of the Fungi. If Harris should discover what the
group is up to, he will not hesitate to eliminate them, engineering
it to look as though they were killed by Indians. He always straps
on his 45 revolver before leaving his office.

STR 14 CON 16 S1Z 15 INT 16 POW 11
DEX 12 APP 13 SAN O EDU 18 HP 16



The Fungi Papers 7
Letter from Johnathan Harris to Edward Chandler.

Dear Sir:

SKILLS: Speak Spanish 25%; Chemistry 25%; Cthulhu Mythos
50%, Geology 95%; .45 Revolver 50%.
SPELLS: Contact Fungi.

The administration building is a treasure-trove of informa-
tion, but unfortunately, is usually occupied during the
day and kept locked at night. The outside door has a resis-
tance STR of 24, and should the investigators attempt to
break it down, the noise will alert the patrolling guards.
Once inside, the investigators will find that Harris’s office
and Peale’s office are always locked when they are out,
while the door to the doctor’s office is always unlocked.
These doors are of lighter construction than the exterior
door and have a STR of 8.

Harris’s office contains a desk and a locked filing cabi-
net. An examination of the contents of the desk will re-
veal a set of geological survey maps made over two years
ago. The maps indicate that a number of different sites
were tested before the present location was decided upon.
One of the areas shown on the map, sector A-48, is mark-
ed with a star. Also in the desk is a first draft of a letter
written by Harris. See the Fungi Papers 7.

If the filing cabinet is opened, it will be found to con-
tain the business records for the mine. A successful Ac-
counting roll will tell the investigators that although the
operation is now producing at maximum efficiency, it is
still losing a phenomenal amount of money every day. In
another drawer, the investigators will find a stack of ship-
ping bills of lading bound with a rubber band. These bills
all pertain to a material called Blue John, small quantities
of which have been shipped to an address in San Francisco
over the past year. This address is proceeded by two
Chinese characters. A Read Chinese roll will translate the
characters as Lang-Fu, while a Geology roll will reveal on-
ly that Blue John is an extremely rare mineral. Only one
site—in England—is previously known of.

In the security office, the investigators will find anoth-
er desk and filing cabinet similar to Harris’s along with a
locked gun case containing ten rifles, six .45 revolvers,
and ample ammunition. The filing cabinet is unlocked and
contains duty rosters and other military-styled paperwork.
In the desk, the investigators will find a set of keys to the
gun cabinet as well as most of the locks found at the mine
site. The only exception is Harris’s filing cabinet. Along
with the keys, the investigators will also discover a brief
note. It reads: “V.M.: G. is to rcv. 2 rifles.—M.P.” (This
note is intended for Victor and indicates how many rifles

Please be advised that the operation in sector A-48 is ahead of schedule and nearing
completion. Dismantling of the operation will begin soon and a reduction of activity at the
NWI site will also begin soon. Our allies from Y. appear to be happy with the future
arrangements made for them in your plans. I believe that all will go well.

Ia Shub-Niggurath,
J. Harris

from the next shipment can be safely diverted to Goyo
and the rebels.)

The doctor’s office consists of two rooms. One is for
records and such, while the other serves as a well-stocked
emergency hospital. A careful search of the patient rec-
ords (Library Use) will reveal that two miners have recent-
ly died from snake bite. The incidents occurred over the
space of a week, but both men were apparently bitten
dozens of times and died quickly. It seems that both men
had chosen to take a walk outside of the compound in the
evening and never returned. Their bodies were found the
next morning by the guards, the flesh swollen and black-
ened. Only the doctor, Harris, Peale, and the four guards
who made the grim discoveries are aware of the truth. The
company is suppressing the details, telling the miners that
their comrades were shot by Indians while at the same
time trying to minimize any publicity stemming from the
event. A successful Oratory with any of the workers will
elicit the rumor that the men were not killed by Indians.
Nothing else is known, and the source of the rumor can-
not be traced. The others are sworn to secrecy and only
the doctor, subject to a successful Debate roll, can be per-
suaded to discuss the incidents.

The heat and distance involved made shipping the
bodies home impractical and they were buried in a far cor-
ner of the compound, marked with small head stones. If
the bodies are exhumed, it will be obvious that they died
of something other than gunshot wounds. Anyone versed
in zoology or medicine will be able to know the cause of
death of after a quick examination.

MINERS

These men have signed contracts with NWI obligating them to a
year's work at which time it may be renewed. Most of the men
possess some engineering skills as most of the work involves the
operating of special equipment. Little traditional mining is done
The men are well-paid but the confinement and boredom feads to
occasional confrontations.

Left uneasy by the mysterious deaths of their two co-workers,
there is a fearful air about the workers. If an Oratory is rotled
while speaking with one of the men, he may reveal his fears and
mention that Harris continues with his late night walks even
though the men are restricted to the camp after sunset.

Dead Indians

The first morning in camp, the investigators will awake to
find everyone at the mine noticeably subdued in their
manner. It will not take long for the investigators to find
out that one of the miners is missing. At this very mo-
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ment, Peale and four of his guards are searching the sur-
rounding countryside for some sign of the man. All work
has been suspended and everyone is presently confined to
the compound.

About 10 am, Peale and the guards will return bearing
the bodies of two Indians, killed by the guards. Everyone
in camp will crowd about the bodies, anxious for a look,
and in the resulting confusion, no one will notice one of
the guards carrying a blanket-wrapped object into the ad-
ministration building. If an investigator should make a
Spot Hidden roll, he will notice the guard and see, where
the blanket has fallen away, that he is carrying two rifles,
presumably those taken from the Indians. If the investiga-
tor asks, he will recognize the weapons as identical to the
arms carried by the guards. (These are some rifles stolen
by the Indians from the rebels. Peale does not want these
rifles to be connected with NW1.)

MELVIN PEALE

Peale is the head of security for the mine and was chosen for this
position because of his loyalty. He agrees with the political tam-
pering conducted by NWI in this area and has done all he can to
help the cause. Peale would not allow himself to be employed in a
capacity that did not agree with his politics, however. He is totally
unaware of NWI's connections with beings of the Mythos or of
their plans for global domination, and would be revolted by either.

Told only that he would be responsible for security of the
mine in addition to supplying the rebels, Peale signed an oath of
loyalty to NWI. He greatly admires Edward Chandler. The Broth-
erhood considers Peale expendable,

Peale assembled his security force of 16 men from mercenary
soldiers and other professionals. They are well-paid and have a
great amount of respect for Peale’s intelligence and ability. Peale
runs the force as a military unit; the guards, as well as himself,
must wear uniforms whenever on duty, and must obey strict mili-
tary discipline. Inspections are common.

It is possible that Peale could be convinced by the investigators
that Harris up to no good, but he is so stubborn that to do so will
require both a Debate roll followed by an Oratory roll, as well as
incontrovertible hard evidence, to get him to act against NWI, Fail-
ing either roll or lacking evidence will cause Peale to seriously con-
sider action against the investigators. Remember, Peale has sworn
loyaity to NWI,

STR 15 CON 16 SIZ 10 INT 15 POW 12
DEX 16 APP 9 SAN 25 EDU 14 HP 13
SKILLS: Listen 60%; Psychology 25%; Spot Hidden Object 76%;
Track 60%; Hide 75%; Move Quietly 80%; Oratory 65%; Pistol
65%; Rifle 80%; Debate 30%.

SECURITY GUARDS

All top-flight men and dedicated to their commander, Melvin
Peale, they are willing to engage in conversation with any investi-
gator, but will reveal nothing of importance and will report any-
thing the investigator may have said to Peale. The only thing that
could affect the loyalty of these guards is a direct confrontation
with a Cthulhoid event.

The sixteen men are presently on an eight-hours-on, eight-
hours-off duty schedule. Two guards are always assigned to duty
patrolling inside the fence of the compound, while four men stand
guard at the actual mining site to prevent sabotage by Indians. The
site is lit at night by floodlights powered by the generator in camp.
The remaining two men are assigned to Peale and accompany him
on forays or trips to Huancucho.

Assume all guards have same stats.

STR 15 CON 16 SiZ 14 INT 10 POW 10
DEX 15 APP 9 SAN 35 EDU 8 HP 15
SKILLS: Track 75%; Spot Hidden 65%; Camouflage 50%; Move
Quietly 65%; Knife 60%; Pistol 75%; Rifle 86%.

A successful Anthropology roll while viewing the bodies
of the Indians will reveal them to be of the Huari culture.
One of the men is adorned with a substantial amount of
primitive jewelry and his head is quite misshapen. A suc-
cessful Anthropology roll will tell the investigator that
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this is not an uncommon practice among the Indians of
the area. However, a successful Cthulhu Mythos roll will
show that he bears the taint of Yig.

A wooden tablet, taken from around the neck of one
Indian will be shown to the investigators. It is covered
with pictographs used by the Huaris and the bottom por-
tion is missing, shot away by the same bullet that killed
the Indian. A successful Anthropology roll, combined
with a Linguistics roll, will translate the tablet.

If no investigator expresses an interest in the tablet, it
will be given to Lawrence Richards, the camp doctor and
an amateur archaeologist and anthropologist, who will ef-
fect a successful translation. The tablet contains an invo-
cation to Yig.

DR. LAWRENCE RICHARDS

The camp physician is a young man in his early thirties. He is inno-
cent of any knowledge of wrong-doing on the part of NWI or its
employees. His only suspicions revolve around the mysterious
snake-bite deaths of the two miners. He has agreed to remain quiet
about the deaths until the company reaches a decision.

Richards originally applied for this job both because it paid
well, and because its location would allow him to indulge his ama-
teur interests, archaeology and anthropology. It is this knowledge
that makes him suspect the primitive Indians are involved in the
deaths of the men. Given the chance, Richards can accurately
translate the pictographs found on the wooden tablet.

A successful Oratory will get Richards to talk about the miner
deaths, and the investigators could enlist him as an ally if the truth
of the situation is revealed to him.

STR 10 CON 11 SiZ 10 INT 17 POW 14
DEX 12 APP 14 SAN 70 EDU 21 HP 11

SKILLS: Read/Write Latin 45%; Anthropology 25%; Archaeology
26%: Chemistry 20%; Pharmacy 20%; First Aid 95%; Treat Disease
95%; Treat Poison 80%; Diagnose Disease 95%.

THE MILITANT INDIANS

The Huari are primitive worshippers of Yig and have lived in these
mountains since before the Incas. The speak their own language
and the tribe has avoided contact with outside groups for cen-
turies., They have recently been aroused by the fulfillment of an
ancient legend, and because of this have harassed against the
mining camp. The Indians have avoided the Fungi out of fear, be-
lieving the “The Ghost that Walks'' will come soon to destroy the
spirits of the mountain.

No Indians appear in this scenario except for the two slain by
the security guards. One was responsible for Summoning the
Children of Yig that killed the two miners. The keeper may wish
to supply an encounter with the indians when the investigators are
in the field.

Sector A-48

This area has been devastated by the earthquakes of the
past year and huge portions of the Earth’s crust have been
lifted up, nearly verticle, to expose the underlying strata.

In the daytime, all will be quiet, maybe a little too
quiet. A Zoology roll will indicate an unnatural scarcity of
wildlife. A Geology roll will the investigators that there is
something unnatural about the way sections of the earth
have been thrown up; in the way they have been toss-
ed about.

A second Spot Hidden directed at the exposed rock
will show traces of careful mining activity seemingly cen-
tered around a thin, blue strip of strata. A Geology roll
will indicate that this strip is approximately 70 million
years old. If samples of this strip are obtained and tested
(there are ample facilities at the mine camp), they will be
found to contain traces of a heretofore unknown com-
pound Blue John. A Spot Hidden directed at the ground
will reveal traces of odd footprints. A Cthulhu Mythos
roll or previous experience with the Fungi from Yuggoth
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will reveal that these prints belong to the Fungi. A Track
roll will allow the investigators to follow the strange foot-
prints a quarter of a mile up the mountain to the hidden
cave of the Mi-Go.

If the investigators approach the area at night, they will
hear the whir of the strange machinery they are operating.
The occasional sound of a human voice can also be heard.
Approaching cautiously, the first investigator will step
through a small dip and as he comes up the other side will
find himself suddenly atop a small rise about fifty feet
from the Mi-Go. He should realize that his is outlined
against the sky in full view of those below, and if the in-
vestigator makes a Dodge or Hide roll, he will be able to
throw himself to the ground without been seen—if he does
not go insane at the sight.

From a prone position, the invesitagor will be able to
see eight Fungi operating two unusual pieces of machinery
under the direction of Johnathan Harris. If the investiga-
tor goes insane or fails his Dodge or Hide roll, he will be
spotted by Harris and the Mi-Go. Two of these Mi-Go are
armed with small weapons of their own design while Har-
ris has a .45 revolver in his holster.

THE FUNGI

These creatures are extremely careful about being seen, and if they
become aware that their existence is known to the investigators,
they will bend every effort to capture them. This will be done in a
manner to avoid witnesses and will most likely occur while the
group is in the field. The Fungi will attempt to capture the group
alive, transport them to the Moon and remove their brains for
shipment to Yuggoth. If the investigators’ resistance is too strong,
they will try to kil them and dispose of the bodies, leaving Harris
to explain their disappearance as best he can.
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Mi-Go Cave

Hidden high in the mountains is the secret cave of the
Mi-Go. The mouth of the cave is quite large, and if the in-
vestigators make a Spot Hidden roll while near the en-
trance, they will notice marks among some Fungi tracks
that look as if they were made by runner; as though some-
thing heavy had been dragged in or out of the cave.

This cave penetrates one hundred feet and if an investi-
gator makes a Geology roll while inside, he will realize
that it has been made by artificial means. The cave ends
abruptly in a flat, smooth wall covered with odd patterns.
Anyone knowing the spells Create Gate will recognize
them as integral to that spell. Parked nearby are two dull
metal machines mounted on runners. The machines are of
an odd design, but if an investigator makes a Geology roll,
he will be able to determine that they could be used for
the extraction or processing of minerals.

The back wall of the cave is a Gate created by the Fun-

Mi-Go Weapon

An odd-shaped piece of gray metal, it looks like a cluster of
metal bubbles and glass spines. It shoots an intense visible
beam of cold that causes 208 points of damage at a basic
range of twenty yards. The beam is slow and a successful
Dodge roll will allow an investigator to avoid it if he does
nothing else that round.

This is a small weapon designed for sentries and holds
only twelve charges. An untrained human will have a basic
chance of only 10%.
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gi to allow them quick travel between the ancient mines in
the Andes and a small colony living in trunnels below the
surface of the moon. Passing through this Gate will cost
an investigator 5 Magic Points.

The Moon Colony

If the investigators go through the Gate, they will be un-
prepared for the sudden change of gravity as they step
through, causing them to bounce uncontrollably and
stumble when they come through to the other side.
Each round, the investigators may try to make a roll of
DEXx1% to bring themselves under control. Once under
control, the investigators will not need to make further
DEX checks, but many physical actions may impaired and
insane investigators may still not be able to control their
actions under these circumstances.

As the investigators step through the Gate, they will be
met by an unarmed Mi-Go. This creature is not a guard,
but just happens to be in the area. It will take advantage
of the investigators’ unfamiliarity with the low gravity to
try to either destroy a small party or flee a large one,
scuttling out the corridor and in the direction of the
Mi-Go Surgery.

Once the Fungi has been dispatched, or fled the scene,
the investigators will be able to examine their surround-
ings more carefully. The small chamber they are in is
carved from solid rock, showing the evidence of glazing
from intense heat. The floor is covered with smooth,
white ceramic tiles. The small corridor leading from the
room is also tiled, and pentagonal in cross-section. A
quick Geology check will show the composition of this
rock to be radically different from that found in Peru.
The small, dim passageway travels about 150 yards before
intersecting a broader, well-lit corridor at a right angle to
the smaller. Looking to the left, the investigators will see
this broad corridor travel fifty yards before turning to the
right where the floor rises in a gradual incline. From this
direction the party can hear a deep, throbbing sound, like
the rhythm of machinery.

If the investigators turn left, they will find that after
the hall turns, it ends suddenly in a pair of doors fitted
with small windows and glows phosphorescently with a
strange pattern of lights (the Mi-Go symbol for *Sur-
gery”). If a Listen roll is made at the door, the investiga-
tor will hear the Mi-Go inside, hard at work. The doors
will screen any noise made by the investigators, and if an
investigator can make a Hide roll, he can peek into one of
the small, crystal windows without being seen.

Inside this room is a group of four Mi-Go working in a
room about forty-feet square. If the investigator remains
sane, he will see that the opposite wall contains a set of
doors identical to those that he stands at, while along the
left wall is a row of shiny metal cylinders hung with tags.
Another of these odd containers stands on a table near the
center of the room and is connected to an electrical device
by means of several wires. Near this is a plastic slab on a
pedestal, and on the slab rests the missing miner, the top
of his head neatly sliced off revealing an empty skull, de-
void of brain. The investigator will be required to make
another SAN roll or lose 1D4 points.

If the investigators should manage to gain entry to this
room, they will find that the tags on five of the cylinders
are marked while three are blank. (A marked tag indicates
that the cylinder contains a prepared brain and identifies
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it. The unmarked tags denote empty cylinders.) A Mech-
anical Repair roll is needed to open one of the containers.
If the tag on the chosen cylinder is blank, the investigator
will find a dry, empty cylinder. If he chooses a marked
tag, however, he will find the cylinder to contain a living
human brain, floating in a thick liquid and attached to the
container with several small wires. The investigator must
succeed in a SAN roll or lose 1D3 points.

If the nearby machine is examined while making an
Electrical Repair roll, the investigator will know how to
turn it on. If the investigators turn the machine on, they
can converse with the brain of the missing miner, now
contained in the nearby cylinder. The ordeal has left the
man insane. Between the shrieks and incoherent cries, he
will tell the investigators how he became suspicious of
Harris and followed him one night to sector A-48. Here he
discovered Harris to be in league with horrible creatures
that issued from the mouth of a cave in the mountain. He
was discovered and captured by the Mi-Go. When he
awoke he found himself in the dark and without sound,
not even his own voice. He cannot move and does not
understand what has happend to him; he will plead with
the investigators to help him escape his prison. Rescue is
impossible and anyone listening to the pathetic wailings of
the man will have to roll their SAN or lose 1D3 points just
out of empathy. The best they can do for him is to put
him out of his misery.

The double doors on the other side of the room open
into a network of corridors and any investigator choosing
to explore this part of the colony will find more and more
Mi-Go the farther they travel.

If the investigators walk toward the throbbing sound
coming from the right, they will walk approximately
two-hundred yards up the inclined floor until it opens
ahead on a vast, circular chamber of natural rock, lit from
above by a soft, blue-green light. From the investigators’
vantage point, about fifty feet from the opening, they are
unable to see down to the floor of the chamber, but look-
ing across will see that the half-mile wide chamber is open
to the sky; a pitch-black sky, sprinkled with thousands of
stars. The far edge of the chamber is rimined by & curving
wall of jagged rock, and rising above this wall, the investi-
gators will see suspended in the sky a large blue-green
planet, the source of the light. A closer look and the inves-
tigators will be able to recognize the oceans and conti-
nents of the planet Earth. If they have not figured it out
earlier, the investigators will now realize that they are on
the Moon, and the passage they are in is leading to the lip
of a lunar crater on the surface. The realization will re-
quire a SAN throw or loss of 1D8 points.

The humming, throbbing sound is coming from the
floor of the crater. A successful Cthulhu Mythos roll will
reveal that it is an attempt to Call some type of being. The
investigators may wish to approach for a closer view, and
this can be easily accomplished due to the fact that the
upward sloping floor effectively hides them from the sight
of the creatures far below on the bottom of the crater.
Overhead, the investigators will be unable to determine
what maintains the atmosphere within the crater field or
transparent dome, but they will notice that the walls of
the crater are dotted with cave mouths similar to the one
they are in. As the investigators watch, an occasional pink
form will emerge from one of the distant caves and either
glide or scramble down the winding trails that lead to the



crater floor. Carefully looking over the edge to the bot-
tom of the crater, the investigators will be repelled by the
sight of over a thousand Fungi and at least a hundred hu-
mans hopping and wriggling over one another in front of a
giant, plastic altar. Viewing this scene will call for a suc-
cessful SAN roll or a loss of 6 points. A successful roll will
still cause a loss of 1D6 points. A daring investigator may
continue to watch the ceremony taking place before him.
If he does, he will find his nose suddenly assaulted by the
smell of a freshly-opened grave and before his eyes will see
the sprawling, black, ropy form of Shub-Niggurath, the
Goat with a Thousand Young. Any loud screams or gun-
fire will attract the attention of those below who will im-
mediately come to investigate.

The Rebel Hideout

The most likely way to discover the location of this place
is through Sancho, and that will be tough. How the inves-
tigators get this from him will be left to the keeper. If the
investigators should approach the area, they will find it to
consist of a network of small caves located beneath an
overhang of rock. There are two rebels on guard at all
times. They are armed with NWI rifles and very suspicious
of any strangers. They will shoot first and ask questions
later. Any investigator captured in the area will be sum-
marily executed as trespassers and/or spies.

GOYO

A former bandit, this man is now inflamed with the dream of revo-
lution. He is totally dedicated to his cause and will let nothing
stand in the way. He will not purposely harm the investigators, but
if Sancho tells him that the investigators are hauling explosives or
a quantity of weapons up the trail, he will certainly ambush and
rob them. If the investigators surrender the goods, he will remain
fairly polite and friendly, but he has a quick temper and if insult-
ed, may shoot off an investigator’s finger or worse.

Goyo, always suspicious, has trailed Harris to sector A-48 and
witnessed the man's dealings with the Fungi. He is terrified by
what he saw, but is undecided as to what to do as he fears disrupt-
ing his supply of weapons from NWI. Goyo may be persuaded to
act against Harris, but only if he can be made to understand the
terrible magnitude of the situation. He also knows of the Altar
of Yig.

STR 15 CON 17 SIZ 16 INT 15 POW 14
DEX 16 APP 16 SAN 55 EDU 10 HP 17
SKILLS: Speak English 50%; Speak Spanish 75%; Speak Quechua
65%; First Aid 75%; Make Map 60%; Listen 65%; Psychology 75%;
Hide 75%; Move Quietly 75%; Pick Pocket 75%; Debate 45%; Ora-
tory 80%; Knife 90%; Pistol 85%; Rifle 90%.

THE REBELS
There are 25 of these men, varying in loyalty to their leader. A
few share the revolutionary fervor of Goyo, while most consider
themselves no more than bandits.

Assume they all have same stats:

STR 15 CON 14 SIZ 14 INT 10 POW 10
DEX 14 APP 10 SAN 45 EDU 3 HP 14

SKILLS: Hide 55%; Move Quietly 65%; Pick Pocket 55%; Knife
75%; Pistol 80%; Rifle 70%.

If the caves are entered and searched, papers will confirm
Peale and NWI as the suppliers of the rebel’s weapons. The
Peruvian government would be very interested in this evi-
dence to say the least.

The Altar of Yig

Hidden among the rocky crags stands an ancient, stone
edifice nearly twelve feet high. It is carved from a single
block of stone and decorated with entwined serpents. The
center of the altar is commanded by a huge head, half-
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man, half-serpent, with slitted eyes and a gaping mouth
baring curved fangs and a forked tongue. Below the head,
carved into the rock, are strange pictographs, similar to
the ones found on the wooden tablet that was taken from
the body of the Indian. Viewing this hideous object will
require a SAN roll or loss of 1 point.

A Spot Hidden roll will reveal fairly recent footprints
made by Indians around the altar. A successful Archaeol-
ogy or Anthropology roll will allow the investigator to tell
that this altar was built by the Huaris, an Indian tribe that
pre-dates the Incas. A successful Cthulhu Mythos will re-
veal that the altar is devoted to the snake-god Yig. This
monument has the ability to enhance certain spells cast
within its presence. A Summon Child of Yig spell cast at
the altar will cause 10x1D10 Children of Yig to suddenly
erupt from the mouth of the stone head, forming a carpet
of living serpents about the feet of the caster and his com-
panions, and causing a loss of 1D10 points to all who fail
their SAN roll. The Children will harm no one that does
not harm them, except at the behest of a priest of Yig or
under the influence of some spell.

A contact Yig spell cast at the site will bring the same
carpet of snakes along with Yig himself.

YIiG

The Father of Serpents has held sway in this area for centuries and
resents the intrusion of outsiders. He has told his Huari worship-
ers to defend their land against the outsiders, and it is Yig who is
the source of the legend of ‘'The Ghost that Walks.”

If the investigators dare to Contact Yig, the Great Old One will
enlist the investigators to aid in the destruction of the NWI facil-
ity and the Fungi. The terms will run something like this: If the in-
vestigators do exactly as he says, he will not have them immediate-
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Summon Child of Yig

This spell acts as a normal Summons and may only be cast
in an area where Yig’s worship is found, or has been strong
within the last few hundred years. The Child suddenly coils
about the caster’s leg without warning, and causes a loss of
1D4 SAN points is the caster misses his SAN roll.

Bind Child of Yig

This spell conforms with the Binding spells described in the
Call of Cthulhu rulebook. If this Binding spell is not proper-
ly cast upon a Summoned Child, it may suddenly coil up
the caster’s leg and bite.

ly killed by hundreds of venomous snakes.

Investigators kneeling with face pointed to the ground when
Contacting Yig will not have to see him and will only be required
to roll SAN for the accompanying carpet of snakes. Any failure on
the part of an investigator to do as instructed will result in his be-
ing visited by a Child of Yig. He will try to teach each investigator
the spells Summon Child of Yig and Bind Child of Yig (an Idea
roll on the part of the recipients will allow them to actually learn
the spells).

“THE GHOST THAT WALKS'’

This man’s name is Ngansa and he is a Montagnais Indian from the
sub-arctic Canada. He has journeyed, on foot, to South America
because he has been made psychically aware of the presence of the
Fungi. He has dealt with these creatures before in northern Ver-
mont where he encountered Johnathan Harris in league with the
Fungi. Ngansa’s forefathers were also destined to confront these
beings and he bears with him an ancient staff, used many times
against the Fungi.

This Indian is over 100-years old and looks it—though he is still
healthy. He has painted his body with a sticky, white paste that
gives him a ghost-like appearance, and if he should surprise an in-
vestigator by suddenly stepping out from behind something (as he
usually does), the investigator will have to roll SAN or lose
1D2 points.

This mystical shaman may enlist the aid of the investigators if
he feels they can help him, but he will not tolerate any interfer-
ence with his goal, destroying any who stand in his way. His inten-
tion is to Call Cthugha, using the monster to destroy the Mi-Go
cave and the Gate that it contains. After this, he will turn Cthugha
against the NWI mine, burning it to the ground.

Ngansa has no connection with Yig, though the Great Old One
was able to predict his coming.

STR 14 CON 18 SiZ 12 INT 18 POW 20
DEX 18 APP 16 SAN 69 EDU 20 HP 15
SKILLS: Speak French 25%; Speak English 15%; Cthulhu Mythos
20%, Listen 90%; Spot Hidden Object 80%; Track 95%; Hide
100%; Move Quietly 100%.

ARMOR: The paste that Ngansa has smeared on himself is a spe-
cial mixture that he has prepared himself. It serves to repel Fungi,
who are allergic to it. The material is toxic to the Mi-Go's alien
biology and induces an extremely painful burning sensation on
contact. The paste will also provide some protection from the in-
tense heat generated by Cthugha.

SPELLS: Call Cthugha, Call ithagua.

Staff of Ngansa

This piece of carved oak, five-feet Ior;g and covered with
symbols, is centuries old and has been possessed by Ngan-
sa's family for generations. If properly done, the staff will
increase chances of success to 95% for the spells Call
Cthugha and Call Ithaqua. It doubles chances for success in
Dismissing those deities.

If Ngansa should be mortally wounded in this adven-
ture, he will attempt to pass the staff to one of the investi-
gators, probably the investigator he perceives to be most
honest. Ngansa would normally pass this possession on to a
son or grandson, but has no surviving family. Acceptance of
this gift by the individual will cause him to develop a psy-
chic bond with the staff. When the staff is “willed” to a
new owner, the owner will immediately become aware of
the powers of the staff along with a knowledge of the spells
needed to power it. The investigator will also receive the
same psychic awareness of the Mi-Go that brought Ngansa
to this place. The investigator may find himself a ““slave’’ to
a staff that continually drives him to seek out the Fungi
and destroy them,

Keeper’s note: No arrival time is set for Ngansa, it will be up to
the individual keeper to decide upon his role in this scenario. He
may serve to help or hinder the investigators, or even save a doom-
ed one, However, the keeper should not feel obligated to use him
at all if he does not wish to do so.

CONCLUSION

This scenario has a variety of possible conclusions, but the
most important information is the shipping bills for the
Blue John found in Harris’s filing cabinet. These contain
an address that the investigators will need to move on to
the next chapter. If they have missed this clue in their in-
vestigations, the keeper will have to see that it comes into
their possession by another means. A survivor of the
mine’s destruction will find it, or it could be provided by
Dr. Richards, or even a suspicious Peale, If this proves un-
feasible, the keeper can always resort to Paul LeMond to
put the investigators back on track.

Another important clue is the letter in Harris’s desk.
This is the first solid evidence linking Edward Chandler to
the Brotherhood. Up until this time, the group should
have only come across the name Edward in connection
with the Brotherhood. The investigators can easily find
that the name of the corporation’s head man is Edward
Chandler. Another investigator may remember the name
of Chandler in the Brotherhood’s book.

The last clue at the minesite is contained in the sign
mounted over the front gate to the mine. It announces
that this is an NWI company and contains the company
logo. It is the silhouette of a rampant, leonine beast. o
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The following two chapters differ slightly from the rest in
that they each contain a series of events that will take
place regardless of investigator actions. Both these chap-
ters move fairly quickly and will give the investigators an
opportunity to discover some of the sinister plots of the
Brotherhood, along with a chance to try to foil them.
Additionally, part II, which begins with a direct attack
on the investigators by an agent of the Brotherhood, can

be overlapped with part I any time beginning with the sec-
ond night the investigators are San Francisco. This can
prove very confusing to the investigators as clues start to
lead in two seemingly different directions, and this ap-
proach should only be used by an experienced keeper. If
run separately, part II should begin immediately with con-
clusion of part I.

SanFrancisco

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

The investigators should be in possession of the shipping
address found of the bills of lading in Johnathan Harris’s
filing cabinet in chapter V. These bills contain Chinese
characters, which can be read as ‘“Lang-Fu,” as part of
the address.

KEEPER’'S INFORMATION

The shipping address is that of a water-front warehouse in
San Francisco. Hired men working for Lang-Fu pick the
Blue John up and deliver it to a secret location in the city
where Lang-Fu oversees the manufacture of the special in-
cense that is being shipped all over the world. Lang-Fu is
the leader of an ancient cult of Deep Ones that originated
in China. He has nearly completed the processing of the
Blue John and is now making preparations to travel to
Egypt in anticipation of the Day of the Beast.

This chapter differs from previous ones in that it con-
tains a series of set events that will happen on a day-to-
day basis and will occur regardless of investigator actions,
though it is possible that the investigators might interfere
to the extent that the keeper may have to modify the
series of events. They are as follows:

Day 1: Investigators arrive in San Francisco, not far be-
hind the last shipment of Blue John from Peru.

Day 2: Blue John picked up by Lang-Fu’s men and deliv-
ered to secret laboratory below temple.

Day 3: Processing of final shipment of Blue John is com.
pleted and the material is delivered to the Rhon-Paku tem-
ple in Mexico City, Mexico. The laboratory is closed
down, equipment removed, and all (?) evidence destroyed.
Day 4: Lang-Fu and his cult perform ceremonies at Pearl
Beach. Lang-Fu departs for Egypt.

VL

By The Bay: Partl

The investigators follow the mysterious shipments of Blue John
from Peru to San Francisco.

GENERAL INFORMATION

If the investigators should choose to research Lang-Fu,
they will find the following information in the library, if
their Library Use rolls are successful:

1. Under History, the investigator will find mention of the
name in connection with an evil ruler of a southern prov-
ince of China in the 12th and 13th centuries. This Lang-
Fu was said to be a magician and held conversations with
a great creature from the sea. He was killed, and his fol-
lowers wiped out by Kublai Khan in 1264.

2. In the Occult section, investigators will discover the
name Lang-Fu in connection with the Thion-to-Hwir
(Heaven and Earth League), a mystical brotherhood of
Chinese intellectuals that is thought to have died out
in 1674.

If the investigators ask around on the streets of China-
town, they will be able to elicit one piece of information
per day if successful Speak Chinese and Oratory rolls are
made (keeper’s choice as to which piece of information
they receive).

1. Lang-Fu is the leader of a strange sect of Buddhists.

2. Lang-Fu is occasionally seen around town in a big,
black limousine.

3. Lang-Fu is linked to organized crime.

4. The address of the mysterious temple led by Lang-Fu.

5. Lang-Fu sometimes conducts outdoor ceremonies at a
deserted beach up the coast.

6. Lang-Fu is a physician who uses ancient medicines to
heal his patients.

SCENES:
The Warehouse
This is the shipping address south of Market Street that is
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contained on the bills of lading. The investigators will find
it to be an old waterfront warehouse with loading docks
on the street side. Inside, they will find a bored-looking
warehouseman leading on a counter behind a screened-in
area. There is a cold cigar butt stuck in his mouth.

The warehouseman is vague with information until the
investigators bribe him. He will ask for $10, but a success-
ful Bargain roli will bring him down to $5. He can tell the
investigators that “can o’ that stuff ’s been comin’ in one,
two atta time for most nearly a year now. Gets picked up
reg’lar by some Chinamen.” He will tell them that there
are a couple of cans in the back right now, but under no
circumstances can he allow unauthorized personnel into
the area; he could lose his job.

If a couple of investigators should choose to stakeout
the warehouse, they will see on the second day, a battered
truck with two Chinese men drive up to the loading dock.
One of the men will get out and walk with a slight lurch
into the building. A few minutes later, he will reappear on
the dock, rolling two metal cans into the back of the
truck. He will then sign the warehouseman’s receipt and
drive off with his companion.

If the investigators attempt to follow the truck, they
will have to be careful not to arouse suspicion. This will
require a successful Drive Automobile roll.

If the roll fails, the men in the truck will become aware
of the tail and will do everything they can to lose the in-
vestigators. Their driver’s skill is 35%. If they cannot
shake the investigators, they will most likely crash in the
attempt. If captured by the investigators or police, the
two men will refuse to talk.

If the investigators successfully tail the vehicle, it will
eventually turn down a narrow alley and stop at an un-
marked door. Here, the two men will unload the two
metal cans and roll them through the door. If the investi-
gators wait them out, they will reappear in about ten min-
utes and drive off. If the investigators continue to follow
them, they will find the men engaged in normal activities
for the rest of the day. If unmolested, these two men will
be seen again at Pear] Beach.

THE MEN IN THE TRUCK

These two are working for Lang-Fu and carry the blood of the
Deep Ones. They will fight to the death if necessary, but will flee
if possible. If captured, they will refuse to give any information.

The Driver

STR 11 CON 9 sSiz9 INT9 POW 10
DEX 11 APP 3 SAN O EDU 7 HP 9
SKILLS: Drive Truck 35%; Knife 45%.

The Passenger

STR 13 CON 12 SIZ 12 INT9 POW 9
DEX 9 APP 3 SAN O EDU 4 HP 12

SKILLS: Knife 65%.

The Temple

If the investigators open the unmarked door on the alley,
they will see a long hallway ending in another door,
framed in gilded woodwork decorated with Chinese sym-
bols. An Anthropology roll will show this style to be typi-
cal of Buddhist temples, but with some odd difference. A
successful Read Chinese or Linguist roll will tell that some
of the symbols are not Chinese at all.

If the investigators choose to open this door, they will
see a small, ornate room, decorated in an oriental fashion
and smelling of heavy incense. Beneath the scent of the in-
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cense is a muskier odor. The walls are decorated with in-
tricately carved wooden panels that cover the bare plaster
walls underneath. At the far end of the room, a small
golden statue of the Buddha, sitting upon a wooden ped-
estal, is flanked by two smoldering braziers of iron. A
man, dressed in long robes, stands near the statue, watch-
ing the investigators enter. His oriental features are barely
discernible in the dim light of the temple.

This man is the head priest of the temple (under Lang-
Fu), and bears the mark of the Deep Ones. He is very sus-
picious of outsiders and will not approach the investiga-
tors. If spoken to, he will pretend to understand no Eng-
lish other than to tell them that no outsiders are allowed
in the temple. If forced to walk towards the investigators
for any reason, he will move with a distinct hopping, shuf-
fling movement, and as he steps into better light, the hide-
ous, frog-like distortion of his face will become apparent.
Investigators unexpectedly seeing the priest’s face must
make their SAN roll or lose 1D3 points.

At the first sign of trouble, the priest will attack with a
long, wickedly-curved knife that he keeps hidden beneath
his robes. The priest will draw the knife and slash once be-
fore screaming for help. If he screams, or a gun fired, the
group below the temple will hear and come to the aid to
the priest. They will suddenly emerge from the hidden
trapdoor below the Buddha, causing it to shatter upon the
floor. If the investigators should subdue the priest without
an excessive amount of noise, those below will be unaware
of what has taken place.

TEMPLE PRIEST
STR 11 CON 12 S1Z 10 INT 14 POW 15
DEX 9 APP 5 SAN O EDU 12 HP 11

SKILLS: Cthulhu Mythos 65%; Hide 50%:; Move Quietly 40%;
Knife 656%.

SPELLS: Contact Deep Ones; Contact Cthulhu; Dread Curse
of Azathoth.

If the investigators get a chance to look around the tem-
ple, they will find more writing, similar to that found on
the outside door frame. A close examination of the panels
shows small figures of sea creatures mixed in with other,
more traditional carvings. A Spot Hidden roll while exam-
ining the plaster Buddha will show that the plaster is
cracked, revealing another, metaf, statue underneatft. The
statue is very heavy, and if the plaster is broken away, the
figure underneath will be revealed as a statue of a great
Deep One, shaped in an Asian style in gold. Investigators
seeing the hideous statue will be required to make a SAN
roll or lose 1D3 points. The carving is exquisite and a suc-
cessful Archaeology or Anthropology roll can tell it was
made about 100 B.C. Any investigator making a Cthulhu
Mythos roll will recognize the figure as Hydra, great moth-
er of the Deep Ones. On the bottom of the statue is an in-
scription written in Chinese. If an investigator can read
this, he can verify the date that the statue was made and
discover that it was made as a gift for someone named
Lang-Fu.

If the investigators move the wooden pedestal upon
which the Buddha rests, they will discover that it conceals
a trapdoor in the floor. Opening the door, the investiga-
tors will be assailed by a heavy, fishy odor. The air is
moist and a successful Listen roll will detect the distant
sound of lapping waves. A flight of wooden steps leads
down to where a light can be seen burning.
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sound of waves will be easily heard. A Listen roll will re-
Beneath the Temple

veal two human voices, speaking in Chinese, coming from

Proceeding down the stairs, the investigators will come to below. All investigators proceeding down the second flight

a landing and another set of stairs going down to the left.
At this point, the fishy odor will be much stronger and

of stairs will have to make Sneak rolls or alert those below
to their coming.
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At the bottom of the stairs, the investigators will see
that the light is coming from a small, low-eilinged room
to their left. To their right is a tunnel of earth and rock
that seems to be the source of the fishy odor and watery
sounds. A moist breeze blows from this direction. Within
the room to the left are two Chinese, one operating some
kind of small, mechanical press, while the other bends
over a table, his back to the investigators (if, however, any
of the investigators have failed their Sneak rolls, these
men will be waiting for the intruders as will the Deep
Ones in the tunnel). These two men bear the marks of
Deep One blood and will fight to the death. The Deep
Ones themselves, however, will flee to the water if the in-
vestigators prove too much for them.

MEN BENEATH THE TEMPLE
These two men are followers of Lang-Fu. One of them is trained in

the magical sciences. They are both of Deep One blood and will
die fighting rather than surrender.

Man at table
STR 11 CON 12 SIZ 8 INT 15 POW 15
DEX 12 APP 8 SAN O EDU 13 HP 10

SKILLS: Speak English 20%; Cthulhu Mythos 70%; Occult 25%;
Knife 50%.

SPELLS: Contact Deep Ones: Contact Cthulhu; Mind Blast; En-
chant Incense.

Man operating press

STR 16 CON 15 SIZ 15 INT 7 POW S8
DEX 11 APP 6 SAN O EDU 6 HP 15

SKILLS: Speak English 10%; Cthulhu Mythos 35%; Knife 85%.

If any of the investigators examine the equipment being
used by the men and makes a Knowledge roll, he can tell
that it is being used to manufacture blocks of incense. The
two metal cans containing Blue John are nearby, as is a
container of resin used to bind the ingredients into blocks.

On the table, the investigators will find a number of in-
teresting items. On a sheet of paper, written in Chinese,
are portions (notes) of a spell called Enchant Incense.
Next to it are a number of incense blocks. Nearby is an
odd rubber box about the size of a small suitcase and of
modern manufacture. It has clasps that open easily. It is
half-filled with incense blocks and a carefully folded sheet
of vellum. The vellum is written in Spanish, and if an in-
vestigator can read it, will find that it contains two spells:
Summon/Bind Dhole. If the box is emptied out, the inves-
tigators will find the following molded into the bottom of
the case: “Manufactured by Pendleton Rubber Co., Peas-
lee, Ohio: A Division of NWI.” An Idea roll by any inves-
tigator will allow him to remember seeing this product ad-
vertised recently in a magazine. The cases are available in a
variety of shapes and sizes. They can be used for the stor-
ing and shipping of various items and, among other things,
are guaranteed water and moisture-proof. They are avail-
able at better stores everywhere.

Pinned to the wall behind the table is some kind of list
written in Chinese. All but the last is crossed off. If an in-
vestigator can read this, he will find it to contain address-
es, each one located in a major city somewhere in the
world. The one item on the list not crossed off is an ad-
dress in Mexico City. One of the addresses is right here in
San Francisco, and if checked out will be found to be the
local Rhon-Paku temple (see appendix F). If invesitgators
somehow check the rest of the addresses found on the list,
they will find them all to be Rhon-Paku temples. If inves-
tigators get an opportunity to searth the men, one of
them will have a scrap of paper with the words Pearl
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Beach’ written in Chinese. This is followed by a date that
will correspond to day 4.

The tunnel to the right opens into a small, under-
ground chamber. The floor of the chamber is slimy mud
and the room is half-filled with the sea that reaches here
from the Bay through an underground passage. 1D6 Deep
Ones wait here for the package being prepared for them in
the next room. If the investigators get involved in a fight
while standing on the slippery floor, they will have to
make a roll of DEXx5% each round to avoid falling. The
Deep Ones, rather than stand and fight, will attempt to
grapple investigators and carry them into the water. Two
Deep Ones will usually grapple at once and will match
their combined STR against the STR of the investigator.
If they are successful, they will leap into the water with
their victim and begin swimming out to sea with the un-
fortunate investigator. Each round, the investigator will be
able to attempt to break free by matching his STR against
the Deep Ones, while at the same time applying the
drowning rules from the Call of Cthulhu rulebook. If the
investigator should break free, the Deep Ones will aban-
don him and he may attempt to Swim back, requiring two
rounds of swimming back for every one round he was car-
ried out towards the sea by the monsters (they swim fast-
er then men). Attempting to swim in the direction that
the investigator was carried will result in certain death
by drowning.

Keeper’s note: If the investigators should arrive at the
temple after day 3, they will find the place deserted
and empty. The keeper may choose to allow a piece
of evidence to have been over-looked and found by
the investigators.

GENERAL INFORMATION

It should be relatively easy to discover that Pearl Beach is
located twenty miles up the coast from San Francisco, in
a deserted area.

If the investigators check the newspaper files in the
library, they will find articles that pertain to Pearl Beach
written in July, 1910. The story concerns the accidental
deaths of Alexander Chandler, a Chicago-area business-
man, and his wife, Pauline, both apparently lost at sea
when their small sailboat was caught in a sudden squall
while in the Pearl Beach area. The two, on a vacation to
San Francisco, failed to return to the dock that evening
and the Coast Guard was alerted. The next day, pieces of
the small craft were found washed ashore, just north of
Pearl Beach, by Peter Baird, described as a self-styled her-
mit who lives in a nearby cabin. The story goes on to des-
cribe Chandler Enterprises and names their son, Edward
Chandler, as the sole heir to his father’s fortune.

Peter Baird’s Cabin

This small, rustic cabin is built entirely of stone and is lo-
cated about two miles north of Pearl Beach on high
ground and about a half mile back from the water’s edge.
As the investigators approach, they will notice an odd ob-
ject about two feet in diameter and seemingly made of
driftwood or antlers above the door. Before the investiga-
tors can examine it, they will be halted in their steps by a
well-placed warning shot from a rifle. Peter Baird wants to
stay a hermit and will demand that any trespassers leave
his land immediately. It will require a successful Oratory
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Newspaper article on Pearl Beach.

SAN FRANCISCO-Pieces of wreckage, believed to
belong to the boat piloted by Chicago industrialist
Alexander Chandler were found today near a desert-
ed beach about 20 miles north of San Francisco.
This discovery confirms the belief held by authori-
ties that Chandler and his wife Pauline are lost
at sea.

Chandler and his wife were vacationing in the
San Francisco area this week and were apparently
surprised by a sudden storm that blew up out of the
northwest. They were reported missing last night
when their boat failed to return to the dock.

The wreckage was discovered by Peter Baird, des-
¢ribed as a hermit who lives in the area of Pearl
Beach.

The death of Alexander Chandler leaves only a
son, Edward, as sole heir to the growing Chandler
Enterprises. Memorial arrangemenis are still pend-
ing.

or Fast Talk roll to persuade him to listen to the group,
and if convinced, will invite the investigator who made the
roll to come up and enter his cabin.

Once inside, the investigator will be told to sit down
while Baird continues to sit near the window, rifle across
his lap. If asked about Pearl Beach, Baird will only say
that strange things take place there at night, and that he
never goes near there after sunset, “The Chinamen go
there sometime, but it’s no place for white folks.” He will
tell no more (he does not know much more). If asked
about the strange object over his door, he will tell the in-
vestigators that it was given to him by his grandfather, a
sea captain out of San Francisco. His grandfather got it
somewhere in the South Pacific and it is some sort of
good luck charm. If the investigators ask him about the
broken boat he found years ago, he will grow more quiet
and begin to glance out the window more often, as if
straining to see something. “I don’t know nuthin’ but
what I tol’ the police. And that’s that it weren’t no rocks
that busted up that little boat. That boat was bit in half!”

If the investigator talking to Baird makes a successful
Oratory roll, he may be able to convince the old hermit to
help them at Pearl Beach.

If the investigators get the opportunity to look at the
strange symbol over the cabin door, an Anthropology roll
will tell them that it was made in Polynesia, a Zoology roll
will reveal it to be made from whalebone, and a Cthulhu
Mythos roll will tell the investigators that it is a form of
the Elder Sign.

PETER BAIRD

In his mid-sixties, the grizzled old hermit has lived in this secluded
location for over thirty years. His grandfather, a sea captain told
young Peter many stories about the odd things he had seen on
his voyages to the South Pacific. Peter has a small Cthulhu Mythos
score.

STR 14 INT 12 POW 10
DEX 8 APP 10 SAN 40 EDU 8 HP 11

SKILLS: Botany 40%; First Aid 65%; Zoology 50%; Cthulhu
Mythos 15%; .30-06 Rifle 80%.

Pearl Beach

If the investigators arrive here during the day to scout
around, they will find the area deserted with only the re-
mains of several old bonfires. A successful Tracking roll
while exploring the sandy beach will reveal the presence
of webbed footprints. A successful Cthulhu Mythos roll
will identify them as belonging to a minor monster. A suc-
cessful Spot Hidden while scanning the horizon will allow
an investigator to detect a thin curl of smoke coming
about two miles up the coast (this is Peter Baird’s cabin).

About an hour before sunset, two battered trucks (one
of them the same as the one at the warehouse) loaded
with about two dozen Chinese will arrive. Most of the pas-
sengers walk with a limping or shuffling motion that the
investigators may have seen before. This group is made up
of Lang-Fu’s cultists. While some begin building large bon-
fires, the rest will play the small drums, gongs, and flutes
that they have brought with them.

Just before dark, a long, black limousine will pull up
near the beach and from it emerges an aged Chinese man
dressed in a green silk coat decorated with golden symbols
(an Occult roll will identify this as a ‘Coat of Life,” usually
a gift from children to parents to help ensure a long life).
Under one arm is a large ceramic jar, while under the oth-
er is an odd rubber box that the investigators may or may
not recognize. Two larger men, both swathed in black silk,
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will also get out of the car. These two will escort the old
man down to the beach before returning to the car. (If the
investigators make a Spot Hidden roll while looking at the
jar, they will notice that it is of Egyptian design. A subse-
quent Archaeology roll will identify it as a canopic jar,
used to hold the mummified organs of dead Egyptians. A
successful 1dea roll will remind them that one of the can-
opic jars in Nophru-Ka’s tomb was missing.)

Back at the car, the two men will open the trunk and
pull a struggling form wrapped in blanket from it. (A Spot
Hidden roll examining these two men will reveal that their
left little fingers are missing. An Anthropology roll will
tell the group that this is the mark of an obscure band of
Chinese assassins, long thought dispersed and forgotten.)
They will carry their burden down to the beach and de-
posit it on the sand between the shoreline and the largest
of the three fires, then return to take a watchful position
between the cultists and the vehicles.

At this point, the cultists will begin to chant to the
thythm of the music while Lang-Fu casts small stones into
the water and reads from a large book taken from the rub-
ber box. A successful Speak Chinese along with a Cthulhu
Mythos roll will tell the investigators that the man is at-
tempting to Contact the Deep Ones.

After less than five minutes of this, four Deep Ones
will emerge from the waves onto the beach as the chanting
and music come to a halt (a successful Spot Hidden will
reveal other dark forms bobbing among the waves). After
SAN rolls, the investigators will see the monsters rip the
blankets from the form on the beach revealing it to a
young Chinese girl. The Deep Ones will snatch her up and
plunge back into the sea. At this point, one of the cultists
will throw off his robes, revealing a grotesquely deformed
body, and shuffle down to the water’s edge to throw him-
self into the sea behind his “brothers.”

The cultists will next join hands in a circle about Lang-
Fu as he reaches into the ceramic jar and draws forth a
small dark object. He will hold it as if in meditation, and
if any investigator seeing this can make an Idea roll, he
will realize that the group is performing a ceremony simi-
lar to Paul LeMond’s Spirit Summoning ability. Whether
they realize what spirit is being summoned is up to them.

The summoning will be successful, and the ancient Chis
nese will begin to chant in a rough, deep voice dissimilar
to his own. The language is unrecognizable, but a success-
ful Linguist roll will lead an investigator to believe that it
may be the forgotten tongue of ancient Egypt. The words
are indecipherable.

At the culmination of the chant, the man will scream
the single world “Hydra,” at which time the sea about one
hundred feet offshore will begin to boil and then explode
in froth as a colossal, bloated horror emerges from the
depths and wades toward shore. If the investigators do not
fail their SAN rolls, they will be able to watch Hydra and
the spirit-possessed Lang-Fu converse for several minutes
in the same strange language. The spirit within Lang-Fu
will then depart. Lang-Fu will then place the book back in
the rubber box and climb upon the back of Hydra and be
borne out to sea. The jar will be crushed into the sand by
the giant paw of Hydra. The cultists will return to their
vehicles and drive back to San Francisco.

It is not unlikely that the investigators will attempt to
attack this group in the middle of their activities. If at-
tacked, Lang-Fu will try to escape to the sea, aided by Hy-
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dra and the Deep Ones. He may take time to cast a spell
or two but it must be remembered that he has already cast
some spells and his Magic Points will be lower. The cultists
will attack insanely with small knives and clubs or flaming
brands from the bonfire, but none of these will continue
to fight if wounded. The Deep Ones will only remain to
fight as long as it takes to get Lang-Fu in the water, when
they will retreat. The two assassins will move to place
themselves between Lang-Fu and his attackers, laying
down their lives if necessary.

It is unlikely that the investigators will be able to either
save the unfortunate young girl or stop the evil Lang-Fu
from leaving for Egypt. However, a sudden attack against
the group will cause Lang-Fu to abandon all he carries—
the jar and the rubber box with its contents. If retrieved
by the investigators, it will be found to contain an original
edition R’lyeh Text that Lang-Fu has possessed for cen-
turies. It is, of course, written in Chinese. Upon opening
the book, the investigators will find that it also contains
two folded pieces of parchment. One contains the spell
Call/Dismiss Beast in Chinese, while the other is a hand-
written letter dated July 29, 1910. It is signed by Edward
Chandler and written in English. The investigators will
find it to be a note from Edward Chandler to Lang-Fu
thanking him for the efficient murder of his parents.

LANG-FU

This man is over two-thousand years old. For most of the time he
has been involved with a cult of Deep Ones, first on the southern
coast of China and then, with the opening of the New Worid, on
the west coast of North America. Lang-Fu first discovered the
prophecy of Nophru-Ka and, with Baron Hauptman, formed the
Brotherhood of the Beast.

Lang-Fu first concerned himself with plots designed to keep
China and other parts of Asia in a state of political instability . His
greatest success was the sudden alteration of the Huang Ho (Yel-
low) River in 1194 which caused the deaths of hundreds of thou-
sands of people. More recently he has helped engineer the ship-
ment of NWI produced armed to various warlords in China, util-
izing Deep Ones to transport these items. He is also directly res-
ponsible for the deaths of Edward Chandler’s parents, who were
savagely murdered by Deep Ones under Lang-Fu’s instructions.

Lang-Fu has been entrusted with the design and development
of the Rhon-Paku temples, and his agents administer to the “holy
man’’ in India. He has spent most of the last year preparing the
special incense and spells to be used to call down the Dholes on
the Day of the Beast.

Lang-Fu has connections with the Tongs of San Francisco, and
has been involved with smuggling opium and illegal immigrants
from China. The immigrants form a major supply of sacrifices
given to the Deep Ones, and both operations provide a healthy
profit for the Brotherhood. Lang-Fu’s many connections in San
Francisco mean that he will probably be aware of the investiga-
tors' presence. Because he is so occupied with the final phases of
the plan, he will be unable to take much action against them. He
will certainly notify Dr. Dieter {next chapter), and he may send an
assassin or some cult members after the investigators.

Lang-Fu is not of Deep One blood himself, and uses his ““Coat
of Life’” to extend his life.

STR 8 CON 12 S1Z7 INT 20 POW 40
DEX 15 CHA 15 SAN O EDV 32 HP 10

SKILLS: Lang-Fu is able to Speak or Read/Write most languages;
Anthropology 75%; Archaeology 65%,; Astronomy 70%; Botany
55%; Chemistry 50%; Cthulhu Mythos 99%; First Aid 95%; Geol-
ogy 35%; History 50%; Library Use 95%; Linguist 55%; Occult
70%; Pharmacy 65%; Treat Disease 45%; Treat Poison 65%; Zool-
ogy 65%; Listen 85%; Psychology 75%; Hide 75%; Move Quietly
85%; Debate 85%; Oratory 85%.

SPELLS: All spells found in the Ca/l of Cthulhu rulebook and
Shadows of Yog-Sothoth:; Enchant Incense; Contact Hydra: Sum-
mon/Bind Dhole; Cail/Dismiss the Beast; Spirit Summoning Abil-
ity; Wither Limb.



Coat of Life

This is an ancient magical device that Lang-Fu has worn for
centuries. It is made of green silk and is embroidered with
magical symbols in gold thread. It is a personal item and
will function only for Lang-Fu. Its powers are as follows:

1. It protects Lang-Fu from all attacks using kinetic energy,
reducing all to minimum damage. Impaling weapons will
not impale. The Coat provides no protection against fire,
electricity, etc.

2. It stores and supplies him with up to 20 additional
Magic Points.

3. It is also the secret of Lang-Fu's long life. If it is ever re-
moved for more than a few minutes, Lang-Fu’s body will
begin an irreversible aging process that will cause him to
rapidly die. Witnesses to this will have to make their SAN
rolls or lose 1D3 points.

THE ASSASSINS

These men are members of an ancient sect thought to have died
out long ago. They can be identified by the missing littie finger of
the left hand, which is burned off when the member joins the sect.
These men dress in black silk and are trained in the use of the
knives ano poisons. They are Fanatically Joyal to Lang-Fu and will
lay down their lives without hesitation.

Assassin 1
STR 15 CON 14 SiZ 12 INT 12 POW 13
DEX 17 APP9 SANO EDU 12 HP 13

SKILLS : Hide 95%; Move Quietly 95%; Pick Pocket 90%; Dodge
95%; Throwing Knife® 75%; Fighting Knifet 80%.

Assassin 2
STR 16 CON 16 SIZ 15 INT 11 POW 12
DEX 15 APP 9 SAN O EDU 12 HP 16

Summon/Bind Dhole

This incantation is thought to have been originally contain-
ed in the Book of Eibon of which only a portion exists to-
day. in the days of ancient Egypt, the magic of Eibon, a
great wizard of lost Hyperborea, was brought to the land of
the Nile by travelers from Atlantis.

The Summon spell must be chanted en masse by a large
group of people who each automatically contribute 1 Magic
Point to the Summoning. The chant leader’s Magic Points
are automatically matched vs. the POW of the resisting
Dhole, while the rest effect the actual Summoning and call
down a Dhole of exactly that size. Therefore, the size
of the group will directly affect the SIZ of the Dhole
that is summoned.

Wither Limb

A personal favorite of Lang-Fu’s, it costs the caster 5 Magic
Points and 1D6 SAN points to use. It takes one round to
cast, and if the caster overcomes his victim in a POW vs,
POW struggle, he may cause whatever arm or leg he points
to to permanently wither and shrivel up, causing 1D8
points of damage and a permanent loss of 3 CON points.
Additionally, the victim and any others witnessing this will
be required to make their SAN roll or lose 1D3 points.

SKILLS: Hide 90%; Move Quietly 85%; Pick Pocket 75%: Dodge
85%; Throwing Knife* 80%; Fighting Knifet 95%.

*The throwing knife is a small, double-bladed weapon causing
only 104 points of damage. Its normal range is five yards.

1The fighting knife has wicked curve to the blade and in the hands
of a trained individual causes 1D6+2 points of damage. The assas-
sin can use the blade to attack and parry in one round. It is capa-
bie of impaling.
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If the investigators come to Pearl Beach after day 4, they
will find the area deserted with only the remains of the
bonfires and a beach littered with tracks. These tracks in-
clude both human and Deep One (Cthulhu Mythos to
identify). It will be impossible to miss the huge tracks left
by Hydra, and while examining these tracks, an investiga-
tor will notice shards of pottery in one of the large foot-
prints. Investigation will reveal that it is the remains of a
ceramic jar that was broken and crushed into the sand by
the huge paw. Archaeology and Knowledge rolls may
identify it (as described above) as the missing canopic jar
from the tomb of Nophru-Ka. Digging for pieces of pot-

tery, the investigators will also COme across the smati aark
object that it contained. This is a small piece of leathery,
dried flesh. If the jar was identified by an Archaeology
roll, the investigators will also know that this is the jar
that contained Nophru-Ka’s mummified liver. A successful
Zoology roll will also identify the organ.

Key to Pearl Beach

The vicinity of Pearl Beach is flat and sandy, with clumps
of wiry grass and small outcroppings of rocks.

1. A single-laned track that leads back 1% miles to the
main road. There is only width for one vehicle, but cars
can pull over to pass. If a driver should go for more than a
few feet off the track, however, he will have to make a
Drive Automobile roll to avoid getting stuck. Once stuck,
different drivers may attempt to drive the car out.

2. This is the area where the trucks of the cultists and the
limo will be parked. A successful Track roll will disclose
old tire tracks in this spot.

3. Site of the bonfires.

4 and 5. These are both small, rocky cliffs that serve to
form the cove in which the beach is located. They rise
from the level of the beach to a height of no more than
10-12 feet, dropping off to the sea. From these vantage
points, investigators may be able to Hide while watching
the ceremonies below. These are the only places that an
automobile might be kept out of sight, but it will take a
successful Camouflage roll to do so.

CONCLUSION

Lang-Fu is intended to escape this scenario and the keeper
should bend all his efforts to this end. At this point, the
investigators may wish to follow up on leads to the Rhon-
Paku temple in San Francisco, or even try to trace its
roots in India. The keeper can use the information con-
tained in appendix F to supply them with information. O
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San Francisco/Oakland

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

The Attack

While sleeping in his hotel room in San Francisco, one of
the investigators will be awakened by a sudden flash of
bright light in the room followed by a quiet, sucking,
slurping noise coming from a dark corner near the ceiling
(if there is another investigator sleeping in the room, he
will awake if he makes a Luck roll). If the investigator
switches on the light near the bed he will see a terrible,
yellow, dripping thing adhering to a corner of the ceiling.
A SAN roll must succeed or 1D8 points are lost. At the
light, the thing will open one great saucer-like red eye and
launch itself toward the investigator, half-flying, half-fall-
ing through the air. The investigator may attempt a Dodge
to scramble from the bed as the thing hurtles toward
his pillow.

THE THING FROM BETWEEN THE PLANES

This being will appear as a dripping yellowish mass about two feet
in diameter. It moves slowly across flat surfaces with a squishing,
sucking sound, dripping a sticky fluid that leaves a brown stain on

whatever it touches. It sees by means of a single, large, red eyeball
hidden in the center of the mass.

STR 8 CON 16 Siza INT 2 POW 5
DEX 12 Move 4, plus ability to glide HP 10
Weapon Attack Damage

Jump and grasp 75% 1D3*

*This damage is caused on the first round and for every round that
the creature remains attached to its victim’s face. 1t is caused by
tiny, grasping cilia which secrete a burning acid. Additionally, the
creature will form tendrils that will force their way into the vic-
tim’s nose, ears, and throat. On the second consecutive round of a
successful attack, these tendrils will reach the brain and begin to
destroy 1 point of INT per round. This simulates brain damage
caused by the creature. At the keeper’s option, the investigator
could also begin to lose 1 point of APP per round due to perma-
nent scarring from the acid.

ARMOR: All kinetic weapons will do minimum damage due to the
soft form of the thing.

SANITY LOSS: If the investigator fails his SAN roll 1D8 points
are lost, none if the roll is successful. Additionally, a victim of a
successful attack must make a SAN roll every round that the being
is attached to his face or lose 1D3 points and be unable to take
any rational action for the remainder of that round. A person see-
ing another human being under attack by the thing {(as opposed to
simply seeing the thing itself) will have a minimum loss of 1D2
SAN points even if a SAN coll is successful.

After five rounds, whether the thing is alive or dead, there
will be another flash of light and the thing will quickly

VIL
By TheBay:Partll

An attack of one of the investigators by a mysterious being
leads them to the NWI research facility in Oakland.

evaporate, leaving only some ugly brown stains on the
walls and rugs (the hotel will probably insist that the in-
vestigators pay for damages).

The next morning, the investigators will find a small ar-
ticle in the newspaper about sightings of a strange bolt of
lightning over the Bay early this morning. The sightings
were made about 1:20 am (same time as the attack on the
investigators) and described a singularly straight shaft of
light that shot across the Bay between the City and Oak-
land. It seems that there were two flashes, about a minute
apart. A professor from the local university is quoted
as saying that it was most likely an odd form of ball
lightning.

On the page directly directly across from the article,
the investigators will see large advertisement announcing
the opening of the NWI research facility in Qakland for
public tours, “See the Marvels of the Electronics Age.”
Tours are offered every hour from 9 to 5. A map of the
facility’s location is provided.

KEEPER'S INFORMATION

The attack originated from the NWI research station and
was prompted by a message from Lang-Fu to Dr. Dieter,
head of research at the modern, new facility. Fortunately,
the equipment used to beam in the creature suffered a fai-
lure after only a minute of operation, and the creature
was returned to its own plane of existence. If the investi-
gators do not discover the secret of the lab, the attacks
will begin again soon.

SCENES
The Research Station

This single building is located in the hills of Oakland, and
is constructed entirely of concrete and steel. The architec-
ture is modern and the one-story structure quite pleasant
to look at. Due to the large amount of publicity the sta-
tion has received, there is quite a number of people wait-
ing for their tour and the investigators may have to wait
several hours before being allowed into the building. NWI
has erected an open-air tourist pavilion a few hundred
yards away where visitors can sit comfortably and pur-
chase refreshments from college students that NWI hired
as hosts and hostesses for the tours.
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The Guided Tour

After the investigators’ names are called from the waiting
list, they will be grouped together with about 25 other
people and ushered to the main gate of the fence sur-
rounding the station. Here they will be met by their guide,
a young college student named Brad Thompson who
works part-time for NWI. He will explain to the tour
group that the entire place is guarded by an electrical sur-
veillance system that eliminates any need for human
guards. This system requires all visitors to wear a small
lapel pin at all times (these pins are numbered and will be
carefully retrieved at the end of the tour).

The tour lasts fifty minutes and begins with a walk up
the gravel drive and through the main door on the left.
From this point, the guide will stroll slowly through the
U-shaped hallway explaining different points of interest
and answering questions. Visitors may either keep pace
with the guide, or can choose to lag behind while viewing
“The Wonders of the Scientific Age.”

Investigators taking the tour will get an opportunity to
witness actual laboratory research being conducted by
NWI along with displays and models demonstrating the
many facets of this international corporation.

The exhibits are as follows:

1. Looking through a thick pane of glass, the investigators
will be able to see down into a laboratory located, as are
all of the labs, one story below ground. Here they will see
vegetables and other plants growing without soil. They are
suspended above metal tanks containing some colored
solution, the roots extending down into the fluid.

This is a hydroponics lab, as any investigator with an
existing Botany score can tell.

2. This is a large wind-tunnel display demonstrating the re-
actions of different types of aircraft to changing atmos-
pheric conditions. Included in the display is a model of an
experimental autogyro being developed by NWI.

3. This is a lighted, mechanical display describing some-
thing similar to transistor theory in a graphic, semi-
animated fashion.

4. In this glass-protected display is a large, lighted, moving
model of the heavens.

An investigator making his Astronomy roll will note
that there is something wrong with the model. It seems to
contain some major stars in locations where there should
be none.

5. This large L-shaped lab is stained with oil and other lu-
bricants but is still dust-free. Here several technicians are
working with various aspects of industrial robotics. The
work is confined to simple mechanical arms and such, but
the movements appear quite sophisticated.

6. This is a lighted display that describes the formation of
petroleum deposits and demonstrates new methods being
developed by NWI to recover them.

7. This is another large L-shaped lab and is filled with
aquariums and small cages containing animals. It is tended
by two female technicians.

Here NWI is carrying out primitive cloning experiments
on salamanders and other lower life forms.

8. This lighted display describes new methods being de-
veloped to aid in the preservation of archaeological arti-
facts, along with new methods of dating them.

9. This larger display case is unlit and boarded over. If an
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investigator peeks between the boards and makes his Spot
Hidden roll, he will see a partially disassembled diorama
depicting the NWI experimental minesite in Peru.

10. This small lab has two technicians experimenting with
some kind of camera focused on a Felix the Cat toy. An
image of the toy, in black and white, appears on a small,
round, glass screen located ten feet away.

Inside the Research Station

While engaged in the tour, the investigators will probably
note two doors that lead off the main hallway. These
doors give access to the lab areas and are clearly marked
“No Admittance. Employees Only.” As the investigators
pass by the first door, one of the technicians will emerge
from the doorway and the investigators will get an oppor-
tunity to glimpse down the hallway revealed. The investi-
gators will see a second door marked “Restricted Area.
Authorized Personnel Only.”

At this point the keeper may encourage the investiga-
tors to do some unauthorized touring if they want to.
Point out that the guide’s attention is continually being
distracted by questions from the visitors and that after the
first twenty minutes of the tour he will have worked his
way around the first corner of the hallway and will be out
of sight of anyone lingering around the first exhibits.

If investigators should elect to explore the area, they
will find that most of the hallways lead to the labs or em-
ployee areas. Entering any of these will result in meeting
up with some employees who will politely escort them
back to the tour group.

If the investigators choose to enter the “Restricted
Area,” they will find it unoccupied; Dr. Dieter and his
assistant (the only two people cleared for this area) are
presently taking a break in the cafeteria. At the end of the
hallway are two doors. Looking through the left-hand
doors, the investigators will see a mechanical/hydraulic lab
dominated by a large industrial robot mounted on treads,
while a glance through the doors on the right will reveal a
large, electronic device sitting on the floor near a black-
board covered with mathematical symbols and formulae.

If the investigators explore the mech/hyd lab, a Spot
Hidden while inspecting the robot will reveal concealed
ports in the front some type of weapon with a solid crys-
tal barrel. On a nearby workbench is a small, black box
with several unmarked switches on it. An examination of
the wiring schematic found next to it, combined with a

Planes Device

This machine was invented by Dr. Dieter by incorporating
lenses produced for him by Baron Hauptman. This machine
is capable of generating a field that opens a space between
the planes allowing a being, or beings, to exist in this uni-
verse. Once the field is collapsed, the being(s) is pulled back
into its original dimension.

Dieter has also added a projection device built with the
special lenses and prisms that allow him to focus this field
up to twenty miles away. Additional lenses may increase
this range in the future,

When the projector is turned up, and again when it is
shut off, a brief flash of light will travel from the projector
to the target area.

The device is highly experimental and has a record of
over-heating and failing when used.




successful Electrical Repair roll will allow the investigator
to understand the proper use of the box. Without this in-
formation, anyone attempting to operate the robot will
cause it to act in a dangerous, berserk manner.

In the electronics lab to the right, an investigator
making an EDUx1% roll while studying the blackboard
will discover mathematical proof of the existence of di-
mensions other than the few perceived by humans. An ex-
amination of the blueprints found on a nearby table along
with an Electrical Repair roll will tell an investigator that
the machine on the floor is used for generating some type
of electro-magnetic field and then projecting it over a
great distance. An examination of the machine itself will
reveal that a portion of the circuits have been burnt out.
These sections have been removed and placed on a work-
bench for repair. Completion of the repairs is near and an
investigator making an Electrical Repair roll will be able
to finish the job if he desires.

Near the damaged sections of the machine is a logbook
written in German. If an investigator successfully reads
the book, he will discover that it is a record of experi-
ments invofving the machine on the floor. It will be obvi-
ous 1o the investigator that this is the source of the thing
that appeared in their hotel room. The last experiment is
on that date, explicitly describes both the time and its
purpose, and marked at 1:20 am.

The door leading from the electronics lab is locked. If
the investigators manage to open it, they will find a short
hall that leads to Dr. Dieter’s quarters and beyond to his
secret surgery.

The doctor’s quarters are sparsely furnished with only
a bed, chest, and a cluttered desk. The chest contains only
the doctor’s clothing but on the desk the investigators will
find the following: a lab analysis of a mineral called Blue
John; a letter (in English) from Lang-Fu to Deiter inform-
ing him of the presence of meddlers in town and giving
the address and number of the investigator’s hotel room;
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and another letter (again in English) from Dr. Dieter to
Edward Chandler (the Fungi Papers 9). In one of the desk
drawers, the investigators will find a large schematic titled
“NWI Ship-to-Ship Navigational System.” If an investiga-
tor studies this complex wiring diagram for a day and a
night and then makes a successful Electrical Repair roll, he
will be able to determine that this describes not a navigating
system, but some type of extraordinary weapon. (If the
investigators are or become familiar with the weapon on
the robot, they will recognize the similarities between

The Fungi Papers 9
Letter from Dr. Dieter to Edward Chandler.

Dear Mr. Chandler,

Once again I am pleased that you have chosen to ask my advice on political matters
involving NWI, and am only too happy to respond.

I would first say that continued fueling of bloodshed in China will continue to create a
political turmoil much like the one that gripped Russia after the revolution. I would also
consider continued funding of anti-British militants in India, but refrain from helping young
Congressman Nehru. I do not believe his philosophies mesh well with ours.

I cannot again emphasize how important I feel it is for NWI to continue to support the
National Socialist Party in Germany. Their leader’s strong beliefs in hereditary superiority
indicate a common link with the Brotherhood, and I believe that if the party is informed of
the goals of the Brotherhood, it will bend all efforts to see them to fruition.

Respectfully yours,
Dr. Dieter
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the two. The ones being planned for the ships are much
larger however.)

In the back room, investigators will find a combination
electronics lab and surgery complete with operating table.
In one corner of the room is a large round tank set into
the floor and sealed with an easily removable cover. Near-
by are a number of small cages hung with cloth to keep
them covered. From within come soft scratchings and
scrabbling sounds. There is also a large filing cabinet in
the room.

If the covered vat is investigated, it will be discovered
to contain an extremely powerful acid (this is used to dis-
pose failed experiments). If someone should lift the cur-
tains to see the inhabitants of the cages, they will be horri-
fied by the sight of what were once normal laboratory
rats, The investigators must make their SAN roll or lose
1D3 points at the sight of these disgusting pink rodents.
Most are hairless and misshapen. Some have three eyes,
some have six legs. A few are totally legless and squirm
about the cages like fat, pink sausages. If an investigator
should handle one of these animals (they are not danger-
ous, just ugly) and makes a Spot Hidden roll, he will
notice that each has a small, neat scar on the top of their
heads. If the cages are moved, it will be discovered that
each conceals a small device set into the floor. Flipping
back a red cover will expose an ominous-looking throw
switch that the investigators will not be able to discover
anything about.

Investigating the filing cabinet will turn up Dr. Dieter’s
notes (written in German), a wiring schematic, and a bun-
dle of photographs. Examining the pictures will require a
successful SAN roll or loss 1D4 points will result from
viewing photos of animals and humans with various por-
tions of their anatomy removed and replaced by mechani-
cal devices. In an investigator examines the schematic
while making an Electrical or Mechanical Repair roll, he
will find that it describes the construction of some sort of
simple remote control switching device. No clue is given
to its purpose.

The doctor’s notes are very extensive and it will take a
day and a night along with a Read German roll to discover
all they contain. However, if an investigator makes his roll
in the lab while skimming through them, the keeper may
wish to provide a few hints as to their contents. Reading
them in their entirety will cost the investigator 1D4 SAN
points when he discovers what Dieter has been up to. His
earlier notes describe the implanting of electrical devices
in the brains of animals to alter their behavior. Later he
describes applying these same techniques to humans. Re-
cently he has been using these implants to induce organic
changes in animals, growing extra limbs or organs, etc. At-
tempts on humans have so far proven failures, but Dieter
has confidence in the technique. One portion of the notes
describes the successes he has had with a group of elec-
tronically controlled people he refers to as the “Sons of
Terror.” The text describes how these “Sons” have suc-
cessfully influenced unnamed political groups around the
world, allowing NWI to turn them to its own purposes. It
also describes the fail-safe device built into every one of
the “Sons.”

Attached to the device that controls the actions of the
“Sons” is a small explosive. If anything should go wrong
with a Son, a remote control switching device can trigger
this tiny bomb, shattering the Son’s head. The device is
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good up to fifty yards away and can be easily built using
the schematic found in the filing cabinet.

Dieter Returns

At some point during the investigators’ investigations, a
door will open and in will walk a small, white-haired man
in a lab coat. If the investigators are still in one of the
front labs, he will be accompanied by his assistant Phillip
Jurgens. However, if the investigators have managed to get
into the secret surgery or his quarters, Dr. Dieter will be
alone, as no one else is allowed past this point.

Dr. Dieter will be distressed to find strangers in the res-
tricted area, and doubly so if they are in his quarters or se-
cret surgery. However, he is a distracted sort of individual
and a successful Fast Talk will confust him to the point
where he will accept any story the investigators give him,
If this fails, the doctor will begin questioning the investi-
gators’ motives in a loud voice until interrupted by his
assistant. Jurgens will intercede in the investigators’ behalf
and convince Dieter that they are merely victims of cir-
cumstance and offer to escort the investigators back to
the tour. On the walk back, Jurgens will introduce himself
in an attempt to obtain the investigators’ names and other
information.

DR. DIETER

This man is an utterly brilliant but utterly mad scientist. Imprison-
ed in Germany for mass murder, he escaped with the aid of Haupt-
man and the Brotherhood, and was brought to America where, un-
der an assumed name, he went to work for NWI, He is aware of,
and fully agrees with the plots of Chandler and the Brotherhood.
He has developed the new weapons to be used on the ships coming
out of the yards owned by NWI and has aided many of the Broth-
erhood projects, legitimate and illegitimate.

His greatest contribution is the Sons of Terror, humans whose
minds are controlled by electronic implants designed and placed
by Dieter. These have infiltrated many groups without flaw and
have performed perfectly.

The doctor is about 65-years old, and always wears a bandage
wrapped about his left hand.

Dieter is extremely paranoid and almost never leaves the re-
search station for fear of being recognized. He resents the facility
being opened to the public and has complained to Chandler on
several occasions.

STR 6 CON 7 Si1Z27 INT 22 POW 6
DEX 8 APP & SAN O EDU 28 HP 7

SKILLS: Read/Write English 75%; Speak English 565%; Anthro-
pology 25%; Archaeology 20%; Astronomy 35%; Botany 85%;
Chemistry 90%; Cthulhu Mythos 15%; Geology 85%; History 20%;
Library Use 95%; Pharmacy 85%; Treat Disease 85%; Treat Poison
75%; Zoology 90%; Diagnose Disease 85%; Electrical Repair 100%;
Mechanical Repair 100%; Debate 85%.

PHILLIP JURGENS

Jurgens appears in two states in this scenario. The first is his nor-
mal self; the other, a controlled ‘“zombie’ subject to the com-
mands of the device implanted in his brain by Dieter. Both of
these forms will be described below.

1. Formerly a U.S. Treasury agent, Jurgens has spent the last three
years in a profession very new to the world, that of an industrial
spy. Working for NWI, he has managed to become the assistant of
Dr. Dieter. Having managed to steal enough from NWI to retire for
the rest of his life, he was about to make his break when he stum-
bled across the documents naming NWI as a co-conspirator in ille-
gal activities. Forsaking his personal plans, he has attempted to get
enough evidence to allow the government to stop NWI. Unfortu-
nately, his plans were discovered by Dieter and between the phone
calls received by the investigators, Jurgens was turned into one of
Dieter's Sons of Terror.

2. This is the “‘zombie’ form of Jurgens. If the investigators
should remove his hat, they will see a shaven patch on Jurgens’s
head, and a raw, six-inch scar. Dieter did not have time to com-
pletely program the new ‘““zombie’* but left a simple self-destruct



program in him. If the investigators should expose Jurgens, the
mechanism inside his head will shortcircuit itself. As Jurgens’s
body does spastic flip-flops about the ground or floor, the side of
his head will begin to smoke and melt from the heat generated in-
side his skull, This will, of course, kill him, and any investigator
failing a SAN roll will lose 1D6 points. If Jurgens should remain
unexposed, he will self-destruct as soon as the robot of Dieter
comes on the scene.

STR 15 CON 15 SI1Z 14 INT 14 POW 12
DEX 16 APP 13 SAN 60 EDUV 16 HP 15

SKILLS: Botany 55%; Chemistry 75%; First Aid 95%; Geology
55%; Library Use 55%; Zoology 70%:; Listen 80%: Psychology
50%; Spot Hidden 75%; Track 40%; Drive Automobile 75%; Hide
75%; Move Quietly 75%; Climb 80%; Dodge 85%.

Investigator’s Information

At the end of the tour (assuming some of the investigators
have met Dr. Dieter and transmitted this information to
the rest of the investigators) any investigator making a
Knowledge roll will recall a similar name in connection
with a bizarre murder trial in Germany around 1920. Suc-
cessful Library Use rolls while checking the local library’s
newspaper files will turn up the following two items:

1. August 23, 1920: Germany. A Dr. Dieter Heinmann
was sentenced to a special, high-security prison to await
execution after being convicted of multiple murders in
connection with bizarre surgical experiments. Details of
these experiments were withheld from the public.

2. September 14, 1920: Germany. This article states that
Dr. Dieter somehow escaped from his locked prison cell in
the middle of the night. Except for strange chalk marks
on the wall, police have no leads. (This break was engi-

neered by Hauptman, who gated into the cell and then
created a return Gate by which the two men escaped.
Once back in Transylvania, Hauptman destroyed
the Gates.)

Blowing the Whistle

Soon after the investigators make the tour at the research
station (probably that evening), they will be contacted by
phone by Phillip Jurgens who will wish to speak to what-
ever investigator(s) he has met earlier that day. If Jurgens
did not meet any of the investigators, he will have recog-
nized one of them when the tour group passed by. At
least one of the investigators can be identified by Jurgens
from some past exploit. Jurgens will request a meeting at
a local restaurant with one (or two, if an Oratory roll is
made) of the investigators.

Once at the restaurant, Jurgens will confide to the in-
vestigators the truth (or most of it) of his past and present
activities. He will explain that while searching for indus-
trial secrets that he could possibly sell, he came across cer-
tain documents indicting Dr. Dieter and NWI in a conspir-
acy involving world-wide anarchist activity. It appears that
somehow the groups are to be coordinated into attacking
different locations on a specific date referred to only as
“The Day of the Beast.”

Jurgens will supply the investigators with a copy of this
information along with a phone number in Washington
DC. He will instruct the investigators to make the call and
give a certain password that will put them through to a
Mr. Albertson.

Jurgens thinks that Dieter may be beginning to suspect
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his intentions, but he wants to see if he cannot get some
more information before blowing his cover. He will leave
the restaurant quickly, promising to call the investigators
again in 3-4 days.

Late the next day, the investigators will receive another
call from Jurgens. He will tell the investigators that he sus-
pects that Dieter knows the truth about him and that he
needs the investigator’s help. He has managed to obtain a
number of lapel pins that negate the security systems, and
that if the investigators will meet him near the station af-
ter dark, they can enter the labs and confiscate whatever
evidence they find. He may need their help to subdue Die-
ter if he proves to be a problem.

If the investigator who speaks with Jurgens on the
phone has ever had occasion to speak to him before, a suc-
cessful Psychology roll will tell him that there is some-
thing odd about the man’s manner.

If the investigators choose to meet Jurgens, he will be
found wearing a suit and hat. If the investigators question
this, he will explain that as soon as they are finished here,
he will be boarding a train for Washington.

The investigators will easily enter the building, but
once inside, they will find themselves the victim of a trap.
Dieter, hiding around a corridor corner, will direct the
giant robot against the investigators as the unfortunate
Jurgens, who was trapped by Dieter and implanted with a
mind-controlling device, as well as a bomb, begins to self-
destruct before the investigators’ eyes. Dieter will only ex-
pose as much of himself as necessary to direct the robot;
anyone shooting at him has only a % normal chance for
success. If desired, an investigator may aim at the robot
control box. If the box is wrecked, Dieter will run back to
his secret surgery. The control box will be as hard to hit as
Dieter himself.

ROBOT

Ostensibly designed as a prototype worker robot for industry, this
model features some particularty destructive options. It is radio-
controlled, and can be operated up to 1000 feet away. Solid walls
will block transmission, however.

The control box is a smali, palm-sized device with a looped an-
tenna. There are about a dozen unmarked switches on the face of
the instrument.

The robot itself is a seven-foot tall metal cylinder. It moves
fairly quickly on level ground with motorized treads. It can turn

on a dime. It has four telescoping arms with grasping claws and a
small death ray mounted secretly in its chest,

STR 40 SIZ 25 (very heavy) DEX (% operator’s)
Move: § HP: 100

Weapons  Attack Damage
Claws (4) 25% 1D6*
Death ray 20% 1D10

*Once held, the investigator will continue to take damage every
round.

ARMOR: This machine is made of tough metal, and all weapons
will cause minimum damage. An impaling shot from a firearm will
indicate that a partially exposed joint or circuit has been hit ren-
dering one function of the robot useless (keeper’s choice), A
bucket of water or a wet fire extinguisher may short-circuit the
machine, making it useless—there is a- 10% chance of this per
bucket or per round the extinguisher is played over it.

SANITY LOSS: Seeing this strange contraption rattling down the
hall with arms waving will be at least a little unnerving, causinga
loss of 1D3 points to those who miss their SAN rol!.

If the doctor makes it back to his surgery, he will knock
over the rat cages, freeing the animals and exposing the
firing mechanism in the floor below. This switch is wired
to a buried explosive powerful enough to destroy the en-
tire research facility and Dieter will not hesitate to throw
it, causing the lights in the building to flash and sirens to
wail. The investigators will find him squatting over the
switch as horrible, deformed rodents scamper about the
room. Dieter will defend the switch. The investigators
have only three minutes before the explosion. If the inves-
tigators get to the switch, they can try to shut the system
down removing the proper wires. This is accomplished
only by a successful Electrical Repair roll. Failure of this
roll denotes instant destruction.

CONCLUSION

If the investigators should trust Jurgens and make the con-
tact with Albertson, they will find that all he has told
them is true. Supplying the information given to them by
Jurgens to Albertson and the Treasury Department will
help the government squelch the attacks when they occur.
If the investigators stop Dieter’s attempts to destroy the
lab, they will find (in the filing cabinet) additional infor-
mation that will aid the U.S. government in ferreting out
the anarchists plus documents that pin-point their loca-
tions in western Europe. Withholding any of this informa-
tion means that the attacks will go off as scheduled,
causing much death and destruction.

Remember, Dr. Dieter will do everything in his power
to blow up the lab and himself. a
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Giza,Egypt

INTRODUCTION

The date for this chapter must be determined by the ksep-
er who is also responsible for getting the information to
the investigators. This can be placed in the adventure in a
number of ways, either through use of the optional scenes
or, as a last resort, as a product of Paul LeMond’s strange
dreams. It could come to the investigators through the
material they discover regarding the Sons of Terror, or
they could monitor the Rhon-Paku temples, waiting for
them to begin the Holy Day.

INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

Exactly how much the investigators know will depend
largely upon how many clues they have unearthed in past
chapters. How much advance notice of the date they have
is up to the keeper. However, they will know this much at
the very least: the Brotherhood is to meet, at dawn on a
given date, on the plateau at Giza.

KEEPER’S INFORMATION

Hauptman and Lang-Fu are presently in Cairo awaiting
the arrival of Edward Chandler. Chandler is traveling in a
dirigible of modern design, a product of the aircraft divi-
sion of NWI. His announced reason for coming to Egypt is
to inspect the Chandler Foundation digsite near Cairo.
The dirigible is to be moored on the site.

The purpose of the trio in Egypt is to Call the Beast,
using the Great Sphinx located on the plateau southwest
of Cairo. Simultaneously, the Sons of Terror will launch
their attacks while the innocent followers of Rhon-Paku
unknowingly chant down star-spawned Dholes upon the
major cities of the world.

SCENES
Cairo

Edward Chandler will arrive near Cairo about 3 am and
moor at the Chandler Foundation digsite. At night, the in-
vestigators will see the running lights of the ship, and dur-
ing the day, the huge, silvery sides of the ship will catch
anyone’s attention. A successful Spot Hidden or the use
of binoculars will reveal the NWI logo on the side of
the dirigible.

VIIL
Day of the Beast

The investigators return to Egypt to foil the Brotherhood
and the prophecy made millenia ago.

The Plateau of Giza

If the investigators arrive here before the Brotherhood,
any investigator making an ldca rol} will notice the ab-
sence of guards in the area. The Egyptian government
keeps this area well-protected against tomb robbers and it
may strike the investigators odd to see the area so desert-
ed (the guards have all been killed by agents of the Broth-
erhood, the bodies stuffed in the many tombs and ruined
temples found on the plateau).

Just a few minutes before sunrise, several cars will drive
up the road that leads to the north end of the plateau.
Taking a route around the east side of the Great Pyramid,
the cars will pull up within a hundred yards of the fore-
paws of the Sphinx and stop. Four Arabs, armed with
tommy-guns, will step out of the cars and while two of
them busy themselves with chasing any sleeping Arabs out
of the area, the other two will scout around for possible
trouble.

ARAB GUARDS
These henchmen were trained by Katif and will lay down their
lives for Edward Chandler.

Guard 1

STR 14 CON 15 SlZz 14 INT 11 POW 10
DEX 15 APP 9 SAN O EDU S HP 15
SKILLS: Fighting Knife 65%; Tommy-gun 55%.

Guard 2

STR 16 CON 12 S1Z 15 INT 10 POW 8
DEX 12 APP 7 SAN O EDU 6 HP 14
SKILLS: Fighting Knife 75%; Tommy-gun 45%.

Guard 3

STR 11 CON 13 SiZ 10 INT 12 POW 11
DEX 14 APP 8 SANO EDU 6 HP 12

SKILLS: Fighting Knife 45%; Tommy-gun 50%; .45 Revolver 86%.
Guard 4

STR 16 CON 15 SIZ 14 INT 10 POW 12
DEX 13 APP 7 SAN O EDU S5 HP 15

SKILLS: Fighting Knife 65%; Tommy-gun 65%.

Upon a signal from one of the guards, the doors of the
cars will open, and out will step Hauptman, Lang-Fu, and
six Arabs dressed completely in black robes. These Arabs
are here to provide extra Magic Points for the spell and
Chandler has made an effort to disguise himself as one.
The only possibility the investigators have to recognize
Chandler is if an investigator makes a Spot Hidden roll
while checking out the Arabs. This will reveal that onc of
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them looks extraordinarily Western in appearance. It will
be up to the investigators to realize that this is Chandler.

The group will approach the Sphinx and immediately
begin intoning the chant that will Call the Beast. The Call-
ing will be successful, and as soon as the Sphinx shows
signs of life, the group will run to the cars and drive off,
trusting the destruction caused by the Beast to cover their
presence here. The trio will soon separate, and Chandler
will return to his dirigible to fly to America and begin his
plan of world conquest.

THE BEAST
The Beast can only assume earthly form when Called by a particu-
lar spell cast in the vicinity of the Great Sphinx on the plateau of
Giza. Archaeologists claim that the Sphinx was carved from an
outcropping of limestone that was left over by the builders of the
Great Pyramid, but legend holds that it has lain in the sand since
before the coming of man. The Arab name for it is Abu Hol,
‘‘Father of Terror."”

When the spell is successfully cast, the ground about the
Sphinx will quake slightly, signifying that the Beast's essence has
entered the stone. The body will flex and the limbs begin to move

Call the Beast

This is a special spell given to Nophru-Ka long ago by Nyar-
lathotep. It resembles Call/Dismiss deity spells.

Chandler, Hauptman, and Lang-Fu all know the spell.
between them, they can expend 199 Magic Points, and Call
the Beast in only one minute with a 95% chance of success.

Dismissing the Beast is as described in the Call of Cthul-
hu rulebook, but is difficult due to the high POW of
the Beast.
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with the sound of grinding stone as the face, placed there in later
years by the Pharaoh Khafre, cracks and falls away, revealing a
black, oval void in which can be seen whirling suns and galaxies.

This monster is nearly mindless and will immediately begin to
destroy all nearby, trampling men and buildings beneath its great
paws. It will ravage Cairo before turning south to Luxor, site of
ancient Thebes. After wreaking havoc there, the Beast will proceed
to Jerusalem, and from there will continue around the Mediterra-
nean, wrecking cities as it goes.

STR 200 CON 100 SiZ 500 INT 4 POW 50
DEX 20 Move 12 HP 300
Weapon Attack Damage

Paws (2) 50% 12D6

ARMOR: 20-point stone-like hide.

SANITY LOSS: 1020 if the SAN roll is missed, 1D6 if it is suc-
cessful.

Key to the Necropolis at Giza

1. The pyramid of Khufu (Cheops), or the Great Pyramid.
Nearly 450 feet high, it measures over 750 feet at the
base. East of the pyramid are the three queen’s pyramids,
and at the northeast corner a mortuary temple, of which
only the basalt pavement remains.

2. The pyramid of Khafre (Chephren). This is almost the
size of the Great Pyramid. To the east of the pyramid is
the mortuary temple, now reduced to its foundations.

3. The smaller pyramid of Menkaure (Mycerinus). This
measures 354 feet at the base, and stands over 216 feet
tall. The three queen’s pyramids to the south were left un-
finished, and the mortuary temple east of the pyramid
shows evidence of hasty and incomplete execution. The
causeway that runs east from the mortuary temple is near-
ly ruined.



4. The Eastern Cemetary. These tombs are arranged in
row upon row and provide a good place for investigators
to hide.

S. The Western Cemetary. This is similar to the Eastern.

6. Causeway. This runs from the mortuary temple of
Khafre to the valley temple near the Sphinx. The cause-
way is in fair shape, and the investigators may find a place
to hide.

7. The valley temple. This is one of the better preserved
buildings to be found on the plateau and provides an ex-
cellent hiding place near the Sphinx.

8. The Sphinx. It is 240 feet long and made of limestone.
Between the monster’s legs is a small altar and votive stela.
This is where Edward Chandler will stand to Call the
Beast.

CONCLUSION

This scenario will require the most individual input from
the keeper. During playtest, the investigators were allowed
only a few hours between the time of their arrival in Cairo
and the time of the Calling of the Beast, though keepers
may allow the investigators more. Also, the relative fire-
power of the guards compared to the investigators must
be carefully considered. It is intended that the investiga-
tors defeat this menace on their own with the use of

magic. It should be obvious to the keeper at some point
what the plans of the investigators are. He should respond
by making this climax difficult, but not completely
impossible.

If the investigators should choose to attack with guns
while the group approaches, the guards will immediately
open fire on the investigators while the members of the
Brotherhood retreat to Chandler’s bullet-proof limo. Here,
they will wait until the investigators are wiped out by the
Arab guards, or failing that, help the guards by attacking
the investigators with spells. Chandler deeply wants to re-
lease the Beast, but if the investigators make it impossible,
he will flee the plateau, and the investigators may have to
come up with something new to stop him.

Magically, the investigators could attempt to Dismiss
the Beast, but this requires a lot of Magic Points and is not
a guaranteed approach. The most effective method,
though costly in terms of permanent POW, is to erect the
Barrier of Naach-Tith (to be found on Celaeno) to contain
the Beast. If done immediately, they will also trap the
members of the Brotherhood within the walls of the bar-
rier where they will probably be crushed to death by the
mindless Beast. If the trio escapes the barrier, the investi-
gators may have to pursue them. The Beast will attempt
to batter down the barrier in a STR vs. STR contest, but
if it fails, will voluntarily take leave of the Sphinx, causing
it to turn back to stone. o
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The success of the investigators against the forces of the
Brotherhood depends in part on the keeper. It is quite
possible that the investigators will foil some parts of the
plot while (ailing even to discover other aspects. Suggested
rewards and consequences are as follows:

Defteating the Beast by any method will reward the in-
vestigators with 1D20 SAN points each.

Providing the U.S. government with the information
given them by Jurgens in chapter VII will allow the feds
to take preventative action and squelch the attacks by the
Sons of Terror. This will bring the investigators 1D20
SAN points each, and the government may give the inves-
tigators secret rewards of $2000 each for their aid. If the
investigators should also obtain and turn over the docu-
ments found in Dr. Dieter’s lab, other nations will be able
to take similar steps against anarchist groups. Defeating
the anarchists will put a serious crimp in Chandler’s plans.
If the US. is saved, the investigators gain 1D6+6 SAN
points each. If the rest of the world is also saved, they
gain 2D6+6 SAN points each.

To stop the Summoning of the Dholes may prove the
most difficult task of all. The temples are scattered about
the world and have only nominal contact with each other.
One possibility is for the investigators to make copies of
the spell Call Dhole (in the proper languages), and mail
them, along with official letters of explanation and with
the cooperation of the U.S. government, to the various
temple leaders. This would require a number of Read/
Write other language rolls and a successful Oratory to
word the letter well enough to convince the individual
leaders that the senders of the letters are not just crack-
pots. If the leaders are forewarned of a possible tragedy,
they may be able to round up enough of the temple faith-
ful to chant the Dhole(s) back to where they came, or to
refrain from Calling them in the first place. The keeper
may 1D6 SAN points for each city that is successfully
saved from the Dholes. There are ten targeted cities.

Conclusion
“Foiling The Brotherhood”

Killing Edward Chandler will halt the plans of the
Brotherhood, but could prove disastrous for the investiga-
tors. If not killed outright by Chandler’s companions, the
investigators may find themselves explaining what happen-
ed to the Egyptian authorities. The murder of a popular
world figure on Egyptian soil will not be taken lightly,
and if the investigators are unable to prove Chandler’s
guilt, they may find themselves executed for the crime.
Life imprisonment is the least that they could expect.
Causing Chandler’s death at the scene of the Sphinx is
probably the safest, as the destruction that may be caused
by the Beast will cover any evidence and the investigators
may be able to escape in the confusion.

If the investigators do foil the entire plan, they will be
entitled to an additional 1D20 SAN points.

If, in the keeper’s opinion, the investigators have failed
to stop the Brotherhood, he may decide that the investiga-
tors’ efforts have seriously crippled the plan and that
Chandler will be eventually defeated by the governments
of the world. The havoc caused by this, along with the in-
vestigator’s knowledge that it is due to their failure, will
cause each investigator to lose an additional 1D10 SAN
points. On the other hand, Chandler may prove successful,
and after getting himself elected president in an emergen-
cy vote by Congress, will begin to secretly spread his pow-
er around the globe, preparing for another day. Condi-
tions in the world will not be drastically altered (at least,
not at first), and life will go on as normal for most people.
But the investigators will know different, and Chandler
will probably be aware of them. The investigators could
suddenly find themselves in a world where a hostile gov-
ernment wants them dead and the minions of the Great
Old Ones can move about more boldly than ever. Instead
of the hunters, they may find themselves the hunted.

—~The End—-
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INVESTIGATORS INFORMATION

Everything required for a voyage to Celaeno can be found
in chapter III. If the investigators miss some of the items,
the keeper may have to locate alternative items or infor-
mation at some other point in the adventure. For incen-
tive, the investigators can learn, either through an encoun-
ter with Nophru-Ka or by way of Paul’s dreams, the exis-
tence of the spell Create Barrier of Naach-Tith, which
might be used to contain the Beast.

They should have learned that Celaeno is a star found
in the Pleaides in the constellation Taurus. It is located be-
tween the stars Alcyone and Electra on one side, and Maia
and Taygeta on the other, over 1400 light-years from
Earth. It requires an expenditure of 13 permanent POW
points to create a Gate to span such a distance, so it is
most likely that investigators will have to travel by Sum-
moned monster. Space Mead will be required, including
enough for the return trip. The Summoned monster(s)
may be Bound to wait for and return their passengers to
Earth. Traveling this distance under the effects of the
Mead will cost 3 Magic Points, and 2 SAN points.

KEEPER'S INFORMATION

The library is located on the mist-shrouded, fourth pianet
of the star. Untold millenia ago, ‘He Who is Not to be
Named’ placed his servant Byakhee to guard the Great
Hall from intruders. They still wait hungrily near the dark
ceiling. The books are also protected by one called *The
Sleeper in the Lake.’

SCENES:
The Voyage

In the dream-like state induced by the Mead the investiga-
tors will be unaffected by the cold depths of outer space
and will be beyond the ‘realities’ of space and time. As
they approach the mysterious planet and descend through
the thick of mist, the effects of the Mead will begin to
wear off and the investigators will notice that the atmos-
phere has a distinctly bitter, metallic taste. The difference
in pressure will make the investigator’s head feel stuffy as
well as affect his hearing, causing normal noises to sound
tinny and far distant. Continuing to descend, the mists
will clear allowing a view of a vast lake, or ocean, below.
The water stretches for miles in all directions. No waves
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Optional Scenel

Halls Of Celaeno

The investigators travel six trillion miles to a library in search of
a scroll containing a vitally important spell.

mark the cold, gray, steel-like surface. Arrival on the
planet requires a SAN roll or 1D6 points are lost.

Shortly, a monstrous, black building will loom up on
the horizon; at first sight of the library, the investigators
will need to make a SAN roll or lose 1 point, The forbid-
ding atmosphere of the place will continue to exert a sinis-
ter influence on the investigators; they will be required to
make further SAN rolls every hour they spend in the
vicinity of the building.

The Library

The beasts will deposit their burdens upon stone wharves
in front of the library and either fly off or remain here to
await their passengers. Under no circumstances will the
monsters enter the actual library. As the investigators
touch down, they will see small, black things scuttle down
the stone piers to disappear beneath the metallic water
surface.

The library itself is constructed of titanic blocks of
stone, black and dense, and shot with veins of gold and
green. Huge pillars, over 400 feet tall, grace the front of
the building and flank the entrance to the Great Hall.

The investigators should have brought a light source,
but if they did not, there will be enough gray light spilling
through the great rents in the roof to allow them to see
dimly while inside.

The Great Hall

As the investigators step into the Great Hall, they will feel
dwarfed by the immense scale of the building. Tier after
tier of balconies climb the walls on all sides, their shelves
filled with strange tomes written in forgotten languages.
Huge stairways connect the balconies; the size of the
treads indicate that the place was designed for beings of
colossal size.

The investigators will notice the decayed condition of
the structure; portions of stone arch that have fallen from
above make travel difficult. The floor is coated by a
thickly-deposited layer of some lime-like substance. A
Cthulhu Mythos roll will identify this as the accumulated
droppings of some minor Mythos being. As the investiga-
tors make this discovery, rustlings and soft whispers will
be heard coming from the dark reaches above. At these
sounds, investigators will have to make a SAN roll or lose
1D3 points as a chill runs down their spines.



GreatHall

O O O O O O O O

Celaeno
THE LIBRARY

If the investigators obtained the copied page from the
R’lyeh Text found in chapter III, it is hoped they will re-
member the admonishment about looking above. If an in-
vestigator should look up, he will see the upper tiers and
the arches above teeming with gaunt Byakhees. If the in-
vestigator makes a SAN roll he will lose 1 point, but if he
fails, he will lost 6 points at once. If an investigator should
go insane for any reason while within the library, the re-
sults are as follows: The investigator will suddenly develop
a morbid fear of the building and, dropping any Elder
Sign, will bolt for the front entrance. The Byakhee, seeing
that the investigator seems confused and vulnerable, will
swoop down in a flock and rend him to bits before return-
ing to their perches above. Anyone seeing this will be re-
quired to make their SAN roll or lose 1D4 in addition to
SAN lost for seeing the Byakhee. Investigators entering
the library without either bearing Elder Signs or successful
Hide or Sneak rolls will be dealt with in the same manner
as soon as they enter.

A. Here a portion of the roof has fallen, plunging through
tiers of balconies and destroying thousands of volumes.

B. Any investigator entering this area will hear a strange,
muttered chanting coming from gallery 6.

The Galleries

There are six of these smaller halls entered from the Great
Hall by way of a dark archway. The roofs of these sec-
tions are intact and admit no light so investigators will be
required to provide illumination. The ceilings are also
lower, allowing space for only fifteen tiers of balconies

compared to the two dozen or more levels in the Great
Hall. These galleries are not guarded by Byakhee,

1. Due to a gradual erosion of the shoreline, the rear sec-
tion of this gallery has been entered by the lake. If investi-
gators make a Listen roll while standing near the entrance
to this hall, they will hear soft, scuttling noises coming
from the far end. An Idea roll will tell the investigators
that these noises may be caused by the same small crea-
tures that they saw on the wharves.

2, 3, and 4. These hallways are dark and silent.

5. This is the gallery indicated in the R’lyeh Text as con-
taining information on the Beast. The investigators are in-
structed to climb to the sixth balcony and somewhere on
this level they are told they will find articles left by those
who have come before. Searching this tier, they will even-
tually discover a high, stone table covered with a number
of items. One is a scroll of papyrus, covered with Egyptian
hieroglyphs. This is a copy of the spell, Call the Beast
made centuries ago by Nophru-Ka. If an investigator can
successfully read it, he will notice the signature of the
translator. This is a very good copy of the spell and an in-
vestigator can learn it in about a day with a roll of INTx
5%, and a Read Hieroglyphs.

Next to this is a piece of paper. It is a copy of the spell,
Create Barrier of Naach-Tith written in English and signed
by Edward Chandler in 1896. This is also a good copy and
can be learned in a day’s time with a roll of INTx5%.
Nearby is the pen and ink used by Chandler and a small
crystal bottle containing Space Mead, left by Hauptman in
case of emergency. It is protected with the same seal
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found in chapter III.

6. From this gallery comes the strange muttered chanting
that can be heard in parts of the Great Hall. If a curious
investigator should look down this way, he will see a
group of four human-sized figures, dressed in flowing
black robes chanting to a large, glowing object floating
about four feet off the ground. The investigators must
make their SAN rolls or lose 1D3 points. Any disturbance
will cause the magicians to turn towards the investigator,
stopping the chant and allowing the object to crash to the
floor with a resounding echo. They will then fade from
view. Any investigator that disturbs the magicians this
way will hereon be troubled by nightmares about the sor-

Create Barrier of Naach-Tith

Only hinted at in the Cthaat Aquadingen, the one known
existing version of this spell is contained in the Celaeno
Library. The barrier is costly to erect but provides a physi-
cal and magical defense. It also affords some protection
from insanity by blurring the view of whatever is kept con-
tained within (or without) the barrier.

This spell can be cast at varying strengths and sizes, and
can be placed up to a quarter-mile away. It costs 1 POW
point to erect a barrier with 1D6 STR. Larger expenditures
of POW will create barriers of greater strength. The spell
takes one minute to cast and will last several hours. As
many people who have learned the spell are able to cast it,
each contributing as much POW as they wish,

Anything trapped within the barrier can attempt to
physically break it down in a STR vs. STR struggle.
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cerors, and will lose 1D3 points of SAN every week until
cured by a successful POWx1% roll which may be at-
tempted once per week.

The Sleeper in the Lake

There is another guardian of his library; one that will not
heed the Elder Sign. This is the Sleeper in the Lake and it
is expressly noted in the R'lyeh Text that no knowledge is
to be carried from the library for “he who sleeps will
know,” and the Sleeper will awake,

If any investigator should attempt to take with him a
book from the library or even a piece of paper with some-
thing copied from the library, the Sleeper will know. The
first indication of trouble the investigations will have is
the sight of a large bubble that will form rapidly on the
surface of the lake as they fly over. This bubble will sud-
denly pop and up will shoot a gigantic, scaly limb ending
in three talons. This suckered organ will grab the offend-
ing investigator and, along with whatever carries him, pull
him below the surface. There is no way to avoid this.

The Sleeper will only take one victim, and if a compa-
nion is also carrying something from the library, he may
escape. u]



INTRODUCTION

While it is possible that a clever group of investigators
could hit upon this idea earlier, it is not until near the
concluding moments of chapter VI that the investigators
will be presented with a situation that clearly demon-
strates how Paul LeMond could be used to contact the
spirit of Nophru-Ka. This scene is written presuming that
the investigators will attempt it sometime after chapter
VI. If played earlier, the keeper may have to change
some details.

SCENE:
The Summoning

This scene will take place at Irene LeMond’s house in Buf-
falo where Paul is still recuperating. Herb Whitefield will
be in town for a visit.

If Paul and the investigators attempt to Summon the
spirit of Nophru-Ka, they will conduct the ceremony as
described in chapter I. As Paul holds the dessicated liver
(the only portion of Nophru-Ka available) in his hand and
slips into a trance, he will begin to moan softly and rock
his head from side to side, drooling on his shirt. He will
begin to mumble disjointed phrases in an unknown tongue
(ancient Egyptian) occasionally mixed wtih a word or two
of English. It will take a moment for Nophru-Ka’s spirit to
adjust to the strange body, and another minute or two to
seek out the memories that pertain to speech.

After a few minutes of this, the spirit will begin to
speak to the investigators in English, but with the voice
and personality of Nophru-Ka; haughty and arrogant. He
is aware of the plans of the Brotherhood and may reveal
small tid-bits of information as he strides about the room

Optional Scene?2
Voice Out of Time

The investigators request a seance with Paul LeMond
to contact the spirit of Nophru-Ka.

berating the investigator’s feeble attempts to interfere
with the fulfillment of his prophecy.

At some point, Nophru-Ka may reveal crucial informa-
tion regarding the Calling of the Beast; this may be the lo-
cation andfor the date and time. The keeper must use dis-
cretion, but Nophru-Ka is unable to keep from boasting
before the triumph. Nophru-Ka is unaware of the sophisti-
cated means of transportation available in the 20th cen-
tury, and it is inconceivable to him that the investigators
could somehow travel to Egypt in the short amount of
time left to them.

After a while, Nophru-Ka will tire of bantering with
the party and growing uncomfortable in the strange body,
will demand to be released. If the investigators should
show the least hesitation in breaking the circle, Nophru-
Ka will scream “Thou shalt not defy me!” and grasping
the stone mantle of the fireplace with both hands, pro-
ceed to smash the face of Paul LeMond against the pro-
jecting corner, breaking bone and spattering the seated in-
vestigators with blood. Investigators will need to make a
SAN roll or lose 1D6 points.

Nophru-Ka will be able to perform this action twice
per round. The investigators will be too surprised to stop
him the first time, but as he tries to smash Paul’s face
again, the most dextrous investigator at the table will have
an opportunity to grapple. If successful, the investigator
will have broken the circle and released the angry spirit. If
the investigator fails, Nophru-Ka will smash Paul’s head
again and then turn to the investigators, Paul’s face a mass
of dripping gore. Each investigator will have to make their
SAN roll or lose 1D4 points. At this point, anyone wish-
ing to will be able to break the circle. Paul’s body will
have received 1D6 points of damage for each blow taken
and as the animating spirit leaves, will slump to the floor,
gravely injured or even dead. a
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A. The Death of Nophru-Ka
B. The Brotherhood of the Beast
C. Edward Chandler

APPENDIX A
The Death of Nophru-Ka

A powerful priest and leader, Nophru-Ka was an early
member of the separatist movements that took place in
the delta region of the Nile and were later referred to as
XIV Dynasty. He and his followers worshipped Nyarlatho-
tep in secret underground temples, and it was with the aid
of this Other God that Nophru-Ka laid designs against the
Pharaoh. These plans called for the secret temples to
chant down star-spawned monsters (Dholes) and caused
them to wreak havoc in the kingdom of the Pharaoh.
When the Pharaoh had sent his armies to deal with the
menace, the armed followers of the priest would attack
the palaces and governmental buildings of the Pharaoh. In
all this, Nophru-Ka was to be aided directly by Nyarlatho-
tep, who had promised to send a messenger.

Learning of the plot against his life and kingdom, the
Pharaoh, Khasekhemre Neferhotep I, sent spies and assas-
sins to the farthest points of his realms in search of the
evil priest. Nophru-Ka was finally found hiding in a secret,
underground temple deep in the western deserts. This
temple was known as the Well, and was particularly sacred
to Nophru-Ka and his followers. Finding the priest kneel-
ing in prayer, the assassins attacked and mortally wound-
ed him before being torn to pieces by his followers. With
his dying breath, Nophru-Ka spoke the prophecy later
dreamed of by the mad Arab, Abd al-Azrad.

By the time the Pharaoh learned of the death of
Nophru-Ka, the followers of the evil priest had borne his
body to a small valley where they buried their fallen lead-
er in a hastily constructed tomb. From here, the followers
of Nophru-Ka traveled to central Africa and G’harne, the
ruined city of the Old Ones. Here, Shudde M’ell and his
children took the followers of Nophru-Ka as prey, leaving
alive only the few that carried the blood of Nophru-Ka.
The Royal Family was to dwell in alliance with the Ctho-
nians while they awaited the fulfiliment of the prophecy.
The year was 1733 BC.

APPENDIX B
The Brotherhood of the Beast

This organization was formed by two men, Baron Haupt-
man and Lang-Fu, in the 12th centuray AD with the
intention of helping fulfill the prophecy of Nophru-Ka.

Appendices

D. New World Incorporated
E. The Sons of Terror

F. The Temples of Rhon-Paku
G. Time-Line of Events

Lang-Fu, the leader of a cult of Deep Ones in southern
China, met Hauptman in Damascus while studying astrol-
ogy. Lang-Fu possessed a fragment of al-Azif which he
claimed had been brought to him by a dark, winged being,
from a city buried below the sands of Arabia. This scrap
tells of the prophecy, and of the family that waits in
G’harne. Together they traveled deep into Africa and
there found the miserable remnants of the Royal Family.
More animal than human, the descendants of the priest re-
sisted contact by the two men until Hauptman transferred
his mind to the body of their chief. As the tribal leader,
Hauptman led the people north to the Mediterranean
coast where they began to inter-marry, spreading the
bloodline east into the Moslem lands and north into
Europe.

While Lang-Fu returned to China, Hauptman set up
headquarters for the Brotherhood in Europe and began to
build a network of agents drawn from the descendants to
aid him in tracing the families carrying the blood. These
agents are rarely aware of the full plans of the Brother-
hood, but know that they are of a specific family of des-
tiny and benefit from the association economically, due
to the constant machinations of Hauptman. During these
same centuries, Lang-Fu has laid much of the groundwork
for the political and spiritual considerations of the
Brotherhood.

The Brotherhood originally planned on establishing a
kingdom in eastern Europe, but their two attempts were
thwarted; first by a political disruption in Poland, and sec-
ond when the chosen child was accidentally killed by a
summoned being. With the coming of the 20th century,
the radically changing world conditions have brought
about an alteration in their plans. Using a Spirit Summon-
ing ability of Lang-Fu’s, similar to Paul LeMond’s, they
have called the long-dead priest’s spirit, and together the
three have hatched a desperate plan that calls for the dom-
ination of the entire world; a plan very similar to the one
that Nophru-Ka planned to use against the Pharaoh.

On a specific day known only as the Day of the Beast,
the Brotherhood will launch its plan. This involves un-
leashing various independent anarchist groups, funded and
controlled by the Brotherhood through NWI, against the
governments of the world, while the innocent temples of
Rhon-Paku, fostered secretly by Lang-Fu, call the Dholes
down upon the great cities of the world while calling a
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special chant prepared for them for a holy day. It is hoped
that this will create a world crisis involving the collapse of
several major governments.

Into this will step Edward Chandler, charismatic chair-
man of the board of New World Incorporated (NWI) and
already a popular world figure. He will turn all of NWI’s
considerable resources against the menaces facing the
world and, after emerging victorious, move into a position
of world leadership. Failing this, he will turn these same
resources, along with the many dark forces connected
with the Mythos, against the people in an effort to bring
the world to its knees.

Hauptman, Lang-Fu, and Edward Chandler will travel
to Egypt where, on the Day of the Beast, they will meet
at the feet of the Sphinx on the plateau of Giza. Here
they will cast a spell that will call Nyarlathotep down in
Beast form and in this form he will destroy Luxor, site of
ancient Thebes, capital of the Pharaoh, as well as travel
around the Mediterranean, wreaking havoc from Cairo
to Ankara.

APPENDIX C
Edward Chandler
His Public Image

Charismatic and intelligent, Edward Chandler has devoted
his adult life to the betterment of mankind while, at the
same time, developing New World Incorporated (NWI)
into one of the world’s largest corporations. The Chandler
Foundation, established in memory of Edward Chandler’s
parents, has brought disaster relief to stricken areas of the
world and granted large sums of money to projects con-
cerned with the betterment of mankind. Chandler, in his
role as chairman of the board, is also responsible for most
of the fringe benefits and profit-sharing plans now enjoy-
ed by the employees of NWI, Many of these benefits are
extended to foreign employees where NWI has concerns.
This policy has made it easier for NWI to enter foreign
economies, being welcomed by the governments
concerned.

All this effort has made Chandler one of the most rec-
ognizable and popular figures in the world. He has been
approached by both political parties in recent years as a
possible candidate for vice president, and a populist move-
ment during the last election year almost made him a
major third party contender for the presidency. Chandier
stopped the movement by publicly stating that he had
“no interest in politics at this time.” He has twice been
nominated for the Nobel Peace Prize.

The life of Edward Chandler has been well documented
by the news media. A sickly child, young Edward was sent
to Europe at the age of ten, where he studied with private
tutors hired by his father, owner of a moderately success-
ful tool-manufacturing concern in Chicago. Due to his
poor health, Edward lived in virtual seclusion during these
years, and apparently had no boyhood friends after
leaving Chicago. At the age of 18, Edward returned to
America, his health improved to the point where he could
enter college. Enrolling in business school at the Univer-
sity of Illinois, Edward soon became popular with his fel-
low students. His grades were very high, and his rapidly
improving health allowed him to join the football squad in
his sophomore year. Upon graduation, he joined his
father’s firm and began working his way up from the
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mail room.

It was in July, 1910, while Edward was vice president
of Chandler Enterprises, that his parents were tragically
killed in a boating accident while vacationing near San
Francisco. Edward soon took over reins of the company
and began building it into an international corporation
with many diversified holdings around the world. A few
years later, Edward established the Chandler Foundation
and began his rapid rise to world prominence.

Reality

Edward Chandler is a direct descendant of the Egyptian
priest, Nophru-Ka, and has been groomed by the Brother-
hood to rule the world. Born at midnight on Candlemas
(Feb. 1), 1880, his parents, minor members of the Broth-
erhood, notified Dr. Ambrose Cornwallis in Boston of a
new member of the bloodline. Realizing the significance
of the birth date, Cornwallis contacted Hauptman with
the information. After verifying Edward Chandler as the
child of the prophecy, plans were laid for the education of
the boy. At the age of ten, he was taken to Boston where,
after a short stay, he traveled to Europe with Baron
Hauptman. Here he dwelt in the ancient castle in Transyl-
vania studying the arcane tomes found in the library of
the Baron.

At the age of sixteen, Edward and the Baron traveled
several times of the forbidden libraries of Celaeno where
they studied the arcane spells used to call the Beast. His
education culminated in a trip to Egypt where they met
Lang-Fu and journied west to find the long-forgotten Well
of Nophru-Ka. Here, the visions beheld by Chandler
caused the awakening of long-dormant cellular memories,
allowing Chandler to live a sort of dual existence with the
long-dead priest. The personality of Nophru-Ka is by no
means complete, but does serve to affect Chandler’s per-
sonality to a great degree.

Chandler has always been careful to cover his links
with the dark side, but once, as a consequence of youthful
exuberance, committed an almost disastrous error. While
attending a drinking party with his fraternity brothers,
Edward, unused to the effects of alcohol, began hinting to
his companions of the strange things that he had seen and
read about. The young men did not befieve Edward’s wild
stories, but after a few more drinks, Edward accepted
their challenges, and bets were placed. After kidnaping a
co-ed off the streets, the young men proceeded to a near-
by park. Police, alerted by the screams, found the frater-
nity brothers chanting drunkenly to the sky with the poor
girl tied up on the ground. The five men were arrested,
but due to the influence of their families, the story was
kept out of the papers and the girl’s family settled out of
court. This story could be discovered by persistent in-
vestigators.

Edward Chandler is always in the company of several
bodyguards these days, and if any of the investigators
should try to confront him, they will probably pay
the consequences.

STR 14 CON 14 SIZ2 13 INT 20 POW 150
DEX 16 APP 20 SAN O EDU 22 HP 14

SKILLS: Read/Write or Speak English, German, Latin, Arabic,
Chinese, Egyptian, Greek, French, Spanish, Rumanian 75-95%;
Accounting 90%; Anthropology 65%; Archaeology 85%; Astron-
omy 60%; Botany 45%; Chemistry 55%; Cthuihu Mythos 99%;
Geology 50%; History 95%; Law 65%; Library Use 95%; Linguist
25%; Occult 75%; Zoology 55%; Psychology 95%; Pilot Aircraft



Bullet-Proof Vest

This item is worn by Edward Chandler and is capable of
stopping any bullet fired by a pistol or rifle. It covers all of
Chandler’s torso. Shots fired at Chandler have a 50% chance
of hitting the vest, which acts as 9-point armor.

75%; Bargain 95%; Credit Rating 100%; Debate 85%; Oratory
95%; Fast Talk 75%; Sing 75%.

SPELLS: All spells found in Calf of Cthulhu rulebook, Call Beast.

APPENDIX D
New World Incorporated (NWI)

NWI, while not the largest international corporation, cer-
tainly has diverse holdings in some of the decade’s most
imaginative new industries. Major interests include mining,
petroleum, and the manufacturing of aircraft. Recently,
NWI has acquired several shipyards on the east and west
coasts, and in England, where the construction of new ves-
scls is already underway. These ships are of a new design
and are being fitted with special electronic navigational
gear developed for them by another NWI company lo-
cated in Oakland, California. This experimental electro-
nics laboratory is one of NWI’s pet projects, and is peri-
odically opened for public tours. NWI has promised great
boons to mankind from this facility in the future. Lesser
known interests include vast holdings of stocks and bonds,
interests in international banking, and a controlling inter-
est in a little-known munitions firm in Mexico.

In Chicago, a skyscraper houses the administrative of-
fices of the corporation. The top three floors of the build-
ing are given over to the private residence of Edward
Chandler, who calls Chicago his home. His many gifts to
the city over the years have elevated him to the rank of an
honored citizen, and he has been allowed to erect a steel
tower atop the Chandler Building to which his private diri-
gible is anchored.

The secret word in the business world is the NWI has
stretched itself too thin as of late and that there is not
enough capital to keep the corporation afloat should there
be a sudden drain on finances. Rumor also has it that the
federal government has begun to take interest in some of
the financial dealings of the corporation. Public trust,
however, is at an all-time high.

Only a very few of the corporation’s highest officers
have any idea of NWI’s political involvements, and none
know of Chandler’s ultimate aims.

APPENDIX E
The Sons of Terror

Not truly a single organization but a term used by mem-
bers of the Brotherhood to collectively refer to the groups
infiltrated by the zombies of Dr. Dieter. These various
groups were not chosen for political reasons, but on the
basis of their capacity for violence, each one a fringe, radi-
cal element with suicidal tendencies. The infiltrators, over
the years, have risen to positions of influence within their
respective groups by being able to supply them with wea-
ponry (NWI-supplied, of course) and will lead them in at-
tacks. Each group believes itself to be acting alone and in
its own interests, unaware that similar groups all over the

world will be attacking at precisely the same time on the
Day of the Beast.

These groups will center their attacks on national cap-
itals and military installations.

APPENDIX F
The Temples of Rhon-Paku

This is a sudden new religion that has sprung up around
the world in the last decade. Its membership consists
mostly of disillusioned young people who are attracted by
a simple message of brotherly love with a slight, intriguing
hint of the occult.

The temples are independently administered and pay
homage only to Rhon-Paku, a mysterious holy man who
lives in a remote village in northern India. Each temple is
headed by a local follower who receives the Revelations of
Rhon-Paku through the mail. The only relationship shared
by the different temples is a central financial fund into
which excess funds are collected to be distributed to less
fortunate temples. The temples are all awaiting the an-
nouncement of a date for a special Holy Day that is soon
to come, and many have received the special prayer and
incense that are to be used.

The temples are of course backed by the Brotherhood,
which has occasionally funneled money through the
Chandler Foundation. When the special Holy Day arrives,
the leaders of the temples will unknowingly lead their fol-
lowers in chanting the spells that will call the monstrous
Dholes down from their distant planet. The successful
casting of this spell calls for the burning of incense con-
taining the mysterious mineral Blue John.

Absolutely no one involved with the temples is aware
of their actual purpose. All members and leaders are total-
ly innocent of any knowledge regarding the Brotherhood
or any other involved with the Day of the Beast. If the in-
vestigators can locate the village of Rhon-Paku, they will
discover the holy man to be an aging hydrocephalic man
continually tended by two sinister Chinese. The man was
once considered mad by his fellow villagers, but since the
coming of the Chinese ten years ago, the village has pros-
pered and the old man is revered. The two Chinese are, of
course, agents of Lang-Fu and the Brotherhood.

Temples can be found in the following locations: New
York, San Francisco, Paris, London, Berlin, Mexico City,
Rio de Janeiro, Brussels, Sydney, and Hong Kong. The
temples have been suppressed by Islamic nations and also
in Russia.

APPENDIX G

Time-Line of Events

1733 BC: Nophru-Ka is murdered by agents of the
Pharaoh.

1732: The Royal Family travels to G’harne. Here they
await the fulfillment of the prophecy.

1136 AD: Baron Hauptman meets Lang-Fu in Damascus.
The Brotherhood of the Beast is formed.

1190: Baron Hauptman forms the Knights of the Teuto-
nic Order as a front for the Brotherhood.

1212: Baron Hauptman is expelled from the Knights for
heresy.

1240: Baron Hauptman routs invaders in Transylvania and
begins construction of the castle that will house the rec-
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ords of the Brotherhood.

1542: Hauptman successfully smuggles the original de
Vermiss Mysteriis out of the prison cell of Ludvig Prinn.
1546: Hauptman is excommunicated by the Eastern
Church.

1586: Hauptman is visited by the Drs. John Dee and Ed-
ward Kelly. While Dee is here, he translates the English
version of the Necronomicon from a copy owned by
Hauptman.

1628: Hauptman is driven from his castle by angry peas-
ants led by the local priest Jan Savechik.

1792: The castle is reoccupied by Hauptman upon his re-
turn from America.

1880, February 1: Edward Chandler born at midnight on
Candlemas in Chicago. Dr. Ambrose Cornwallis of Boston
is notified of the birth.

1880, February 6: Cornwallis arrives in Chicago. Verifies
birth of potential “child” and immediately wires Haupt-
man in Transylvania. The Brotherhood begins to move.
1880-1890: Due to the intervention of the Brotherhood,
Chandler Enterprises begins to grow rapidly.

1886: Hauptman occupies a new body, Count Spanglais
of Hungary.

1890, January 9: Cornwallis travels to Chicago; returns to
Boston a week later in the company of young Master
Edward.

1890, July 21: Hauptman arrives in Boston from
Transylvania.

1890, July 29: Hauptman makes a gift of special specta-
cles to Dr. Cornwallis, then sails for Europe with young
Master Edward.

1890, October 23: Mrs. Cornwallis dons spectacles and is
attacked by a being from another dimension.

1891, July 3: Jeremy Cornwallis is born.

1891, September 14: The Cornwallis murders occur.

1896: Hauptman and Edward Chandler make a series of
trips to the libraries of Celaeno ovet the course of a year.
These trips coincide with a sudden outbreak of vampirism
in the vicinity of the castle.

1897: Hauptman and Chandler travel to Egypt where they
meet Lang-Fu and journey deep into the desert. After ex-
posing Edward Chandler to the visions of the Well, they
enter the tomb of Nophru-Ka. After removing specific
items that are needed, they murder their guide and reclose
the tomb. Back in Cairo, the trio separates and Edward
Chandler returns home to America.

1898: Edward Chandler enrolls in business school at the
University of Illinois.

1899: A college scandal involving Edward Chandler is
hushed up.

1902, May: Chandler graduates with honors. Immediatety
goes to work at his father’s rapidly growing firm, Chandler
Enterprises.

1910, July: Edward Chandler’s parents killed in sailing ac-
cident engineered by Lang-Fu and the Deep Ones. Edward
is sole heir to the family fortune and takes over as the
chief executive officer of Chandler Enterprises.

1913: Chandler Enterprises incorporates and begins to
diversify.

1920: Chandler Foundation formed in honor of Edward’s
parents. The Foundation begins awarding grants for re-
search in science and medicine, and gives to charitable
organizations.

1924: NWI secretly acquires munitions firm in Mexico.
1925: NWI acquires several shipyards.

1927: Hauptman occupies new body, formerly belonging
to Lionel Newman, a young British secretary. 0
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Michigan

INTRODUCTION

{t is not the designer’s intention that this mystery be
solved on the first attempt—spurious clues abound, and
the strange goings-on in the house may prove too much
for an investigator’s sanity to bear. It may even require
the efforts of more than one group of investigators to
finally exorcise the mansion. This adventure also allows
the keeper a chance to pit himself directly against the in-
vestigators in the persona of the ‘haunt. a spirit that
wishes to be left alone in the peace of its home.

The adventure resembles the traditional haunted house
found in books and movies and allows the keeper to apply
many frightening cliches to lead the investigators away
from the rather atypical source. Although certain limits
are imposed. the timing and placement of these ghostly
occurrences are left to the discretion of the keeper. Sug-
gestions are offered, but it is the responsibility of the
keeper to know what scares the investigators and to apply
this knowledge.

INVESTIGATORS’ INFORMATION

The most recent edition of Occult Review magazine con-
tains an article entitled “Haunted Houses of Ohio and
Michigan,” written by Arthur Lampkin of Toledo, Ohio.
The article coveres six different houses, each reputedly
haunted, and reports the author’s findings. One home,
located near Grand Rapids, Michigan, may be of singular
interest to the investigators.

This house, owned by a certain Maurice Van Laaden,
is over one hundred years old. It has been haunted as long
as the present owner (a descendant of the original builder)
can remember. Maurice wishes to sell the house and its
furnishings but has been unable to do so because of its
reputation. In an attempt to make the house more mar-
ketable. the owner has offered 10% of the sale price as
a reward for any person or persons capable of exorcising
the structure. The building is a three-story home of a
design more common to New England and is filled with
a large number of expensive antiques and objects d'art
that would bring a hefty price.

From the information given in the article, the inves-
tigators should be able to contact the magazine editor and
through him the author of the article or write directly
to Maurice Van Laaden in Grand Rapids.

The Haunted House

Investigators travel to Grand Rapids to ghostbust a house
haunted by strange and deadly events.

KEEPER'S INFORMATION

Although the investigators will discover and follow up
on a number of clues, they will be hard pressed to dis-
cover the true source of the haunting—and may find it
even more difficult to exorcise it once located. The ma-
levolent spirit of the house dwells in a great block of
ancient oak that serves as a mantel for one of the home’s
two great fireplaces. This spirit is actually that of a druid
who, over a thousand years ago, merged his body with the
living wood of a young oak tree. This oak lived in Scot-
land for over a thousand years and grew to an enormous
height and girth.

In 1843 this tree was cut by Brandon Van Laaden of
the Van Laadens of Grand Rapids, Michigan. The family,
grown rich off their large fruit orchards, sent Brandon, an
adventurer by nature, on a long trip through Europe, the
Middle East, and Africa. His purpose was to choose an-
tiques, furnishings, art objects, and expensive woods and
carpets with which to completely refurnish and refurbish
the home. While in southwest Scotland, Brandon saw the
huge oak tree, and decided that this single tree could be
used to completely redo the interior of the family home.
It was large enough to provide all the wood needed to
replace the floors and moldings of the home and even
provide some larger pieces that could be used decorative-
ly. Brandon had the tree cut down, sawn into large blocks,
and shipped to America.

Problems were experienced by the crew sent to cut
down the great tree and a death occurred in the actual
felling. The family never learned of the death of the Scot-
tish workman and so never drew a connection between
that occurrence and the accident that took place in front
of the house when the workmen were attempting to carry
the great oak mantle through the front door. The man
was not killed but was terribly maimed and left crippled
until his death.

The heart of the tree, where the druid’s soul dwelt,
contained the finest grain. This block was thus chosen
to be carefully milled and finished to serve as one of the
two great fireplace mantels gracing the remodeled home.
Within this block resided the druid, semi-comatose from
the death of the tree but still alive and occasionally wak-
ing from fitful nightmares to momentarily realize what
has happened to him.

Soon the druid, warmed by the fires kept burning be-
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neath him, began to heal and regain consciousness. The
druid perceived what was thought or taking place about
him through psychic channels and as his powers returned,
He found that he could extend himself throughout the
wood of the house to observe the people who lived there.
As the years went by, the druid felt more and more that
the house was actually his, and that the people living in it
were intruders. Thus began his campaign of fear, designed
to drive the human inhabitants away.

HISTORY OF THE HOUSE

In 1819, a successful sea captain, Erich Van Laaden, sold
his interest in a large East Coast shipping firm and moved
his family from Massachusetts to Michigan. Settling in
Kent County near what was to become the city of Grand
Rapids, he invested a considerable portion of his money
in the local fruit industry as well as beginning construc-
tion of a large family home. This house was in a seclud-
ed area a good distance from town and was built in the
New England style Erich loved. The house was completed
in 1821 and Erich, along with his three sons, Brandon,
Henry, and Jonathan as well as Jonathan’s wife, Eleanor
Dugan and their eighteen-year-old son, David Dugan Van
Laaden. moved in.

By 1830, the head of the family was the oldest son
Jonathan, who took over when the elder Van Laaden’s
health began to decline. Upon Jonathan’s death in 1842
Henry took over and, withdrawing most of their money
from the fruit business, began investing in a number of
small local funiture mills. Henry also invested in the rich
timberland and real estate in Kent County. The last of
the cash was given to Brandon, who used it to finance a
trip abroad. On this trip, Brandon collected and shipped
home most of the items that furnish and decorate the
home today.

Brandon died of a mysterious illness in 1847 while
Henry lived until 1863. Before Henry died, his son Aaron
took over the family business and skillfully turned the
holdings in the funiture mills into a new and burgeoning
industry that was to affect the economic development of
the entire area. Aaron, along with his father, was instru-
mental in incorporating their town into the growing city
of Grand Rapids. Aaron was considered a pillar of the
community and was well-like by most of the people in the
county. In 1854, Aaron built a secret stairway that led
from the upstairs study to the basement. This was used
as part of the “underground railroad,” used by slaves
escaping from the South. Aaron constructed this himself,
and was able to keep its existence and purpose safe from
most of the family. His father and wife knew, but Aaron
concealed it from his unlikable second-cousin Allen.

Aaron died in 1866 and the fortunes of the Van Laa-
den family soon turned downward. The business was left
in the hands of his wife Beatrice, who was ill-equipped for
the task. Selling off most of the family’s interests, she
lived in the old mansion with her two daughters, Deborah
and Virginia. Deborah eventually married and moved to
Detroit, never to be heard from again, and in 1893 the un-
married Virginia gave birth to a son, Maurice. In 1898
Beatrice, now insane, died in a fall, and Virginia and her
son continued to live alone in the huge house, supported
by the dwindling Van Laaden fortune. Virginia died in
1911 and Maurice, uncomfortable in the empty house,
took an apartment in the city where he still lives. Upon
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leaving the house, Maurice hired two German caretakers
named Karl and Hildegaard to keep the house clean and
safe from vandals.

-

HISTORY OF THE VAN LAADEN FAMILY

Erich Van Laaden was twice-widowed before moving his
family to the midwest. His first wife was Lydia Bishop
Parker, by whom he fathered his eldest son, Jonathan.
Lydia died in 1793, and it was ten years before Erich re-
married. This time his bride was the young and pretty
Elizabeth Collins who gave birth to Henry Wordsworth
and Brandon before dying alone of smallpox in 1812
while her husband was running the coastal blockades set
up by the British.

The reason that Erich suddenly sold out and left New
England was never clear, but it seems he had received a
severe shock on his last voyage aboard the ship Tanager.

Senile and confined to a wheel-chair for the last years
of his life, Erich died in 1848 at the age of 86.

Jonathan, though possessed of a sour disposition,
proved himself an able administrator of the family’s for-
tunes. Under his guidance their holdings grew. When he
died in 1842 at the age of 65 his wife, Eleanor Dugan,
returned to New England. His son, David Dugan Van
Laaden, now 39, continued to live in the Van Laaden
family home.

Upon Jonathan’s death, responsibility for the affairs
of the family passed on to his half-brothers Henry and
Brandon. Henry was married to Priscilla Longley of Mas-
sachusetts to whom he had been engaged at the time of
the family’s move to Michigan and who had joined the
Van Laaden family in 1823. They had two children, a
son Aaron, born in 1827, and a daughter, Elizabeth, in
1832. Brandon was a confirmed bachelor and adventurer,
and his brother, Henry, proved even more able at financial
affairs than the late Jonathan. Soon he had doubled the
fortune of the family and begun to refurbish the family
house. Henry died in 1863, four years after his wife, vic-
tim of a heart attack.

Brandon Van Laaden was the youngest son of Erich
and had the adventurous streak of his father. After com-
pleting his world travels, which consumed the years 1842
1o 1846, he returned home to Michigan and wrote a book
about his journeys. In 1847 he was laying plans for an-
other, longer trip when seized by a mysterious illness,
wasted away, and died. It was generally believed that the
disease was contracted while touring the Near East.

David Dugan Van Laaden was the only child of Jon-
athan and Eleanor and was nearly seventeen by the time
the family moved to Michigan, He was not well-liked by
his grandfather, Erich. In fact, Erich spitefully cut David
out of his will and what David believed to be his rightful
share of the family fortune. Henry, a kind man, never
questioned David’s right to remain living in the family
home and the disinherited son of Jonathan never lacked
for money. Nonetheless, David nursed a secret hatred for
the old man that eventually transferred itself to everyone
on that side of the family.

David married a local girl, Mary Gottler and moved her
into the house. Not long after, she gave birth to their
daughter Sarah in 1828 and later to Allen in 1832.

Born to Henry and Priscilla in 1827, Aaron Van Laa-
den grew up to exhibit the finest chracteristics of the Van



Laaden family. Tall and handsome, Aaron had an instinc-
tive love for all mankind and worked most of his life to
help his fellows while, at the same time, providing ably
for his family.

Aaron, in 1850, helped to incorporate the small town
into the city of Grand Rapids, and at about the same
time, he became involved with the ‘“underground rail-
road,” and secretly used the Van Laaden home to shelter
slaves escaping to Canada.

In an unrelated incident in 1853, a stranger, of East
Indian birth and seriously ill, died in an upstairs bedroom.
Due to the unknown nature of his disease, the decision
was made to close the room and plaster over the door.

During the Civil War, Aaron enlisted and served as an
officer in the G.A.R. distinguishing himself in several
battles and earning a number of decorations before return-
ing home upon the death of his father Henry in 1863.
Two days later, Aaron and his cousin Allen became in-
volved in a heated argument in the third-floor study of the
house when apparently the hot-headed Allen drew a pis-
tol and a struggle ensued. In the struggle, the gun dis-
charged, striking Allen in the stomach, The younger man
dropped the gun and staggered from the study. Bleeding
profusely, he died before Aaron could reach his side.
Shocked by the death of his beloved father and the acci-
dental killing of Allen, Aaron resigned his commission
with the Union Army.

From this time on, Aaron became increasingly with-
drawn, even neglecting his wife Beatrice. In 1866 he shot
himself in the nearby woods.

Aaron’s younger sister Elizabeth was born to Henry
and Priscilla in 1832. A shy quiet girl, she was the natural
favorite of their father and he tried valiantly to spoil her.
Despite this indulgence, Elizabeth was as kind and
thoughtful as her older brother, though possessed of a
more introspective personality. She often spent after-
noons in the front parlor, sitting in the sun, working on
her embroidery, or reading her favorite poets. It was in
this room when Elizabeth was only thirteen, that she first
heard the Voice. This Voice that spoke to her was actually
the druid, now fully conscious. Recognizing in the young
girl someone that he could manipulate, he began a long
campaign against the poor girl. By the time she reached
twenty he had convinced Elizabeth that he was the spirit
of another, higher world and that he had chosen her as his
bride. Fearing that she would be thought mad, Elizabeth
never told anyone about the Voice. One night, at the urg-
ing of the Voice, she quietly climbed the stairs to the
attic.

The next morning Elizabeth had vanished. By late
morning the family had grown concerned and a search of
the house and grounds was initiated. Henry discovered the
young girl’s body hanging from a rafter in the attic, her
face black and swollen and a suicide note pinned to her
dress.

Sarah was born in 1828 to David Van Laaden and his
wife Mary. A quiet young girl, she was continually berated
and punished by her brutal father. In 1845, estranged
from both father and mother, Sarah eloped with a local
boy and was not heard from again.

Allen was born to David and Mary in 1831 and inherit-
ed all the spite and venom of his father. Disliked by the
rest of the family, Allen lived in the house after the
deaths of his parents, but did not associate with his re-

latives. Tension between Allen and his well-respected
cousin Aaron grew until the two men avoided each other
and almost never spoke.

Allen suspected Aaron’s work on the underground
railroad and resented the use of the family home in this
manner. He feared to publicly expose Aaron’s activities
but his emnity grew.

When Aaron went to war, he reluctantly placed Allen
in charge of the family affairs. Left to his own devices,
the raging, alcoholic Allen soon had the family in a state
of constant fear. He feared to actually strike Beatrice or
her daughters, but a continual barrage of threats coupled
with displays of a violent temper kept the three women
in a state of panic with the aging Henry Van Laaden
powerless to intervene,

Mentally unbalanced, Allen had become obsessed at
an early age with the writing of Edgar Allan Poe. Learn-
ing of Henry and Beatrice’s plan to house several slaves
in the basement for a week, he fulfilled a black compul-
sion he had carried for years. He learned the details of the
operation and led the slaves to the secret room in the
basement. While his unsuspecting victims crouched in
the darkness and the family slept above, the mad Allen
sealed the escape tunnel with rocks and earth and then
bricked up the basement doorway, the only remaining
exit from the room.

Allen convinced Beatrice and Henry that the family’s
activities had become suspect and that he had been forced
to help the slaves escape in the night. He had then sealed
the escape tunnel and the door in case someone should
come to investigate. Two weeks later, with a leering grin,
he told Henry and Beatrice the truth. Henry’s heart was
too weak to take this latest shock and he was stricken by
a heart attack while he sat listening to the crazed Allen.
He died almost immediately and the next day Beatrice
wrote Aaron, pleading with him to return.

Aaron did not get home until after his father’s funeral.
After he had been home a few days, Beatrice told him
what had taken place since he had left for the war, The
next day Aaron confronted Allen in his study on the third
floor. An argument ensued and Allen tried to draw a small
pistol he had hidden inside his shirt. Aaron leaped upon
him and in the struggle, Allen was shot and killed. Wishing
to avoid public scandal, Aaron said that Allen had ac-
cidentally shot himself while cleaning the gun. As Allen
was decidedly disliked by most of the community and
Aaron well respected, the investigation was perfunctory,
eventually confirming the story as told by Aaron.

Beatrice was a local girl who married Aaron in 1850.
She was as well-liked as her popular husband. Through the
1850’s she aided her husband with the underground rail-
road and gave birth to their two daughters, Deborah and
Virginia.

When her husband went to war, she was left at home
with the two girls and her aging father-in-law. Beatrice
was terrified of Allen and his rages and the time she spent
with the madman wore badly on her. By the time Aaron
returned from the war, Beatrice had already begun to slip
into emotional disorder.

Upon her husband’s death in 1866, Beatrice slipped
further and further into insanity while her two young
daughters did the best they could to maintain the family
estate. By 1875, Beatrice had become totally incompe-
tent. She posed no real problems, but her strange mut-
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Van Laaden Time-Line

1819: Erich Van Laaden returns from extended voyage
to the far western Pacific Ocean. Without explanation, he
suddenly announces his retirement and sells all the family
interests in the shipping company. Within the year, Erich
and his sons have sold all their holdings in the New Eng-
land area and have moved to Michigan, eventually settling
in Kent County. Here they invest their money in fruit
orchards.

1821: Construction of the Van Laaden mansion is com-
pleted and the extended family moves in.

1823: The marriage of Henry Wordsworth Van Laaden
to Priscilla Longley of Boston, Massachusetts, takes place
in the Van Laaden home.

1826: David Dugan Van Laaden, son of Jonathan, marries
a local girl, Mary Gottler, and moves her into the home.
1827: Aaron is born to Henry and Priscilla.

1828: A daughter, Sarah, is born to David and Mary.
1832: Elizabeth is born to Herny and Priscilla, followed
shortly by the birth of Allen to David and Mary.

1842: Jonathan dies, leaving Henry in charge of the fami-
ly business. Henry begins to divest the family of the
orchard holdings and uses the capital to invest in small
furniture mills. The remainder of the money is set aside
to refurbish the home and to finance a long trip for his
younger brother, Brandon.

1843: Brandon locates ancient oak tree in the south of
Scotland and makes arrangements to have it cut down and
shipped to America.

Later that year, the widow of Jonathan, Eleanor Du-
gan, returns to her family in New England. She does not
see any of the Van Laadens again.

1845: Sarah, the daughter of David, disappears mysteri-
ously in the middle of the night and is never seen or heard
from again.

1846: Brandon Van Laaden returns home from abroad.
1847: Brandon dies suddenly from an unknown illness.

1848: Erich, feeble-minded and confined to a wheel-chair
dies of old age. Henry commissions a statue to be sculpted
and placed in front of the family home.

The old man had purposely cut David out of his will
but Henry graciously allows him to stay on at the house.
David remains bitter over the insult.

1850: The marriage of Aaron and Beatrice.

1852: Elizabeth, daughter of Henry and Priscilla, com-
mits suicide at the age of 20 by hanging herself from a

rafter in the attic. It is several hours before the body is
discovered.

1853: A stranger of foreign birth shows up lost at the Van
Laaden home one rainy night. The family puts him up,
but in the morning he is dead. Unable to identify the man,
the family has him buried in the family plot.

Later that year, David dies of natural causes, His wife,
Mary, moves out of the house and back with her family
in town.

In November, a daughter is born to Aaron and Bea-
trice. She is named Deborah.

1854: Aaron, now an active member of the underground
railroad, remodels the family home, adding water to the
kitchen and installing an upstairs bathroom. At the same
time, he constructs a secret stairway leading from the
third-floor study to the basement. A greenhouse is added
for Beatrice.

1857: A daughter, Virginia is born to Aaron and Beatrice.
1859: Priscilla Longley Van Laaden dies of pneumonia.
1861: Aaron enlists in the Union Army to fight in the

Civil War. He is commissioned an officer and begins a
short but distinguished career.

1863: Henry dies of a heart attack and Aaron returns
home. Two weeks later, Aaron engages in a heated argu-
ment with his cousin Allen and the latter is accidentally
shot and killed.

1866: Aaron dies ““as the result of a hunting accident.”
1872: Deborah Van Laaden marries a local man, Bertrand
Hancock of Grand Rapids.

1873: A son is born to Deborah and Bertrand. They name
him Henry in honor of Deborah’s grandfather.

1878: Bertrand begins to lay plans to excavate an Indian
mound discovered on the property. While working on the
site, Bertrand is severely injured in a freak accident and
left permanently crippled. He abandons work on the
mound but it is completed by the University of Michigan.

1880: Bertrand, a business graduate of the University of
Michigan, is offered a position in Detroit. He moves to
Detroit, along with Deborah and their son, leaving Vir-
ginia to care for the house and the aging Beatrice.

1893: Maurice is born to Virginia.

1898: Beatrice is killed in an accidental fall on the stairs.

1911: Virginia dies of natural causes. Maurice, now alone,
moves out of the house and never sets foot inside again.
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terings and nocturnal roaming of the house caused the
girls to fear her.

Beatrice died in 1898, the result of a fall from the sec-
ond-floor staircase. She was 68 years old.

The oldest daughter of Aaron and Beatrice was Debo-
rah, who grew up in the mansion helping her sister care
for their unstable mother. The two girls had little contact
with the people of Grand Rapids but Deborah somehow
attracted a beau and in 1872 married Bertrand Hancock,
giving birth to a son a year later. When her husband was
offered a position in Detroit a few years later, she moved
with him and has lived there ever since. She presently lives
in Grosse Pointe. Her existence is unknown to Maurice.

Bertrand Hancock was educated at the University of
Michigan in Ann Arbor and had an amateur’s interest in
archaeology. In 1878 he discovered what appeared to be
an Indian mound on the Van Laaden property and began
plans to excavate it.

During the first week of the work, an accident occur-
red. A large block and tackle had been hung from a heavy
iron tripod sel alop the mound. Improperly braced, the

tripod slid down the side of the mound and overturned,
maiming the unfortunate Bertrand. He was left with only
one good eye and a permanent limp. He never returned to
the site of the mound, leaving the excavation to be com-
pleted by a University team, and a year later moved his
family to Detroit, accepting a position with a manufac-
turing firm. Bertrand died in 1915, survived by his wife
and son.

Virginia was the younger daughter of Aaron and Bea-
trice and it was her fate to remain in the family home
caring for Beatrice until her mother’s death in 1898.

Resigned to her duties, Virginia never married. Con-
sequently, when she gave birth to a son in 1893, some
scandal was raised. Virginia rarely ventured far from the
house and so was immune to most of the gossip spread by
the tongue-wags of the city. She raised her son Maurice in
the nearly-empty house, simultaneously caring for the
feeble-minded Beatrice.

Virginia died in 1911 leaving the entire family estate
to her son. She never revealed the identity of Maurice’s
father.

THE VAN LAADEN FAMILY TREE
Lo _________-..----Erich Van Laaden-------________ . )
Lydia Bishop Parker 17621848 Elizabeth Collins
1765-1793 1782-1812
|
Jonath Brandon Hewitt
onathan==ea_ .
1787-1842 m, Eleanor Dugan 1807-1847
1794-1843 Henry Wordsworth o
1802-1863 > m. Priscilla Longley
1804-1859
David Dugan==e.___
1803-1853 = m. Mary Gottler
1813-1856 |
Elizabeth
I I 1832-1852
Aaron~
Sarah Allen Gottler 1827-1866 >~
18287 1832-1863 ">~ m. Beatrice Smith
1832-1898
Deborah\ . 1 .
1853- S Virginia
Note- Onlv th y . 1857-1911
ote: Only those names in bold type are _Be H,
included in the Van Laaden family Bible. m. Bertrand Hancock ,
These were written in the book by Jonathan. )
After his death the record was not main- Maurice
tained all information in italics is for the Henry Wordsworth Hancock 1893-
keeper only. - 1873

The Haunted House - 99



CLUES AND INFORMATION

The local newspaper, The Grand Rapids Herald, dates
back to 1873. Each successful Library Research roll yields
one of the following stories or announcements:

1. A birth announcement dated 1873 for Henry Words-
worth Hancock, son of Bertrand and Deborah Van Laaden
Hancock.

2. A story written in the summer of 1878 tells of an un-
fortunate accident that left a local man, Bertrand Han-
cock, severely injured. He was injured while aiding a team
from the University of Michigan excavate an Indian
mound discovered on a remote portion of the old Van
Laaden property. (See “ The Van Laaden Papers 1.”)

3. A birth announcement in 1893 tells of the birth of a
son, Maurice, to Virginia Van Laaden. The father is not
named.

4. A story dated 1898 relates the death of Beatrice Van
Laaden in a fall from a staircase in her home. Her late hus-
band Aaron is mentioned in connection with his Civil War
commendations. (See “The Van Laaden Papers 2.”)

6. An obituary dated 1911 announces the death of

Virginia Van Laaden from natural causes.

An earlier newpaper, the Kent Clarion, folded in 1872.
The local public library has filed editions of this paper
dating back to the library’s founding in 1852. Each Li-
brary Use success reveals one of the following facts:

1. An obituary for Elizabeth Van Laaden, who died in
1852 at the age of 20. No cause of death is given.

2. A birth announcement for Virginia Van Laaden, born
of Aaron and Beatrice in 1857.

3. An obituary dated 1859 for Priscilla Longley Van
Laaden. Death was attributed to pneumonia. She is sur-
vived by her husband, Henry, and her son, Aaron.

4. A paper dated 1861 lists men who have joined the
Union forces. Captain Aaron Van Laaden is among them.
6. A story dated September, 1862, tells of Captain
Aaron Van Laaden’s citing for heroism at the second Bat-
tle of Bull Run.

6. An 1863 obituary announces the death of Henry
Wordsworth Van Laaden, “from a mercifully brief ill-
ness.”

7. A story dated shortly after the obituary of 1863 tells

MAURICE VAN LAADEN

Maurice is in his late twenties/early thirties and lives in a small
apartment in downtown Grand Rapids. He is of medium height
and although reasonably healthy, he is a little pudgy, due in part
to the fact that he nas never worked a day in his life. His dark
hair is kept a little on the long side for this day and age, and his
pencil-thin moustache, beret, and cigarette holder give him an af-
fected, Bohemian look. He is part of a very small clique that look
upon themselves as poets and political radicals. The locals have
tolerated Maurice’s simplistic ideas and bad poetry for years, sim-
ply because of his access to the Van Laaden fortune. Maurice is
capable of calling for radical socialist reforms at the very same
time he is worrying about his dwindling bank account. The threat
of true poverty is what has inspired Maurice to sell off the family
property.

Born in 1893, Maurice never learned who his father was and
was raised in the huge mansion by his mother and lunatic grand-
mother. Maurice was only five when Beatrice died, but she made
3 deep impression on the young boy’s mind. He would often
awake in the middile of the night to find the aged woman, eyes
bugging from her head, and white frizzy hair standing out in all
directions, gibbering and leering at him from the foot of the bed.
Maurice would scream and cry for his mother who would come
and lead the old woman back to her bedroom on the third floor,
there to put her back to bed. Maurice remembers little about
his childhood, and nothing about grandma Beatrice. In fact,
Maurice knows little if any of the history of the Van Laaden
family or the house and can shed little light on either subject.
He knows that his grandfathter, Aaron, was a Civil War hero and
he is aware that the great-great-grandfather, Erich, was a sea
captain from New England. The investigators will find him severe-
ly lacking in any facts regarding any black sheeps in the family and
he knows nothing of the suicides or murders that took place in
the house. Neither is he aware that he has an aunt still living in
Detroit.

If one of the investigators makes a Psychology roll while talk-
ing with Maurice about the house or the family, he will realize
that the man is unconsciously hiding facts about events that have
taken place in the house. This information came to Maurice in the
form of disjointed stories that his grandmother would tell him at
night while he slept in his bed. A successful Psychoanalysis per-
formed by one of the investigators (with Maurice’s consent, of
course) will bring these facts to light, Beatrice told him many
things about the house including the truth about the crimes com-

mitted by the deranged Allen and how he was later murdered by
her husband Aaron. Most importantly, she told him about the
strange voice that she heard in the night; a voice that would seem
to float into her head. This voice would sing a strange song or
chant to her. Under psychoanalysis, Maurice can sing a little of
this song that was taught to him by his grandmother and if an
investigator makes a successful Linguist roll while listening, he will
recognize an archaic form of Celtic. Beatrice also told Maurice that
once upon a time, her sister-in-law Elizabeth was supposed to
marry this voice but ‘‘the poor girl died instead.”

if the investigators wish to explore the house and Maurice
agrees to this, he requires them to sign a contract that spells out
the conditions of employment. While not exactly dishonest,
Maurice is not above using the legal procedure to adjust the situa-
tion in his favor. To this end, Maurice and his attorney have left
several areas in the contract quite vague. If none of the investiga-
tors succeeds in a Law roll, and they are unwise enough to sign the
document without having it checked over by a qualified profes-
sional, they may find themselves getting less out of the deal then
they expected. Details of this document are listed under “The
Contract.”

M the investigators reach an agreement with Maurice, he will
provide them with a ring of keys for the house. This ring contains
over a dozen keys of varying design and manufacture and opens
most doors in the house. However, a couple of important keys are
missing and there are a number of useless keys which don‘t pertain
10 anything in the house. Maurice informs the group that there is
no key for the main gate. That is in the possession of the care-
taker, Karl, and he is solely responsible for locking the gate at
night. Karl is instructed to leave it open during the day. Maurice
insists that he escort them any time that they travel to or from the
property (though he will drop this stipulation if he comes to trust
the investigators) and reserves the right to inspect their persons or
vehicles if he feels he has reason to suspect that they are removing
articles from the house. (The contract stipulates that nothing may
be removed from the premises.)

If the investigators lack proper transportation, (remember, the
house is located 15 miles north of the city) he offers to drive them
out in his automobile and return at a day and time that they all
agree upon. Under no circumstances will Maurice enter the house
or even set foot past the gate.

STR 7 CON9 SIZ 13
DEX 8 APP 10 EDU 9

INT 12
SAN 32

POW 10
HP 11

SKILLS: Credit Rating 85%; Drive Automobile 40%; Read/Write
French 45%; Sing 15%; Speak French 55%.
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THE CONTRACT

This is an eight-page document prepared in advance by Maurice
and his attorney. It is a standard form that is presented to and
signed by all potential ‘‘ghostbusters.” It is written in the finest
print available and the wording has been made as complicated as
possible. Looking it over, the investigators will fir.d that basically
it states that if the haunt’” is removed from the house, the inves-
tigators will receive a 10% share of the sale price. It states that the
signers will not engage in malicious destruction remove from
the property any item or items found in the house without the ex-
press approval of the owner. The signers will be held responsible
for any damage deemed excessive that they may cause in the
course of their investigation.

There are four ‘‘loopholes” designed into this contract that
could prove costly to unwary investigators It will require four
separate, successful Law rolls to discover these items.

Point 1: The contract calls for the investigators to prove the haunt
has been expelled. No mention is made of what would be deemed
proof. Later in the document is a rather vague mention of ten
years being a fair amount ot time to prove the absence of the
“haunt’ it po other proot can be otfereo.

Point 21 As written, the signers can be held responsible for any
damages that the property should incur. This could become quite
expensive.

Point 3: The signers are held responsible for any missing items.

There is no inventory of the property provided to prove what is
really there.

Point 4: This is a provision that allows Maurice to deduct certain
expenses from the fee that will be paid to the investigators. Once
again, this part of the contract is written in a purposefully vague
manner to confuse the issue.

If the investigators should choose to consult with a lawyer in re-
gards to the contract, they may have to choose one practicing in
Grand Rapids. To determine an individual lawyer's Law score,
roll 3D6x5%.

If the investigators should discover the tricky parts in the con-
tract and confront Maurice with them, he will back down on these
issues and agree to rewrite portions of the contract in clearer,
more equitable terms.

Maurice does not really intend to cheat the investigators, but
is merely trying to protect his own interests. If he believes that the
haunt has truly been exorcised, he will pay the investigators upon
the sale of the property without trying to make them wait the ten
vears. Neither would he try to cheat them on damage charges but
merely desires a legal lever should he feel that the group has been
destructive without good reason. If the investigators are successful,
Maurice will see that they get at least half of what they think they
deserve. If for some reason Maurice has grown close to the group
(solved some of his personal psychological problems or discovered
the name of his father or the existence of his surviving aunt)
Maurice may actually overpay them a bit. No matter how good
a job the group may do, Maurice cannot possibly pay them before
the property has been sold; he has very little money.

of the accidental death of Allen Van Laaden in a firearms
accident in the home. (See “The Van Laaden Papers 3.”)
8. A story dated 1866 describes the accidental death of
war hero Captain Aaron Van Laaden while hunting near
his home. (See “The Van Laaden Papers 4.”)

The library also contains a number of specific books that
may be of interest to the investigators. In the local history
section is History of Kent County, 1836-1912, published
in 1914. This holds a number of references to the Van
Laaden family including notice of the efforts put forth by
Henry and Aaron toward the incorporation of the city of
Grand Rapids in 1850 along with their early interest in
furniture manufacture which came to prominence in the
area in 1859. Most of the information is of a civic nature
and holds little interest for the investigators. However,

INSANITY

The following effects are appropriate for anyone going mad
while investigating this scenario.

The keeper should choose one effect from the following
each time an investigator goes insane. An investigator will
suffer from only one of the listed effects.

1. White Hair: The investigator’s hair turns completely
white within 6 hours and remains this way.

2. Chronic Dendrophobia: This character will suffer for
the rest of his life a certain slight queasiness about the trees
around him,

3. Nervous Tic: The investigator cursed with this malady
suffers from a constant twitching of the muscles of the face
causing permanent loss of 1 point of APP and correspond-
ing losses of 5% in each Communication skill.

4. Recurrent Nightmares: This unfortunate will suffer
from chronic nightmares about the house. Sleeping badly
thus causes him to lose 1 point of CON permanently.

one story about the war hero Aaron Van Laaden mentions
that it was thought that he had once been a link in the
underground railroad and had kept a secret room in the
basement of the Van Laaden home to this end.

If the group should somehow gain access to the locked,
rare book section of this library, they will find a rather
disappointing collection with the possible exception of
one old, fraying volume entitled The Voyages and Jour-
nees of Brandon Van Laaden, 1842-1846. This is the same
book found in the Van Laaden home library. (see “The
Van Laaden Papers 5.)

In the archaeology section is a volume published in
1880 by the University of Michigan Press. It holds a scien-
tific report on findings made in the excavation of a small
Ottawa Indian mound located north of Grand Rapids.
Anyone reading this book will find that the discoveries
made at the site were of a singularly unspectacular nature.
However, the book is dedicated to a Bertrand Hancock,
who is credited with first discovering the mound--located
on the old Van Laaden family property—and who was
severely injured during the course of the excavation.

The volume was written by Dr. Richard Pendergast. If
the investigators contact the University for further infor-
mation, they can find that Pendergast died in 1881 (he
was 68). Records of the students who assisted on the dig
are lost.

At the Kent County Hall of Records a successful Law
roll is required to gain access to the records. Here the in-
vestigators can locate complete birth and death records
for the Van Laaden family. These records date back to
1836 and do not contain any information of a ‘secret’
nature. In other words, there are no special clues pertain-
ing to any of the suicides, mysterious deaths, or disappear-
ances. It is simply a straight-forward record of the citizens
of the county.
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SCENES

The following descriptions contain sections in italics.
These sections contain what the investigators will see or
otherwise sense upon entering the area and may be read
directly to them from the text. The paragraphs following
the italics section contain additional information and
clues that the keeper should read to himself, revealing
specific details to the investigators as they are discovered.

THE GROUNDS

You are being driven to the mansion by Maurice Van Laa-
den. Traveling north from Grand Rapids on the two-lane
state road, Maurice begins to slow his car, as if not sure of
where he is. After driving in this manner for some two
hundred yards, he turns left and carefully steers the
vehicle into a narrow and rutted dirt road—barely more
than two cars wide— that winds slowly uphill through land
shaped by ancient glaciers. The towering oaks and maples
form an arch above the road, blocking the sun, and a
damp chill settles.

Maurice slows the car to a crawl as he comes to a low
spot in the road. Water from a recent rainstorm has
formed a muddy pool across the path. The car feels as
though it may bottom out as Maurice slowly picks his way
through pot-holes hidden by the puddle, but then he pulls
up onto dry land again and a long, slow bend to the left
brings you face to face with the Van Laaden mansion.
(Note: This dip in the road is not easily visible traveling
from the direction of the house. If a driver fails to remem-

ber this hazard while fleeing the house at high speed, it
takes a Drive Automobile roll to avoid a smash-up.)

Silhouetted darkly against the gray sky, the three-story
house crouches behind an iron fence, surrounded by dead
and dying trees, the last remnants of paint blasted from its
surface years ago by the harsh Michigan winters. Its shut-
ters are closed against the outside world and the unin-
viting path to the front door chokes with scrub. In stark
contrast, the white marble statue of an old mariner, com-
plete with ship’s wheel and anchor, stands halfway be-
tween the old house and the rusting iron fence that sur-
rounds the property. To the right stands a large carriage
house of design similar to the mansion, the sag of its roof
telling its age.

Outside the fence is a small building, made of brick and
sturdily constructed. Standing near its front door is an
older man, gray-haired and stooped. He peers at you
curiously through small, steel-rimmed spectacles.

This fellow is Karl, the caretaker. Maurice explains to Karl
why they are there and introduces him to the investiga-
tors. At some point, Hildegaard emerges from the house
to see what the commotion is about. In halting English
she insists on being introduced too, and then stands
watching nervously, trying to understand the conversation.

Maurice explains that Karl has the key for the main
gate and will leave it unlocked for the investigators during
the daylight hours. At nine o’clock Karl retires for the
night and will lock the gate at that time. If the investiga-
tors wish to leave at night, they will have to shout for
Karl. Maurice wants to keep the property secure at night

KARL AND HILDEGAARD

This couple is of German descent and are in their late fifties. Hired
by Maurice in 1911 to care for the property, they have lived in the
small gatehouse outside the fence since that time. Maurice pays
them fairly and in return they are supposed to keep an eye on the
place, make repairs as necessary, and go inside to clean and dust
every week or so. The investigators will be ntroduced to the
couple by Maurice.

The couple has not entered the rambling mansion since Hilde-
gaard suffered a terrible fright shortly after they were hired. One
day. while Kar) worked on the small garden surrounding the statue
of Erich, Hildegaard was alone in the house, scrubbing the marble
tile in the foyer. Looking up from her work for a moment she saw
the ghost of the mad Beatrice cackling at her from the staircase,
Hildegaard ran screaming from the house and into the arms of the
startled Kari. Karl cautiously entered the home but saw nothing
and returned to comfort his shaken wife. Hildegaard eventually
recovered from her fright but neither has entered the house since
that day. They fear that if Maurice discovers that they have not
been cleaning as expected, he will fire them and throw them off
the property. Consequently, Karl’s answers about the house are
somewhat guarded.

Karl, like his wife, 1s of simple, peasant stock, and is used to a
life of hard work. Considering his age and the size of the property
involved, he has done a fair job of keeping it up over the years.
Karl feels some concern for the welfare of the investigators and if,
in the course of their stay at the home, he should hear gunshots or
screams he may be moved to come and investigate their source,
armed with the .12 gauge shotgun that he keeps in the gatehouse,
To overcome his fear of entering the house, he will be required to
make a Luck roll. If he faiis the roll, he cowers inside his home,
desperately hoping that the whole thing will blow over.

Karl
STR 14 CON 15 SIZ 13 INT 14 POW 12
DEX 12 APP 9 EDU 6 SAN 60 HP 14

SKILLS: Electrical Repair 50%; Mechanical Repair 75%; Speak
English 35%; .12 gauge double-barrel shotgun 45%.

Hildegaard has been married to Karl for over 35 years now and is
still in love. She impresses the investigators as a nice, honest
woman, even though she speaks little English and is rather shy. If
an investigator should make an Oratory roll while talking with her
{in German of course) she will express her fears about the fate ot
her pet cat, Klaus. If the investigator should make a successful
Oratory roll while speaking with Hildegaard, she will tell kim
about her experience with the ghost a few years ago, at the same
time trying not to reveal that she and Karl have not been jnside
the house since.

HMildegaard won’t enter the house under any circumstances; not
even to help Karl.

Hildegaard
STR 11 CON16 SI1Z14 INT 10 POW 15
DEX 10 APP 14 EDU 6 SAN 53 HP 15

SKILLS: First Aid 65%; Speak English 15%; Treat Disease 25%.

Although they are devoted to one another, the couple has a ten-
dency to argue loud and often. During the investigators’ stay, an
argument will break out between the two. It will take place inside
the couple’s home and the investigators will hear shouting and yel-
ling. A successful Speak German roll tells the listener that it is
simply a domestic quarrel of no real significance,

The couple retires early, and a watchful investigator may no-
tice the lights go out in the gatehouse prompty at nine o’clock.
The couple falls asleep immediately. It will have been explained to
the investigators beforehand that Karl locks the gate at night be-
fore bed. The investigators do not possess a key for the gate and
if they wish to leave after dark, they need to yell for Karl who will
awake and let them out, unless he fails a Listen roll.
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and insists on this condition.

If any investigator makes a Psychology roll while con-
versing with Karl, or while listening to Karl speaking with
Maurice, he will notice that Karl seems quite nervous.
(Note: Both Karl and Hildegaard fear that the investiga-
tors will find that they have not cleaned the inside of the
house in over a decade. This, they fear, could cost them
their jobs.)

A. The lron Fence: This fence, eight feet high, is rusted
but still completely surrounds the property, silently warn-
ing off intruders with its sharp, pointed finials.

A successful Climb roll is needed to exit the property
without using the gate. If a player states specifically that
he is being careful when climbing he must roll his DEXx
5% or less to avoid a puncture wound (1D6 damage). If
the investigator fails to take special care, he needs a POWx
2% roll to avoid injury. If an injured investigator fails a
roll of CONx 5% or less, he will contract blood-poisoning
and be laid up for 1D6 weeks.

B. The Statue: This is a carved marble figure, standing on
a small pedestal, dressed in the traditional gear of a New
England mariner. In his hands is clenched a ship’s wheel
and at his feet rests a ship’s anchor.

A worn inscription on the pedestal reads: ‘“Our father,
Erich Van Laaden. 1762-1848.” If an investigator should
make a Listen roll while tapping this pedestal, he will
realize that it is hollow. Inside is an old ship’s clock with
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the name ‘Tanager’ inscribed on it, along with the dried
remains of a wreath placed here by the family upon dedi-
cation of the sculpture. It will require heavy equipment to
carefully move the statue off the pedestal.

C. The Carriage House: This sagging building is of the
same vintage as the house. It has three sets of double
doors in the front and could serve as a garage for an inves-
tigator’s car if the doors were not jammed shut by the
pressure exerted from the bowed roof. The pairs of doors
on either end have a resistance STR of 25 and the center
pair of doors has STR 32. Two investigators may grab any
door and try to yank it open using their combined STRs
and continue pulling until the door opens. If an investiga-
tor should make an Idea roll while trying to open the cen-
ter doors, he will realize that these doors hold up the
building and that opening them could cause it to collapse.
If the group should force the center doors open, the build-
ing collapses. Anyone standing next to it must make a
Dodge roll or receive 2D6 points of damage.

If the investigators successfully open the doors, they
will find that the carriage house is filled wall-to-wall and
floor-to-ceiling with boxes, crates, trunks, and all manner
of old, stored items. It takes 10 man-hours to haul all this
stuff out and give it even a cursory inspection. If the
investigators do this, the keeper may wish them to at-
tempt various skill rolls as they unpack the junk, but aside
from a few unimportant family heirlooms, there is no-
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thing of value here. It will require an additional 10 man-
hours to pack all the stuff back in.

D. The Greenhouse: Easily visible near the carriage house,
the glass panes are coated with dirt and grime but, sur-
prisingly, none seems to be broken. If an investigator
should attempt to wipe or scrape the film off to peer
inside, he will find that the inside surface of the glass is
just as badly coated and that he can see nothing. The door
to the greenhouse is locked, but one of the keys provided
by Maurice fits. (See “The House Interior: First Floor”
for further details.)

E. The Tool Shed: This is unlocked. Inside is the usual
assortment of wheelbarrows, watering cans, garden tools,
etc. It is obvious that Karl uses this building occasionally
(he still does some yard work) as it is reasonably neat and
free of cobwebs.

If one of the investigators should examine the garden
tools, he will see that the shovel has a brown, crusty stain
on the blade, which looks like dried blood. If an investiga-
tor can make a Zoology roll while testing it at the proper
facilities, it turns out to be the blood of a rodent. It is
actually that of a woodchuck killed by Karl a few weeks
ago in his garden.

F. The Family Burial Ground: Standing far back on the
property and obscured by a forest of tall weeds and over-
grown shrubs is the tall, spire-like monument that marks
the grave of Erich Van Laaden and that serves as the
centerpiece for the small family cemetery.

On closer inspection it is found that the fenced grave-
yard is one of the few areas that has been well-tended by
Karl. Although some of the older stones are weathered
and hard to read, and some are tilted at odd angles, the
graves themselves are neat and well-defined, the paths
between them clear and free from weeds.

With a little squinting the investigators can make out
the names and dates of those buried here. In the center,
beneath the gray-veined marble spire, lies Erich Van
Laaden, 1762-1848. To his immediate right is Brandon,
1807-1847; next to him, Henry, 1802-1863; Priscilla,
1804-1859; and Elizabeth, 1832-1852. At the foot of
the graves of Henry and Priscilla are two more, Aaron,
1827-1866; and Beatrice 1832-1898.

On Erich’s left are buried Jonathan, 1787-1842; and
David, 1803-1853. In the southeast corner of the little
cemetery there is a small, plain tombstone, inscribed only
as “A stranger—1853.” In the northeastern corner of the
graveyard, buried far away from the rest of the Van Laa-
den family, is Allen Van Laaden, 1832-1863.

G. The Escape Tunnel: Someone investigating this area
who makes a Spot Hidden roll, notices a circular low spot
in the ground, partially obscured by a thick growth of
wild forsythia.

If the investigators dig out this area, removing the bush
reveals that the low spot is filled with large rocks. These
rocks are wedged in, and choke off a tunnel dug into the
earth and supported by wooden beams. If the tunnel is
cleared (taking 30 man-hours) the investigators can gain
access to the sealed room in the basement.

H. Path to the Indian Mound: If this path is followed into
the woods for about a quarter of a mile, the investigators
can find a large, earthen mound about twenty feet in dia-
meter. An Anthropology roll identifies it as an Indian
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mound, probably of the Ottawa tribe. A successful
Archaeology roll will reveal that it was thoroughly exca-
vated at one time, and then the earth replaced. (A full
report on the findings made in 1878 can be obtained from
the University of Michigan.) If the investigators dig up the
mound in hope of finding something, allow each a Luck
roll daily for a chance of discovering some overlooked
arrowhead or shard of pottery. Anything found is useless
to the investigation at hand.

THE HOUSE EXTERIOR

The house itself seems to have an air of the forbidden.
You sense malevolence as you draw closer. The windows
are sealed by hinged, wooden shutters and, along with the
locked doors, seem to silently refuse you access to its
secrets. As you approach closer, you can see the remaing
of the whitewash that once protected its wooden clap-
boards. It is obvious that no one has cultivated or cleaned
the garden beds that once decorated the home. Rampant
weeds and scrub grass partially cover the first floor win-
dows all the way around the house. The three-story struc-
ture is topped by a hipped roof pierced by two massive
chimneys of crumbling brick.

The front walkway has been kept partially cleared by
Karl and leads to the small porch. The main entrance to
the house is closed by a pair of very large, oak doors dec-
orated with iron knockers and surmounted by a wide
fanlight. As you step onto the front porch, you feel a
sudden urge to flee; but this passes.

There are three entrances to the house; the front door,
the back door, and the greenhouse. All three entrances are
locked, but the necessary keys are contained in the collec-
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tion given by Maurice Van Laaden. Karl possesses an iden-
tical set of keys. Investigators may even decide to enter
through one of the windows. This can be easily achieved
by prying open the latched shutter with a crow-bar, and
then either forcing up the latched, double-hung window,
or simply breaking the pane out. This sort of action at-
tracts Karl’s attention, but he won’t say anything to the

group.

THE HOUSE INTERIOR

The following is a general description of the interior
of the house and applies to most areas the group may
investigate.

As the door to the house creaks inward and the rays of
your light pierce the gloom, the whirling dust, dancing
in the yellow beam, tells of the general condition of the
interior. Everywhere you swing your light you find thick
coats of dust and great cobwebs, heavy with grime,
stretched across archways and hanging from ceiling fix-
tures and furniture in sticky webs. You can smell the
musty odor that pervades the structure, an odor of age
and containing an unnatural cloying dampness.

A quick glance around gives you the feeling that the
house was left in haste some years ago. Tables are set,
candles stand ready in their holders, and each fireplace
is set with logs and tinder, ready for lighting.

Any investigator making an Idea roll can realize that,
despite the fact the Maurice told them that Karl and
Hildegaard clean once a week, no one could have entered
the house for years.

At this time, all the investigators experience the same

feeling that somehow *the house doesn’t want us,” and
each investigator is required to make a SAN roll as they
step across the threshold. Anyone failing the roll loses
1 SAN point but as the house is entered, the feeling of
intense dread subsides.

THE FIRST FLOOR
The Foyer

You stand in the main entrance hall of the home. Two
large, oak doors on the south wall open to the front
porch, while directly across the room to the north is a
great, wide staircase of polished wood leading to the sec-
ond floor above. To the right of the staircase, a long, dark
hallway, criss-crossed by cobwebs, disappears into the
darkness at the back of the house while on either side of
the room are open archways through which you can see
other rooms, each decorated with furniture and paintings.

To your right, in a corner, is a display case filled with
porcelain birds and other wildlife, while on the other side
of the doors is a coat rack and umbrella stand next to a
silent grandfather clock. A long, black coat, filthy with
dust, hangs from the rack, and a folded umbrella rests
near it in a stand made from an elephant’s foot. On the
other side of the room is a small couch, protected by a
linen sheet, and hung near it is a full-sized mirror mounted
in an ornate, gold-leaf frame. Overhead is a large chan-
delier hung from a chain, its crystal teardrops dull and
dust-coated.

Anyone making a Know roll will recognize the porcelains
as objects of value, the whole collection worth approxi-
mately $250 at current market prices. The elephant-foot
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umbrella stand is authentic, a relic of Brandon’s world
trip. The coat on the rack has a name tag on the inside
collar, and if checked, is found to be the property of
Maurice.

SPOOKY EVENTS

The haunt, among other things, can cause the chandelier to
swing by flexing the boards to which it is attached at the
ceiling. In a drastic situation, it can even break the boards
that hold the fixture loose causing 208 damage to anyone
beneath it that fails t0 make a Dodge roll. The haunt can
also cause the clock to begin to tick when the investigators
are out of the room by flexing the floorboards beneath it
and setting the pendulum in motion. The mirror is of
course usable for making faces at the party.

The Kitchen

Bare-floored, its cupboard doors hang open and empty.
The kitchen seems the most deserted of the rooms you
have found on the first floor. The sink is stained and dry,
and thick cobwebs shroud the pump on the counter over-
hanging it. There is a small, wooden table of simple
design, set with two chairs. To one side of the table is a
narrow, wooden door with a keyhole. On the other side is
a smaller door, of different design and measuring only
three feet high and two feet wide, set about four feet
above the floor. Swinging doors are mounted on both
exits from the room.

The normal-sized door is locked, but the investigators can
open it with a key to discover the basement stairs behind
it. The smaller door opens to a dumb-waiter. An investiga-
tor of SIZ 13 or less could fit into this mini-elevator and,
using the hand ropes, travel from here to the second and
third floors of the house. In the bottom of the car is a
large, brown stain, soaked deeply into the wood. A Zool-
ogy or Botany roll will identify it as the juice from a meal
spilled in the car a long time ago. Rummaging through the
cupboards and cabinets turns up little other than a few
forgotten cooking and eating utensils along with a few
candles. Beneath the sink is another manual pump, used
to move water to the upstairs bathroom. The leather gas.
kets are now dried and crumbling, rendering the pump
unusable. The pump mounted above the sink, however,
is operable.

SPOOKY EVENTS

The haunt might hur! around a wooden-handled knife or
some of the furniture, but more often causes the dumb-
waiter to start running up and down its shaft for no ap-
parent reason. It can also cause the water from the pump
to turn to something resembling blood.

The Living Room

The first thing you notice here is the central fireplace that
dominates the long, west wall. It could hold a log up to
six feet in length, and a man could walk around in it while
barely crouching. The mantel is a single piece of hand-
finished wood, completely black in color. A number of
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small objects are placed upon it. The walls are white-
painted wood paneling, which stops halfway up from the
floor to be replaced by fading, peeling wallpaper of a
floral design.

The floor is nearly covered by several large rugs and the
walls are decorated with many oil paintings, the largest of
which is a fall landscape hung above the fireplace. There
are two main groupings of furniture, one at each end of
the room. Each is dominated by a massive couch and
includes a number of smaller chairs and tables. A large,
hand-carved upright piano stands next to the fireplace and
a few chairs are placed about the room. To the south of
the fireplace is a closed door. Next to this door, atop a
cylindrical pillar of polished marble almost four feet high,
rests a glass sphere, open at the top and hollow. This
globe is nearly a foot and a half in diameter. Even from a
distance you can see that the inside is nearly half-filled
with dust. A number of hurricane-style lamps can be seen
on the tables and others are mounted on the walls.

If an investigator makes a successful Botany roll while
examining the mantel, it proves to be of ebony, a dense
black wood found in Africa. Pieces as nice as the one
over the fireplace usually come from Gabon. At either
end of the mantel are framed photographs—tintypes—
mounted in small, ornate frames. One of the photographs
is of a handsome, middle-aged man in a Union Army uni-
form. The other picture is of a pretty woman of similar
age. (These pictures are of Aaron and Beatrice, taken just
before he left to fight the war.) In the center of the man-
tle lies a large rock. A successful Astronomy or Geology
roll suggests that it is of meteoric origin. The paintings
consist of mundane landscapes and family portraits. One
on the east wall between the arches, is of the stern, religi-
ous Jonathan and is dated 1838. The other family paint-
ing is dated 1842 and depicts a boy of about fourteen or
fifteen and a younger girl probably aged about ten. Nei-
ther of the children are identified, but from the date given
on the painting the investigators may be able to conclude
that the two are possibly Aaron and Elizabeth.

SPOOKY EVENTS

As for special manifestations, the haunt sometimes uses the
piano, a self-playing type, for etfect. The player-piano {pur-
chased in 1879 by the widowed Beatrice) is already set up
with a roll of punched paper and contains any number of
wooden parts that the haunt could set into motion. The
piano only plays for a short time and if an investigator ex-
amines the interior of the instrument while at the same
time making a Mechanical Repair roll, he can find a spring
mechanism for storing energy. In theory, the investigators
may have set the piano off for a few bars simply by walking
by it and jarring loose the ratchet that held the pressure.
The choice of the tune played is left to the discretion of the
keeper.

If the strange globe is investigated, the dust in the bot-
tom of the bowl is seen to contain severa! small but obvious
lumps. If someone attempts to remove them, they can be
easily pulled loose. Cleaning the dust off of a lump reveals
it to be the dried remains of a goldfish, accidentally for-
gotten by Maurice in his haste to leave the house.

The Study
You have entered a room paneled completely in dark



wood, sparsely decorated and containing only a large
roll-top desk with matching chair plus two smaller chairs
placed against the wall. There is a window on each of the
exterior walls, and a door to the north. On the east wall
toward the north corner of the room is a small fireplace
and you notice that the mantel is of the same black wood
as the one found in the living room. It is in fact the same
massive piece, extended through the wall to serve both
rooms.

This room was used for conducting business and was last
extensively used by Aaron. The desk is locked, and none
of the keys work. Prying up the roll-top will unavoidably
damage it, but permit access to its contents.

Inside are the family business records, dating back to
1821. It takes 3 hours to read through the accumulated
files. If an investigator chooses to read all of this, he will
learn the business history of the family—how they bought
into orchards after first moving to Michigan and how they
later switched to the funiture manufacturing business.
Toward the end of Aaron’s life, he sold off most of the
family’s holdiags, tetaining only the house and the few
hundred acres of hilly woodland that surround it.

Thesge records also contain a number of items pertain-
ing to the refurbishing and redecorating of the house
including receipts, shipping bills, etc. Among these items
are two clues that may or may not arouse the investiga-
tor’s suspicions. One is a letter, addressed to Henry Van
Laaden, from the foreman at one of the family’s mills.
The other is a copy of a letter sent by Henry to an em-
ployee. (See “The Van Laaden Papers 6 and “7.””) These
items appear innocent and should not be brought to the
investigator’s attention unless he or others in the group
have begun to suspect the truth behind the mysterious
haunting of the house.

Also in the desk is the journal of Aaron Van Laaden,
kept from the time of his return home from the Civil War
until his death in 1866. (See “The Van Laaden Papers
8.”)

The Journal of Aaron Van Laaden

This diary was kept from early 1853 until Aaron departed
to fight in the Civil War. It is in a generally deteriorated
condition, the yellowed pages coming loose from the bind-
ings and the faded ink difficult to read. It will require 4
hours time and a successful Read English roll to uncover
the one clue in the diary. If the roll is unsuccessful, the
investigator will still be able to read portions of the book,
but these references will be of no use, mostly pertaining to
business and/or civic interests in Grand Rapids.

The Library

The walls of this room are lined floor to ceiling with
bookshelves, absent only where it is necessary to allow for
the two windows and the door that leads to and from
the study. Two comfortable chairs, draped with sheets,
flank a small Morroccan table set with a glass ashtray and
a crystal goblet. In the near corner of the room is a fire-
place sharing the same black mantelpiece found in the
other two rooms while in the opposite corner, across the
room, rests a large, black book atop a stand made of red
maple. The floor is decorated by a large Persian rug that
reaches almost to the walls, Qil lamps, long unused and

dry, are set in a chandelier that hangs from the center of
the ceiling.

This library was used for the entertainment of guests.
The selection of books here leans heavily toward poetry,
travelogues, and the classics. If an investigator makes a
Spot Hidden while perusing the volumes, he can spot a
fair-sized black book in the section reserved for trave-
logues. This book is noticeable for its lack of title on the
binding and if examined will prove to be The Voyages and
Journees of Brandon Van Laaden. (See “The Van Laaden
Papers 5.”)

The large black volume on the bookstand is the family
bible, brought from New England by Erich Van Laaden.
On one of the front pages is a family tree, beginning with
Erich and his two wives and kept up to date until the
1830’s. (This family tree was maintained by Jonathan and
was not used after his death in 1842.) The dates and
names found in this bible can be taken from the bold type
found on the keeper’s copy of the family tree in the hand-
outs section. Those names and dates in italics are not
found in the bible. If an investigator looks through the
Bible he will discover a yellowed, hand-written note. This
is the suicide letter of Elizabeth Van Laaden, placed here
by her grieving parents. (See “The Van Laaden Papers
9.9?)

The Voyages and Journees of Brandon Van Laaden

This book can be found either on the shelves of the down-
stairs library of the mansion or in the rare books section of
the Grand Rapids Public Library. It will require no Read
English rolis, but due to its size and amateurish style, an
investigator will need 8 hours to read the volume cover-to-
cover.

This large book, bound in expensive-looking leather and
printed in heavy paper, was published privately by the Van
Laaden family in 1848 in honor of the memory of
Brandon, who died of a sudden iliness before completing
the book. The copy found in the rare books collection was
donated by the Van Laaden family, who were instrumental
in establishing Grand Rapids’ first public library.

The investigators may use the library for reference, but
there is only a limited selection of books here.

Any question researched by an investigator in this
small library must be classified by topic and is restricted
by the limit set for that topic, regardless of the investi-
gator’s actual skill. This reflects the library’s incomplete-
ness. Few, if any, books have been added to the shelves
since the death of Aaron in 1866. This may also affect the
possibility of answering a specific question.

The limits are as follows: Anthropology 30%; Archae-
ology 25%; Astronomy 05%, Botany 55%; Chemistry
15%: Geology 10%; History 75%; Law 05%; Occult 05%;
Zoology 30%.

The Sitting Room

This small room is simply furnished with a medium-sized
couch and two light chairs. In one corner stands a large
wooden cabinet with glass doors while another corner is
occupied by a fireplace overhung with a large, bulky
mantel of rough-hewn oak. A colorful braided rug covers
most of the floor and the walls are papered with a design
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bearing depictions of Greek-styled temples populated by
frolicking nymphs and cupids.

SPOOKY EVENTS

This room was most often used to entertain guests before
dinner. Because of its southern exposure, it was also popu-
lar as a daytime gathering place. in this room the young
Elizabeth used to sit and have conversations with the spirit
of the house.

The haunt fears creating too much interest at this end of
the house and keeps manifestations here to a minimum.

The Dining Room

This room is decorated in a combination of white-painted
wood panels and wallpaper while the center of the room is
dominated by a large, wooden dining table made from
dark maple and set with linen, china, crystal, and silver.
A number of dining chairs rim the table, enough to seat
twelve, while on the north end of the west wall is a long,
low buffet that matches both the tall china cabinet at the
other end and the great table. On the east wall, you see a
fireplace, built into the corner of the room, and topped
by an oversized mantel of rough-finished oak. Next to the
fireplace, practically concealed by a thick net of cobwebs,
is an archway that leads into another dark room. Light
for dining was provided by the large, crystal chandelier
that hangs suspended above, along with the silver candle-
abra that are set on either end of the table and on the

buffet.

Although the table is set as if someone were expecting
visitors, the plates and glasses bear a heavy coating of dust
and grime. A moment’s inspection shows that there is no
old food present. The larger pieces of silver are stamped
with the name Revere, and any investigator making a
History roll can identify them as authentic, pre-Revolu-
tionary items.

Further checking of the breakfront and buffet turn up
additional pieces of silver, pewter, fine Scottish lines, and
antique china made in Dresden.

The Billiard and Game Room

This is a large room that stretches from the front to the
back of the house and was once warmed by the large fire-
place that is centered on the west wall. It is manteled by
the same large piece of oak you say in the dining and sit-
ting rooms. Above it are mounted a pair of crossed spears
with broad, wicked-looking tips and a large sheild deco-
rated with colorful designs. The floor is covered with a
number of colorful, imported rugs and the natural-finish-
ed wooden paneling is hung with the mounted heads of at
least a dozen different trophy animals. At the south end
of the room stands a black bear, mounted in a standing
position while the north end of the room is nearly filled
by a large billiard table with moth-eaten green felt. There
is also a chess table set between a pair of comfortable
chairs, and other groupings of chairs and small tables. Oil
lamps and the occasional book or humidor rest upon these
table tops.

If any investigator should make a Know or Zoology roll
while looking over the stuffed heads, he can tell that all
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the animals (with the exception of the bear, which was
shot locally) are from Africa. Each bears a small brass
plaque. If the grime is wiped away, it is discovered that all
of the trophies were bagged by Brandon Van Laaden be-
tween the years 1843 and 1844. An Anthropology roll
while examining the shield and spears reveals that these
are also of African origin. Atop the mantle is a small
wooden effigy, demon-like and studded with metal nails.
This effigy, like the spears and shield above it, is from
Africa.

The books in the room are of no importance. The hu-
midors are half-full of dried, crumbling cigars.

The Potting Room

This small room runs between the greenhouse and the
house proper. The northern wall contains a number of
shelves lined with terra-cotta pots, some wooden flats, and
a few bushel baskets. On the other side is a fair-sized pile
of top-soil, heaped on the floor and with a space thrust
into it.

The door to and from the house is locked (the investiga-
tors have a proper key) but the door to the greenhouse
has nothing but a simple latch. Look as they might, the
investigators will find no clues in this area.

The Greenhouse

AS you enter the greenhouse you become aware of an aura
of death and decay. The plants that once lushly filled the
trays and tables are now nothing but withered, brown
sticks, ancient, dried blooms hanging down or broken off
and lying on the soil-caked floor. Near the exterior door,
set into the floor, is a trapdoor, two feet square and with
a wooden pin thrust through the hasp to keep it tightly
shut.

All the plants in the greenhouse (a Botany roll identifies
them as vegetables and common annuals) are long dead.
The last person to care for them was Virginia, who died
in 1911. If an investigator opens the trapdoor, he sees a
short flight of rickety, wooden stairs leading down into a
gloomy, earthen-walled room hardly more than six feet by
eight feet. At the same time, anyone bending over 1o peer
into the opening is greeted by a rush of stinking, fetid air,
heavy with the scent of decaying flesh. Anyone exposed
to this odor and failing a roll of CONx 5% is overcome by
nausea and vomiting, leaving them partially incapacitated
for the next 5-10 minutes. If an investigator enters the
small, subterranean room, he will have to make an addi-
tional CONx 5% roll if he does not take the precaution of
covering his mouth and nose with a handkerchief or rag.
At the bottom the investigator can discover that the
room was once used as a pantry. Two of the walls are
lined with shelves containing spoiled canned goods. Be-
neath one of the shelves, curled up on the floor, is the
rotting body of a cat, apparently starved to death and

SPOOKY EVENTS

Besides possibly attacking the intruders with the plants, the
haunt may also try to push an investigator when he de-
scends the stairs, afterward slamming the trapdoor and
latching it with the wooden mechanism.
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dead for at least a couple of weeks. This is the pet of
Hildegaard and Karl. Six weeks ago, the unfortunate
animal was tricked down here by the druid and the trap-
door sealed, leaving the cat to starve to death. Hildegaard
and Karl think the cat simply ran away.

THE SECOND FLOOR:
The Hallway

Walking slowly up the creaking stairs to the second floor,
the beam from your light falls upon a huge portrait hung
Jfrom the north wall at the top of the stairs and flanked by
two mounted suits of armor bearing long pole-arms. Wip-
ing away the cobwebs you see an oil painting of Erich Van
Laaden, posed at the wheel of a ship, a far-away look in
his eyes.

To the right of the stairs is a door, standing half open
to reveal the small room behind it. In that direction you
see the glint of metal and shiny porcelain. Farther down
the east wall is a wood-framed archway that opens into a
long, dark hall, carpeted with a worn, narrow runner,
Next to the archway is another door, this one closed. At
the south end of the hallway is a narrow flight of stairs
obviously leading to the third story of the house. A tall,
thin door gives access to the area beneath the staircase and
very near it, on the west wall, is a larger door, also closed.

The walls of the central hallway are decorated with
numerous framed drawings and paintings.

If any of the investigators make a successful Spot Hidden
while roaming around the central hallway, they will notice
that a portion of the railing on the east side of the stair-
well has been broken off and then crudely repaired with

glue and over-sized nails. (This is the portion of railing
broken away by Beatrice when she fell to her death in
1898. The repair work was done by Virginia.)

The framed paintings are a series of watercolor land-
scapes dated between 1847 and 1852 and signed by
Elizabeth Van Laaden. Viewing these for any length of
time leaves an investigator with an odd feeling of unease,
despite the innocent subject matter. If an investigator is
clever enough to spend a day and night studying the paint-
ings while at the same time making a successful Psycho-
analysis roll, he can discover certain clues pertaining to
the life and death of Elizabeth through otherwise un-
recognizable symbols placed in the paintings uncon-
sciously by the troubled girl. The exact nature of the clues
is left to the discretion of the keeper, but the investigators
should be rewarded with a clue or clues of particular
use to them.

A Know roll will identify the suits of armor as being
of 16th century French manufacture. They are decora-
tively styled—the type of armor used at tournaments
or other public events. The halberds that they hold may
make the investigators nervous or they may wish to use
the eight-foot long weapons as tools. In either case, any-
one attempting to remove one from a suit of armor will
be required to roll DEXx 5% or less to avoid toppling the
suit or armor over, causing it to bounce into pieces that
clatter and bang down the long, wooden stair.

The Water Closet

You see a small bathroom containing a porcelain toilet,
sink and bathtub. All are dusty, dirty and brown with old
stains. The paint is peeling badly and large flakes have
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fallen from the ceiling onto the thick dust of the floor.
The paint on the walls is also slowly dropping off. Large
chunks of plaster have fallen off the north wall, revealing
the wooden slats behind, and the wall itself has a percep-
tible bulge to it, as though it were sagging into the room.

This is one of the modernization projects undertaken by
Aaron in the 1850’s along with the addition of indoor
water to the kitchen and construction of the greenhouse.
Water for the bathroom must be pumped by hand from
the kitchen below. The additional humidity in this part
of the house was more than the building could absorb
without damage, and Aaron was continually patching and
repainting. After his death, this repair work was neglected
and the bathroom had reached its present condition by
the time Maurice moved to the city. The room is quite
dry now, having had no water pumped up to it for many
years.

If an investigator chooses to examine the north wall—
the one in the worst condition—he can pull the plaster
away easily by hand, revealing the rotten slats beneath
it. If the investigators open a hole through the wall, they
will see a flight of stairs 20 inches wide running from the
floor above down to the first floor or lower. The air in
this secret staircase is quite stale.

Maurice’s Bedroom

Opening the door you see an L-shaped room containing
only a bedframe with a bare mattress, a small chest-of-
drawers, and a fireplace. The floor is bare, without rugs
or carpets.

This was once the bedroom of Maurice; the room where
he spent his childhood. There is little of interest here,
Maurice having taken most of what was in this room when
he permanently moved out.

If an investigator makes a Spot Hidden while looking
at the wall facing the door, he can just barely see, beneath
the paint, the vaguest outline of a crudely drawn, horrific
being. It is extremely difficult to make out what it is—the
paint must be removed to see it clearly. An investigator
making a successful Chemistry roll can buy and mix ingre-
dients to remove the paint without disturbing the drawing
beneath. A failure on the Chemistry roll means that the
solution removed not only the paint, but the drawing as
well.

If the investigators remove the paint they can find not
only the rest of the drawing, but a date and the signature
of the artist as well. A childish scrawl reads: “Maurice
Van Laaden—1898.” A simple drawing in wax crayon
made by a young child. Maurice was actually trying to
draw a picture of the horrible monster that would some-
times come and visit his bedside late at night. This was,
of course, the insane Beatrice who left an impression on
Maurice that he bears to this day.

Child’s Bedroom

You have opened the door to the bedroom of a child. You
see a small bed, a tiny wardrobe, and a beat-up looking,
wooden chest.

This is the room that was occupied by the young son of
Bertrand and Deborah before the family moved to De-
troit. There is nothing of real interest in the room—all use-
ful belongings were taken by the Hancocks when they
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moved in 1880.

Lifting the lid on the small wooden chest reveals it to
be empty except for a small doll, its china head smashed
into fragments. -

The Sewing Room

Opening either of the two doors of this room reveals a
sitting room, decorated with floral wallpaper and fur-
nished with a small couch and two rocking chairs. Near
one of the chairs is a large handbag from which protrude
several skeins of yarn and a pair of wooden knitting
needles.

This sunny room (when the window is open) was often
used by Virginia in her later years and the knitting bag
was hers. It contains a half-finished sweater that she was
knitting for Maurice when she died suddenly, right be-
tween a knit and a purl.

SPOOKY EVENTS

A favorite trick of the haunt is to set Virginia‘s chair in mo-
tion before the investigators open the door. It creates a soft,
creaking noise that can be heard by anyone making a Listen
roll at the door. If no one hears it, the haunt may leave it in
motion for the party to see when they open the door and
then let its movement halt naturally. The wooden knitting
needles can be used as flying weapons to cause 1D3 points of
damage. Investigators must make a Dodge roll to avoid the
flying weapons.

Erich’s Bedroom

The door to this bedroom is locked and the investigators
will find no key to fit it. They may attempt to pick the
lock or, failing that, break the door down. It has a resis-
tance STR of 18.

As you open the door you immediately notice the stale-
ness of the air. Looking about the room you find that the
ever-present coating of dust is even thicker in this room,
as though it were closed and locked long before the rest of
the house was abandoned. It is sparsely furnished with a
bed and dresser, both of a rustic, New England style and
the walls are decorated with drawings of sailing ships and
framed nautical maps. A large sea-chest stands at the foot
of the bed, and in the corner rests a dusty wheel-chair of
antique design.

This is the bedroom of the family patriarch, Erich Van
Laaden, exactly as it was on the day he died, kept this
way by the family as a memorial tribute. Although Erich’s
sons sometimes visited the room, in later years the door
was locked to keep the children from playing in here. As
Erich’s sons died, the memory of the Captain began to
fade and after the key to the room was misplaced no one
bothered to open it again. It has been locked for over fifty
years.

The dresser contains the old man’s clothing, mildewed
and rotting, but nothing else. The sea-chest is locked and
the key lost long ago, forcing the investigators to either
pick it or pry it open with a crow-bar. Inside the chest
the investigators will find, carefully folded and placed on
top of the contents, a dress uniform that was owned by
the Captain, and, laid carefully atop that, a small brass
telescope engraved with the name ‘Tanager.’



Under the uniform is a large book, closed with a hasp.
The cover reads: “The Log of the Tanager.” (See “The
Van Laaden Papers 10.”) Underneath the book are two
objects, one slightly larger than the other and both wrap-
ped in silk. Beneath these objects is an old harpoon tip,
the point inexplicably bent back into a curve.

The larger of the two objects is a primitive statue of a
half-man, half-fish creature (not a Deep One) and a small
key to unlock the ship’s log. An Anthropology roll iden-
tifies the wooden carving as a minor sea-god worshiped by
many islanders in the south and west of the Pacific Ocean.
If an investigator unwraps the smaller object, it proves to
be a particularly abhorrent version of Great Cthulhu; any-
one looking at it must roll SAN or lose 1 point,

SPOOKY EVENTS

The haunt can use his power over wood ta set the ancient
wheel-chair in motion, causing it to suddenly roll forward out
of its corner and down the hal) 1o stop soMewhere near the
stairs going to the third floor. This can cause a SAN loss of
103. Afternatively, if the haunt feels threatened by the in-
vestigators, pe can propel the chair at high speed, attempting
to scoop @ member of the group into the seat on its way by.
If an investigator fails his Dodge roll, he is captured by the
chair and has one opportunity to make a successful Jump
from the speeding wheel-chair before it plunges through the
railing and crashes to the stairway below. Any investigator
going over the edge in the chair suffers 3D6 damage.

The Linen Closet

Opening the small door in the third floor staircase pro-
duces a rush of warm, humid, putrid-smelling air. Shining
your light around the dark chamber, you discover it to be
the linen closet, the sheets and pillowcases literally cover-
ed by a thick, slimy layer of black mildew.

Investigators may check through the shelves if they wish,
but they will find only ruined bedclothes.

The Master Bedroom

You have stepped into a large bedroom-actually two
rooms connected by an archway—decorated in a feminine
style. Bright, flowered wallpaper covers the walls and the
floors are softened by thick, comfortable rugs. The south
end of the room contains a dressing table and other small
pieces of fumiture, while the north end is given over to
@ massive canopy bed and matching nightstands that flank
it. Gauze curtains are drawn around the bed, preventing
you from seeing if anything lies therein.

This room belonged to Virginia and is virtually the same
as it was on the day of her death. Maurice moved out
immediately following his mother’s death and could not
bring himself to go through her belongings. If the investi-
gators search the room, they may turn up a few things
of interest. The dressers and wardrobes contain only old,
outdated clothing but atop one is found a small jewelry
box containing an assortment of bracelets, necklaces and
pins worth $400. In the right-hand nightstand is the diary
of Virginia Van Laaden. (See “The Van Laaden Papers
11.7)

THE THIRD FLOOR
The Stranger's Room

The door to this room was locked and plastered over by
Aaron in 1853 shortly following the death of the myster-
ious Asiatic stranger who died of an undiagnosed illness
while sleeping in this room. If the investigators don’t sur-
mise the existence of this room from their exploration,
they may notice a certain unevenness to the plaster that
underlies the wallpaper here (with a Spot Hidden). Feeling
around, they can trace the outline of the doorframe. Also,
making a Listen roll while tapping the wall here reveals
a certain hollowness in the area of the hidden wooden
door. To gain entrance, the plaster will have to be torn
down and the door battered in (the lock is filled with
plaster).

As the door collapses inward with a splintering sound, you
stumble forward into the room only to find yourself un-
able to draw a breath. Retreating back to the hall, you
stand gasping for oxygen while the stale, dead air of the
room mixes with that of the hallway. Looking through
the empty doorframe into the room beyond, you see what
appears to be a guest room with bed, small bookcase, and
mirrored dresser complete with a set of hairbrushes neatly
laid on its surface.

If the party should decide to enter and investigate, they
will find the dresser devoid of any contents and the book-
case filled with a couple dozen volumes of the most gen-
eral-styled popular works. In fact, unless the investigators
pull the bed away from the wall they will miss the only
piece of evidence to be found here. This is a small slip of
yellowed paper bearing writing of foreign origin. This
writing is Sanskrit and takes a successful Read or Linguist
roll to identify it as some sort of chant. A successive An-
thropology roll will identify the translated material as a
Hindu prayer to Vishnu,

The Guest Room

Opening the door you discover a large bedroom, dustier
than most of the rooms you 've already seen but neatly
prepared with bedspread turned back and a stack of fold-
ed towels on the dresser.

This was used as a guest room for friends and family but
was little used after the death of the mysterious stranger
in the next room. Searching the drawers of the dresser or
the wardrobe reveals them to be empty.

The Library

You find yourself staring into an impressive library con-
taining at least a couple thousand books on a wide variety
of subjects. A single oil portrait hangs on each of the east
and west walls while the north wall is broken by a great
pair of polished oak doors with brass handles. The only
other object in the green-carpeted room is a stuffed
animal mounted on a pedestal and positioned in a far
corner of the room. This odd-looking, four-legged beast is
nearly five feet high and of a strange purplish-brown
color with black and white striped legs. The head is some-
thing like that of a deer, but with oversized ears and two
stumpy horns.

On closer examination, the two portraits are found to be
likenesses of Henry Wordsworth and Brandon Van Laa-
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den, both dated 1832. The mounted animal has a small,
bronze plaque mounted on the base identifying it as an-
other trophy of Brandon Van Laaden. A successful Zoo-
logy roll identifies this weird animal as an Okapi, a
creature of equatorial Africa not identified by science
until 1901.

The investigators may find this upstairs library more
suitable for research than the “‘guest” library on the first
floor. It will require two hours to research any given ques-
tion with the following limitations on specific topics: An-
thropology 55%; Archaeology 50%; Astronomy 35%;
Botany 45%; Chemistry 25%; History 65%; Law 35%;
Occult 15%; Pharmacy 20%; Zoology 45%.

SPOOKY EVENTS

If an investigator is researching an Occult question (not un-
likely, given the situation he is in) he may come across an
early collection of the tales of Edgar Allan Poe. The copy
is quite worn and if allowed to fall open of its own accord
will always open to “The Black Cat.’”” On the front flyleaf is
the name of Allen Van Laaden dated 1853.

One of the haunt’s favorite tricks is to slowly push one of
the books off its shelf while the investigators look on. This
book can be on any topic but is usually chosen in an effort to
mislead the group.

The Study

The floor is neatly covered by the same green carpeting
that you found in the outer room while the walls are
covered by carved, wooden panels of Flemish design.
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Alone, in the center of the room, stands a large, antique
desk and chair. A framed painting hangs on each wall,

The desk is unlocked, the top drawer contains a number
of papers and letters showing that the desk was probably
last used during the 1870’s by Bertrand Hancock. Among
the papers are a series of letters from the University of
Michigan and a slim, hand-written journal. (See “The Van
Laaden Papers 12” and “13.”)

The desk is quite deep and if the investigators should
pull all the drawers completely out, they will discover that
the lower right-hand drawer is several inches shorter than
the rest. Inside the desk, at the back of this drawer, i3 a
false panel that can be easily removed, revealing a small
space containing two books: one, the journal of the mad-
man Allen Van Laaden, and another, untitled volume.
(See “The Van Laaden Papers 14" and **15.")

If an investigator makes a Spot Hidden roll while exam-
ining the east wall, or a Listen roll while tapping this same
area, he can discover that one of the carved panels is actu-
ally a hinged door that opens outward to reveal a narrow
flight of rough, wooden stairs that lead up, presumably to
the attic.

At the foot of the stairs is a small landing area. If an
investigator should tap or knock on this floor while mak-
ing a successful Listen roll, he will discover that the center
of the landing contains a trapdoor. A Spot Hidden roll
while visually examining the landing reveals a loose piece
of moulding between the floor and one of the walls, This
piece of woodwork is hinged at one end and easily pulls
outward to reveal a small, metal ring, normally hidden by
the moulding. This ring is just large enough for a single
finger to slip through. If given a tug it will unlatch the



trapdoor with a soft click. Under the trapdoor is an ex-
tremely narrow flight of stairs that descends, within the
wall of the house, down to the basement.

If an investigator makes an EDUx 1% roll while exam-
ining the paintings he will recognize them as previously
unidentified works of 16th century Flemish painter
Pieter Brueghel. These paintings are of scenes of the local
peasants of Brueghel’s time and each would bring a large
sum if auctioned. They have been in the possession of the
family for centuries and their true value was never realized
by anyone. The investigator that makes this identification
also knows that Brueghel’s son, Pieter the Younger, later
came to be reknowned for his terrifying depiction of
Stygian scenes.

Empty Bedroom

You are standing in the doorway of what was once a large,
sumptious bedroom. It is now nearly empty, the bedframe
stripped of its mattress and linens and the drawers of the
various cabinets hanging partially open and empty.

This room was fast occupied by Deborah and Bertrand
and js in the same condition that they left it when they
maved ta Detsoit in 1880, All the drawers are completely
empty and the room devoid of any clues.

Beatrice's Bedroom

You have found another large bedroom complete with
massive wardrobes and a large, four-poster bed, The
remains of rotting curtains hang from the dust-laden rods.

This is the bedroom of Beatrice, left undisturbed since
her death in 1898. If the investigators search the room
they will find, besides rotting clothes, a handful of letters
tucked inside yellowed envelopes in the top drawer of the
nightstand. These are letters written to Beatrice by Aaron
while he was away at war. If someone in the group checks
underneath the mattress, they will discover a diary kept
by the woman in the last years of her life. (See “The Van
Laaden Papers 16 and “17.”)

The Storage Room

Unlocking and opening the door you will find yourself
confronted by a small, narrow room packed with the
stored and discarded items of decades. Boxes, crates, even
a Victorian-styled birdcage are among the items you can
see at first glance.

It takes three man-hours to unpack this room and search
through the contents. Each hour, a Luck roll is made. If
the roll is successful, the investigator stumbles upon the
diary of Aaron Van Laaden, kept from shortly after the
time he returned home until just before his death. (See
“The Van Laaden Papers 18.””) Along with this book, the
investigators can find a number of Civil War items includ-
ing an officer’s uniform, a saber, and a carefully folded
American flag.

The Attic

Due to the design of the roof, this space is somewhat
cramped and an average investigator can stand up straight
only when in the center of the attic. Most of the available
space is filled with boxes and trunks packed with stored
belongings and memorabilia.

A Letter to Mary Gottler

This short letter was written to Mary Gottler by her mother
in 1826, shortly after her marriage to David Dugan Van
Laaden. It can be found in the attic of the Van Laaden
mansion.

The letter seems to indicate that the Van Laadens may
be devil-worshiping heretics or even worse. The fact of the
matter is that Katherine is a fanatically devout catholic and
her apprehensions about the Van Laadens are based solely
on the fact that they are Protestant; and dor that matter,
rarely, if ever, attend church. She has somehow gotten into
her head that the Van Laadens are secret Anabaptists or

worse,
Mary eventually reconciled with her mother, but it was
not until several years later.

Due to the cramped conditions, it will take 8 man-
hours to search through all the junk and there is but a
single item of interest. This is a letter written to Mary
Gottler by her mother. (See “The Van Laaden Papers
19.”) Investigators may continue to search as long as they
wish but nothing else will be discovered.

SPOOKY EVENTS
In this attic, young Elizabeth took her life, tying the rope

around a beam and then hanging herself over the stairwell.
The haunt likes to bring her back for repeat performances,

The Basement

The east end of the basement is given over to storage and
is filled with more crates and boxes. The investigators can
see four doors in the north wall which give access to stor-
age areas, and two doors in the east wall.

Searching through the heaps of stuff takes 5§ man-
hours. The piece of evidence to be discovered this time is
a coroner’s report dated 1853. This document is in regards
to the death of the *“Asiatic stranger” that expired one
night while staying under the Van Laaden roof. (See “The
Van Laaden Papers 20.””) The cause of death is listed as
consumption.

If an investigator should decide to check out the small
storage rooms on the north wall and makes a Spot Hidden
roll while examining the room third from the left, he will
discover a concealed door that gives access to the secret
stairway that connects to the third-floor study. From this
direction the investigators cannot open the trapdoor at
the top of the stairs.

If the investigators should choose to enter the west end
of the basement, they will find that it is likewise filled
with stored items. This area takes 3 man-hours to search
and holds nothing of interest. However, any investigator
spending more than a few minutes in this area is allowed
an Idea roll. An investigator succeeding realizes that the
basement is significantly shorter than the house above it.
This is due to the concealed room contained in the west
end of the basement. The only way to discover the old
doorway, now covered with stucco, is to tap along the
wall while making a Listen roll. Each investigator attempt-
ing this has one chance. If successful he will discover the
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location of the door. If the investigators cannot discover
the location of the door they have to attack the wall
randomly, tearing off the plaster until they find the en-
trance to the room.

If the door is found, it will have to be smashed down
(resistance STR of 22) as the investigators do not possess
a key that fits the lock.

Foul, stagnant air fills your nostrils as you step forward
into the gloom, the soft sound of dripping water in the
distance. The beam of your light plays around the far
corners of the old, cement room then slowly moves down-
ward toward a shadowy object, streaked with white and
seemingly crouching in the corner. Your flashlight begins
to pick out the details; ragged strips of white cotton
draped over naked human ribs. You see two skel-
etons here, seated on the floor and clinging to each other.
Across the room is a dark, earthen tunnel, suppported
by large, wooden beams. From here comes the sound
of dripping water.

Anyone seeing the skeletons in the room must make a
SAN roll or lose 1D4 SAN points. If the investigators have
become aware of this possibility beforehand, they stand
to lose only 1D3 SAN points as the suspicions are
confirmed.

Examination of the skeletons turns up no identifica-
tion but the investigators will notice that neither is
wearing shoes. Near the bodies are two empty wine
bottles. The bottles are dry, but any one making a Spot
Hidden while examining them notices a gray residue;
something besides mere dust. Analyzing this substance,
which requires proper laboratory equipment and a suc-
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cessful Chemistry roll, reveals that it contains traces of
opium,

If the investigators enter the tunnel, they find that it
twists and turns in a generally westward direction for at
least two hundred yards. Collected moisture drips contin-
ually from overhead and large puddles of muddy water
fill low spots in the floor. As the tunnel begins to ascend
the investigators will discover that it is completely filled
with large rocks and muddy soil. While examining this
area, one of the investigators will trip over what appears
to be a rock partially protruding from the muddy floor. A
little digging will reveal it to be a human skull. More dig-
ging turns up the rest of the skeleton and the remains of a
second human as well. (Keeper’s Note: These are the re-
mains of the other two slaves who died of starvation while
futilely trying to dig their way out.)

CONCLUSION

As stated earlier, locating and destroying the source of the
haunting is difficult. The oak mantle that houses the druid
is mounted so that it protrudes through the wall and into
other rooms of the house. It is firmly anchored and a
group trying to remove it will find that the job takes two
man-hours and requires sledge-hammers and axes. If the
investigators succeed in the removal and keep the mantle
separated from any of the wood in the house (setting it on
the wooden floor will put him in contact again) he loses
his powers over the house and the objects in it. He does,
however, maintain his ability to cast spells.

Another possibility is for the investigators to attempt
to destroy the druid as he lies sealed within the mantle by
using spells. He will respond with spell attacks of his own.



THE HAUNT

The haunt is a living druid who, nearly a thousand years ago,
sealed himself within a live oak tree growing in the southwest of
Scotland. Sharing life forces with the tree, the druid survived for
centuries and even when the tree was felled in 1843, he managed
to somehow survive and continues his strange existence within
pieces of the wood that comprise the Van Laaden mansion.

Druids were the religious and social leaders of the Celtic tribes
that inhabited much of Europe and Britain and during the Roman
era that were variously described by Julius Caesar and Pliny.
Besides settling disputes within the tribes and making legal judg-
ments regarding ownership of land and other property, the druids
were said to make divinations by watching the migratory patterns
of birds or studying the writhings of victims tortured for this spe-
cific purpose. The druid practice of human sacrifice was detested
by the Romans. In Britain they were forced to the island of
Anglesey off the northwest coast of Wales and subdued by Julius
Agricola, then Roman governor of Britain. Some few of the druids
did escape, eventually finding their way to Scotland. Agricola also
pushed northward, finally clearing north Britain of Celtic resis-
tance. His attempts to take Caledonia were fruitless and in 86 AD
he built a line of forts stretching from Forth to the Clyde. The
Romans continued ta meet with heavy resistance from the Scots
and between 123 and 127 AD Hadrian’s wall was built to hald
them within their own territory.

During this period, a small cult of the escaped druids, managing
to survive in the wilderness, began to establish a certain amount of
control over the tribes of the area. Although many attempts to
take Caledonia were made by the Romans, it remained under the
control of the Scots and Picts. In 360 they crossed Hadrian's wall
and invaded Britain, holding parts of the ndrth until 369. In 383,
the wall was again breached when one Magnus Maximus, a local
Roman official, was named Emperor by his disaffected troops
before they crossed the channel and conquered parts of Spain and
Gaul. Maximus was defeated by Theodosius and the Roman pre-
sence in Britain was reinstated untit 410 when the troops were re-
called to help defend Rome against invading barbarians. The
fegions returned about 418 but were never again a serious force on
the British Isles.

Through this time, the druids continued to spread their influ-
ence through the south of Scotland and Merlin, mentor to Arthur,
was thought to be a druid. Invasions by Saxons and Danes proved
troublesome for the remnants of the druids but the beginning of
the end was spetled out when St. Columba arrived at lona in 563
to begin the conversion of the Picts to Christianity. In 843 the
Picts and Scots coalesced (with the help of the church) into the
country of Scotland in an effort to withstand the attacks of the
Danes. This was the end of druidic influence in the British Isles
and the few remaining members moved to the south of Scotland,
now considered merely a sect of heretical pagans. Persecuted by
the church, their numbers dwindled until 988 when, buffeted by
attacks from an angry church and harried by raiding Danes, the
last supreme druid called his few followers together to announce
the disbanding of the sect. Disheartened, the druids dispersed to
the countryside, their fates lost to history. One retired to a sacred
grove near the present-day Dumfries. Here, he chose a young,
sturdy oak and, by use of ancient spells, merged his being with
that of the living tree, sealing himself forever within, to dream and
to explore realms of existence otherwise impossible.

) The tree grew tall and old, undisturbed until 1843 when it was
felled under contract to Brandon Van Laaden of Kent County,
Michigan. The ancient oak, now nearly a thousand years old, was
chosen to pravide lumber to be used to refit the Van Laaden fam-
ily home with new doors, woodwork, and flooring. After al! this
time undisturbed, the druid was unprepared for a sudden assault
by axe- and saw-wielding workmen and the great tree was cut near-
ly through before he managed to gather his powers. His last act
before losing consciousness was to cause the tree to fall opposite
from the way the men had cut it, killing one of the workers. The
shock of the cutting caused the druid to slip into a deep coma
from which he could only occasionally fitfully awaken.

The tree was hauled to Dumfries where it was cut into large
blocks prior to shipment to the U.S. Once in the states, the Van
Laaden family had it cut into boards and moldings for the family
residence. Because of the beautiful grain pattern, the heart of the
tree was chosen to p:ovide a huge mante! that would top one of

the great fireplaces that graced the first floor of the mansion. Un-
fortunately for the Van Laadens, the piece chosen happened to
¢ ntain the body of the druid, unconscious but still alive inside
the tree.

The mantel was installed with only one incident, involving the
injury of one of the workmen moving the piece into the house.
Warmed by the fires kept burning below him most of the time, the
druid slowly recovered his strength and powers. It was some time
before he was able to understand all that had happened to him
and it required more time for him to learn the strange language
spoken around him. Feeling stronger, the druid began a subtle
campaign, exerting his will against certain members of the family
in an attempt to drive the noisy humans from what he considered
to be his home. His efforts were finally rewarded in 1911 when
the last of the Van Laadens left the house for good. The druid
has been at peace since then, only occasionally having been forced
to frighten off a nosy caretaker or ghost-hunter.

The druid presently is at rest within the mantle but will auto-
matically be aware of the presence of strangers near the house.
He will not tolerate interference in what he believes to be his
domain. While his body remains sealed in the mantle, the essence
of the druid is capable of traveling throughout the wood of the
house and can see and hear everything that takes place. He will use
his magic abilities to attempt to frighten the investigators away,
steadily increasing the intensity and danger of the manifestations
until at last the intruders leave. The druid is unlikely to kill or
cause grave injury for fear of pushing things too far. He is aware
that unexplained deaths might eventually bring investigation from
authorities and he does not want to be discovered; nor does he
want the house demolished by angry mobs of frightened owners.
Therefore, his attacks are as moderate as possible, saving the most
powerful spells for defense of his existence. He may also use his
abilities to lead the investigators off in the wrong direction. The
manifestations can be used to lead the investigators to believe
that a more traditional source is at work. The design of the scena-
rio point to any number of “‘typical’’ haunts: bodies sealed in the
basement, an old Indian mound, etc. These can be used by the
haunt as red herrings; wild goose chases designed to wear out the
investigators physically and mentally. More than one band of
‘‘ghostbusters’’ have thrown their hands up in defeat, victims of
frights and/or frustration.

STR 14 CON16 SIZ10 INT 18 POW 32
DEX 6 SAN O HP 13
MOVE: 6.

WEAPON: Claw 60% {1D6+ 1D6 damage).

ARMOR: While encased in the mantel, the druid is impervious to
any physical damage other than fire. If the investigators should
free him, he can operate his new wood-like body freely. He is
immune to gunfire. He might be set afire, but he is composed of
a very dense substance and it would require a large amount of heat
to set him ablaze. An oil lamp tossed at him would cause 1D3
points of damage before going out and may start an uncontrollable
blaze within the house. The best attacks against the druid if he is
freed from the mantie are spells or, not surprisingly, the use of
axes or hatchets, which do full damage against this walking horror.
Other hand-to-hand weapons do half damage.

SKILLS: If the investigators should free the druid from the mante!
and then leave before destroying him, he will lurk about the house
in wait for them to return. Listen 95%; Hide (anywhere near
wood) 90%; Sneak 10% (he makes a lot of creaking noises).
SPELLS: See ‘“Magic.”

SAN: The druid has lived encased in wood for nearly a thousand
years and in the course of that time, his body has come to develop
a fibrous, wood-like structure of its own. The only event that will
allow the investigators to see this thing is the forcible bresking
of the mantel. The druid will resist this intrusion by using his most
powerful spells, but if the group persists he will break loose from
the remnants of the tree to do battle with the intruders.

The druid is dark brown in color with much the appearance of a
plece of old, discolored wood. He will pull himself free of the
surrounding mantel with a popping, snapping sound like that of
a8 knot being forced from a board, move toward the terrified
investigators with a lurching, creaking gait. Witnessing this
stumbling nightmare costs 1D8 SAN if the roll is unsuccessful and
1 point even if the SAN roll is good.
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MAGIC

MANIFESTATIONS

The druid can cause a variety of ‘‘ghostly’’ effects within the con-
fines of the house. This is due to the fact that the essence of the
druid is wood. Because of the druid’s ability to control the forces
and objects of nature, combined with illusions created by a type
of hypnosis, he can create a large number of different effects to
fool, frighten, or injure the investigators. Magic costs for the use
of these abilities are fairly minor and the druid uses these rather
than spells whenever possible. Lists of these manifestations, along
with their costs in terms of magic follow. The effects of these
manifestations on the SAN of the investigators follow that.

The following manifestations cost the druid O points and can
be performed by him anytime at any or all places in the house.
1. The druid may watch and listen to anyone within the house it-
self. The druid accomplishes this merely by looking out from the
wood that he lives in.

2. Additionally, the druid may close or open any door, window,
or shutter directly connected to the house. There is not much
force to this action and this can be prevented by wedging a door
open. Locking a door prevents the druid from opening it.

The following effects cost the druid 1 point each to use and are
generally intangible or ““just beyond the range of perception.’’

4. Lold Spots. These are small {1-2 feet in diameter), unmoving
areas and are usually about 20 degrees Fahrenheit. The druid will
sometimes place one in a hallway, or in front of a door. Once
placed by the druid, the spot will remain for approximately 24
hours.

2. Extinguish Fire. If the investigators should attempt to use can-
dles to light the house, the druid can cause them to wink out,
usually when the characters are out of the room, The druid can
extinguish an entire candleabra with a single point of magic. Other
candies will cost 1 point each. The druid can also use this ability
to slowly put out flames in any of the fireplaces in 7-10 rounds
or to make it impossible for an investigator to light a fire or even
a match,

3. Alter Weather. By expending a single point, the druid can cause
cloudy weather to slowly mount into a small, localized thunder-
storm that will inundate the area for a few miles around. Condi-
tions permiting, the druid is likely to whip up a storm if he feels
that it will help to unnerve the investigators. It is unlikely that
they would suffer any SAN losses for this one.

4. Decay Food. Any food brought into the house is subject to the
druid’s abilities. By expending a single point, he will be able to
cause the rapid decay of any uncanned or unbottled food. This
extends to all food items in a single package and renders them
completely inedible,

5. Rapping or Creaking Noises. The druid can cause any of the
wood in the house to emit soft sounds by expending a magic point
to flex the wood. He sometimes uses this to create the sound of
footsteps on one of the floors above, or to rap back at an investi-
gator knocking for a secret door or hollow wall.

6. Terrible Odor. This manifestation is often applied when the
group opens a sealed door or other similar situation. The odor
does not affect the investigators adversely and dispels in a minute
or two.

The following manifestations cost the druid 2 points each to use
and are of a more physical or visual nature.

1. Cold Breeze. Of short duration (1-2 rounds), this wind is strong
enough to rumple hair or blow out candles. Often the druid has it
blow out from beneath a locked or sealed door in order to confuse
investigators.

2. Minor Telekinesis. This effect lasts for only one round and can
only be used on objects that contain a large percentage of wood or
plant material. There is little force to the movement and it can
only be used to slide small objects across tables, turn the pages of
a book, or cause a book to fall off a table or shelf. Investigators
witnessing this can stop any movement by simply grasping the
object.

3. Spirit Writing. This has a duration of 2 rounds and the druid can
cause a ‘message’’ to appear before the investigators eyes on any
wooded surface, such as a table, wooden panel, or bare floor. The
message may be written in English, Dutch, or possibly archaic
Gaelic (the only tongues the druid knows) depending upon the
content of the message and the effect that the druid wants it to
carry.

4. Jammed Door, Window, or Shutter. This allows the druid to
hold open or shut any closure in the main structure. To force open
a jammed door the investigator has to apply his strength against
the POW of the druid in a resistance struggle. It costs the druid 2
points for each round he performs this feat so he most often lets
go just about the time someone is charging the door at full tilt. An
investigator suddenly hitting an easily opened door at full speed
may carry through into the next room, possibly damaging items
or himself.

5. Smoke from Corners of Room. This effect lasts for 3 rounds
and is unaccompanied by heat. Trickles of gray smoke merely curl
from any corners found in the room. The druid most often uses
this one while an investigator is reading deeply into some myster-
ious book.

6. Cause Fire. As mentioned before, all the fireplaces contain
wood ready for lighting and if the mood strikes him, the druid
may light a fire in one of them. The wood spontaneously bursts
into flame before the investigators’ eyes. This takes 3 rounds.

7. Mysterious Sounds. These take the form of chants, mumbled
conversations, or heated arguments. They are usually applied when
investigators are listening at the door or in similar situations. The
druid can cause these sounds to be quite loud, allowing investiga-
tors to hear them behind a closed door while exploring an adjacent
hallway.

The most powerful of the manifestations in the druid’s arsenal
cost 3 points each to use and are described below.

1. Cause Interior Wood to Glow. Al the woodwork, floorboards,
and anything eise made of the oak tree will begin to luminesce
with a soft, green light. This effect will last for 2 minutes. Its
major drawback is that the oak mantle glows more brightly than
anything else, allowing clever investigators to pinpoint the possible
source. Consequently, the druid uses this when the ghostbusters
are not likely to enter this part of the house. Once the wood
begins to glow, it continues until it fades of its own accord; the
druid cannot stop the process. He often uses this at the climax of
an investigation.

2. Major Telekinesis. Similar to minor telekinesis this effect also
lasts a single round and can only effect materials derived from
wood or plants. The biggest difference is that this version has con-
siderable force behind it and can be used to move large, heavier
objects. Examples would be sliding chairs that could cause damage
or push an investigator out a window; a flying paperweight or
wooden-handled knife; or the drapery cords wrapping about an
investigator’s neck and strangling him. A large bookshelf could be
tumbled atop an investigator failing to make a Dodge roll but
moving any object heavier than an average chair requires the
expenditure of additional magic points. A heavy armchair or small
loveseat requires 4 points, and an exceptionally large sofa could
use as much as 6 points. Damage, of course, increases with the size
of the object. This power can be used to cause wooden objects to
warp drastically and explode into splinters.

3. Plant Growth. This is usually limited to use in the greenhouse,
which is filled with dead plants. By issuing an order to the plants,
the druid can cause them to grow and twist toward the investi-
gators causing a SAN loss of 1D3 points if the fail their roll. The
plants do not have much strength but will reach toward the inves-
tigators, attempting to twine about their wrists and ankles. The in-
vestigators can easily break the growths away but being grasped
by them takes an additional SAN roll to avoid losing another 1D3
points each time.

4, Push. The druid uses this to knock one investigator off his
balance while he ascends or descends a strairway; or anytime that
the druid recognizes that an investigator is in a precarious position.
This can also be used when two investigators are carrying a heavy
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object or perhaps when one person is lowering another on a rope,
or anytime where a temporary loss of balance could prove dis-
astrous.

5. Darkness. This lasts 5 rounds and fills a room with an inky
blackness that a flashlight cannot penetrate more than 2-3 feet.
The druid uses this when the investigators have just opened a
mysterious room.

6. Frightening Faces. These are illusions that the druid can cause
to appear on any reflective surface such as windows or mirrors.
They are generally horrible and ugly if not maimed and rotted.
Some show pieces of skull through the decayed flesh and others
are hardly more than skulls with eyes in them. Any investigator
witnessing one of these apparitions must roll SAN or lose 1D6
points. In addition to the SAN loss, if the investigator fails his roll,
he will also be startled by the sudden appearance and may do
something wrong. For instance, the druid could have a gruesome
face appear in the windshield of the car being used by the investi-
gators to flee the house. If the driver misses his SAN roll, the
vehicle may smash into a tree injuring all the passengers. The druid
also uses this when an investigator is looking at his own reflection.
There is a potential loss of 1D8 points of SAN if an investigator
fails his roll while watching his own face dissolve and rot before
his eyes. These illusions disappear as soon as the SAN roll is made,
successful or not.

7. Water and Blood. This is another illusion. This is aimed against
a single person either pumping water in the kitchen or raising a
glass to his lips. 1t does not matter if the liquid is from the house
and may even be a bottle of beer brought by one of the investiga-
tors. At any rate, the investigator suddenly realizes that the liquid
has turned to obviously warm blood and must make a SAN roll
or lose 1D3 points. As with the illusionary faces, the liquid will
then change back to whatever it was before it became blood.
Using the Manifestations

Manifestations are different than normal magic spells in that
the druid is able to manipulate as many as he wishes at any given
time. For instance, feeble rapping sounds and muffled groans
might be used to convince an investigator that someone or some-
thing is trapped within a wall or behind a door. An interior door
that begins to bulge and split while being accompanied by terrible
sounds and even worse odors may make the investigators believe
that they are being attacked by a Cthulhoid monster. Used cre-
atively in combination the manifestations can simulate any num-
ber of cliche haunted house situations to confuse and baffle the
investigators, Keepers may also wish to add their own manifesta-
tions, keeping in mind the guidelines already given.
SAN Losses Due to Manifestations

The scariness of each situation requires judgment on the part
of the keeper. A properly-timed and -placed minor manifesta-
tion might prove more horrifying than a more powerful one in dif-
ferent circumstances. It pays off if the keeper has enough know-
ledge of his players to know what actually scares them, and a little
time spent in planning frightening occurrences for the proposed
group helps immensely. SAN losses for viewing manifestations
should never exceed 1D8 points and the following guidlines are
offered to aid in judging SAN losses.
1 point: Things that prove unnerving. Almost intangible, the inves-
tigators will be unsure of how to judge it. Was it caused by a ghost,
or is it merely an over-active imagination distorting some natura!
event?
1D2 points: A startling event. It's more tangible, an investigator
can point at it and say ‘‘Look!"’
1D3 points: This loss is reserved for truly frightening or physically
threatening events such as moving furniture, attacks by flying
knives, etc.

It is important when running this adventure to not overuse the
manifestations and to start small and gradually work up to the
more frightening effects. Most of the manifestations are harmless
and as the investigators come to realize this, they will be less and
less inclined to be frightened. Continual repetition of the same
effect also tends to breed contempt for the haunt. It is really not
fair (or fun) to charge a player’s investigator SAN losses when the

-

player himself is not frightened. Keep the effects minor and as
sparse as possible. Use them to mislead the investigators and when
they start to get cocky, push one of them down the stairs or out
a window.

SPELLS
The druid also has spells that he may use against the investigators.

Summon Spirit of the Dead: The druid has a special contro! over
those who died as a result of his doing; this includes Elizabeth,
who committed suicide at his urging, and Beatrice, whose fall was
the final result of the fear and insanity that the druid was causing
her. This spell costs 6 magic points and allows him to force the
spirit to appear anywhere on the immediate grounds to perform
any action or actions he desires.

The spirit will only appear for a short time {1-2 rounds) and
must go through movements made before the person’s death. In
the case of Beatrice, she often appears running down the third-
floor staircase dressed in a nightgown, eyes bulging and mouth
open in a silent scream as she turns down the hallway and then
plunges through the railing to fall to the floor below. When the
investigators arrive to look over the edge, they find that the railing
is undamaged and that there is no body on the floor below, The
aged Beatrice, her terrified face framed by the floating wisps of
her stark white hair, is frightening apparition and any investigator
failing a SAN roll loses 1D6 SAN points.

Elizabeth is even more frightening; her face is swollen and
black, her tongue forced to protrude from her mouth by the pres-
sure of the rope around her neck. Elizabeth hung herself in the
attic and here she is most likely to be seen. A fellow exploring
the attic could see her body, slowly turning on the end of the
rope, hanging silently from a beam above the stairwell. The hor-
rible face of Elizabeth may twist into an awful smile just before
the apparition disappears. Other times, the druid has caused her
to appear slowly walking up a stairway with a rope over her arm,
her back to the investigators and her face unseen. Seeing Eliza-
beth’s face costs 1D8 points if SAN roll is unsuccessful, and 1
point if successful.

The spirits themselves are immaterial and thrown obijects, bul-
lets, or even fists will pass right though them, The druid can cause
them to walk through walls, floors, etc. The spirits will never
physically harm the investigators but merely serve to frighten
them.

The druid will use this spell infrequently as it is costly in magic
points and may also provide the investigators with a clue or two.
These two spirits know more about the haunting of the house than
anybody, alive or dead. Although neither is aware that there is
an ancient druid residing in the mantelpiece, either of the spirits,
if summoned using a spell found in the third-flaar study, can sup-
ply the investigators with at least some information. The exact
nature is left to the keeper, based on what the party may already
have discovered, but should be valuable.

Summon Ghost: This spell requires 5 magic points and costs the
caster 1D3 SAN points. The casting must be performed at night
and the blood of a mammal poured upon the gravestone or the
ashes of the dead that the caster wishes to contact. The spirit will
not wish to enter this world and the caster will have to best it in a
POW vs. POW struggle to force it to appear. SAN losses for seeing
the spirit are described above. Each question costs the caster an
additiona!l 1 magic point.

Implant Fear: By means of this spell, the druid can cause an inves-
tigator to be suddenly gripped by a soul-chilling fear. This sudden,
unexpected feeling of dread costs the investigator 1D6 SAN points
unless he succeeds in a SAN rol).

Casting this spell costs 6 magic points. Most often, he will
use this spell on an individua! just as he is about to perform a
particular action such as picking up an object to examine it,
opening a door to a previously unexplored room, sitting in a par-
ticular piece of furniture, opening a book, etc.

Nightmare: The druid can use this magic on anyone foolish
enough to sleep in the house. It costs 4 magic points to cast this
on a sleeper. He awakes with a scream and loses 1D3 SAN points.
He cannot remember the contents of the dream unless another
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member of the group can perform a successful Psychoanalysis.
Under analysis, the investigator can recall the dream; one of being
confined in a wooden cage while white-robed men set fire to the
huge mound of faggots upon which the cage rested. The investiga-
tor can recall the flames licking upward to sear his flesh before the
terror drove him awake.

Mental Suggestion: This powerful spell costs 8 magic points and
requires the druid to engage in a POW vs. POW struggle with the
chosen victim. tf the unfortunate investigator loses the struggle, he
falls under the druid’s control for 1 round, doing whatever is com-
manded of him. This can include direct attacks on other investiga-
tors or even suicide attempts. The druid will only use this spell in
drastic situations,

Death Spell: This is the druid’s most powerful spell and is only
employed when his hiding place has been discovered and the inves-

tigators are threatening him with destruction. He will use it against
the first investigator to lay an axe into the mantel.

It costs the druid 10 magic points and requires him to win a
POW vs. POW struggle with his chosen victim. If the victim loses,
the investigator breaks out in large blisters and suffers 103 points
of damage in the first round. On the second round, the investiga-
tor’s clothing begins to smolder and he takes another 1D4 points
of damage. On the third round, he bursts into flames, receiving
1D10 points of damage this round and every round thereafter. it is
impossible to extinguish the fire as the unfortunate victim is burn-
ing spontaneously from the inside out.

The blaze is intense and it is possible that the victim, while
thrashing around the room, will become entangled in draperies
or other dry, flammable items. This could possibly set the house
afire. Consequently, the druid will use this spell only in the most
extreme of situations.

Shriveling spells may prove effective against the wood-like
druid, as might the Dread Curse of Azathoth.

Other investigators might choose to attack him physi-
caly, either firing bullets into the mantel, or irying to
chop it open with an axe. Either method will cause the
druid (o respond with spell attacks. If the mantel is bro-
ken open, the druid will drag himself out and being at-
tacking the investigators physically and with spells.

The safest method is to simply burn the house down
with the mantel and the druid still in it. Of course, Mau-

rice will then see to it that the investigators are prosecuted
to the full extent of the law.

SAN Awards

Locating the druid and destroying him gives each of
the investigators involved a reward of 1D10+4 SAN
points. This rather high award is due to the extreme diffi-
culty of this adventure and the potential for high, cumula-
tive SAN losses.

~The End-

WINNING THIS SCENARIO

This scenario is primarily one of atmosphere and spooky
fun. Though the druid is certainly malignant, he is not
really a threat to humanity—all he wants is to be left
alone. The investigators may well fail to discover just what
haunts the Van Laaden house. This is fine.

There are numerous clues leading to such connections
as the City Without a Name and Innsmouth’s tie to the
Deep Ones. A clever keeper can use this scenario as a
jumping-off point for other adventures.

Despite the great powers of indirection the druid pos-
sesses, there is quite a bit of evidence pointing towards
him. At first, the investigators may be snowed under by
the wealth of misinformation, but they must discover
that, unlike some scenarios, not everything they learn is
cogent. They must learn to separate the wheat from the
chaff.

The fact that the tree used to build the mantelpiece
caused the death and crippling before installation should

imply that something was wrong with the tree from the
start, If the investigators have dreams about burning
wooden cages (a druid sacrifice technique) or notice the
references to old Gaelic, they may also begin to suspect
the mantel, as its wood came from Scotland. The investi-
gators may notice that a great number of the house’s man-
ifestations have to do with wood. With time and ingenu-
ity, they may finally comprehend that something is wrong
with the mantel. The druid naturally, will attempt to mis-
lead them with his weird manifestations.

If your players are both persistent and intelligent, they
are likely to solve the mystery, though it may take them
several nights of play. This is an extremely difficult inves-
tigation, though it is not particularly dangerous, and the
keeper should not assist the players.

If the investigators do manage to discover the druid
and defeat him, they deserve congratulations. They should
be rewarded by becoming well-known in occult circles,
which can lead to future investigations as potential clients
contact them for help or as evil occult groups single them
out for punishment,
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The Case Papers 1
Article in the Woonsocket Herald

The Case Papers 3

Herr Timmons,

I trust this last shipment has been suitable. I am
pleased to have been of some service to you, and hope
that it will help you decide whether to accept my offer
of induction into the organization. | expect your re-
sponse to my offer within the month.

Heil Yog-Sothoth

WOONSOCKET-The police report few leads con-
cerning the mysterious grave robbing at Our
Grace Cemetery last night. The desecrated grave
was located in one of the oldest parts of the
cemetery; the pre-revolutionary headstone was
so worn that identification of the grave has
been deemed impossible. Due to the fact that
very few burial records from that time remain,
the police have been unable to identify the
missing body.

Baron H.

The Case Papers 4

Brian Timmons'® Journal

This slim, untitied volume contains details of Brian Timmons’
investigations into his family’s past. in it are names, birth dates,
a few scribbled comments, and several half-completed geneal-

ogy charts. The most important pieces of information to be
gleaned from it are:

® Brian is very interested in his ancestor, Douglas Timmons,
who was run out of Salem in colonial times for loathsome
and un-Christian practices.

e The location of the secret grave of Douglas Timmons is
about a half mile east of the farmhouse.

® The location of the old tower near the river is about a half
mile to the south, 200 yards from the riverbank. Brian’s
interest in the tower is not explained.

The Case Papers 2

My Dear Son Brian,

My heart aches when I recollect the damning conversation I overheard while on your front porch. Please, you must
put aside these abominable practices and end your association with that disreputable Haley fellow.

You have broken your mother’s heart and I fear that she may never stop weeping or smile ever again. For her sake,
if not for your own, please leave the old farm and return home to your mother and father. If you will come to your
senses and return home now, the police need never know.

Your Forgiving Father

Scrawled across the bottom of the letter, in an archaic script, is the statement:
“Right ye be, olde foole!"’
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The Witch Papers 1

From an article written by Amy Hanover and published in
Occult Review magazine.

This article begins as a standard work about witchcraft,
but then touches briefly on the subject of a mysterious
coven of Salem witches.

“The thirteen witches were reputed to be so evil that all tran-
scripts of the trial are thought to have been destroyed. The
leader of the coven was named Mercy Booth, who was said by
more than one witness to have been visited by the devil in the
guise of a tall black man. Other information indicates that she
may have been related to Ludvig Prinn, executed by the Roman
Inquisition in the 16th century for heresy and devil worship. The
next article will have more information on this interesting
coven.”

The Witch Papers 3

Professor Hagerty’s notes.

The Witch Papers 2
Article from the Salem Globe, dated July 1892

SALEM-The Da Chille Construction Co. has an-
nounced that demolition will continue tomorrow
on the old homes on Lyle Street. Work had been
delayed on the site while Professor Hagerty of
Boston University examined an underground room
discovered beneath the block of homes. Accord-
ing to construction workers the room was
decorated with a mosaic tile that contained
what appeared to be strange writing.

After spending several days at the site
Professor Hagerty has pronounced it of no
significant historical value, allowing demoli-
tion to proceeded. With construction now un-
derway again, the block of modern new apartment
buildings should be completed by late summer
of next year.

e e

These are loose papers covered by the uniform handwriting of
the professor. They reveal the following facts:

e Mercy's coven was accused of over a dozen ritual murders
even though the bodies were never found.

® Mercy was also accused of having meetings with the Devil.
Many witnesses testified to seeing her in the company of a

tall black man.

® One old man of questionable sanity claimed he saw her
walking one night with “a terrible familiar, shaped like a bar-
rel with ridges, and a starfish where its head ought to be.”
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The Fungi Papers 1

Letter from Paul LeMond to his mother, found in Paul’s apartment.

Dear Mom,

Sorry to have been so long to write, but I've been very busy with all the bookings that
Herb has gotten for me lately. The sessions really take a lot out of me and I haven’t been
sleeping all that well. I'm afraid that I’'m beginning to experience those same dreams again;
the ones I suffered just before my attack of amnesia. It seems to be affecting my
personality, I just don’t seem to be able to get along with people like I might, and Velma
and 1 have been fighting a lot. I know you don’t care much for Velma, Mom, but she really
is a wonderful girl and I know she loves me.

Later,

Just returned from Velma’s apartment. I’'m afraid we’ve had another fight. She said she
doesn’t want to see me again. I told Herb about it and he wants me to check into a hospital.
He thinks I need a rest. I don’t want to. I must see Velma but I don’t know if I can make it
. . . the huge ferns wave in the wind outside my window. Beyond those are spired buildings,
... I don’t remember the way. I'm afraid I'll get lost. I must see Velma, but the Beast waits
out there. . .

READ THIS SIDE ONLY
The Fungi Papers 2

A series of letters from Baron Hauptman to Dr. Cornwallis.

Dear Dr. Cornwallis,

Congratulations on your discovery. All you have told me indicates that this child is the
one. Praise Shub-Niggurath! The prophecy will be fulfilled!

I am enclosing copies of the lineage you requested. This should verify beyond a doubt
that the boy is the One. He bears the mark, and the stars are right.

Hail Yog-Sothoth,
Hauptman

Dear Dr. Cornwallis,

Everything is moving according to plan. I should be arriving in America May 27th to take
charge of young Master Edward. I hope you have properly prepared the boy for the journey.
We must not lose our chances this time. The stars do not promise another birth for over a
century and the Brotherhood grows impatient!

I have in contact with the parents and they understand our interest and purpose. I expect
no interference from that quarter. He is the typical, short-sighted “man of business” and his
company is already benefitting from his decision. They will be quite content, I think.

I will bring with me a present; a gift from the Brotherhood for your invaluable services. It
is a pair of spectacles that I have constructed. I will instruct you in their proper use when I
arrive.

Hail Yog-Sothoth,
Baron Hauptman
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The Fungi Papers 9
Letter from Dr. Dieter to Edward Chandler.

Dear Mr. Chandler,

READ THIS SIDE ONLY

Once again I am pleased that you have chosen to ask my advice on political matters
involving NWI, and am only too happy to respond.

1 would first say that continued fueling of bloodshed in China will continue to create a
political turmoil much like the one that gripped Russia after the revolution. [ would also
consider continued funding of anti-British militants in India, but refrain from helping young
Congressman Nehru. I do not believe his philosophies mesh well with ours.

I cannot again emphasize how important I feel it is for NWI to continue to support the
National Socialist Party in Germany. Their leader’s strong beliefs in hereditary superiority
indicate a common link with the Brotherhood, and I believe that if the party is informed of
the goals of the Brotherhood, it will bend all efforts to see them to fruition.

Respectfully yours,

Dr. Dieter

(M) m—m— e —— e —— ——————— —————

The Fungi Papers 3
The Testament of Jan Savechik.

1, Jan Savechik, humble priest of the village of Drovosna,
in the year of our Lord, 1632, do write this testament in
regards to the events surrounding the actions taken by
thc people of Drovosna against the Baron Hauptman.
This testimony differs from the version given to the
legates of the Church who were sent to investigate the
actions of the villagers, and is the one true version. I am
writing this in private, and when finished will seal the
document with wax bearing a pagan symbol to guard it
against those who would use it to their own purposes, or
to signal another who would stand against these forces.

In the year of our Lord, 1627, a book belonging to
the Baron Hauptman came into my possession. It was a
large volume, written in Greek. Its title shall not be
repeated here. Blasphemous things were hinted at in the
ramblings of a heathen poet who was supposed to have
written the original, and protection against devils and
demons were also offered to the reader.

When, in 1628, a young girl of the village was taken
by the Baron and later killed and her body thrown from
the castle walls, her father, in rage, assailed the door of
the castle with his hands and screamed his hate for the
Baron. It was then, in full sight of the village, the Baron
appeared upon the ramparts above the castle gate and
with his evil gaze alone, killed the poor peasant. His
body lay at the foot of the castle for two days before
anyone dared approach to carry it away.

It was then, though I realized I imperiled my soul, I
read that accursed volume. What was spoken within
those pages shook me to the very heart of my faith, and
I still feel as though a cold, dark hand grips my heart.
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The book told me of monstrous beings who live in
another place from us and from the notes written in the
margins in the Baron’s hand, I knew that he worshipped
these as gods, in particular, one who dwelt below the
castle in a stinking pit. The book also told how to make
a sign that these gods would not tolerate and would flee
from. Arming the villagers with crucifixes from the
church, I led them against the evil Baron.

We broke down the doors and ran through the castle,
searching for the Baron. A small group of men found
entrance to the catacombs below and bravely entered
the dark tunnels. I followed at a distance and heard their
cries ahead. I hurried on bearing the pagan symbol and
the blasphemous book and rounding the corner, saw a
devil, a demon that should not be. I screamed as [
watched it devour the villagers, crucifixes still clenched
in their hands. With gunshots and torches, we forced it
back into its stinking hole, and I hammered the pagan
symbol onto a great stone, which we used to seal the
hole. We did not find the Baron, though his hated
servants were slain, and after pulling down one of the
great towers, we left the castle to its abandonment.

I never spoke of the things that I saw below the castle
and it was supposed that the lost men had somehow
stumbled into the stinking pit found deep below the
castle. None of the men dared approach the abyss. I fear
that I have risked eternal damnation for my actions, but
must write them down to at least cleanse my mind if not
my soul.

Jan Savechik



The Fungi Papers 4
Prophecy from the Kitab al-Azif.

... and it was dreamed again of the priest
Nophru-Ka and of the words he spoke at his death,
how the son would rise to claim the title, and the
son would rule the world in his father’s name, and
the son would revenge the father’s murder, and the
son would call the Beast that is worshipped, and the
sands would drink the blood of the children of the
Pharaoh, and this Nophru-Ka spoke.”

from the Kitab al-Azif

The Fungi Papers 6
Letter from Hauptman to Katif.

Katif,

- D A GRS D SED WD Ch GED GED Sub Gun S G ————————-——-——-—(cut:
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The Fungi Papers 5
Baron Hauptman's translation from the R 'lyeh Text.

.. . and the Great Hall is guarded by his servants
and man must bear with him the sign of the Elder
ones. A wise man would not look above to these
servants or they may steal a man’s mind. A man
should also not bear with him knowledge when he
leaves, or the Sleeper will awake to take that
knowledge from the man, and the man.

Writings of the Beast are found in the second
gallery right, these galleries unguarded by the
servants, but the wary traveler would do well to
avoid others he might meet,

Translated from the original R’lyeh Text
by Baron Hauptman, 1238 A.D.

A matter of urgency. Several foreigners recently appeared in Drovosna, possibly bearing
information regarding our plans. They suspect my involvement. I have reason to believe that
they have come across information that will lead them to the site of the tomb. They should
be dealt with severely if they try to intervene. I will leave the handling of the matter up to
you, but at all costs you must steal or destroy the scrolls found in the tomb should they
be discovered.

Hail Yog-Sothoth
Hauptman

—————————— —-—————-—-———-——————-———————_-_—_--._._—_--—————-————-—---(cut}

The Fungi Papers 7
Letter from Johnathan Harris to Edward Chandler.

Dear Sir:

Please be advised that the operation in sector A-48 is ahead of schedule and nearing
completion. Dismantling of the operation will begin soon and a reduction of activity at the
NWI site will also begin soon. Our allies from Y. appear to be happy with the future
arrangements made for them in your plans. I believe that all will go well.

Ia Shub-Niggurath,
J. Harris
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The Fungi Papers 8
Newspaper article on Pearl Beach.

SAN FRANCISCO--Pieces of wreckage, believed to
belong to the boat piloted by Chicago industrialist
Alexander Chandler were found today near a desert-
ed beach about 20 miles north of San Francisco.
This discovery confirms the belief held by authori-
ties that Chandler and his wife Pauline are lost
at sea.

Chandler and his wife were vacationing in the
San Francisco area this week and were apparently
surprised by a sudden storm that blew up out of the
northwest. They were reported missing last night
when their boat failed to return to the dock.

The wreckage was discovered by Peter Baird, des-
cribed as a hermit who lives in the area of Pearl
Beach.

The death of Alexander Chandler leaves only a
son, Edward, as sole heir to the growing Chandler
Enterprises. Memorial arrangements are still pend-
ing.
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The Van Laaden Papers 1
Article from The Grand Rapids Herald dated 1878.

An accident yesterday, at the site of an archaeological
excavation north of Grand Rapids, has left one man seri-
ously injured and two others suffering from minor cuts
and bruises.

Bertrand Hancock, who is credited with the discovery
of the Indian mound being excavated, is resting in Grand
Rapids Hospital recovering from multiple injuries and
broken bones stemming from the accident. Apparently, a
large iron tripod, used to support a heavy block and
tackle, slipped down the side of the earthen mound,
troppled over and trapped the unfortunate Mr. Hancock
beneath it. Workers at the site can give no explanation for
the accident but a spokesman for the University of
Michigan, which is in charge of the dig, has announced
that despite the accident, work will continue as scheduled.

Mr. Hancock, a business graduate of the University, is
married to Deborah Van Laaden, daughter of local Civil
War hero Aaron Van Laaden and presently resides on the
Van Laaden property where he first discovered the
mound. Doctors have not released details regarding his
injuries, but he is listed in fair condition and expected to
recover.

READ THIS SIDE ONLY

The Van Laaden Papers 2
Article from The Grand Rapids Herald dared 1898.

It was announced today that Beatrice Van Laaden, wife of
the late Aaron Van Laaden, died yesterday as the result of
a fall in her home. Her daughter Virginia Van Laaden said
the older woman had been in poor health for the last few
years and was kept confined to the house. She apparently
stumbled and fell while descending the staircase in the
family home.

The Van Laaden name is well-known in Grand Rapids.
Earlier members of the family were instrumental in the
incorporation of the city, and the name Van Laaden can
be found on many public buildings including the library
and art museum,

Mrs. Van Laaden is survived not only by her daughter
Virginia, but by a grandson, Maurice, and another daugh-
ter, Deborah, now residing in Grosse Pointe, Mich. Private
services are scheduled for tomorrow and the body will be
interred in the family plot located on the Van Laaden

property.
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The Van Laaden Papers 3
Article from The Kent Clarion dated 1863.

Allen Van Laaden, of the Grand Rapids Van Laadens,
died yesterday in his home, the result of an accidental,
self-inflicted gunshot wound to the stomach. The accident
was reported by Captain Aaron Van Laaden, a cousin of
Allen presently home on leave from the Union Army.

According to the report, Mr. Van Laaden was cleaning
the pistol in an upstairs room of the Van Laaden mansion
when the weapon accidentally discharged, striking him
full in the stomach. He expired before a doctor could be
summoned. Graveside services will be held at the family
home.

READ THIS SIDE ONLY

The Van Laaden Papers 4
Article from The Kent Clarion dated 1866.

It was learned today that Captain Aaron Van Laaden is
dead. His body was found late yesterday evening in the
woods near his home, apparently the victim of a freak
hunting accident. Having left the home earlier in the day,
the family became worried when he did not return in time
for dinner. A gunshot had been heard earlier in the after-
noon, but was thought that Mr. Van Laaden had been
firing on game. The grim discovery made later showed
that Van Laaden, while stepping through a tangle of
briars, had apparently fallen, causing his rifle to discharge,
and killing him instantly.

Aaron Van Laaden, besides being well-known for his
military exploits in defense of the Union, is also well-
remembered for his intensive efforts to incorporate the
city of Grand Rapids and his unfailing devotion to public
causes. These include helping to establish the city’s first
library and its first art museum.

Captain Van Laaden’s widow was unavailable for com-
ment. Funeral arrangements have not yet been made.
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The Van Laaden Papers 5
A condensed version of The Voyages and Journees of
Brandon Van Laaden.

Introduction: This is written by Henry Wordsworth Van
Laaden in tribute to his younger brother, “a hale and
hearty man who could never resist a challenge,” and,
among other things, tells of Brandon’s sudden death in
1847. It mentions that the book was incomplete at the
time of Brandon’s death and that a limited edition of fifty
copies will be printed and distributed to friends, family,
and public institutions.

Foreward: From here on, the book is written by Brandon,
and in this section describes how he was “commissioned”
by his brother to travel to Europe and beyond in search of
antique furnishings, works of art, fine woods and carpets,
tapestries, and anything else that would add to the value
and prestige of the family home. At the same time, he
hoped to find time to do some exploring and hunting.
Chapter 1: This chapter describes the trans-Atlantic
voyage by clipper ship. Brandon tells of a gigantic water-
spout secn by the crew and passengers on the third day of
the voyage.

Chapter 2: Arrival in London. The early parts of the chap-
ter are concerned with the time spent at auctions of art
and furniture while in the city. Later in the chapter he
describes some of the finer dining establishments to be
found in the city.

Chapter 3: Leaving London, Brandon writes of a short
trip to the north of Scotland where he investigates an
ancient oval enclosure built of granite rocks. It is pre-
sumed to have been built by a Celtic tribe, the mystery
being its vitrified interior. Inside, the granite has been
melted by intense heat into a glass-like glaze. This would
require temperatures in excess of 1300 degrees C. No nor-
mal fire could possibly produce this effect. While return-
ing through the south, Brandon stops near Dumfties
where he selects a huge European oak from a stand of
trees about two miles west of town. This lumber will be
used to refurbish portions of the house.

Continued other side

READ THIS SIDE ONLY

The Van Laaden Papers 6
Letter dated June, 1844, addressed to Henry Van Laaden, from the foreman at one of the family s sawmills.

James Leski, Foreman
Blake River Mill No. 1

June, 1844

Dear Mr. Van Laaden,

In regards to the delay surrounding the milling and cutting of the lumber recently
received in the shipment from overseas, I regret to inform you that the delay has increased.
When [ last wrote you in May, I had expected the work to be finished before the end of the
following month and explained the delay then to the fact that the saws would have to be
frequently reset to make all the different cuts that you required. Since that time, another
problem has occurred that will, I fear, increase the delay again. The main saw, used to make
the initial cuts on the larger pieces has been accidentally damaged. I personally oversaw the
operation and the man operating the saw is our most skilled employee. Nonetheless, the
main blade has fractured and will need to be replaced. The manufacturer, located in New
York, has assured me that shipment will take no longer than four weeks at which time we
will be able to proceed with the job. In the meantime, I would recommend specifically
against trying to cut these large pieces at another of the mills. All of their saws are less
accurate than the one here and I believe that the problem stems from the operator’s initial
unfamiliarity with the strange and exotic woods that you would use. Therefore, I would
suggest that the added delay of waiting for the shipment of the new blade, to be followed
by the cutting, here, of the rest of the shipment would be rewarded.

- Humbly yours,
James Leski
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Continued from other side

Chapter 4: Sailing across the English Channel, Brandon
arrives in Paris. Here he chances to meet a rare book
dealer he describes as a ‘“‘very mysterious fellow.”
Brandon purchases an unnamed volume from the man and
makes an appointment to meet him the following evening
to view some other rare volumes. The next morning, the
book dealer’s shop is discovered open and looted, and the
old man’s body later found floating on the Seine.

Chapter 5: This chapter contains a lengthy description of
Brandon’s travels through central and eastern Europe on
his way to the Near East. While in Transylvania, he
receives an opportunity to visit a mysterious castle high in
the mountains, but at the last minute is forced to decline
due to time considerations.

Chapter 6: While in Beirut, Brandon meets an old Muslim
who tells him the legend of a nameless city constructed
long before people walked the earth, and now forgotten
to mankind. The old man claims to know its location and
Brandon briefly considers mounting an expedition before
dismissing the idea. Brandon spends several weeks in and
around Syria and Palestine, collecting carpets, tapestries,
imported woods, and many other items for the household
of the Van Laadens.

The Van Laaden Papers 10

The log of the “Tanager.” This old record can be found in
the sea-chest of Erich. It is a record of the voyages he
made while captain of the ship and a memento of his life
at sea. It is quite detailed and lengthy, most of it dull and
along with its archaic script, quite tedious to read, requir-
ing 14 hours of study. It will also require successful Read
English rolls to note the following ‘interesting’ passages
contained in the latter portions of the log.

1. June 21, 1817: Left Samoa today. Intend to sail north.
A ship was spotted near the horizon, the watch identified
it as possibly the ‘Columby’ out of Innsmouth. It would
be captained by Obed Marsh if it is. Winds are fair and we
will set course for the Solomons.

2. January 8, 1818: Saw Marsh’s ship again today, headed
easterly. He must be coming out of the Caroline Islands,
he has been doing a lot of trading in that area the last
few years and I think that it is somehow connected with
the family’s seemingly replenished financial resources.
The ‘Hetty’ and the ‘Sumatry Queen’ both have made
voyages there. I would not mind learning the source of
their new-found weaith myself.

3. February 12, 1818: A stroke of luck today. One of the
crew, while ashore, discovered in a tavern one of Obed
Marsh’s men. This sailor apparently jumped ship while the
‘Columby’ was here in port and is of the lowest type,
addle-headed and addicted to rum. Nonetheless, he knew
the port in which old Obed has been trading, a primitive
native village located not far from the island of Ponape. It
cost me but little money to persuade him to indicate the
tiny island’s position on the chart, but no amount of per-
suasion could get him to agree to accompanying us. For
this reason 1 distrust the man, thinking that he has pur-
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Chapter 7: While in Cairo, Egypt, Brandon visits the
Sphinx and experiences a vision. He does not describe
what he saw but does mention that the night before he
had taken the opportunity to sample a small bit of hashish
purchased from his hired guide. From a dealer in Cairo,
Brandon purchases a shipment of exotic woods brought
from the interior of the continent. Among these pieces is
large blocks of dense, black wood called ebony. Brandon
also tells of the purchase, from this same dealer, of a
fetish, stolen from one of the tribes of the interior. Bran-
don describes it as being about a foot tall, carved of wood,
and studded with metal nails. It is in the likeness of an
ugly, squat demon.

Chapter 8: In this chapter, Brandon describes the first
portion of a safari to equatorial Africa in search of big
game. He is particularly interested in reports of a strange,
purple-brown, deer-like animal said to be known to the
tribes of the interior.

It was at this point in the writing of the book that
Brandon was stricken by his fatal illness and his story ends
rather abruptly while halfway through the hunting
expedition.

READ THIS SIDE ONLY

posely sold me bad information. But if that is so, why
would he sell it for the price of a few bottles of rum?
also had to promise not to reveal his existence to anyone
for he fears reprisals from Captain Marsh, so again, 1
doubt his reason to do me wrong. [ have decided to set
sail in the morning.

4. March 14, 1818: Have left the Carolines today. God
help us all. We have discovered the source of Obed’s
wealth and have paid with some of our lives and souls.
I pray for those of us left and ask a merciful God to cast
down his wrath upon the accursed Marsh and those things
with which he consorts. I have lost six men, some to the
blasphemous thing that rose out of the sea, and some to
the madness that beset most of my crew afterward. Mate
Hannigan, I must say, deserves as much praise for saving
us as any. Without his able help I don’t believe that I
could have brought the ‘Tanager’ out alone. I fear now for
his soul. He has grown increasingly quieter and now re-
fuses to speak at all. Perhaps that madness has beset him
now that it has left most of the crew. Heaven help provide
a safe passage home for us. I would return home, if I
might, and there make arrangements to move my family.
Move them somewhere far from the sea and the things
that I have discovered living there. God save us all.
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The Van Laaden Papers 7
A copy of a letter sent by Henry Van Laaden to an employee permanently injured while helping to carry in
the large block of oak that was used as a mantle over the east fireplace.

To Peter Cartwright:

I and my family were very sorry to learn of the permanence of the injuries you received
while in our employ. The fact that it happened in our home grieves us even more.

While by no means can I or the company accept responsibility for the accident (I, myself,
had told the foreman that more men would be needed for the job; that the large blocks of
wood were very heavy and maneuvering them through the doorway would be difficult and
dangerous work), we would not wish your family (my foreman tells me you have a wife and
four children) to suffer unduly from your further inability to earn a proper living. Please
accept the enclosed draft for $250, the least our family can do for yours in gratitude for the
years of service you have given.

Sincerely yours,
Henry W. Van Laaden

The Van Laaden Papers 8 READ THIS SIDE ONLY
Excerpt from the journal of Aaron Van Laaden.

June 12,1853

A strange event took place last evening. About eight o’clock, as I sat reading Gibbons in
the living room, I was aroused by a weak, but seemingly urgent knocking upon the front
door. Quickly marking my place, I hurried to the foyer and pulled open the door to find a
man, of dark skin and obviously foreign birth, dressed in a dark cloak, huddled against the
driving rain. I invited the poor wretch in and as he stepped across the sill, he was set with a
wracking cough so dreadful, I was compelled to take him by the arm, for without support, I
am sure that he would have fallen to the floor.

At this same moment, Beatrice appeared, and seeing the poor man’s condition, insisted
that he be taken upstairs immediately and put to bed in one of the guest rooms. Despite his
weakened condition, it was necessary that he climb the stairs all the way to the third floor,
all the rooms on the lower floors presently being occupied, and as I helped the man, I tried
to talk with him only to discover that he knew not a word of English. I could not begin to
guess what strange, Asiatic tongue he used, but I'm sure it was an expression of sincere
thanks that he gave to us that evening before his passing. Refusing all and any offers of
food, we left him to rest and the wracking cough soon came to a stop and we assumed that
he was sleeping peacefully. It was this morning that it was discovered he was dead, passing
away some time quietly during the night, God rest his soul.

Allen has been sent to town to bring the doctor but not until after I was forced to listen
to his raging about the “bringing of foreigners into our home,” although this time I would
have to admit that he may have been the wiser last night when, upon learning of the
stranger’s presence, protested loudly and vehemently, the wisdom of my decision. I must
admit I am at a loss to explain the man’s mysterious illness and upon checking the pockets
of clothing, I find that he carried almost no money and absolutely nothing that would
identify him. As for the disposal of the body, I have already talked this matter over with
Beatrice, and we have decided that if it proves impossible to identify the man, we will have
him given a proper Christian burial in the family plot. I am sure that Allen will protest the
decision, but it has been decided that it is the only proper thing to do.
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Letter addressed to Aaron found with the coroner’s report on the death of the stranger in the Van Laaden

home in 1853.

Dcar Mr. Van Laaden,

In rcgards to the unfortunate demise of the unidentified asiatic in your home I would
recommend the following precautions be taken in light of the unknown nature of his fatal
diseasc: The room should be thoroughly aired before anything clse. After proper airing
remove and wall all bedclothes before cleaning and white-washing the room. As an extra
precaution I would advise avoiding inhabiting the room for the next six months if at all
possible. This would apply in particular to children, older people, or the chronically ill.
[ am sorry if I am unable to shed any further light on your particular problem.

The Van Laaden Papers 13

The journal of Bertrand Hancock. This slim volume was
kept from near the date of his marriage to Deborah in
1872 until he moved his family to Detroit in 1880. The
entries are sparse and it reads more like a scientific journal
than personal memoirs. It will require no Read rolls and
only three hours time to thoroughly digest the contents.
Reading the journal, the investigator will discover that
Bertrand, although in possession of a business degree,

1. August 28, 1875: Last night, while standing at the back
door, my attention was attracted by a sizzling, rushing
sound that seemed to come from above and behind me.
Looking over my shoulder 1 was just in time to see a large
ball of fire, sparks trailing in its wake, arc across the
heavens over the roff of our house. | did not see it travel
far before it seemed to explode with the sound of a far
distant cannon, pieces streaking off in all directions from
the sudden demolition. Most of these pieces seemed to
burn up and disappear but one, apparently larger than the
rest, survived the explosion and as it fell into the woods
north of the house I could hear the sound of breaking
branches. My attempts to locate it by lamplight last night
were unsuccessful but this morning, by the light of day,
I was fortunate enough to locate the object, laying in a
deep furrow in the earth, still warm from its passage
across the heavens. It was not as large as | had thought,
measuring only eight or ten inches across, but its glazed
surface spoke of the high temperatures that it had en-
dured. Time has not allowed me full and proper study
of the object but in the meantime I have placed the
celestial remnant on the mantle in the living room where
it adds a touch that the room otherwise lacks.
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Respectfully,
Lucas Bradshaw, M.D.,
Coroner, Kent County
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Jancied himself a scientist and the book is filled with his
observations on all facets of the natural world including
studies of the local fauna and flora. Preferring this to
regular employment, he was content to live off his wife’s
inheritance and the notebook is clearly intended to be
used as source material for a future book. In addition, the
investigator may find the following entries of specific
interest,

2. March 25, 1878: A day of discovery! While walking
through the north woods today U discovered what all
evidence leads me to believe is a mound, perhaps a grave-
site, left here by Indians. It is odd that I never before
took notice of the oddly circular hill in the woods, but
it is covered with a quite dense growth of trees and I
propbably wouldn’t have noticed it if it had not been for
the melting snows. It was so obvious as I passed through,
the bare, circular mound surrounded by snow-covered
ground all around. I will write Professor Pendergast at
once and hope that I can interest him in verifying and
excavating the find.

3. July 5, 1878: The major part of the excavation of the
mound begins tomorrow. Initial digging is completed and
the students have erected a large tripod, fitted with a
block and tackle, to lift the huge flat stones that seem to
roof the anticipated chambers below. Although we have as
yet to discover anything of real significance, our finds
being limited to a few arrowheads and unidentifiable clay
shards, the high spirits of the students does not fail to
lend an air of excitement to the whole undertaking. 1
find myself barely able to wait until tomorrow.
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The diary of Allen Gottler Van Laaden. This book can
be found behind a secret panel of the desk in the third
floor library. It was kept secretly by Allen from 1853
until his death in 1863 and is quite lengthy. Reading the

1. 1853: Allen excitedly writes of his anticipation of the
delivery of a volume of fiction he has ordered from a New
York publishing firm. 1t apparently is a book of short
stories by an author named Edgar Allan Poe.

2. 1854: More references to the writer named Poe. Allen
pays particular attention to a couple of stories. One is
“The Black Cat,” and the other is “The Cask of Amontil-
lado.”

3. 1854: Allen is upset. It seems that he overheard Henry
and Aaron discussing plans in the third floor study to re-
model the house—apparently, the convenience of the
family is not the only thing they have in mind. Allen
believes that they are intending to use the house to help
smuggle escaping slaves north to Canada; an idea that he
disapproves of intensely,

4. 1857: Allen has had a serious argument with his cousin.
He has confronted Aaron with the fact that he knows
what he has been doing in regards to the smuggling of
escaped slaves. Apparently, Aaron told Allen that if he
tried to expose the activities of the family, he would kill
him.

5. 1859: Allen has discovered a book that once belonged
to his father. It is a book of dark secrets and strange tales
that was originally purchased by Brandon Van Laaden
while traveling in Europe. Somehow David came into
possession of the mysterious volume, for he signed his
name on the inside cover, beneath a number of other,
unknown signatures. Allen writes that, after reading it,
he has likewise decided to sign the book.

6. 1861: Aaron has enlisted in the Union forces and gone
to war. Allen feels that due to the weakened condition of

book will take an investigator 6 hours and he will find
that most of it is a rambling discourse against other mem-
bers of the family. The investigator will be required to
make a successful Read English roll to gain each of the
Sfollowing clues.

Henry, he is now in charge of the household. It is obvious
that Allen is in a vengeful frame of mind and will begin by
winning the senile Henry’s confidence and then offering
to help him in the smuggling of the slaves.

7. 1862: After terrorizing the family with threats and
curses for the last year, Allen has finally committed his
heinous plan, sealing four escaping slaves in the secret
room of the basement and leaving them to die. In the
meantime, he has assured Henry that they escaped during
the night and that he had to seal off the room and destroy
any evidence of their presence due to suspicions being
raised by certain, unsympathetic, circles in town.

8. 1863: Triumph! In a drunken rage, Allen has confront-
ed Henry with his dark deed, causing the old man to be
stricken with a fatal heart attack. Allen gloats after the
old man’s death.

9. 1863: One of the last entries, Allen tells how Beatrice
must have overheard his last conversation with the old
man and written to Aaron. Aaron will be arriving home
soon. Allen is very fearful of what Aaron may do.

Any investigator making a Psychoanalysis roll after
reading the complete book, regardless of how many speci-
fic clues were obtained, will come to understand some of
the character of the madman, Allen Van Laaden. His
progressively worsening alcoholism and an obsession with
being buried alive will become obvious. The keeper may
wish to add, as he deems appropriate, an additional clue
or two regarding the personality or behavior patterns of
this man. These additional clues may be supplied in an
effort to aid or mislead the players, as desired.
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The letters of Aaron Van Laaden. This is a bundle of old,
yellowed envelopes, tied with a blue ribbon, and contain-
ing the letters written home to Beatrice by Aaron, her
husband gone off to war. They can be found in the night-
stand of the east bedroom of the third floor.

It will require 1 hour to read through all the letters and
the investigator who does so will discover almost nothing
of interest, most of the letters being no more than Aaron’s
expressions of longing for his wife and home. The one
exception is the last letter written by Aaron announc-
ing his imminent return home in response to his father'’s
death. In this letter he expresses his hatred for his cousin,
Allen, and vows to take revenge upon the man.

The Van Laaden Papers 17

The diary of Beatrice Van Laaden. This slim volume will
be found tucked between the mattresses of the bed found
in the third-floor bedroom last inhabited by Beatrice. It
will require 1 hour'’s time and a successful Read English
roll to discover that the woman who wrote the book was
completely unhinged. There is no information of value to
be found here and the only clue the investigators may no-
tice will be the odd symbols or doodles that Beatrice
chose to decorate the edges of the pages with. If an in-
vestigator makes a Linguistics or Anthropology roll while
examining these, he will find that they are Celtic in origin,
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The Secret Book. This untitled Mythos volume is a ram-
bling text written in English and claims to be a study of
necromancy taken from a ‘Book of the Dead’ that origi-
nated in either ancient Persia or Afghanistan. It takes a
Read English roll to successfully read the work, and the
investigator faces a loss of 1D4 SAN points along with a
potential gain of 4% added to his Cthulhu Mythos score.
The book contains one spell, Summon Ghost, which may
be learned with a roll of INTx5% (see page 62 under
“Spells.”
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The suicide letter of Elizabeth Van Laaden

My dearest Mother and Father,

Please try to understand what I am about to do and remember me in your prayers. 1
know God has written that it is wrong, but I have been assured by a voice from another
world that death in this world will be followed by rebirth in another, more glorious and
beautiful than can be imagined. I have made the decision to join this voice in the other
world.

I have never told anyone about this voice for fear that the family would think me mad,
but I have been “talking” with it since I was but a little girl. I first heard the voice while in
the sitting room and it came to me all of a sudden and I was scared at first. But later I heard
it again, calling my name, and this time I answered; not with my voice, but somehow just
by thinking what I wanted to say. This voice has told me many things over the time I have
spent in its company and he has now invited me to join him. The time has come for me to
leave this mundane existence.

Tell Aaron I am sorry I won’t see him for a while and give my love to the rest of the
family.
Your loving daughter,
Elizabeth Van Laaden

The Van Laaden Papers 19
A letter to Mary Gottler

My Dearest Mary,

Please try to find it in your heart to forgive my actions on the day of your wedding to
David. You must understand that it was only a mother’s love for her only daughter that
made me say the things I said. Your wedding day should have been happy and I am sorry if
I have upset the Van Laadens and hope that they will also be able to forgive me someday.

I hope you will come to visit your father and I soon, for we both miss you very much.
Perhaps you could make plans to spend a day or two at home with us again. Please say you
will. It has been almost three months since your wedding and we have not heard from you.
Please write and say you forgive me.

Your father made me promise not to bring up the issue again, but if you will come to
see me, even for an hour, I can show you proof of my accusations. It is a fact that the Van
Laaden family was forced to come to America after being accused of heresy by the Church.
They are without God, Mary, and you risk your very soul by associating with them. Say you
will renounce your marriage and come home to a family that loves you and will help you
turn back to your salvation. Living with these people will condemn your soul to hell!

Your loving mother,
. Katherine Gottler
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Letter to Bertrand Hancock from the University of Michigan

Dear Bertrand,

How kind of you to write. Of course I remember you, you were one of my favorite
students and I still think that you should have followed your instincts and pursued a career
in archaeology. I thing that it would have suited you far better than the business education
you choose.

But enough of that. In answer to your questions, yes, your discovery sounds authentic.
As you describe it, it would sound like a mound as sometimes built by the Ottawa tribe, but
their arc some rather odd details you mentioned that I would like to see for myself before
making a final judgement. As for the chances of undertaking an excavation this summer, I
would say that if the mound proves authentic, that chances are good. It would require little
funding from the University as I would choose to use some of my students who, although
untrained in some aspects, are willing and able workers. Of course I am willing to accept
your offer of aid in the project and in light of the general inexperience of the students I
would be using, even your admittedly limited expericnce should prove valuable.

Sincerely yours,
Professor R. Pendergast

The Van Laaden Papers 11

The diary of Virginia. This book was kept only intermit-
tently and spans the years 1889 to 1911. It requires no
Read rolls but it will take an investigator 4 hours to
thoroughly read. It contains only two clues.

The first information found is the general chronicling
of the steadily increasing insanity of Beatrice. Besides re-
vealing the old woman’s tendencies toward sonambulism,
there is also an attempt to phonetically spell the strange
mouthings and mutterings of the sleep-walking woman. A
successful Linguist roll reveals the words to be old Gaelic.

The second revelation contained is the identity of Mau-
rice’s father as Harvey Rawson, a young man who Virginia
employed for a few months as a handy man. A little inves-
tigation around town will turn up Harvey, now a skid-row
wino with half a mind. He never knew Virginia had a child
and upon learning he has a son will seek out Maurice to
be “re-united with his family.” Maurice’s reaction will be
similar and the investigators can expect to be the recipi-
ents of some kind of consideration from Maurice.

The Van Laaden Papers 18

The Diary of Aaron Van Laaden. This can be discovered
in the third floor storage room among other belongins of
Aaron placed here by the widowed Beatrice. It spans the
years between Aaron’s return home in 1863 until his
death in 1866. The ink is somewhat faded, requiring suc-
cessful individual Read English rolls to elicit each of the
following facts. It will require 2 hours time to read the
small diary.

1. In a very early entry Aaron describes how his cousin
died. Aaron is obviously remorseful, wishing that he had
waited and figured a way to turn the matter over to the
authorities. He also describes how he covered the death
to make it look like Allen had accidentally shot himself
in the stomach.

2. Aaron describes making arrangements with a clergyman
from a church in Grand Rapids to secretly perform re-
ligious rites upon the sealed room wherein the bodies
of the slaves lay.

3. Sometime in 1864, Aaron makes note of his wife’s
increasing emotional instability. He writes that she is rest-
less at night, tossing and turning, and mumbling strange
words. Aaron says that sometimes it almost sounds like
old Gaelic, but not always.

4. The last entry. Aaron has decided to end it all. He is
preparing to go hunting but writes that he does not intend
to return. The last thing he writes is *“God help us all.”
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